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ABSTRACT

THE POLITICS OF SUFI NETWORKING: NAQSHBANDIS IN THE
OTTOMAN ISTANBUL, 1650-1800

ISA UGURLU
HISTORY Ph.D DISSERTATION, JANUARY 2024

Dissertation Supervisor: Prof. TULAY ARTAN

Keywords: Nagshbandi, Istanbul, Murdd Bukhari, Mehmed Ismet, Patronage

This dissertation examines the history of the Nagshbandi order in the Ottoman Is-
tanbul by focusing on a hundred and half centuries period from 1650 to 1800. As
such, it delves into the historical trajectory of the order and key Nagshbandi figures
in five main chapters. The first chapter explores the Nagshbandi lodges established
in the city from the mid-15th century to the end of the 18th century, categoriz-
ing them into first- and second-wave lodges. Utilizing new archival documents,
it reassesses their significance and function, shedding light on the reasons behind
their establishment. Focusing on Seyh Murad Bukhari, the second chapter ana-
lyzes his networking policies in Istanbul through his understudied correspondences
and treatises. It unveils insights into his socio-political and religio-Sufi connec-
tions, highlighting the formation of an immaterial republic around him resembling
the Western Republic of Letters. The third chapter discusses four primary reasons
behind the dissemination and consolidation of the Nagshbandi order, emphasizing
its concordance with the ulema and sharia, familial cooperations with seyyids, the
constructive role of lodgeless seyhs, and intra-Sufi cooperation that fostered by the
culture of coexistence. The fourth and fifth chapters are reserved for Mehmed Is-
met Efendi, a lodgeless seyh with affiliations to multiple Sufi brotherhoods. While
the fourth chapter delves into his biography and scholarly works, and explores his
intellectual orientations, the fifth chapter investigates the patronage networks sup-
porting his scholarly production, highlighting the role of diverse patrons adhered to
various Sufi orders in his endeavor.
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OZET

SUFI AGLARININ SIYASETI: OSMANLI iISTANBUL’UNDA
NAKSIBENDILER, 1650-1800

ISA UGURLU
TARIH DOKTORA TEZI, OCAK 2024

Tez Damgmani: Prof. Dr. TULAY ARTAN

Anahtar Kelimeler: Naksibendi, Istanbul, Murdd Buhari, Mehmed Ismet, Himaye

Bu tez, Naksibendi tarikatini Osmanlh Istanbul’undaki tarihini 1650 ile 1800 arasin-
daki yiiz elli yillik bir doneme odaklanarak incelemektedir. Bu baglamda, tarikatin
tarihi seyrini ve 6nde gelen Naksibendileri beg ana boliimde aragtirmaktadir. Bir-
inci boliim, 15. yiizyihn ortasindan 18. yiizyihn sonuna kadar Istanbul’da ku-
rulan Naksibendi tekkelerini, bunlar1 “birinci dalga” ve “ikinci dalga” seklinde
siniflandirarak tetkik etmekte, yeni argiv belgelerinden faydalanarak bunlarin ehem-
miyetini ve fonksiyonunu yeniden degerlendirmekte ve kurulma sebeplerini aydinlat-
maktadir. Seyh Murdd Buhéri’ye odaklanan ikinci boliim, onun Istanbul’da network
kurma politikalarini yeterince ¢alisilmayan mektuplar: ve risaleleri tizerinden analiz
etmekte, sosyo-politik ve dini-tasavvufi baglantilarinin i¢ytiziint ortaya ¢ikarmakta
ve etrafinda Bati’daki Bilginler Cumhuriyeti'ni andiran soyut bir cumhuriyetin
tesekkiil ettigini vurgulamaktadir. Uciincii boliim, Naksibendi tarikatinin yayil-
masi1 ve giiclenmesinin arkasindaki dort asil sebebi tartigarak, ulema ve geriatla olan
uyumun, seyyidlerle kurulan ailevi ittifaklarin, tekkesiz seyhlerin yapici roliiniin
ve birlikte var olma kiiltiiriiyle beslenen Sufilerarasi igbirliginin altini ¢izmekte-
dir. Dordiincii ve besginci bolimler, birgok tarikata miintesip tekkesiz bir gseyh olan
Mehmed Ismet Efendi’ye ayrilmustir. Doérdiincii boliim, hayat hikayesine ve ilmi
eserlerine dalmak suretiyle onun entelektiiel yonelimlerini aragtirirken, beginci boliim
onun ilmi tiretimini miimkiin kilan himaye aglarin1 arastirmakta, gesitli tarikatlara
intisab1 olan bir¢ok haminin onun gayretindeki roliinti vurgulamaktadir.
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1. INTRODUCTION

“This order of Ebrbuharee was first instituted by their founder and insti-
tutor Ebrbuhar, from whom they have their denomination, who herein
followed the precepts and rules of his master Nacksbende, from whom
in like manner the order of Mevelevee or Dervises are derived.”!

Writing in the third quarter of the 17th century, Sir Paul Rycaut (1629-1700), the
British diplomat who served for seven years as the secretary to Heneage Finch (1628-
1689), the British ambassador to Istanbul from 1660 to 1667, and for ten years as the
consul of Izmir, made these valuable observations on the current state of the Naqgsh-
bandi order in Istanbul under “Of the Order of Religious Turks called Ebrbuharee.”?
Despite his grave mistake in attributing the Mevlevi order to Muhammad Baha al-
Din Nagshband (1318-1389),% Rycaut directly drew attention to at least two facts
concerning the state of the Nagshbandi establishment in the Ottoman capital in
the seventeenth century: first, that the Nagshbandi order was the order of religious
Turks, and second, that it was identified with Emir Ahmed Bukhéri (d. 1516), the
Bukharan Nagshbandi seyh and namesake of three lodges founded in the first three
decades of the 16th century. The most meaningful conclusion that we can infer from
Rycaut’s observations is that the Nagshbandi order had failed to dominate Istan-
bul during the 17th century at least in terms of the number of the tekkes. In fact,
as I will argue in the first chapter of this study, the Nagshbandiyya never became

dominant in terms of the number of lodges in the Ottoman capital from the time

Lpaul Rycaut, The Present State of the Ottoman Empire, the third edition, (London: Printed for John
Starkey and Henry Brome, 1670): 141. The first edition of the book came out in 1668.

2For a detailed life story of Rycaut and his years in the Ottoman Empire, see Sonia Anderson, An English
Consul in Turkey: Paul Rycaut at Smyrna, 1667-1678, (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1989); Linda T. Darling,
“Ottoman Politics Through British Eyes: Paul Rycaut’s ‘The Present State of the Ottoman Empire’,”

Journal of World History 5/1 (1994): 71-97. See also Hasan Baktir, “Bir Ingiliz Sarkiyatginin Portresi:
Sor Paul Rycaut,” TAED 65 (2019): 165-188.

3Tn fact, he mentioned in a few pages ago that the founder of the order was “Mevelana”. See ibid, 138.
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of the conquest of Constantinople until the end of the 18th century. Its position
remained so throughout the 19th century and the first quarter of the 20th century,
when the young Turkish Republic finally abolished the tekkes on 30 November 1925.
Instead, as can be understood from the specimens of the mecmuCa-i tekaya such as
the historical lists of the tekkes founded in Istanbul, that it was the Khalwati order
with all its branches that dominated Sufi life in the city throughout the centuries.*
However, the Khalwati order did not emerge as the main beneficiary of the ban
on the Bektasi order on 10 July 1826. Instead, after the destruction of the tekkes
less than sixty years old, the long-established tekkes were given to Sunni orders,
including the Nagshbandi, Mevlevi, Khalwati, Qadiri, Bayrami, Rufai, Sa‘di and
Giilgeni. More importantly, it was the Nagshbandi seyhs who were given the major-
ity of the Bektasi lodges. Not only was the Nagshbandi order “the most benefited
tariga from the results” of the abolition of Bektasi order, but also “[blecause of their
significant contribution during the abolition process,” Nagshbandis “were awarded

the wealthiest Bektashi lodges and given the task of sunnitizing Bektashis.”®

What were the historical circumstances under which the Nagshbandi order evolved
from a localized, limited and self-contained establishment equated with Emir
Bukhari into a self-confident, widespread and consolidated entity qualified to “sunni-
tize” the Bektasis and administer their long-standing lodges? What were the factors
that made the Nagshbandi order credible in the eyes of the state and society? How
did the Nagshbandi order consolidate its authority in the center of the Ottoman
Empire? This dissertation embarks on finding plausible answers in the light of such
questions. While recognizing the diversity of factors, causes and conditions behind
the historical developments and phenomena, it argues that networking contributed
to the growth and consolidation of the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul. In other words,
it was the conscious policies of the Nagshbandi masters to build networks that led
them to exploit existing social, political, religious, cultural and economic means
and circumstances. This, in turn, necessitated constructive dialogue and interaction
with the existing social, religious and political establishments and endeavor for the

continuation of the tolerance and culture of coexistence.

4These registers are composed of twenty-three lists the earliest of which survived from 1708 and the last
one completed a few weeks before the abolishment of the tekkes. They were either sponsored by the
state or products of the personal curiosity of the Sufis. For more on them, see Erkan Oviig, “Mecmua-
i Tekayalarm Serencami ve Yeni Bir Liste Nesri,” Tasavvuf: Ilmi ve Akademik Arastwrma Dergisi 27
(2011): 269-320. Sixteen of these lists were published firstly by Ahmed Nezih Galitekin. See, Ahmed
Nezih Galitekin, Osmanlk Kaynaklarina Gére Istanbul: Cami, Tekke, Medrese, Mekteb, Tirbe, Hamam,
Kiitiiphdne, Matbaa, Mahalle ve Seldtin Imdretleri, (Istanbul: Isaret Yayinlari, 2003). See also Giinay
Kut and Turgut Kut, “Istanbul Tekkelerine Ait Bir Kaynak: Dergeh-ndme,” Tirkische Miszellen: Robert
Anhegger Festschrift, (Istanbul: Editions Divit Press, 1987): 226-229; Cahit Telci, “Osmanh Y6netiminin

Yeni Yil Kutlamalarindan: Istanbul Tekkelerine Muharremiye Dagitimi,” Sufi Arastirmalary/Sufi Studies
3/6 (2012): 1-29.

50zkan Karabulut, “The Rehabilitation of the Bektashi Order (1826-1876),” Unpublished MA Thesis,
(Sabanci University, 2017): 19. For the implementation of abolition, see ibid, 30-34.
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From this aspect, my research is a humble contribution to the developing scholarship
approaching Ottoman history through network analysis. For instance, in her analysis
on the centuries-long success of the Ottoman Empire, Karen Barkey has argued that
“the answer to the question of the longevity of empire can be found in analyses of
the organizations and networks connecting large segmented and constantly changing
structures, and by focusing on the multivalent, networked, vertical, and horizontal
linkages and the malleable compacts established between state and social actors.”®
Starting from this point of view, she finds out that, among others, the success of
Osman Ghazi, the founder and eponym of the empire, was his organization skills
and ability to convert existing horizontal ties into vertical ties, the mission that
contemporary Turcoman beys failed to materialize. Thus, he “was able to join
previously unconnected elements and to build new networks from the combination

of existing networks.””

The existing network of Nagshbandis that Sir Paul Rycaut observed during his years
in Istanbul was that of seven tekkes founded within a century following the conquest
of the city by the Ottomans. The first of these lodges was established in 1455-56 and
the last in 1550. The current documentation indicates that no Nagshbandi tekke
was erected for approximately one hundred and thirty years following the date. In a
period of a hundred-odd years starting 1680s and ending in 1792, however, at least
eighteen new tekkes belonging to the Nagshbandi order were built in the Ottoman
capital. Therefore, in view of such an interesting chronological division, throughout
my dissertation, I will respectively refer to the tekkes in the first and second groups as
“first-wave” and “second-wave” lodges. Such a classification and appellation are also
consistent with historical facts and developments of the Nagshbandi order. While
first-wave lodges belonged to the Ahrari branch of the Nagshbandiyya, second-wave
lodges were established during a period when Mujaddidi, Kasani and even Muradi
branches were favorably recognized and represented in the city. Therefore, what
follows in this introduction is a brief analysis of the historical context of the period

that my dissertation aims to cover more in full.

The formation of the Mujaddidi branch of the Nagshbandiyya in Mughal India
through the efforts of Ahmad al-Sirhindi (1564-1624), the Hanafi jurist, scholar,
and Nagshbandi master who was hailed by his followers as a godly imam (imam-
i Rabbani) and the reviver/renewer/rejuvenator of the second Islamic millennium
(mujaddid-i alf-i than1), was a major turning point in the history of the Nagshbandi
order in both India and the Ottoman Empire. Living under the rule of Akbar Shah

6Karen Barkey, Empire of Difference: The Ottomans in Comparative Perspective, (Cambridge: Cambridge
University Press, 2008): 6.

"Karen Barkey, ibid, 31.



(r. 1556-1605), who was accused of embracing syncretic creeds and thoughts imper-
missible to Sunni Islam, Seyh Ahmad considered it a lofty aim and divine mission
to revive the rule of sharia at the state level and in in society as a whole. In other
words, in his view, the solutions to the socio-political and religious problems of con-
temporary India could be developed not through new interpretations of Islam, but
by returning to the Islamic roots and ideals of previous generations.® This under-
standing led him to send his representatives over Muslim India, a policy rigorously
implemented by his son, Muhammad Ma‘stim (1599-1668), whose two disciples, Ah-
mad Juryani (d. 1707) and Murdd Bukhéri (d. 1720), carried the Mujaddidi branch
to the Ottoman capital. However, Juryani and Bukhari adopted diametrically op-
posed methods of propagating Mujaddidi principles. While the former preferred
to carry out his mission through a network with Mecca in the center, where he
resided, the latter, partly due to the political atmosphere of the period, preferred
to be mobile in an extensive tri-centered network circled around Damascus, Bursa
and Istanbul. The Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi order spread expeditiously throughout
the Ottoman lands including the Hejaz, the Levant, Anatolia, the Balkans, and the
capital because of the direct and indirect role and influence of these masters. More-
over, it was largely due to their ante-mortem efforts and post-mortem influence that

the second-wave lodges were built in Istanbul.

In the time frame that my dissertation covers, the Nagshbandi establishment in Is-
tanbul, in spite of sporadically recurring clashes, benefited greatly from the détente
established between the Ottoman and Safavid empires and the reopening of Iran
to Central Asian hajj traffic, the two developments that facilitated the more com-
fortable passage of Central Asian pilgrims to Ottoman lands in general and to the

Holy Lands of Islam in particular.” To these, we must add the inner power struggles

8For the growing literature on Sirhindi and his transformative role in the history of Sufism, see Yohanan
Friedmann, Shaykh Ahmad Sirhindi: An Outline of His Thought and a Study of His Image in the Eyes
of Posterity, (Montreal and London: McGill-Queens University Press, 1971); idem, ibid, (Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 2000); Muhammad Abdul Haq Ansari, Sufism and Sharia: A Study of Shaykh Ah-
mad Sirhindi’s Effort to Reform Sufism, (London: The Islamic Foundation, 1986); Arthur Buehler, “The
Nagshbandiyah-Mujaddidiyah and its Rise to Prominence in India,” Bulletin of the Henry Maryton Insti-
tute of Islamic Studies 13 (1994): 44-61; idem, Revealed Grace: The Jurisdic Sufism of Ahmad Sirhindi
(1564-1624), (Louisville: Fons Vitae, 2011); idem, “Shariat and Ulama in Ahmad Sirhindi’s ‘Collected
Letters’,” Die Welt des Islams 43/3 (2003): 309-320; idem, “Tales of Renewal: Ahmad Sirhindi, Reformer
of the Second Millennium,” in Tales of God’s Friends: Islamic Hagiography in Translation, ed. J. Renard,
(Berkeley: University of California Press, 2009): 234-248; Necdet Tosun, Imdm-1 Rabbani Ahmed Sirhindi:

Hayat, Eserleri, Tasavvufi Gérisleri, (Istanbul: Insan Yayinlari, 2009).

9For a study on the seventeenth-century political crisis in Central Asia and its influence over the pilgrimage
traffic, see Thomas Welsford, “The Re-opening of Iran to Central Asian Pilgrimage Traffic, 1600-1650,”
in Central Asian Pilgrims: Hajj Routes and Pious Visits between Central Asia and Hejaz, eds. Alexandre
Papas, Thomas Welsford, and Thierry Zarcone, (Berlin: Klaus Schwarz Verlag, 2012): 149-167. On the
peace and diplomatic rapprochement between the Ottomans and the Safavids see Selim Giingorirler,
“Fundamentals of Ottoman-Safavid Peacetime Relations: 1639-1722,” Turkish Historical Review 9 (2018):
151-197; idem, “Shi‘ite-Iranian Pilgrims and Safavid Agents in Holy Sites Under Ottoman Rule, 1690-1710,”
in Entangled Confessionalizations?: Dialogic Perspectives on the Politics of Piety and Community-Building
in the Ottoman Empire, 15th-18th Centuries, eds. Tijana Krstic and Derin Terzioglu, (Piscataway: Gorgias
Press, 2022): 725-743.
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taking place between the Toqay Timurid khans and princes, the members of the
Janid Dynasty who were the natural candidates for the throne of the Khanate of
Bukhara. In light of these interrelated developments, from 1641 to 1681, after their
dethronements, Imam Quli (d. 1644), Nadir Muhammad (d. 1651), and Abd al-Aziz
(d.1683), three successive Bukharan khans “headed for west into Iran for the osten-
sible purpose of performing the hajj.”!% To these political refugees, one must add
Sufi-turned-princes, who headed for the Ottoman capital. As will be discussed in
the first chapter, Shdh Haydar Resa (d. 1700), a Bukhara-born Uzbek prince, after
spending some years in India, would finally take refuge in Istanbul, where he estab-
lished the first specimen of the second-wave Nagshbandi lodges in 1680s.1! Likewise,
we can surmise that political disturbances in the Central Asia constituted one of
the many reasons for the flight from the hometowns of eminent Nagshbandi gseyhs
such as Murdd Bukhari, Ahmad Juryani, Abdulladh Nidai Kashghari, Safi Ozbeki,
Abdiilekber, etc., who either personally visited Istanbul or sent their deputies to
there in order to spread the Nagshbandi order. Last, but not least, as in the cases
of Gaznevi Mahmid (d. 1692), Sirvani Ebubekir (d. 1723), Abdulldh Buhari (d.
17457), it was during this period that talented artists and promising applicants from

Central Asia headed for Istanbul to make career in the offices.!?

10Thomas Welsford, ““The Re-opening of Iran to Central Asian Pilgrimage Traffic, 1600-1650,” 153-154. On
the life and political career of Nadir Muhammad Khan, see Audrey Burton, “Nadir Muhammad Khan,
Ruler of Bukhara (1641-1645) and Balkh (1645-1651),” Central Asiatic Journal 32/1-2 (1988): 19-33. After
the weaking of the Togay Timurids who were of Tatar-Mongol origins, the Uzbek Manghit Dynasty took
over the control of the Khanate and ruled it until 1920. On Uzbeks as the military force and bureaucrats
of the Toqay Timurdis, see Wolfgang Holzwarth, “The Uzbek State as Reflected in Eighteenth Century
Bukharan Sources,” Asiatische Studien 60/2 (2006): 321-353.

11 Ag can be inferred from the example of Dara Shukoh (1615-1659), the son and heir of Shah Jahan, taking
refuge in Sufism was a way to escape the tragic end of the political conflicts. Even so, Dara Shukoh was not
spared by the Mughal emperor Aurangzeb (r. 1658-1707). See Tasadduq Husain, “The Spiritual Journey
of Dara Shukoh,” Proceedings of the Indian History Congress 61 (2000-2001): 461-473.

120n Gaznevi Mahmid, see Isa Ugurlu, “Gaznevi Mahmiid: A Neglected Ottoman Clerk His Career, Miscel-
lany, and His Religious and Literary Network,” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Sabanc1 University, 2017); idem,
“Siitheyl Unver’in Gaznevi Mahmiid ve Mecmiias1 Hakkindaki Notlary,” Zemin 3 (2022): 276-290. For a
recent study on Gaznevi Mahmud’s artistic dexterity, see Elif Zeynep Atcil, “Tuhfe-i Gaznevi Tezyinat1
ve XVII. Yiizyil Kitap Sanatlarmdaki Yeri,” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Marmara Universitesi 2023). On
Sirvani Ebiibekir, see Ismail Hakki Uzuncarsili, Osmanl Tarihi: X VIII. Yiizyl, vol. IV/2, the sixth edition,
(Ankara: TTK, 2011): 602-604. For an ongoing study on SirvAni Ebiibekir’s manuscript collection, see
Ali Aslan, “Yazma Ese}"lerde Miilkiyet Tezahiirleri ve Temelliik Kayitlar1: Reistilkiittab Acem Bekir Efendi
Ornegi,” PhD Diss., (Istanbul Universitesi, 2024). On Abdulldh Buhari, see Filiz Cagman, “Abdullah-1
Buhéri,” TDVIA, vol. 1, (Istanbul: TDV, 1988): 87-88. On the Central Asian artists in the cosmopolitan
Istanbul, see the following studies conducted by Tiilay Artan. Tiilay Artan, “Cosmopolitanism in the Early
18th-Century Ottoman Capital: The Impostor, the Alchemist, the Merchant and the Personal Dimension,”
Turcica 55 (2024) (forthcoming); idem, “Cosmopolitan Istanbul, 1650-1750: Strangers in the Company of
Manuscripts, Paintings and Coffee,” in Twelve Cities- One Sea. FEarly Modern Mediterranean Port Cities
and Their Inhabitants, eds. Giovanni Tarantino and Paola von Wyss-Giacosa, Quaderni series of the
Rivista Storica Italiana, (Napoli: Edizioni Scientifiche Italiane, 2023): 156-177; idem, “The Paradoxes Of
Hagia Sophia’s Ablution Fountain: The Qasida al-Burda in Cosmopolitan Istanbul, 1740,” in Hagia Sophia
in the Long Nineteenth Century, ed. Benjamin Anderson and Emily Neumeier, (Edinburgh: Edinburgh
University Press, 2024): 66-97; idem, “The first, hesitant steps of Ottoman protocol and diplomacyinto
modernity (1676-1725),” The Court Historian 26/1. Special Issue: Monarchy and Modernity since 1500
(2021): 29-43; idem, “Patrons, Painters, Women in Distress: The Changing Fortunes of NevCtizade Atayi
and Uskiibi Mehmed Efendi in Early Eighteenth-Century Istanbul,” Mugarnas: An Annual on the Visual
Culture of the Islamic World 39 (2022): 109-152.
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The accumulation of wealth by the Ottoman ulema and Sufi masters, and the chang-
ing dynamics of patronage, contributed positively to the construction of second-wave
Nagshbandi lodges. As will be discussed in the first chapter, of seven first-wave
lodges, five were state-sponsored, four by the sultans and one by the grand vizier.
As for the lodges of the second-wave, with the exception of the establishment of
two tekkes by the grand vizier Bahir Kose Mustafd Pasha (d. 1765) and one by
the vizier Abdullah Pasha (d. 1756), the remaining fifteen lodges were built either
by scholar-bureaucrats'? or by the seyhs associated with the order. Such a shift in
tekke patronage can also be seen in the case of the Khalwati order. In the sixteenth
century, thirty-two of the forty-six Khalwati lodges were built by high-ranking offi-
cials. In the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, however, only eleven of the newly
constructed forty lodges were sponsored by statesmen; the remaining twenty-nine
lodges were installed by the Khalwati seyhs. During the period, none of the twelve
lodges of the Qadiri order, which had no tekke in Istanbul prior to the seventeenth
century, owed their existence to the grandees of the empire. These exciting statis-
tics on the founders of the Nagsbandi, Khalwati and Qadiri lodges have one thing
in common: the wealth accumulation of the great ulema families. As Madeline
Zilfi has argued, the roots of the Great Molla families, who dominated the ulema
system in the 18th century, can be traced back to the 17th and 16th centuries.!4
As askeris, they were exempt from taxation, but unlike other askeris, they were
rarely subjected to the confiscations carried out by the state, which in turn led to
capital accumulation in their families. It was from such an accumulation of wealth
that a significant proportion of second-wave Nagshbandi lodges were founded as

full-fledged complexes.

1.1 Literature Review

Concerning the Nagshbandi presence in Istanbul, several books and articles have
been published. While in some of these studies the Nagshbandiyya in the Ottoman
capital is the main focus of the research, in some studies it constitutes only subsec-

tions. To the extent I know, the earliest academic study on Nagshbandi presence

131 horrow this term from Abdurrahman Atcil and use it alternately with Gilles Veinstein’s “scholar-officials”.
See Abdurrahman Atcil, Scholars and Sultans in the Early Modern Ottoman Empire, (Cambridge: Cam-
bridge University Press, 2017); Gilles Veinstein, “Religious institutions, policies and lives,” in The Cam-
bridge History of Turkey: The Ottoman Empire as a World Power, 1453-1603, vol. 2, ed. Suraiya Faroghi
and Kate Fleet, (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013): 320-355.

14 \Madeline Zilfi, The Politics of Piety: The Ottoman Ulema in the Postclassical Age, 1600-1800, (Min-
neapolis: Bibliotheca Islamica, 1988); idem, “Elite Circulation in the Ottoman Empire: Great Mollas of
the Eighteenth Century,” Journal of the Economic and Social History of the Orient 26/3 (1983).
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and expansion in the Ottoman capital is Kasim Kufrali’s 1949 PhD dissertation
on the formation and dissemination of the order. As a Nagshbandi-Khalidi seyh
known to have given ijaza to many vicegerents, Kufrali reserved the second part of
his dissertation for the history of the grounding and spreading of the Nagshbandi
order in Istanbul from the city’s conquest to the late 19th century. As to the late
seventeenth- and eighteenth-century history of the order, he particularly focuses on
the role of Murad Bukhari, Yekdest Ahmad Juryani and Abdulldh Nidai Kashghari,
the three eminent geyhs who contributed to the order’s diffusion in the capital.
Since Kufrali’s dissertation is the first study on the history of the Nagshbandi order
in Turkish academic circles, it has won recognition and methodologically affected
subsequent studies. He published as an article the second section of his disserta-
tion’s second part in 1949.1 Irfan Giindiiz’s study on state-tekke interactions is
another work that discusses in two subsections the arrival and expansion of the
Nagshbandiyya in Ottoman lands and the political reasons behind the order’s pro-
liferation. From among the first-generation gseyhs, Giindiiz introduces only Abdulldh
[1ahi of Simav and Emir Ahmed Bukhari.!

From the late 1980s to the beginning of the 21st century, in at least five PhD disserta-
tions, the historical presence of Nagshbandis and the order in Istanbul had been the
matter of discussion. Dina Le Gall’s sizable study on the Ottoman Nagshbandiyya,
for example, is an edited version of her dissertation submitted to Princeton Univer-
sity in 1992.17 In this study, composed of two parts,'® she attempts in the first part
(chapters 1-4) to examine the presence and dissemination of prominent Nagshbandi
figures within the Ottoman borders by considering their flow from Transoxiana into
the capital city and Anatolia, the Balkans and Arabia. The second part of the book
(chapters 5-7), however, is devoted to the discussion of the main teachings, princi-
ples, practices of the order, its strict dependence on sharia and Sunnism, and the
structure of its organization and interregional network of connections. Although,
the author intends to portray the historical situation of the order from 1450 to 1700,
it seems that a large part of 17th- century Istanbul and Anatolia were not discussed

with the exception of the argument regarding leading Nagshbandi figures such as

15 Kasim Kufral, “Naksibendiligin Kurulugu ve Yayiligi,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Istanbul University, 1949);
“Molla Tlahi ve Kendisinden Sonraki Naksibendiye Muhiti,” TUDED II1/1 (1949): 129-151. This article

has republished in Tasavvuf Kitabs, ed. Cemil Ciftci, (Istanbul: Kitabevi, 2003): 42-64. My references will
be to the latter edition. On the biography of Kufrali, see Muhammed Kiifrevi, “Kiifrevi, Kasim,” TDVIA,
vol. EK-2, the 3rd edition, (Ankara: TDV, 2019): 102.

6frfan Giindiiz, Osmanhlarda Devlet- Tekke Miinasebetleri, (Ankara: Seha Nesriyat, 1984): 39-69.

"Dina Le Gall, “The Ottoman Nagshbandiyya in the pre-Mujaddidi Phase: A Study in Islamic Religious
Culture and Its Transmission,” PhD. Dissertation, (Princeton University, 1992).

8Dina Le Gall, A Culture of Sufism: Nagshbandis in the Ottoman World, 1450-1700, (Albany: State
University of New York Press, 2005).
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Seyh Mahmtd Urmevi (d. 1639), who was able to propagate his teachings in Di-
yarbekir, where he took refuge in the early 17th century, and Bosnevi Osman (d.
1664), a reputed Nagshbandi master in Istanbul. The earlier presence of the order,
particularly in 16th- century Istanbul, however, was discussed in detail in the first
chapter of the book. The footnotes of the chapter, I must state, give witness to
the endeavor, great effort and solid grasp of the primary sources. When it comes
to Arabia, however, the focus of the author, to a large extent, is on the Medinese
Nagshbandi-Shattari seyh Ibrahim Kurani’s (d. 1690) teachings and his struggles
against Nagshbandi orthodoxy, that is, his defensive position in favor of the vocal
invocation and Ibn Arabi’s controversial theory of wahdat al-wujud (the Unity of
Being). In addition to the remarkable book, Le Gall penned two articles which
included elaborated discussions regarding 16th- and 17th- century Nagshbandis and
their main teachings and practices, which were expressed in her dissertation and
book. Whereas the first article, examines the position of Bosnevi Osméan during
the Qadizadeli-Khalwati struggles,' the second tends to discuss in detail the main
teachings, principles, and practices of Nagshbandis and their struggle for Sunni

orthodoxy.2’

During a twelve-year period from 1990 to 2002, the Department of Sufism under the
Faculty of Theology at Marmara University released four PhD dissertations studying
the Sufism and Sufis in the Ottoman Anatolia during the 16th, 17th, 18th, and 19th
centuries. In the earliest of these studies, Resat Ongoéren reserved for the 16th cen-
tury Nagshbandis the second chapter of his work. Except for two short subsections
on the Nagshbandis of Bursa and Amasya, the chapter is totally about the situation
of the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul. Thanks to available biographical dictionaries,
the author is able to identify first-generation Nagshbandi seyhs and their successors

21 Necdet Yilmaz, who studied the history of Sufism in seventeenth-

in the city.
century Anatolia, too, carried out an introductory and descriptive research on the
Nagshbandiyya with a particular focus on Istanbul. Thanks to the ill-stared case
of Seyh Mahmiid Urmevi and his son, Isma‘il Celebi (d. 1669), Diyarbekir was also
brought to the attention as one of the Nagshbandi centers in Anatolia. Taking after
Ongoren’s methodology, Yilmaz examines in the second part of his book the rela-

tions of Sufis with the state and the ulema through a successful utilization of Sufi

19Dina Le Gall, “Kadizadelis, Nakgbendis, and Intra-Sufi diatribe in the 17th century Istanbul,” The Turkish
Studies Association Journal 28 (2004): 1-28.

20Dina Le Gall, “Forgotten Nagshbandis and the Culture of pre-Modern Sufi Brotherhood,” Studia Islamica
97 (2003): 87-119.

21Re§at Ongéren, “XVI. Yiizyilda Anadolu’da Tasavvuf,” PhD Diss., (Marmara Universitesi 1996). Osman-

Llar’da Tasavvuf: Anadolu’da Sifiler, Devlet ve Ulema (XVI. Yiizpl), (Istanbul: Iz Yaymcilik, 2000):
117-154.
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manuscripts, biographical dictionaries and chronicles. However, he does not seem to
have developed a steady method of classification in his research. While in some cases
he categorizes Sufi masters under the lodge to which they belonged, in some cases he
does not deem such a classification necessary.?? The history of the Sufism and the
situation of mystic orders in eighteenth-century Anatolia have been scrutinized by
Ramazan Muslu, who devoted a significant portion of his work on the Nagshbandi
order in Istanbul and beyond. The main novelty and contribution in his study is
the consistent categorization of the seyhs under the tekkes they served. Thus, by
presenting basic information regarding the earliest phase and current state of each
lodge during the targeted century, the author was able to successfully introduce
branches and sub-branches of each order, the tekkes belonging to each and the seyhs
serving them. However, Muslu as well as Yilmaz and Ongoéren did not develope
critical approached to the primary sources, including the hagiographies of Sufis nor
did they use official documents when writing about the seyhs and tekkes. Therefore,
in some cases, mystical legends melted into historical facts were treated without a
critical filter.? Nevertheless, when introducing the second-wave Nagshbandi lodges,
I will be utilizing Muslu’s study. The last study conducted at Marmara University
on the history of Sufism in Anatolia has come out under the signature of Hiir Mah-
mut Yicer, who went through the 19th century. Istanbul took center stage in this

study, as well as the previous ones.?*

Necdet Tosun is another scholar who studied the Nagshbandi history at the Depart-
ment of Sufism at Marmara University. In his doctoral thesis, submitted in 2002,
he focused on the historical period from Abd al-Khaliq Ghijduwéani (1103-1179) to
Ahmad al-Sirhindi (1564-1624), with special attention to Muhammad Bahé al-Din
Nagshband (1318-1389), the eponym of the order, and his influences. Since Tosun
is of the opinion that the Khwajagan school, which was identical to the Naqgsh-
bandiyya, dominated the characteristics of the order down to the formation of the
Mujaddidi branch by al-Sirhindi, he brings to our attention under separate chapters
the formation of the Khwajagan school/order, the history of the Nagshbandiyya
before the rise of the Mujaddidiyya, the early phase of Nagshbandi expansion in
Anatolia, the Sufi education and main principles of the order and the socio-political
relations of the Nagshbandi order with other Sufi brotherhoods. In this organization,

the historical presence of the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul comes into question only

22Necdet Yilmaz, “XVIL Asirda Anadolu’da Tasavvuf,” Phd Diss., (Marmara Universitesi 2000). Osmanl
Toplumunda Tasavvuf: Sifiler, Devlet ve Ulemd, (Istanbul: OSAV, 2001): 379-396.

23Ramazan Muslu, “XVIII. Asirda Anadolu’da Tasavvuf,” PhD Diss., (Marmara Universitesi, 2002); Osmanh
Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 18. Yiizl, (Istanbul: Insan Yayinlari, 2003): 229-309.

24Hiir Mahmut Yiicer, “XIX. Asirda Anadolu’da Tasavvuf,” PhD Diss., (Marmara Universitesi, 2002); Os-
manle Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 19. Yizyil, (Istanbul: Insan Yayinlar1,2004): 245-340.
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in the third chapter where he introduces us to members of the Ahrari and Kasani
branches of the order in the city. However, what we learn from this chapter is the
confirmation of the existing literature produced by Kasim Kufrali, Dina Le Gall, and
Resat Ongoren. Utilizing extensive scholarly production by the Nagshbandis, the

fourth and fifth chapters are particularly valuable contributions to the literature.?®

Nagshbandi lodges built in Istanbul have been the subject of research in several
important studies. In this regard, Thierry Zarcone’s study on the history of the
Turkistani and Indian dervishes and their tekkes must be considered among the ear-
liest publications.?6 With this article, Zarcone identified all lodges built by and for
the Central and South Asian Sufis since the conquest of the city until the fall of
the Ottoman Empire. With a generous use of Ayvansarayil’s Hadikati’l-Cevami®,
several biographical dictionaries, manuscripts written and read in Sufi circles, and
Revnakoglu’s handwritten notes preserved in Divan Edebiyati Miizesi, he success-
fully uncovers and introduces also the lodges built for the Nagshbandi dervishes.
The most salient shortcoming in his study, however, is the lack of archival doc-
umentation. Nevertheless, Zarcone’s study deserves much attention for directing
our attention to the tradition of celibacy and Nagshbandi qalandars. Apart from
this article, Zarcone has written for Diinden Bugiine Istanbul Ansiklopedisi several

encyclopedic entries regarding the Nagshbandi lodges constructed in Istanbul.?”

The two-volume Eyiip Tarihi based on meticulous field research by Mehmet Nermi
Haskan is a useful study for being acquainted with the Nagshbandi lodges and the
burial areas where Naqshbandi seyhs were buried.?® Confined to the historical ar-
chitectural works built in the boundaries of Eyiip, Haskan’s research is practical for
my dissertation in terms of the pieces of information that the author has collected by
reading and deciphering the inscriptions of buildings and the tombstones of promi-
nent figures including some Nagshbandi seyhs. In its original form, Haskan’s study

lacked archival documents preserved in the Ottoman Archives. With the support of

25See Necdet Tosun, “Tasavvufta Hacegdn Ekolii: XII-XVII. Asirlar,” PhD Diss., (Marmara Universitesi,
2002). For the earlier publication extracting from this dissertation see, Necdet Tosun, Bahdeddin Naksbend:
Hayat, Gériisleri, Tarikate (XII-XVII. Asiwrlar), (Istanbul: Insan Yaymlari, 2002). For the recent pub-

lication, see idem, Hacegin Yolu: Hoca Bahdeddin Naksbend ve Tarikatr (XII-XVII. Asiwrlar), (Istanbul:
Erkam Akademi, 2022).

26T hierry Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens & Istanbul,” Anatolia moderna
— Yeni Anadolu 2 (1991): 137-200.

27Thiemry Zarcone, “Afganiler Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. 1, 86; “Buhara Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. 11, 325-326; “Emir
Buhari Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. III, 165-167; “Haydar Tagkendi Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. 1V, 26-27; “Hindiler
Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. 1V, 74-75; “Kalenderhane Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. IV, 398-399; “Kaggari Tekkesi,”
DBIA, vol. 1V, 485-486.

28Mehmet Nermi Haskan, Eyiip Tarihi, vols. I-11, (Istanbul: Tiirk Turing Turizm Isletmeciligi Vakfi Yayinlari,
1993). On Haskan and his books based on field research, see Giindegul Parlar, “Haskan, Mehmet Mermi,”

TDVIA, vol. EK-1, revised second edition, (Istanbul: TDV, 2020): 540-541.
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the Municipality of Eyiip, Talip Mert has revised, annotated and enriched the text

by adding archival documents regarding each monument situated in Eyiip.

Another study pertaining to the Nagshbandi lodges erected in Istanbul has recently
been published.?? Despite the similarities with Zarcone’s abovementioned article,
this work is narrower but deeper in scope in the sense that it is dedicated only to
the tekkes set up for Nagshbandi geyhs and dervishes of Uzbek origin. The book
is on the history and historical transformation of five Nagshbandi lodges, the Emir
Buhéari Tekkesi in Ayvansaray/Egrikapi, Buhara Tekkesi, Murad Buhéri Tekkesi,
Kalenderhane Tekkesi, and Ozbekler Tekkesi. The authors explain the reason for
preferring Emir Bukhari Tekkesi of Ayvansaray rather than Fatih or Edirnekap: as
its role in spreading the order in Istanbul and embedding the Mujaddidi tradition
through prominent incumbent seyhs.! The reason behind the exclusion of Kaggari
Tekkesi, another lodge built for Central Asian Sufis, on the other hand, is not
explained. As a demanding study, the book deserves credit both for being well-
conducted research utilizing archival documents and manuscripts and representing

the analytical and critical perspective of the authors.

As an encyclopedia confined to Istanbul, Dinden Bugiine Istanbul Ansiklopedisi, a
significant composition accomplished in the beginning of 90’s, is a useful secondary
source for initially acquainting us with historical buildings of Istanbul, including
first- and second-wave Nagshbandi lodges and shrines. When it comes to the lodges
built for the Central and South Asian Sufi masters and dervishes, as mentioned
above, Thierry Zarcone has penned seven encyclopedic articles. We must add to
this Baha Tanman’s articles on the history and architectural details of Nagshbandi

lodges. Moreover, Tanman has written dozens of articles also for Tiirkiye Diyanet
Vakfo Islam Ansiklopedisi.?

Butrus Abu-Manneh has produced two considerable articles on to the Nagshbandi-
Mujaddidis establishing themselves in Ottoman territories. The first article focuses

on Murad Bukhari’s teachings and his effort to disseminate the order in the Ottoman

29Mehmet Mermi Haskan, Byiip Sultan Tarihi, vols. I-I1, annotated by Talip Mert, (Istanbul: Eyiip Belediyesi
Kiltir Yaymlari, 2008).

300kan Yesilot, Yiiksel Celik, and Muharrem Varol, Istanbul’daki Tirkistan Tekkeleri: Ata Yurt ile Ana
Yurt Arasindaki Manevi Képriiler, (Istanbul: TURCEK, 2017).

311hid, 34.

32Baha Tanman, “Abid Celebi Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 1, 308, “Afganiler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 1, 400,
“Emir Buhari Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 11, 126-128, “Hindiler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 18, 68-69, “Murad

Buhari Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. V, 514-516, “Seyh Murad Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 39, (Istanbul: TDV, 2010):
62-64, “Mustafa Paga Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. V, 564-565, “Neccarzdde Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. VI, 59-60,

“Ozbekler Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. VI, 199-202, “Ozbekler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 121-123, and 123-124.
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capital.3® The article is noteworthy in terms of introductory notes on the teachings
of the Mujaddidiya, and the three sojourns undertaken respectively in 1681-1685,
1708-1709, and 1717-1720 by Muradd Bukharil to establish his order in Istanbul.
Yet, the most original contribution of Abu-Manneh’s study to the field is that he
attempted to uncover and shed light on Murad Buhari’s connections in Istanbul by
utilizing a very original primary source: the epistles of the seyh. In addition, the
author investigates Murad Buhari’s teachings by evaluating counsels and repeating
sentences written in the epistles. However, Abu-Manneh abstains from utilizing all
surviving letters, and does not attempt to reveal the entire network through which
Murad Buhari aspired to spread his order. The second article, published thirty-two
years earlier than the one mentioned above, considered the early 19th- century state
of the Nagshbandiyya by focusing on dissemination of the Nagshbandi-Khalidi order
in Ottoman Iraq, Damascus, Anatolia and Istanbul under the guidance of Khalid
Baghdadi (d. 1827), who himself received a Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi education from
his preceptor Abdulldh Dihlawi in Delhi. As to the ongoing Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi
influences in the Ottoman Empire, the author mentions in the second part of his
article that a “second Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi wave reached Istanbul early in the
18th century by means of Ahmad Joryani, known as Yekdest.” In the relevant
part, we are told that the order was propagated in Istanbul by his deputies such as
Mistakimzade Silleyméan Sa‘deddin (d. 1788) and Mehmed Emin Kerkiki/Bursevi
(d. 1813). The most important contribution of the author is his portrayal of Mehmed
Emin and his disciples as “reform” figures who managed to create close connections
with reformer sultans Selim III (r. 1789-1807) and Mahmud II (r. 1808-1839).34
Yet, we should add that Abu-Manneh has been criticized by Halil Ibrahim Simsek
within the context of this article, in terms of his preference to attribute more value
to Mehmed Emin Bursevi and neglect the role and importance of Mehmed Emin
Tokadi (d. 1745), one of the most revered disciples of Yekdest Ahmed.??

Halil Ibrahim Simsek has produced a book and a few articles on 18th-century
Nagshbandi-Mujaddidis residing in Anatolia and Istanbul. The last edition of
his book, composed of two main parts, presents us in the first part with Murad
Bukhari and Mehmed Emin Tokadi, two distinguished Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi pre-

ceptors from whom derived many disciples and deputies.®® The second part, on

33Butrus Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order
in Istanbul,” Die Welt des Islams 53/1. (2013): 1-25.

34Butrus Abu-Manneh, “The Nagshbandiyya-Mujaddidiyya in the Ottoman Lands in the Early 19th Cen-
tury,” Die Welt des Islams 22 (1982): 1-36.

35Halil Ibrahim Simsek, “Anadolu Miiceddidilerine Tligkin Baz1 Tarihi Bilgilerin Kullanilis1 Uzerine Bir Deger-
lendirme.” Gazi Universitesi Corum llahiyat Fakiiltesi Dergisi 1/2 (2002): 219-220.

36Halil Ibrahim Simsek, 18. Yiizyl Osmanle Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miceddidilik. Istanbul: Litera
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the other hand, gives in detail Sufi views and teachings, mystical secrets of invo-
cation and main principals of the Nagshbandi order. Despite involving numerous
precious introductory information (particularly) as to the followers of the above-
mentioned seyhs in his book, the author does not embark on a systematic analysis
of their networks, which, we may claim, is the most apparent deficiency of his study.
Apart from this significant book, Simsek penned a noteworthy article for correct-
ing the mistakes and completing the gaps occurred in secondary literature on the
Nagshbandi-Mujaddidis.?” In one of his recent articles relating to Murad Bukhéard,
Simsek does not attempt to introduce the slightest novelty to the field.?® In addition
to these studies, Simgek published a few descriptive studies as to the teachings of

some leading Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi preceptors living in Anatolia and Istanbul.??

1.2 Sources and Methodology

As a study of Nagshbandi networks, the networking policies of the Nagshbandi
masters and the collective history of the Nagshbandi order, with a special focus
on the seventeenth- and eighteenth-century Istanbul, where the Nagshbandi order
was gradually but firmly established during the second half of the fifteenth century,
this dissertation is primarily a prosopographical research project. However, by re-
lying on a wide range of primary sources that were the products of the intellectual
accumulation of individuals, and by focusing on the interactions, connections and
relationships between the Sufi dervishes and masters, it contributes to the histori-
ography of the social and intellectual history of the Ottoman Empire. To this end,
it not only adopts the approaches of social and intellectual history, but also benefits
from the possibilities of social network analysis. Nevertheless, except for excel ta-
bles I have included in my manuscript, my study does not claim to be an exhaustive
analysis of social networks in which graphs, maps, and statistical computations are
produced through digital technologies. Nor does it aim to overwhelm the reader with

sociological theories. Instead, it generously uses the vocabulary of social network

Yayincilik, 2016.
37Simsek, “Anadolu Miiceddidilerine iligkin,”

38Gimgek, “Naksibendi-Miiceddidiligin Anadolu’ya Tagmmasinda Képrii Bir Sahsiyet Olarak Muhammed

Murad el-Buhari,” in Buhara’dan Konya’ya Irfan Miras, ve XIII. Yiizyl Medeniyet Merkezi Konya, Konya:
Konya Biiytiiksehir Belediyesi Kiiltiir Yayinlari, 2019: 175-186.

3QSim§ek, “Iki Nakgbendi-Miiceddidi’nin Deveran Savunmasi: Mehmed Emin-i Tokadi ve Miistakimzade Sii-
leyman Sadeddin Ornegi,” Tasavvuf 10 (2003): 283-298., “Mesnevihan Bir Naksibendiyye-Miiceddidiyye
Seyi Neccarzade Mustafa Riza’nin Hayat1 ve Tasavvufi Goriisleri,” Tasavvuf 14 (2005): 159-178., “Mehmed
Emin Tokadi’nin Tuhfetii’t-Tulldb li-Hidayeti’l-ahbdb Risalesinin Kargilagtirmali Negri,” Tasavvuf 18
(2007): 263-275.
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analysis, approaches the sources in a relational fashion and aims to contextualize
the cases through historical explanations. What follows is an explanation of my

methods of approach for each cluster of primary sources used in this dissertation.

1.2.1 Untapped Primary Sources: Collection of Letters

The collected letters of Seyh Murad Bukhari are the most original and invaluable
primary sources of the current study. Most likely, Seyh Murad’s disciples habitu-
ally collectied his letters as source of blessing while he was still alive. Years after
his death, however, a few of his eminent followers including Mehmed Ismet Efendi
and the future geyhiilislam Veliyytiddin Efendi (1684-1768), attempted to compile
a collection of the letters for themselves and the Nagshbandi circles of Istanbul.
Mehmed Ismet successfully completed his mission. His collection of 227 letters be-
came popular among the Nagshbandis and were copied by others during the 18th
and 19th centuries. However, despite Seyh Murad’s leading role in the spread of
the Nagshbandiyya in Ottoman lands, his collected letters have received little atten-
tion. The only historian who has paid great attention to the letters and utilized a
considerable number of them in one of his articles on the history of the Nagshbandi
order in Ottoman lands is Butrus Abu-Manneh.?® Yet, he appears unconcerned in
all surviving letter collections. Moreover, since he was not aware of the letters that
Seyh Murad sent to Ddmadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi (d. 1741), his study fails
to portray the special and private relationships that developed in the network with
Seyh Murad in its center. By utilizing Seyh Murad’s existing letters, I aim on the
one hand to clarify the remodeled and reformulated teachings he transmitted to his
disciples through the letters. On the other hand, however, I intend to portray his
social, political, and religious networks together will all its components and connec-
tions. Thus, I will be able to contribute to both Nagshbandi historiography and the
growing field of Ottoman ego-documents for which letters as primary sources are of

significant importance.
1.2.2 Marginal Notes in Astrological Calendars
As neglected primary sources in the Ottoman historiography, the marginal daily

notes written in astrological calendars constitutes another cluster of the most origi-

nal historical records on which my dissertation is based. However, since they are the

40Butrus Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order
in Istanbul,” 1-25.
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product of the pen of Mehmed Ismet Efendi (d. 1747), I use them only in the fourth
and fifth chapters, where I focus on his life, career, Sufi affiliations, intellectual ori-
entations and networks. To the best of my knowledge, with the exception of the
daily notes of the chief astrologer, Sadullah Ankaravi (d. 1855), who collected them
in at least sixteen astrological calendars, the daily notes that have survived through
astrological calendars have not been the subject of academic research.@ Two of
Mehmed Ismet’s astrological calendars have been identified in the literature.*?> My
research in the manuscript library of the Kandilli Observatory brings to light another
five calendars containing his daily notes.*3 By working on these calendars, I aim to
contribute to the growing literature on Ottoman ego-documents,** for among the
topics he preferred to record were the latest rumors, current developments concern-
ing himself and his family members, political developments, and the appointment,
dismissal and exile of high-ranking officials and members of the ulema. It seems
to me that the main reason for him to enter details regarding the career of leading
figures was that the heroes of the plot were either his close friends or his patrons. In
this regard, astrological calendars are valuable sources for revealing Mehmed Ismet’s
socio-political and Sufi connections. In addition, his calendars deserve closer atten-
tion, as they contain daily notes on meteorological events such as rain and snow fall,
the onset of storms as well as natural disasters such as earthquakes (zelzele) and the
plague (taun). More strikingly, he recorded outbreaks not only of small-scale fires
(harik-i ciiz’1), but also of conflagrations (harik-i kiilli), which had been a regular
feature of Ottoman Istanbul for centuries. For the sake of the dissertation, my fo-
cus will be on the records relating to people and their actions rather than natural

disasters.

41G1"11gin Tunali Kog, “Sadullah el-Ankaravi: Daily Concerns of an Ottoman Astrologer,” Unpublished MA
Thesis, (Bogazi¢i University, 2002). Salim Ayduz is the first historian who brought our attention astro-
logical calendars as significant sources for the Ottoman historiography. See Aydiiz, “Osmanli Devleti’'nde
Miineccimbagilik ve Miineccimbagilar,” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Istanbul Universitesi, 1993): 74-97; idem,
“Miineccimbagi Takvimleri ve Tarihi Kaynak Olarak Degerleri,” Cogito 22 (2000): 132-144; idem, “Osmanl
Devleti'nde Miineccimbagilik Miiessesesi,” Belleten 70 (2006): 167-264; esp. 215-224; and idem, “Islam
Medeniyetinde Takvimler,” Yedikita 60, (August 2013): 52-59.

42 Osmanly Astronomi Literatiiri Tarihi, vol. I, ed. Ekmeleddin Thsanoglu, prepared by Ekmeleddin Th-
sanoglu, Ramazan Segen, Cevat Izgi, Cemil Akpmar, Thsan Fazlioglu, (Istanbul: IRCICA, 1997), 426-427;

Salim Aydiiz, “Ismet Mehmed Efendi (6. 1747) ve Tedahiil-i Seneye Dair Risalesi,” Kutadgubilig Felsefe-
Bilim Arastirmalary Dergisi 15, (March, 2009): 230.

43For the calendars that were known, see Kandilli Rasathanesi Kiitiiphanesi, Takvimler, no. T26 and T33.
For the calendars that I have detected, see ibid, no. T25, T28, 418, T30, and T36.

44For the growing literature on the Ottoman ego-documents, see Selim Karahasanoglu, “Ottoman Ego-
Documents: State of the Art,” International Journal of Middle Fast Studies 53 (2021): 301-308. See also
Tunahan Durmaz, “Family, Companions, and Death: Seyyid Hasan Niri Efendi’s Microcosm (1661-1665),”
Unpublished MA Thesis, (Sabanct University, 2019): 10-18. For a study evaluating astrological calendars
as ego-documents, see Isa Ugurlu, “Recording History and Documenting Ego in the Eighteenth-Century
Istanbul: Astrological Calendars as Ego-documents,” (forthcoming).
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1.2.3 Books and Treatises Authored by the Nagshbandi Masters

Except the first chapter, which focuses on the Nagshbandi lodges, I utilize a consider-
able number of scholarly compositions in manuscript and published forms. In doing
so, my intention in the second, third and fourth chapters is to analyze the intellectual
orientation, production and reception of Nagshbandi masters, such Murad Bukhari,
Abd al-Ghani Néblusi, La‘lizide Abdiilbaki, Mehmed Emin Tokadi, Mehmed Is-
met, Seyyid Abdurrahman, Miistakimzade Stileyman Sa‘deddin and Seyyid Mustafa
Rasim. In the fifth chapter I evaluate Mehmed Ismet’s scholarly network, his books
and treatises in manuscript form serve my research in terms of ownership and com-
pletion records. Focusing specifically on these records, I show how Mehmed Ismet,
as an intellectual and a lodgeless seyh, managed to establish his own patronage

networks in the Ottoman capital or to exploit pre-existing ones.

1.2.4 Biographical Dictionaries

Biographical dictionaries are useful primary sources for studies on the history of
the Ottoman ulema and Sufis. For this reason, in this study, I will make use of
Seka”iku’n-Nu®maniyye by Tagkoprizdde Ahmed (d. 1561) and its supplements,
namely Hada’iku’s-Seka®ik by Mecdi Mehmed (d. 1591), Hada®iku’l-Haka’ik by
Nev‘izade Atal (d. 1635), Vekayi‘u’l-Fudala by Seyhi Mehmed (d. 1731) and
Tekmiletii®s-Seka®ik by Findikhih Ismet (d. 1904).*> T utilize these dictionaries
whenever biographical information on the Sufis and scholars mentioned in my chap-
ters is needed. My perspective will be relational. Since my dissertation covers the
seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, I frequently benefit from Seyhi Mehmed’s en-
tries in Vekayi‘u’l-Fudala to gain a good understanding of the lives and careers of
Sufi masters and scholars and to reveal the connections between the learned cir-
cles of Istanbul. In addition to these biographical dictionaries, I will be benefit from
Tuhfe-i Hattatin by Miistakimzade Stileymén Sa‘deddin (1719-1788), Sicill-i Osmadni
by Mehmed Stireyya (1845-1909) and Sefine-i Evliyd by Osmanzade Hiiseyin Vassaf

45Ta§k('jpriiliizéde Ahmed Efendi, eg-Sakd’iku’n-Nu‘madniyye fi ‘Ulemai’d-Devleti’l-Osmaniyye: Osmanly
Alimleri, prepared by Muhammet Hekimoglu, (Istanbul: YEK, 2019); Mecdi Mehmed Efendi, Hadaiku’s-
Sakaik, facsimile edition, prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (Istanbul: Cagr1 Yayinlari, 1989); Nev'izade Ataf,
Hadaiku’l-Hakaik fi Tekmileti’s-Sakaik, facsimile edition, prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (Istanbul: Cagri
Yayinlari, 1989); Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu’l-Fudald, vols. I-II, prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (istanbul:
Cagr1 Yayinlary, 1989); Seyhi Mehmed Efendi, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzala: Seyhi’nin Sakd’ik Zeyli, prepared by Ra-
mazan Ekinci, vols. 1-4, (istanbul: YEK, 2018); Findiklil Ismet Efendi, Sakaik-i Nu’maniye ve Zeyilleri:

Tekmiletii’s-Sakaik fi Hakk-» Ehli’l-Hakaik, prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (Istanbul: Cagri Yayinlari,
1989).
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(1872-1929).46 These are meticulously compiled rich sources based on extensive field
and source research in cemeteries and manuscript libraries. For example, Sefine-i
Evliya was published in Istanbul in 1925 as the fruit of twenty years of research.
It contains nearly two thousand entries on the biographies of the seyhs of various
Sufi brotherhoods and is one of the most commendable sources of the Nashbandi
biographies.” Since the authors of these texts were either Sufi dervishes or masters
affiliated with several Sufi orders, they were curious and careful enough to collect
useful biographical information about the Sufi intellectuals of the Ottoman Empire.
Nevertheless, in order to have a historical depiction as realistic as possible, I will

subject these sources to comparative evaluation whenever the occasion arises.

1.2.5 Chronicles

In the Nagshbandi networks of the seventeenth- and eighteenth-century Istanbul
there were many dignitaries, scholar-bureaucrats, and officials of senior and infe-
rior ranks who were the subject of the history, not as Sufis but as civil servants
and statesmen. Occupying the posts of the grand vizier, vizier, chief mufti, chief
judge, gadi, and so on, they often confronted each other and split into factions.
The chronicles of the period, namely Vekayi‘name by Abdurrahméan Abdi Pasha (d.
1686), Zibde-i Vekayi‘at by Defterdar Sar1 Mehmed Pasha (d. 1717), Zeyl-i Fezleke
and Nusretndme by Silahdar Findikhili Mehmed Aga (1658-1726), Tarihs by Résid
Mehmed (d. 1735), Abdi (d. 17647), and Subhi Mehmed (d. 1769), contain invalu-
able pieces of biographical and contextual information as to our heroes.*® Therefore,
given the partial attitudes of the chroniclers, I will use them through comparisons
and crosschecking with other surviving primary sources in order to have a better

description of intra-Sufi relations.

460\ iistakimzade Siileyman Sa‘deddin Efendi, Tuhfe-i Hattatin, edited and annotated by Ibniilemin Mahmid
Kemal Bey, (Istanbul: Devlet Matbaasi, 1928); Tuhfe-i Hattdtin, ed. Mustafa Kog, (Istanbul: Klasik,
2014); Mehmed Siireyya, Sicill-i Osmdni, vols. 1-6, prepared by Nuri Akbayar, (Istanbul: Tarih Vakfi
Yurt Yayinlari, 1996); Osméanzade Hiiseyin Vassaf, Sefine-i Euvliyd, vols. 1-5, (Istanbul: Kitabevi, 2006).

47For the biographies of the Nagshbandi seyhs in this source, see Sefine-i Evliyd, vol. 2, 15-420. On Hiiseyin

Vassaf, see Cemal Kurnaz and Mustafa Tatci, “Hiiseyin Vassaf,” TDVIA, vol. 19, (Istanbul: TDV, 1999):
18-19.

48 Abdurrahman Abdi Pasa, Abdurrahman Abdi Pasa Vekdyi“-namesi [Osmanly Tarihi 1648-1682)], prepared
by Fahri C. Derin, (Istanbul: Camlica, 2008); Defterdar Sar1 Mehmed Pasa, Ziibde-i Vekdyi‘at (1656-
1704), prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (Ankara: TTK Basimevi, 1995); Silahdar Findiklih Mehmed Aga,

Nusretndame: Inceleme — Metin (1106-1133 / 1695-1721), prepared by Mehmet Topal, (Ankara: TUBA,
2018); Nazire Karagay Tirkal, “Silahdar Findiklilh Mehmed Aga Zeyl-i Fezleke,” Unpublished PhD Diss.,

(Marmara Universitesi 2012); Rasid Mehmed Efendi and Celebizade Isma‘il Asim Efendi, Tdrih-i Rdsid
ve Zeyli, vols. I-II1, ed. Abdiilkadir Ozcan, Yunus Ugur, Baki Cakir, and Ahmet Zeki Izgeor, (Istanbul:
Klasik, 2013); Abdi, Abdi Tarihi: 1780 Patrona Ihtildli Hakkinda Bir Eser, ed. Faik Resat Unat, (Ankara:
TTK, 2014); Vak‘aniivis Subhi Mehmed Efendi, Subhi Tarihi: Sami ve Sakir Tarihleri ile Birlikte (Inceleme
ve Karsilastirmaly Metin), ed. Mesut Aydiner, (Istanbul: Kitabevi, 2007).

17



1.3 Structure of the Dissertation

Apart from the introduction, this dissertation has five chapters relating to the state
of the Nagshbandi order during a period stretching from 1650 to 1800. Whereas
the first chapter is on the Nagshbandi lodges built in Istanbul following the city’s
conquest to the end of the 18th century, the second chapter focuses on Seyh Murad
Bukhari’s activities aimed at building an extensive network from 1680’s until his
death in 1720. The third chapter analyzes four reasons behind the success of the
Nagshbandi order as a growing entity during the 17th and 18th centuries. The
fourth and fifth chapters are reserved for Mehmed Ismet Efendi, an outstanding
but neglected Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi seyh who enjoyed an attractive life and career
during the first half of the 18th century.

The primary goal in the first chapter is to shed light on historical Nagshbandi lodges
built in Istanbul over a period of three-and-a-half centuries. To this end, in the first
order, the lodges will be subjected to a dual categorization: first- and second-wave
lodges. Such a classification seems indispensable because a time interval of one
hundred and thirty years sharply separates two distinct century-long periods dur-
ing which there were seven and eighteen lodges established respectively. Then, the
chapter introduces and discusses details of great importance regarding the history
and function of the tekkes and their founders and seyhs. The targeted lodges, in
fact, have been matter of discussion in several academic studies. My contribution is
to reconsider them in light of new archival documents and existing primary sources
such as manuscripts. For this purpose, in the first part, I reassess the Emir Bukhari
lodge located in Fatih, for it had been under the supervision of native seyhs be-
fore its ultimate transfer to Ahmed Sadik (d. 1586), a Bukhara born Nagshbandi
master, and to his spiritual successors all of whom were his progeny. The second
part will be a reevaluation of the second-wave lodges set up either in the intramu-
ral or extramural city. I will claim in this regard that Eyiip became a center of
attraction for Nagshbandis, particularly in the 18th century because of the lodges
built for Sufi masters and dervishes of Central and South Asian origin; that Naqgsh-
bandi Qalandarism and the tradition of celibacy, which were represented in some
of the lodges, were transformed owing to concerns of the state and tekke-founders;
that the increase in number of Nagshbandi lodges was due to the patronage of the
wealthy patrons and the direct and posthumous influence of Murdd Bukharl and
Yekdest Ahmad Juryani; that strict connections were formed between the gravedig-
ger lodges and Emir Bukhari lodge located at Edirnekapi; and that the growth was

a phenomenon not only for the Nagshbandi but also Khalwati and Qadiri orders in
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the 18th century Istanbul.

The second chapter is devoted exclusively to Seyh Murad Bukhéri, fresh blood in the
history of the Nagshbandi order in Ottoman lands. The chapter tries to analyze the
politics of his networking, particularly in Istanbul, in light of his surviving letters,
Qur’anic dictionary and treatises. Thanks to the rigorous use of the letters new
insights into Seyh Murad, his family members and his socio-political and religio-sufi
networks have emerged. The first purpose of the chapter is to draw attention to new
contributions to his biography. Since the correspondence between Seyh Murad and
his disciples took place in the absence of the parties in the same place, the second
aim of the chapter is to introduce the network of communication and transportation
that came into being in Seyh Murad’s Nagshbandi circles. In this context, it is ar-
gued that he and his high-ranking disciples of substantial wealth, employed official
and private couriers and pilgrimage caravans to ensure the continuity of Sufi com-
munication. Thirdly, the chapter contends that the network formed around Seyh
Murad was of lettered men and resembled an immaterial republic. By highlight-
ing similarities between Seyh Murad’s Sufi network and the Western Republic of
Letters, the chapter also contributes to the extensive literature on the Republic of
Letters. After discussing these three points, which constitute the first part of the
chapter, the main reasons for the composition of the letters will be argued in the
second part. Considering the average content of the letters, the chapter contends
that Seyh Murad composed them in order to spread his teachings, which, while not
introducing fundamental novelties in the field of Sufism, they were novel in the sense
that they contained remodeled views and reformulated vocabularies of the previous
generations. By reformulating existing concepts of Sufism, the chapter argues that
Seyh Murad aimed to consolidate his authority within Nagshbandi circles, which, in
turn served the purpose of establishing a Muradi branch of the Nagshbandiyya. In
addition Seyh Murad continued to correspond with his disciples in order to maintain
control over them from a distance. The methods serving such a purpose were varied
and they will be explained in the chapter. Lastly, considering the power struggles
between Seyh Murad’s high-ranking disciples, it will be argued that neither he aimed
to exercise power over state affairs, nor could such a will be achieved in the historical

conditions of the period.

The third chapter is an attempt to clarify four basic reasons that allowed the Naqgsh-
bandi order to gain power and establish a reputation at the social and the state levels
during the 17th and 18th centuries. Utilizing Seyhi Mehmed’s Vekayi®u’l-Fudala in
particular, the chapter proposes in its first and second sections that the concor-
dance with the ulema establishment and sharia, and the familial cooperation with

seyyids and nakibiilegraf families were two main reasons why the Nagshbandi order
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became established in the Ottoman capital and was adopted by a large number of
the ulema and urbanites. In this regard, the chapter argues that Nagshbandi mas-
ters, either as descendants of the Prophet or claiming to be so, or with close ties to
the seyyids, enjoyed the reverence of society and the patronage of high-ranking offi-
cials. Therefore, as well-trained and competent preachers who occupied the pulpits
of the neighborhood and imperial mosques, they were able to win social sympathy,
which in turn led to the expansion of the order through mosques and tekkes. As the
third reason, the chapter specifically underlines the role of the lodgeless seyhs in the
development and expansion of the order in Istanbul. Without being tied to a lodge,
these masters were able to propagate the Nagshbandi order in their business and
social networks as grand viziers, viziers, grand muftis, chief judges, qadis, imams,
teachers, professors, and calligraphers. Finally, the chapter highlights Nagshbandi
outreach to other Sufi orders as a constructive factor in the continuity and empow-
erment of the Nagshbandiyya in the capital. It argues that their tolerance of other
orders’ right to exist and their liturgical practices, as well as their advocacy of a

culture of coexistence, above all maintained the continuity of the Nagshbandi order.

The fourth chapter relates to the biography and scholarly works of Mehmed Is-
met Efendi, a lodgeless seyh who had authorization from at least five Sufi broth-
erhoods including Nagshbandiyya, Mevleviyye, Qadiriyya, Shadhiliyya, and Bayra-
miyya. Thanks to his previously unknown manuscripts preserved in the collection
of Veliyytiddin Efendi in the Beyazit Library, his probate inventory discovered in
the Kismet-i Askeriye registers, and his daily notes penned on seven astrological
calendars catalogued in the Kandilli Observatory Library, we are in an advanta-
geous position to write about life, career and scholarly production of this neglected
Sufi master and scholar. Thus, the chapter will offer a better understanding of
his educational background and career, family, wealth, and Sufistic and intellectual
orientations. Particularly regarding his intellectual accumulation, the chapter at-
tempts to demonstrate that he not only produced poetic works, but also penned
critical commentaries on them, wrote consultative pamphlets for the grand vizier,
did not restrict himself to theoretical readings of astronomy and astrology, but also
practiced them, and was a good reader of Sufi texts authored by prominent Sufi

masters identified with different mystic orders.

The fifth chapter is an attempt to shed light on the patronage networks that made
Mehmed Ismet’s literary and scholarly compositions possible. Through the rigorous
use of his daily notes, autographs, translations and copies of pre-existing schol-
arly works, the chapter aims to identify the patrons who promoted his scholarly
output. Considering that Mehmed Ismet had the approval of five Sufi orders, the

chapter investigates and asks to what extent belonging to different orders led to
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the diversification of patrons and patronage. As an explanation, it will be main-
tained that his multiple Sufi connections allowed him to become part of patronage
networks in which well-to-do patrons adhering to multiple Sufi brotherhoods al-
ready existed. It will be emphasized in this context that Mevlevi, Bayrami-Melami
and Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi were the most salient orders that attracted his pow-
erful patrons at the state level. Be that as it may, the chapter establishes that
the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi milieu stood out from others in terms of its unrivalled

influence over him and his patrons.
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2. FIRST- AND SECOND-WAVE NAQSHBANDI LODGES IN ISTANBUL
FROM CONQUEST TO THE END OF THE 18TH CENTURY

2.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with the functioning Naqgshbandi lodges in 17th-— and 18th—
century Istanbul. By utilizing untapped primary sources regarding operating and
recently built Nagshbandi tekkes and the seyhs, I aim to find answers to the follow-
ing questions: What were common and peculiar threads of Nagshbandi lodges in
Istanbul during the centuries in question? What were the roles of the lodges in the
neighborhoods where they were situated? To what extent were external develop-
ments within the order embraced and how the new Nagshbandi flux was treated by
adherents of the order in the Ottoman capital? To what extent had the existing pa-
tronage system influenced the continuity and propagation of the order? In response
to these and similar questions, I will show that neither the roles and functions of
Nagshbandi lodges nor the Nagshbandi seyhs and their followers can be understood
solely through the analysis of the dynamics of Sufism and religion. I claim that
changing, transforming, and redeveloping social and political networks enable us to
understand the Istanbulite Nagshbandis, who were dynamic enough to pursue emer-
gent changes and transformations either in the order or in the society and political
establishment. It was this ability, I assert, that made possible the durability and
prolongation of the order in Istanbul. For this, however, an introduction is needed

for the historical Nagshbandi lodges founded in Istanbul.

2.2 First-wave Nagshbandi Lodges in Istanbul

The Nagshbandi lodges and seyhs have come into question in several studies in which

the historical presence of the order in the Ottoman capital have been a matter of
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investigation. Thanks to the research conducted by Kasim Kufrali, Thierry Zarcone,
Ekrem Isin, Hamid Algar, Cemaleddin Server Revnakoglu, Resat Ongoren, Ramazan
Muslu, Hiir Mahmut Yiicer, Dina le Gall, and Halil Ibrahim Simsek,*? obscurities in
the history of the Nagshbandiyya in Anatolia and Istanbul have gradually waned in
importance and are all but forgotten. However, the Nagshbandi lodges founded in
the late 15th to the 18th centuries, in addition to the studies mentioned in the first
footnote of this chapter, encyclopedic entries written by Thierry Zarcone, and Baha
Tanman for Diinden Bugiine Istanbul Ansiklopedisi and Tiirkiye Diyanet Vakfi Islam
Ansiklopedisi and investigations made by Martin Grace Smith, Klaus Kreiser, and
Nuran Cetin constitute significant contribution to the history of the Nagshbandi

order.%9

It is, to a large extent, thanks to efforts of these researchers that we
are able to realize a bifurcated lodge system of Nagshbandiyya in Istanbul, which
consists of tekkes under the control of Nagshbandi seyh families who secured the
continuity of the order in the city and tekkes built for and operated by the Central
and South Asians who visited Istanbul for reasons including pilgrimages, careers in

state administration, business and crafts.

The Nagshbandi Order, alongside Bayrami, Vefai (or Zeyni), and Khalwati tariqats,

49Kasim Kufral, “Naksibendiligin Kurulugu ve Yayiligi,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Istanbul University, 1949),
“Molla Tlahi ve Kendisinden Sonraki Naksibendiye Muhiti,” TUDED I11/1 (1949): 129-151. This article

has republished in Tasavvuf Kitabs, ed. Cemil Ciftci, (Istanbul: Kitabevi, 2003): 42-64. My references will
be to the latter edition. Thierry Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Is-
tanbul,” Anatolia moderna — Yeni Anadolu 2 (1991): 137-200; Ekrem Isin, “Naksibendilik,” DBIA, vol. VI,

(fstanbul: Tiirkiye Ekonomik ve Toplumsal Tarih Vakfi, 1993-1994): 31-38; Hamid Algar, “Nakshband,”
EI vol. VII, (Leiden: Brill, 1993): 933-934, “Nakshbandiyya: in Persia and in Turkey,” ibid, 934-937,

“Naksibendiyye,” TDVIA, vol. 32, (Istanbul: TDV, 2006): 335-342, and “The Nagshbandi Order: A pre-
liminary survey of its history and significance,” Studia Islamica 44 (1976): 123-152; C. Server Revnakoglu,

FEski Sosyal Hayatimizda Tasavvuf ve Tarikat Kiltird, prepared by M. Dogan Bayin and Ismail Dervisoglu,
(1stanbu1: Kirkambar Kitaphgi, 2003): 149-156; Resat Ongoren, Osmanhlar’da Tasavouf, 117-154, “Istan-
bul’da Tasavvufi Hayat,” in Biyik Istanbul Tarihi, vol. V, eds. M. Akif Aydin and Cogkun Yilmaz,
(istanbul: IBB Kiiltiir Yayinlari, 2015): 265-275; Ramazan Muslu, Osmanls Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 18.
Yiizl, (1stanbul: Insan Yaynlari, 2003): 229-309; Hiir Mahmut Yiicer, Osmanli Toplumunda Tasavvuf:
19. Yiizpl, (Istanbul: Insan Yayinlari, 2003): 245-340; Dina le Gall, A Culture of Sufism: Nakshbandis
in the Ottoman World, 1450-1700, (Albany: State University of New York Press, 2005); Halil Ibrahim
Simsek, 18. Yiizinl Osmani Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miiceddidilik, (Istanbul: Litera Yaymcilik, 2016).

505ee Thierry Zarcone, “Afganiler Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. I, 86, “Buhara Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. 1I, 325-326,
“Emir Buhari Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. 111, 165-167, “Hindiler Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. IV, 74-75, “Kalenderhane

Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. IV, 398-399, “Kaggari Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. IV, 485-486; Baha Tanman, “Abid
Celebi Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 1, 308, “Afganiler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 1, 400, “Emir Buh&ri Tekkesi,”
TDVIA, vol. 11, 126-128, “Hindiler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 18, 68-69, “Murad Buhari Tekkesi,” DBIA,

vol. V, 514-516, “Seyh Murad Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 39, (Istanbul: TDV, 2010): 62-64, “Mustafa Pasa
Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. V, 564-565, “Neccarzade Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. VI, 59-60, “Ozbekler Tekkesi,” DBIA,
vol. VI, 199-202, “Ozbekler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 121-123, and 123-124; Martin Grace Smith, “The

Ozbek Tekkes of Istanbul,” Der Islam 57 (1980): 130-139; Klaus Kreiser, “Kaggari Tekyesi: Ein Istanbuler
Naksbandi-Konvent und Sein Stifler,” in Nagshbandis: Historical Developments and Present Situation of
a Muslim Mystical Order, (Istanbul-Paris: ISIS, 1990): 331-335; Nuran Cetin, “Kaggari Tekkesi,” Tarihi,

Kiiltiri ve Sanatiwyla Eytipsultan Sempozyumu VIII: Tebligler, (1stanbul: Eyiip Belediyesi Kiiltiir Yayinlari,
2004): 294-305, “Murad Buhari Tekkesi ve Fonksiyonlar1,” Amasya Universitesi [lahiyat Fakiiltesi Dergisi

4 (2015): 5-36, idem, Gondil Sultanlarmin Agwrlandign Tekke: Kasgari Dergihi, (Istanbul: Eyiipsultan
Belediyesi Yayinlari, 2018).
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is one of the oldest orders settled in Istanbul following the conquest of 1453.51 Al-
though a certain Ahmed-i 1ahi is introduced as the first Nagshbandi seyh to took
refuge in Istanbul, where he gave sermons in the presence of Mehmed 1T (d. 1481),
we do not find a long-serving lodge attributed to him. The earliest center of Naqgsh-
bandiyya in Istanbul is Hindiler Tekkesi, erected in 860/1455-1456% for a Naqsh-
bandi seyh named Khwaja Ishaq Bukhari-i Hindi upon Mehmed II's order, passed
into the Qadiriyya in the mid-17th century but was reclaimed by the Nagshbandiyya
in the following century.®® Despite its uninterrupted service from the second half of
the 16th century to the closure of tekkes and zaviyes in 1925,°* the chain of seyhs oc-
cupying the post of Hindiler Tekkesi has not been brought to light. The only attempt
made for this purpose was by Thierry Zarcone, who, by resting on the tombstones
in the burial area of the tekke, revealed the names of seyhs serving in the lodge since
the late 18th century. However, as Zarcone emphasized himself, “[n]aturally, this
silsile-name will not be free of errors and will need to be completed or corrected
in the future according to the new documentation that may be updated.”> Ow-
ing to the transliteration of dozens of qadi registers of Istanbul, the names of at
least four Hindi seyhs have come to light. While two of them (Seyh Fethulldh and
Seyh Abdtsselam) are identified as the gseyh of the Hindis, the remaining two seyhs
(Abdiilgani and Kemaleddin) are merely dubbed as “Hindi”?® From the sijills we
understand that only Seyh Fethullah still assumed the post of the Horhor Hindiler
Tekkesi in mid-October 1624, for he was identified as such among the witnesses of a
notarial litigation in which the said Seyh Abdiilgani was one of the participants.®”
Twenty years later, on 1 May 1644, a certain Seyh Abdiisselam appears among the

51Revnako§lu, Eski Sosyal Hayatvmazda Tasavvuf ve Tarikat Kiltiri, 149, Resat Ongoéren, “Istanbul’da
Tasavvufi Hayat,” 240-296.

52The year of foundation is established by Cemaleddin Server Revnakoglu. Conveyed by Ali Emre Islek,
“Osmanh Devleti'nde Hindi Tekkeleri,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Ondokuz Mayis Universitesi, 2020): 52.

53Thiemry Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 172-174; Baha
Tanman, “Hindiler Tekkesi,” 67. According to Otman Baba Veldyetnamesi which was penned by Kiigiik
Abdal in 1483, Otman Baba visited the Hindiler Tekkesi when passing through Istanbul, an explicit
indication that the first Nagshbandi tekke had already been there. Depending on an archival document

dated 10 October 1817, Ali Emre Islek claims that the Hindiler Tekkesi was the earliest lodge of Chishtiyya
rather than Nagshbandiyya in the Ottoman capital. For his argumentation see ibid, 58-61.

54Res‘cing on Revnakoglu’s handwritten notes on the Hindiler Tekkesi, Islek asserts that the tekke was in
ruin before its reconstruction under Seyh Turdbi-i Hindi in 1737. Iglek argues that it might be destroyed

by the conflagration of 1660 (Thrdk-1 Kebir) which wiped out many buildings also in Horhor — Aksaray
where the said lodge had been erected. See ibid, 56-57, and 62.

55My own translation. See, Zarcone, ibid, 174. For the chain, see ibid, 176.

560n Seyh Abdiilgani, see Istanbul Kads Sicilleri: Rumeli Sadareti Mahkemesi 40 numaraly Sicil (H. 1033-
1034 / M. 1623-1624), ed. Coskun Yilmaz, (Istanbul: IBB Kiiltir A.S., 2019): 65, 96 and 296. On
Seyh Kemaleddin, see Istanbul Kady Sicilleri: Eyiip Mahkemesi 74 numaral sicil (H. 1072-1073 / M.
1661-1662), ed. Cogkun Yilmaz, (Istanbul: ISAM, 2011): 394.

57 fstanbul Kady Sicilleri: Rumeli Sadareti Mahkemesi 40 numaraly Sicil, 296.
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witnesses as “the seyh of Hindis” in a case regarding the heirless property of Receb
b. Abdullah, a Hindi merchant who died in Kagithane.?® The existence of a Hindi
lodge and merchant community in Kagithane, as Ali Emre Islek rightly reminds us,
corresponds to the historical background depicted by Evliya Celebi (d. 16847), who
points out a Hindi lodge and Hindis living in and around Kagithane.®® However,
Islek concludes that the Hindiler Tekkesi in Horhor was either worthless in the eyes
of Hindis in the mid-17th century or devastated by the natural disasters such as

conflagration and flood, two remarkable claims in need for further studies.%"

In addition to the Hindiler Tekkesi, the two first-wave tekkes, where Nagshbandi
invocation and rituals had uninterruptedly been observed since the last years of
Bayezid II's reign (r. 1481-1512), were built in the name of Emir Ahmed Bukhéri
(d. 1516), the disciple of famous masters Khwaja Ubaydullah Ahrar (d. 1490)
and Abdullah 11ahi (d. 1491), and the most venerated Nagshbandi seyh in Istanbul
before the arrival of Murdd Bukhéri (d. 1720). Whereas one of them was constructed
before 1512 in the vicinity of the Mosque complex of Mehmed 11, the other was built
in Ayvansaray/Egrikap: in 1512. As to the latter, we learn from Ayvansarayi that it
was the private property of Ahmed Bukhari, and because it was endowed as a familial
waq(f, the property had remained in the hands of legal heirs, but Seyh Muslihuddin
Mustafa (d. 1657-58), who married the granddaughter of Emir Ahmed Bukhari,

51 Depending on this detail and the roster of seyhs

restored and enlarged its waq
in which lists Muslihuddin Mustafa in the first place, Dina le Gall claims that “this
site slipped out of Nagshbandi control and ceased to exist as a Nagshband1 tekke
for over a century. It was only in the mid-seventeenth century that the property

762 However, it seems more reasonable that the seyhs of

reverted to Nagshband1 use.
Emir Bukhari lodge in Fatih were unconditional supervisors and incumbents of this
tekke as well, since it was stipulated as the property of Emir Ahmed Bukhéari, who
left no male descendant behind. In other words, we can assert that it was during

the incumbency of Seyyid Abdullah (d. 1670), the then serving seyh at Fatih lodge,

58 [stanbul Kady Sicilleri: Eyiip Mahkemesi (Havass-1 Refia) 49 numaraly sicil (H. 1054 / M. 1644), ed.
Cogkun Yilmaz, (Istanbul: ISAM, 2011): 75.

590n the funeral pyres lit and cremated corpses witnessed by Evliya Celebi in the Kagithane valley, see
also Tilay Artan, “Cosmopolitanism in the Early 18th-Century Ottoman Capital: The Impostor, the
Alchemist, the Merchant and the Personal Dimension,” Turcica 55 (2024) (forthcoming).

60For Islek’s conclusion see ibid, 55-56.

61«By mescid ve zaviye miilk olmagla veresesi yedinde kalup ba®de zeman seyh-i mezburufi tarikinden
Muslihuddin Mustafa Efendi seyh-i mezbtirun kerimezadesini tezevviic iderek zaviye-i mezkureye seyh
olup ve vakfina miiceddeden nizam viriip be-her sene mevlud-i serif kira®ati i¢iin dah1 vakfini tevsi® eylemis
..” Hafiz Hiiseyin Ayvansarayi, Hadikatii’l-Cevimi‘, (Dersa‘ddet: Matba‘a-i ‘Amire, 1281): 45-46; Hafiz
Hiiseyin al-Ayvansarayl, The Garden of Mosques, translated and annotated by Howard Crane, (Leiden:
Brill, 2000): 52.

621¢ Gall, Nakshbandis in the Ottoman World, 51.
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that Muslihuddin Mustafa was appointed as the new seyh to the Ayvansaray lodge.

If this is so, then, the name of seyhs serving at Ayvansaray lodge must be as listed

as in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Seyhs of Ayvansaray Emir Bukhari Lodge

Seyh Death

1 | Seyyid Emir Ahmed Bukhari 922/1516
2 | Mahmiid Celebi 938/1531-32
3 | Abdullatif Celebi 971/1563
4 | Cemalzade Seyyid Mehmed Efendi 993/1585
5 | Seyyid Ahmed Sadik Bukhari 994 /1586
6 | Kavakhizdde Mehmed Efendi 1000/1592
7 | Sa‘ban Efendi 1002/1593
8 | Seyyid Ziyaeddin Ahmed 1011/1602-3
9 | Seyyid Fazlullah b. Muhammed Sa‘id | 1046/1637
10 | Seyyid Abdullah 1080/1670
11 | Muslihuddin Mustafa 1068/1658
12 | Hiseyin Efendi 1086/1675
13 | Yisuf Efendi 1100/1688
14 | Osman Efendi 1137/1724
15 | Karamanizade Ahmed Efendi 1149/1736
16 | Kirimi Ahmed Efendi 1156/1743
17 | Mehmed Emin Tokadi Efendi 1158/1745
18 | Halil Birgivi Efendi 1163/1749
19 | Ibrahim Efendi 1169/1755
20 | Hasan Efendi 1167/1753
21 | Mustafa Efendi 1196/1781

In addition to these tekkes, a third tekke, also named after Emir Ahmed Bukhari,
was built before the year 937/1530 by Emir Ahmed Bukhéari’s disciple and son-in-law
Khwaja Mahmid Efendi (d. 1584) in Edirnekap1 outside the city walls. Regarding
the tekke, it is claimed by Baha Tanman that it passed to the Sivasi branch of
Khalwatiyya in 1086/1675-76, and, after reverting to Nagshbandiyya, it passed to
Qadiriyya in 1731 upon its renowned seyh Seyhi Mehmed’s death.%® However, it
seems more rational to define these handovers of position at Edirnekap: tekke as

764 rather than a

a transition “to spiritual descendants of another Nagshbandi line
clear-cut passage from the Nagshbandi to the Khalwati or Qadiri orders. This is

so, because it is understood from Seyh Feyzi Hasan’s biography rendered by his

63For more on tekkes dedicated to Emir Ahmed Bukhari see Ekrem Isin, “Naksgibendilik,” 32; Thierry Zarcone,
“Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 139-144, “Emir Buhari Tekkesi,”
165-167; Baha Tanman, “Emir Buhari Tekkesi,” and Dina le Gall, Nakshbandis in the Ottoman World,
38-39.

641e Gall, Nakshbandis in the Ottoman World, 41-42.
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son Jeyhi Mehmed that the primary reason behind Feyzl Hasan’s nomination might
have been that he had already completed his Nagshbandi training under the famed
Nagshbandi seyh Bosnevi Osméan (d. 1664).65 That is, it was most probably due to
his Nagshbandi ijaza that he was able to serve in the lodge. In comparison, we may
contend that what allowed Qadiri seyhs to supervise the Edirnekap1 tekke starting
with the appointment in 1731 of Sdhkadinzade Seyh Abdurrahméan Efendi (d. 1750)

was their authorization in the Nagshbandi order (see Table 2.2).

Table 2.2 Seyhs of Edirnekapit Emir Bukhari Lodge

Seyh Death

1 | Mahmiid Celebi 938/1531-32
2 | Menteseli Hac1 Halife ?

3 | Takiyytiddin Ebtibekir 965/1557-58
4 | Sefer Efendi ?

5 | Hamza Efendi ?

6 | Tascizade Mehmed Efendi ?

7 | Mustafa Efendi ?

8 | Mehmed Emin Efendi ?

9 | Feyzi Hasan Efendi 1102/1690
10 | Seyhi Mehmed Efendi 1144/1731
11 | Sdhkadinzade Abdurrahméan Efendi | 1163/1750
12 | Feyzullah Efendi 1184/1770
13 | Abdurrahman Efendi 1225/1810

Thanks to the support of Siileyman II's powerful grand vizier Riistem Pasha (d.
1561), the fourth well-established Naqgshbandi tekke was founded during his grand
vizierate (v. 1544-53) in the Koska neighborhood of Istanbul, between Beyazit
and Aksaray, by Hekim Celebi (d. 1567), the younger khalifa of Emir Ahmed
Bukhari.% As can be seen in Table 2.3, also demonstrated by Dina le Gall,
“[iJt was around this tekke that he began to develop his own circle and initiatic
line.. The Fil Dam1 tekke itself had as shaykhs seven of his spiritual descendants
(Mustafa Naksbendzade, Ya’kub Ilahizade, Ahmed Tirevi, Ibrahim Efendi, ©Osman
Bosnevi, MuCabbir Hasan, and Mustafa Efendi Esir1 Damadi)”.57 Another tekke in
the Halicilar neighborhood is attributed to Hekim Celebi, but the inference from
Ahmed Miinib Efendi’s (d. 1918) Mecmu‘a-i Tekaya published in the 1890 is feeble

and cursory at best.%® As understood from this misattribution, in comparison to

65Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu'l-Fudald, vol. II, 37-38.

66For an introduction on Hekim Celebi or Fildami lodge see Resat Ongoren, “Istanbul’da Tasavvufi Hayat,”
268-270. On Hekim Celebi see Nev’izdde Atai, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik fi Tekmileti’s-Sakaik, 216-217.

67Le Gall, Nakshbandis in the Ottoman World, 42.

68For the misattributions see Giinay Kut and Turgut Kut, “Istanbul Tekkelerine Ait Bir Kaynak: Dergeh-
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the aforementioned convents of Emir Bukhari, the literature on the Hekim Celebi
lodge is far from satisfaction. Be that as it may, my research in the Ottoman
Archives sheds light on an account book of great importance pertaining to the
Hekim Celebi tekke. According to the register in question, the construction of the
Hekim Celebi tekke complex, which includes a bathhouse (hammam), an upstairs
guesthouse (misafirhane-i fevkani), a kitchen (matbah), a chamber for the geyh, and
sickrooms (oda-i marizan), started at the beginning of Shawwal 960 [10 September
1553].99

Table 2.3 Seyhs of Hekim Celebi Lodge

Seyh Death

1 | Hekim Celebi 974/1567
2 | Nakgbendzade Mustafa Efendi 979/1571
3 | llahizade Ya’ktb Efendi 990/1582
4 | Tirevi Ahmed Efendi 1034/1624
5 | Ibrahim Efendi ?

6 | Bosnevi Osman Efendi 1074/1664
7 | Mu‘abbir Hasan Efendi 1102/1687
8 | Ispirt Damadi Mustafa Efendi 1120/1708
9 | Seyyid Fazlullah Efendi 1121/1709
10 | Ahmed Mekki Efendi 1122/1710
11 | Celebi Seyhzade Abdurrahmén Efendi | 1162/1749
12 | Mehmed Efendi 1167/1754
13 | Yasincizade Osman Efendi 1187/1773

Besides these long-standing lodges built either by Emir Ahmed Bukhari or his son-in-
law Mahmtid Celebi, a certain Baba Haydar Semerkandi (d. 1550), another disciple
of Ubaydulldh Ahrar for whom Siileymén I had a mescid-tekke built in Eyiip, appears
as an eminent, first-generation Nagshbandi seyh in the Ottoman capital.”™® Yet, the

néme,” in Tirkische Miszellen: Robert Anhegger Festschrift, (Istanbul: Editions Divit Press, 1987): 232;
Ekrem Isin, “Naksibendilik,” 33; Resat Ongéren, “Istanbul’da Tasavvufi Hayat,” 268; Lokman Turan,
“Istanbul Dergahlar1 Hakkinda Bilinmeyen Bir Eser: Lutfi’nin Hankah-name’si,” Tiirkbilig 21 (2011): 45.
For more on Ahmed Miinib and his text see Selami Simsek, “Son Doénem Celveti Seyhlerinden Bandir-

malizide Ahmed Miinib Efendi’nin Hayat1, Eserleri ve Mecmiia-y1 Tekaya’s1,” Selcuk Universitesi Tiirkiyat
Arastirmalary Dergisi 21 (2007): 135-172.

695ee BOA, TS.MA.d 3893.

70Re§at Ongoren, “Istanbul’da Tasavvufi Hayat,” 270. According to a legend conveyed by Aysel Okan, it
was Béayezid II who built a mescid for Baba Haydar. See Istanbul Evliyalari, 3. eds, (istanbul: Kapa,
2008): 283-291.For more on Baba Haydar and his tekke-mescid see Mecdi Mehmed Efendi, Hadaiku’s-
Sakaik, 435; Ayvansarayl, Hadikati’l-Cevami‘, 285; idem The Garden of Mosques, 303-304; Hamid Algar,
“Baba Haydar,” TDVIA, vol. 4, (Istanbul: TDV, 1991): 367; Baha Tanman, “Baba Haydar Camii
ve Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 4, 367-368; Mehmet Nermi Haskan, Eyip Tarihi, vol. 1, (Istanbul: Tiirk
Turing Turizm Isletmeciligi Vakfi Yayinlari, 1993): 27-29; Hagim Sahin, “Klasik Cag Osmanl Istanbul’unda
Naksbendilik: Eyiip’te Baba Haydar Ornegi,” in Tarihi, Kiiltiiri ve Sanatwla Eyiipsultan Sempozyumu VII
Tebligler, (Istanbul: Eyiip Belediyesi Kiiltiir Yayinlari, 2003): 415-419; and Nuran Cetin, “Eyiip Tekkeleri,”
Unpublished PhD Diss. (Marmara Universitesi 2012): 126-132.
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current documentation demonstrates that Baba Haydar introduced no khalifa during
his years in Istanbul. Be that as it may, the surroundings of his tekke, where he was
buried, were turned into a prestigious burial area particularly for some Nagshbandi
seyhs and their relatives dwelling at the Emir Bukhari lodge in Fatih.”! In addition
to Baba Haydar’s tekke, there emerge a few dervish convents which were either
built or run by second-generation Nagshbandi seyhs, but abandoned for other Sufi
orders soon afterwards. The best-known example of this is Abid Celebi Tekkesi
built by Abid Celebi (d. 1498), the descendant of Jalal al-Din al-Rimi and an
eminent khalifa of Abdullah I1ahi of Simav who devised the lodge to perform both
Nagshbandi and Mevlevi rituals.”?> The second significant example, in this regard,
is Tagh Zaviye, where Salih Muslihuddin Mustafa (d. 1553), one the novices of Emir
Ahmed Bukhéri served long years.”™ Nonetheless, despite the certainty that Abid
Celebi Tekkesi served the Nagshbandis and Mevlevis for decades, we cannot trace

the subsequent Nagshbandi presence in Tagh Zaviye.

2.2.1 Observations on the Fatih Emir Bukhari Lodge in the 16th Century

Having introduced a sketch of the lodges and convents constructed under the control
of the Nagshbandis since the late 15th and early 16th centuries, I will briefly canvass
a closer familiarity with the masters who assumed positions of teaching, guidance
and management. In so doing, I indicate that although the lodges in question were
permanently under Nagshbandis, no constant control meachanism of any Nagqsh-
bandi seyh family over the lodges had been accomplished, apart from the prestigious
lodge near the mosque complex of Mehmed II. Such an attempt is crucial consid-
ering Ekrem Igin’s claim that it was because of the powerful seyh families that the
Nagshbandiyya remained energetically organized from its initial years to the begin-
ning of the 19th century in Istanbul. The two examples given by Isin in this regard
are the Nagshbandi group following the footsteps of Emir Ahmed Bukhéarl and the
family of Khwaja Muhammad Huseyni, which split into two branches represented by
Khwaja Ahmed Sadik (d. 1586) and Khwaja Muhammad Sa‘id (d. ?).” Insofar as

"ISee for instance, Seyh Seyyid Fazlullah (d. 1635), Seyh Seyyid Abdullah (d. 1670), his son-in-law Seyyid
Ahmed Efendi (d. 1680), Serife Emetullah Hatun (d. 1686), Seyyid Ahmed Efendi (d. 1713), Seyh Seyyid
Abdiilkebir (d. 1719), Seyh Seyyid Mehmed Refi‘ (d. 1719), Seyh Seyyid Abdurrahméan (d. 1774). For
the names in question, I am depending on Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu’l-Fudald, vol. 1, 61, 488, 567, and vol.
I1, 676; and Mehmet Nermi Haskan, ibid, 28.

"2 This lodge was built before 1494 and considered the second Mevlevi convent in Istanbul. For more see
Baha Tanman, “Abid Celebi Tekkesi,” For his short biography see Mecdi Mehmed Efendi, Hadaiku’s-
Sakaik, 367-368.

"3Mecdi Mehmed, Hadaiku’s-Sakaik, 436.

" Ekrem Isin, “Naksibendilik,” 36.
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the crucial role of the former master, Dina le Gall clings to the same reasoning when
claiming that “[rJather than nonhereditary spiritual descendants, the successors of
Ahmad Sadiq were all khalifas-cum-biological progeny, whether sons, brothers, or
nephews. Theirs was a Nagshbandi line as well as a family patrimony centered on
a single tekke (though not quite akin to the phenomenon of hereditary families of
shaykhs and shrine caretakers that are known to us from other environments and

from other, often more localized, tariqas.”"

Notwithstanding the familial dominance of Khwaja Muhammad Huseyni on the
Nagshbandi chain coming into existence at the Emir Bukhari Lodge in the vicinity of
Mehmed II’s mosque complex, such an authority begins only in the late 16th century
as seen in Table 2.4.70 The table shows that Emir Ahmed Bukhari left no hereditary
successor in the tekke. This is perhaps because he left his family in Bukhara when
embarking on a journey to Anatolia in the retinue of his master, Abdullah T1ahi.”
If this is so, we may assume that it was his later marriage in Anatolia that gave
birth to his daughter married to the successor seyh, Mahmiid Celebi. However,
it is conceivable that his immediate family had also taken refuge in Anatolia and
later in Istanbul. Likewise, Table 2.4 shows that during seventy-year period from
Ahmed Bukhari’s death in 1516 to the inauguration of Ahmed Sadik Bukhari in
1585, the lodge remained under the leadership of three Ottoman Sufi masters. A
closer gaze at the biography of the seyhs listed in the table demonstrates that, apart
from Mahmdtd Celebi and Abdullatif Celebi, and the two seyhs succeeding Ahmed
Sadik — Kavaklizdde Mehmed Efendi and Sa‘ban Efendi—, all of the remaining
seyhs claimed noble lineage derived from the Prophet Muhammad. Even so, there
had to be special links between the seyyids and the exceptional four figures who made
possible their appointment as seyh to the Fatih lodge. Such a peculiar relation can,
indeed, be applied to Mahmiid Celebi, who was an adopted child of Seyyid Ahmed
el-Kirimi (d. 1474), one of the eminent scholars who immigrated to Anatolia during
the reign of Murad IL.”® As regards to Abdullatif Celebi who is identified as the

"5Dina le Gall, Nakshbandis in the Ottoman World, 45.

761 have comparatively utilized the lists of seyhs given by Hafiz Hiiseyin Ayvansarayi and Zakir Siikri Efendi
the biographic entries penned by Mecdi Mehmed, Nev‘izade Atai, and Seyhi Mehmed. See Ayvansardyz,
Hadikati’l-Cevami‘, 42-44; Hafiz Hiiseyin al-Ayvansarayl, The Garden of Mosques, translated and anno-
tated by Howard Crane, (Leiden: Brill, 2000): 49-50; Zakir Stukri, Die Istanbuler derwisch-konvente und
ihre scheiche: (Mecmua-i Tekaya), transcribed by Mehmet Serhat Taysi, ed. Klaus Kraiser, Berlin: Klaus
Schwarz Verlag, 1980: 67-68. Mecdi Mehmed Efendi, Hadaiku’s-Sakaik; Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu’l-Fudald,

vols. I-II, prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (1stanbul: Cagr1 Yaymlari, 1989).

77“$eyb Ilaht pum-1 Ram savbina miiteveccih oldukda Seyyid Ahmed Buhart ehl i ©1yalini Buhara’da terk
idiip” Mecdi Mehmed, Hadaiku’s-Sakaik, 362-363.

"8For the short biography of Mahmiid Celebi see TagkopriiliiziAde Ahmed Efendi, es-Sakd’iku’n-Nu‘maniyye

fi ‘Ulemds’d-Devleti’l-Osmaniyye: Osmanh Alimleri, prepared by Muhammet Hekimoglu, (Istanbul: YEK,
2019): 824-825; Mecdi Mehmed, ibid, 518-519. On Seyyid Ahmed Kirimi see Tagkopriiliizade, ibid, 146-148;
Mecdi Mehmed, ibid, 101-102.
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descendant of Koyun Miisa Pasha, a renowned vizier of Mehmed 11, except for the
family bond tiding him to Mahmitid Celebi, there is no reference to the nobility of
his lineage. However, it seems likely that, following the death of Mahmid Celebi,
the Fatih lodge came under the oversight of pasha families as in the examples of
Abdullatif Celebi, and Cemalzade Seyyid Mehmed Efendi, who himself was member
of Cemalis. The latter, a distinguished family named after Ceméaleddin Aksarayi (d.
1388-89), raised the esteemed of the Khalwati seyhs, Cemal Halveti (d. 1494) and
Cemaleddin Ishak Karamani (d. 1527), and the former’s son Piri Mehmed Pasha
(d. 1532) who served as qadi, treasurer, vizier, and grand vizier under Bayezid
I1, Selim I and Siileyman 1.80 Cemalzade Seyyid Mehmed Efendi, we are told, was
the son of Cemaleddin Ishak Karamani and was buried in Siitliice in the vicinity
of the Congregational Mosque of Siitliice, most probably a burial area near the
tekke, which Piri Mehmed Pasha had built in the name of Seyh Ishak.3! Cemalzade
Mehmed was not the only Nagshbandi seyh to have Khalwati background. As is
reported by Atai, the seventh seyh of the Fatih lodge, Sa‘ban Efendi, received his
initial Sufi training from his fellow townsman and famed Khalwati, Seyh Sa‘ban-1
Veli (d. 1569) in Kastamonu. After relocating to Istanbul, he became the disciple of
Hekim Celebi, who taught him Nagshbandi civility.8? Kavaklizdde Mehmed Efendi
is another graduate of Hekim Celebi who managed to become the incumbent of
the Fatih lodge. However, he was neither affiliated with the Khalwati order nor
belonged to a prominent pasha family. Still, as a Bursan of humble origin, he was
able to become tutor of All Pasha, the former governor general of Egypt and the
vizier Ferhad Pasha (d. 1595).83

The succession of the abovementioned multifarious figures in the Fatih Emir Bukhari
lodge proves that the founder Emir Bukhari did not stipulate being replaced by
a lineal successor after his death. As stated above, it was the family of Seyyid

Ahmed Sadik Bukharl who achieved a permanent spiritual lineage in the lodge

"INev‘izade Atai, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik, 84-85. T have not found details regarding the biography of Koyun Misa
Pasha.

800n Cemaleddin Aksardyi see Mustafa Oz, “Cemaleddin Aksarayi,” TDVIA, vol. 7, (Istanbul: TDV,
1993): 308-309. On Cemaél Halveti see Mehmet Serhat Taysi, “Cemal-i Halveti,” TDVIA, vol. 7, 302-303.

Qn Cemaleddin Ishak Karamani, see Resat Ongéren, “Karamani, Cemaleddin Ishak,” TDVIA, vol. 24,
(Istanbul: TDV, 2001): 448-449.

81Gee Zakir Siikri, Mecmua-i Tekaya, 68; Resat Ongéren, “Karamani, Cemaleddin Ishak,” 448; Ayvansaray?,
Hadikati’l-Cevami‘, 303, and The Garden of Mosques, 321. For the short biography of Cemalzade Seyyid
Mehmed Efendi, see Atal, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik, 361.

82Atéﬁ, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik, 371. See also Dina le Gall, Nakshbandis in the Ottoman World, 41-42. For an
introduction on Sa‘ban-1 Veli, see Mustafa Tatci and Cemal Kurnaz, “Saban-1 Veli,” TDVIA, vol. 38,

(fstanbul: TDV, 2010): 208-210.

830n Kavaklizade Mehmed, see Atai, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik, 371; Asik Celebi, Mesd ‘iri’s-Su‘ard, prepared by
Filiz Kilig, (Ankara: Kiultir ve Turizm Bakanligi, 2018): 384. On Ferhad Pasha see Mehmet Ipsirli,
“Ferhad Paga,” TDVIA, vol. 12, (Istanbul: TDV, 1995): 383-384.
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Table 2.4 Seyhs of Fatih Emir Bukhari Lodge

Name of the Seyh Affinity Death

1 | Seyyid Emir Ahmed | Founder 922/1516
Bukhéari

2 | Mahmid Celebi Son-in-law of the founder 938/1531-32

3 | Abdullatif Celebi Son-in-law of the former 971/1563

4 | Cemalzade Seyyid | Successor of the former 993/1585
Mehmed Efendi

5 | Seyyid Ahmed Sadik | Son of M. Abdussemi’ 994/1586
Tagkendi

6 | Kavaklizade Mehmed | Successor of the former 1000/1592
Efendi

7 | Sa‘ban Efendi Successor of the former 1002/1593

8 | Seyyid Ziyaeddin | Son of Ahmed Sadik 1011/1602-3
Ahmed

9 | Seyyid Fazlullah b. | Grandson of M. Abdussemi‘ | 1046/1637
Muhammed Sa‘ld

10 | Seyyid Abdullah Son of the former 1080/1670

11 | Seyyid Fazlullah Son of the former 1121/1709

12 | Seyyid Abdulkebir Son of the former 1131/1719

13 | Seyyid Mehmed Refi* | Son of the former 1132/1720

14 | Seyyid Abdurrahméan | Brother of the former 1188/1774-5

15 | Seyyid Hamdullah Son of the former 1212/1798

16 | Seyyid Mehmed | Son of the former 1214/1799
Serefeddin

17 | Seyyid Mehmed Nesib | Brother of the former 1228/1813

18 | Seyyid Mustafa Hal- | Successor of the former 1259/1843
veti

19 | El-Hac Ahmed Faiz | Successor of the former 1273/1856
Efendi

20 | El-Hac Abdullah | Successor of the former 1274/1857
Ferdi

21 | Halil Cemal Efendi Son-in-law of the former ?

Yet, this was not an easy task, for it needed a continuous arrival
of Nagshbandi kinfolk from Transoxiana. Ahmed Sadik Bukhari himself is a fair
sample for understanding the circumstances of the period. Even though he came
to Istanbul circa 980/1572-73, he had to wait for thirteen years to be appointed to
the tekke.®* After his death, his son, Seyyid Ziydeddin Ahmed, had to complete

an interim of seven years to secure the post of the lodge, which may indicate that

in question.

either Ahmed Sadik’s family members were not dwelling in Istanbul when he passed

away or his son had not been authorized to substitute his father. Although we

84For his undetailed biography see Atai, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik, 362-363.
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do not know the reason behind Ziyadeddin Ahmed’s delayed appointment, we know
for sure that a case similar to second scenario occurred when, after his death in
1011/1602-03, his paternal cousin Seyyid Fazlulldh, in spite of being a proxy of
Ahmed Sadik, was obliged to wait for five years to take over the organization of the
lodge in 1016/1607-08.8% Nevertheless, needless to say that it was Seyyid Fazlullah
and his descendants who supervised the Fatih Emir Bukhari lodge from 1607-08 to

1813, over two centuries.

2.3 Second-wave Naqshbandi Lodges in Istanbul during the 17th and 18th

Centuries

I have focused on the early Nagshbandi establishments in Istanbul with particular
attention to the Emir Bukhari tekke located in Fatih. I have tried to demonstrate
how the said convent was run before the arrival of Seyyid Ahmed Sadik Tagkendi and
his son Ziyaeddin Ahmed, who ensured the subsequent supervision of their families
there. Obviously, the abovementioned lodges were of the first-wave built either
by the first generation (i.e. Emir Ahmed Bukhari and Babd Haydar Semerkandi)
or the second (i.e. Mahmid Celebi, Hekim Celebi, and Abid Celebi), spiritual
descendants of Ubaydullah Ahrar and remained under the influence and control of
Ahraris since the beginning of the 16th century. Second-wave Nagshbandi lodges,
however, emerged only during the late 17th century, the following century enjoyed a
burst in numbers. Therefore, considering Table 2.5, my intention in this subsection
is to identify newly erected lodges, analyze the circumstances that rendered possible
their construction, and depict the panoramic view of the order particularly in 18th
century Istanbul. While undertaking such a pivotal task, I want to draw attention in
the meantime to momentous developments in the long-serving Nagshbandi convents
of the city.

2.3.1 Nagshbandi Lodges as Shelters for Central and South Asians

The role of Central Asian Nagshbandi seyhs in the development of the order in Is-
tanbul is an established fact. As is discussed in the beginning of this chapter, it was
due to the endeavors of the two disciples of Khwaja Ubaydullah Ahrar, Abdulldh
[1ahi of Simav and Emir Ahmed Bukhéari, that the order flourished and spread in the

85According to Seyhi, Fazlullah received his Sufi education from Ahmed Sadik when both were in Transoxi-
ana. See Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu’l-Fudald, vol. 1, 60-61.
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Table 2.5 Nagshbandi tekkes in Istanbul (17th and 18th centuries)

Tekke Neigborhood | Patron Year
1 | Hindiler Horhor Mehmed II 1455-56
2 | Abid Celebi Fatih Abid Celebi ante 1494
3 | Emir Bukhari Fatih Bayezid 11 ca. 1500
4 | Emir Bukhari Ayvansaray Emir Ahmed Bukhéari 1512
5 | Emir Bukhari Edirnekap1 Stleyman I ca. 1530
6 | Hekim Celebi Fatih -Koska | Riistem Pasha ca. 1550
7 | Baba Haydar Eyiip Stleyman I ca. 1530-50
8 | Sah Haydar Uskiidar Shah Haydar Resa ca. 1680s
9 | Buhara/Ozbekler | Kadirga Defterdar Isma’il Efendi 1692
10 | Neccarzade Besiktas Neccarzade Mustafa Rizd | ca. 1710s
11 | Murad Bukhari Eytip-Nisanca | Ebulhayr Ahmed 1715
12 | Alacaminére Uskiidar Hiiseyin Dede 1730
13 | Seyhiilislam Eyiip-Nisanca | Seyhiilislam Mustafa 1742
14 | Kalenderhéane Eyiip La’lizade Abdiilbaki 1743
15 | Kaggarl Eyiip Yekcesm Ahmed Murtaza | 1745
16 | Ozbekler Uskiidar Abdullah Pasha 1753
17 | Mustafa Pasa Eyip Bahir Kose Mustafa Pasha | 1753
18 | Kursunlu Mahzen | Galata Bahir Kése Mustafa Pasha | 1753
19 | Olukbayir Eyiip Hacit Al Efendi 1761
20 | Tahir Aga Fatih Seyyid Mehmed Aga 1763
21 | Murad Molla Fatih Damadzade Murad Molla | 1769
22 | Seyyid Baba Fatih Seyh Seyyid Mustafa ca. 1750s
23 | Ataullah Efendi Beykoz Seyh Mehmed Ataullah 1789
24 | Afganiler Uskiidar Nu'méin Bey 1792
25 | Besikcizade Fatih Seyh Siileyman Efendi ca. 1790s

Ottoman capital and beyond. Three long-standing Nagshbandi lodges attributed to
Emir Bukhar? and the tekke built for BAba Haydar Semerkandi are, as is mentioned
above, among first-wave Nagshbandi convents built for Central Asian geyhs in Istan-
bul. When it comes to the existence of South Asian masters, the abovementioned
Hindiler Tekkesi appears as the oldest shelter for them following the city’s conquest.
In the mid-17th century, another convent named after Hindis came into view in
the Kagithane neighborhood. The Nagshbandi affiliations of the Kagithane lodge,

however, is yet to be confirmed.

Similarly to the previous wave, second-wave Nagshbandi lodges gained recognition
in Istanbul by the construction of a tekke for outsiders. However, this time the ben-
eficiaries were both Uzbek and Indian Nagshbandi dervishes, or it was the case at
least on the paper. As can be seen in Table 2.5, the first of the second-wave Naqsh-
bandi lodges was built during the last quarter of the 17th century by Seyh Haydar

Tagkendi, who chose Resé as his pseudonym in poetry. Depending on Ottoman and
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Indian sources, Thierry Zarcone is the first researcher to present the existence of
a tekke built for Nagshbandi qalandars in the Biilbiilderesi neighborhood of Uskii-
dar.80 The founder of the said tekke, Sah Haydar Taskendi or Haydar Resa Efendi
(d. 1700), was a Bukhara-born Uzbek prince who abandoned earthly authority for
Sufism and became the disciple of Baba Palangposh (d. 1699), a Ghujdawan-born
Nagshbandi master who took refuge in 1675 in Deccan, where he would stay until
his death. Seyh Haydar Tagkendi, we are told, entered the land of Rum, and resided
in the Biilbiilderesi (Biilbiildepesi in Seyhi) valley of Uskiidar, where he would es-
tablish his kalenderhdne-tekke with his own money.®” It is understood from a small
number of official correspondences pertaining to this tekke that it had come to be
known as $ah Haydar Tekkesi.®® Another petition dating 26 April 1698/15 Shawwal
1109, implies that the tekke had also been known as “Ozbekler Tekkesi,” under Seyh
Safi Ozbeki. In his petition, after introducing himself as a stranger (gjarib-diyar),
destitute (fakiri®-hal) and all alone (kesiri’l-“yal), Seyh Safi asks for a daily ration
of bread and two excellent meals to be given from the imaret of Mihrimah Sultan.5”
As can be inferred from the document, towards the end of his life, Shah Haydar was
no longer the incumbent in his tekke, and was replaced by one of his Uzbek deputies
such as Seyh Safi. One of the official documents reveals that, at least from February
1710 onwards, the tekke received from the Mukata‘a of Filibe an annual rice subsidy
of forty bushels (kile). Upon a petition submitted by residents of the tekke, it was
decided on 19 July 1711 that the tekke should receive its share from the Imperial
Kitchen quarterly rather than annually with the calculation that 10 kile should be
given every three months. The very same petition clarified further that the tekke
belonged to the Nagshbandi order and its residents were composed of dervishes and

poor, most likely qalandars.””

The second tekke erected for Uzbeks was completed in 1692 as a result of the finan-
cial patronage of the Defterdar Isma‘il Efendi. A court record dated 17 May 1740
[20 Safar 1153] conclusively affirms that the tekke in question was established for
the benefit of the Uzbek poor, i.e., Uzbek Sufis (Defterddr-1 sabik merhim Ismail

86 Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 157-159.

87Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 157-158. For the short
biography of Jeyh Haydar and selected pieces of his poems, Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu'l-Fudald, vol. II-111,
205. See also Ismail Hakki Aksoyak, “Resd, Seyh Haydar Resa Efendi,” https://teis.yesevi.edu.tr/madde-

detay /resa-seyh-haydar-resa-efendi (15.06.2023). For a short entry on the tekke, see also Ayvansarayi, The
Garden of the Mosques, 536.

88Gee for instance BOA, C..EV.. 88/4369/1, and BOA, C..EV.. 218/10853/1.

89BOA, AE. SMST.IL 86/9210/1.

9OBOA, C.EV.. 88/4369/1. “Uskiidar’da Biilbiilderesi'nde vaki¢ tarik-i Naksibendiyyede Sah Haydar
Tekyesi'nin dervigan ve fukarasina”
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91 Given

Efendi’nin Ozbekler fukardasina mesrita olmak tizere bind eyledigi tekke).
the close connections between the seyhs of this lodge, known also as Buhara Tekkesi
and the Khanates of Central Asia, it has been considered the most important of the
Uzbek tekkes in Istanbul.”? As Thierry Zarcone demonstrates, from the late 18th
century to the closure of tekkes in 1925, the tekke and its seyhs appear in many cases
as intermediaries and ambassadors between the Ottoman Empire and the Khanates
owing to the seyhs’ command over Chagatai Turkic and their familiarity with Cen-
tral Asia and its traditions.?® Such a significant role and importance was attributed
to this tekke, and we may therefore claim that it was reinforced by the location of

the tekke in the Kadirga neighborhood in the vicinity of the Topkap1 Palace.

As can be seen in Table 2.5, compared to the previous century, the 18th century
enjoyed an apparent rise in the number of tekkes founded for long-standing Sufi
brotherhoods of Istanbul. The Muradd Buhari Tekkesi, for instance, was not only
the second Nagshbandi convent erected in the city in the 18th century but also the
fourth example of second-wave lodges put at the disposal of a newcomer seyh of Cen-
tral Asian origin. Constructed as a madrasa complex in the Niganca neighborhood
of Eyiip in the mid-17th century, we are told that the building was transformed into
a tekke in 1715 by Daméadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi (d. 1741), the then chief
jurist of Rumelia, and left to the command of Seyh Murad Bukhari, the first and
most influential Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi guide in the city.”* Thus, the tekke grew
to be known as the first center of the Mujaddidi branch of the Nagshbandiyya in
the Ottoman capital, so much so that leading scholar-bureaucrats and high-ranking
officials whose Naqgshbandi affiliations were incontrovertible contributed to the com-
plex by sponsoring the construction of architectural extensions such as prayer rooms,
fountain and sadirvan, a free-standing bathhouse, a ritual space, a pulpit for the
masjid, and the tomb of the then Seyhiilislam Veliyyiiddin Efendi (d. 1768).%° A

M stanbul Kad Sicilleri: Bab Mahkemesi 172 Numaral Sicil (H. 1152-1153 / M. 1740), ed. Cogkun Yilmaz,
(fstanbul: Kiiltiir A.S, 2019): 498.

92Zarcone, “Buhara Tekkesi,” 325; Tanman, “Ozbekler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 121.

93Zarcone, “Buhara Tekkesi,” 325; and “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istan-
bul,” 150-153. Details regarding the history of Buhara Tekkesi can be found in Zarcone and Tanman’s
recently mentioned studies. See also Smith, “The Ozbek Tekkes of Istanbul,” 137-139; Tanman, “Buhara
Tekkesi: Mimari” DBIA, vol. 11, 326-327; Muslu, Osmanls Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 298-299; and Mustafa
Alkan, “Osmanli Devleti'nde Ozbek Tekkeleri,” in Yitik Hafizanin Pesinde: Buhara Konusmalari, eds.
Mehmet Dursun Erdem and others, (Ankara: Pruva, 2019): 261-263.

94Gee “Murad Buhari Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. V, 514-516, “Seyh Murad Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 39, 62-64,
Muslu, Osmanle Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 273-275. For the short biography of Ebulhayr Ahmed see, Mehmet
Ipsirli, “Damadzdde Ahmed Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 8, (Istanbul: TDV, 1993): 449-450.

95Depemding on Ayvansardyi, Tanman counts among the philanthropists with power and wealth the names
of Dadméadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi, Seyhiilislam Veliyyiiddin Efendi, the commissioner of the Naval
Arsenal Mehmed Efendi, the grand viziers Kése Mustafa Pasha and Yirmisekizcelebizide Mehmed Said
Pasha. See Tanman, ibid, 62. See also Ayvansarayi, The Garden of the Mosques, 312.
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salient aspect peculiar to this tekke is that although it was installed initially for
the sake of a Bukharan spiritual guide, all of his spiritual descendants had their
origins in Ottoman lands rather than Central Asia.”® For exceptions, one should
wait until the third quarter of the 19th century for the arrival of Seyh Seyyid Sii-
leyman (d. 1877) and his son Abdiilkadir (d. 1923) from Balkh.”” The striking
point, however, does not necessarily denote the absence of Central Asian dervishes
at the Murad Buharl Tekkesi. On the contrary, as a result of a petition written by
Seyyid Yahya Ozbeki, the seyh of Buhara Tekkesi, resolved on 11 September 1763 /3
Ra 1177, we know for sure that Central Asian dervishes were allowed to stay at the
Murad Buhéri Tekkesi. In his petition, while appealing for the banishment /exile of
a dervish named Abdurrahmén from the lodge to another place, Seyh Yahya reports
that Dervish Abdurrahman was previously kicked out of the lodges of Murad Buhéari
and La‘lizdde Abdilbaki (ve hankah-i Muradiyeden matrud ve tekye-i La‘lizade’den
merdid).”® Considering that the lodges of Buhara and La‘lizade Abdiilbaki (i.e.
Kalenderhane) were organized for the benefit of Central Asian Nagshbandis (partic-
ularly Uzbeks), we may conclude that Murad Buhari Tekkesi, too, was kept ready
to serve newly arrived dervishes. Therefore, it is likely that in cases of unavailability
and over-capacity, the three lodges left to each other the solution of the problem,

an explicit indication of the direct communication channels between them.

The fourth convent reserved for the use of Central Asian Nagshbandi dervishes was
the Kalenderhane Tekkesi, rejuvenated by La‘lizade Abdiilbaki in Eyiip in 1743.
Despite the conventional admission that it was built by La‘lizdde Abdilbaki for
Seyh Abdullah Kéashghari, doubts remain in the literature, since Ayvansarayi once
points at La‘lizade Mehmed, the father of Abdiilbaki, as the founder of the tekke in
question.” Indeed, the latter possibility is more reasonable when considering the
endowment deed of the sibyan mektebi constructed as a part of tekke-complex. As
Mustafa Alkan discusses, the vakfiye dated 23 October 1740/2 Shaban 1153 explic-
itly mentions that the mekteb in question was newly erected next to the entrance
gate of the Kalenderhane, hard evidence for the long-abiding presence of the tekke
there.'% Another vakfiye dated 21 July 1744/10 Jumada al-Akhir 1157 explicates

9For the names of Murad Bukhari’s successors in this lodge, see Muslu, Osmanly Toplumunda Tasavvuf,
274-275, and Tanman, “Seyh Murad Tekkesi,” 62.

970n Abdiilkadir Belhi, see Nihat Azamat, “Abdilkadir-i Belhi,” TDVIA, vol. 1, 231-232.

98For the petition see BOA, AE.SMST.III, 67/4960/1.

9For the doubts see Zarcone, “Kalenderhane Tekkesi,” 398, and Alkan, “Osmanlh Devleti'nde Ozbek
Tekkeleri,” 253. See Ayvansarayi, Hadikati’l-Cevami‘, 276, and The Garden of Mosques, 296. Else-

where, however, Ayvansaryi attributes Kalenderhéne to La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki. See Hadikati’l-Cevamsi’,
260; idem, The Garden of Mosques, 282; and Hafiz Hiiseyin Ayvansarayi, Mecmud-i Tevarih, prepared by

Fahri C. Derin and Vahid Cubuk, (Istanbul: Edebiyat Fakiiltesi Basimevi, 1985): 268-269.

100 AJkan, ibid, 254. For the said endowment deed see VGMA, Defter 629: 500.
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that the Kalenderhane Tekkesi was instituted to serve Uzbek celibates who came to
be known as qalandars from among the followers of the Murad Bukhéari’s order, i.e.
Nagshbandiyya (Muhammed el-Buhdri el-ma ‘rif bi-Naksibend hazretlerinin tarikat-i
aliyyeleri fukarasindan Kalenderan tabir olunur miicerreddan-1 Ozbekiyyeye mahsus
olup). 101
hand, that Seyh Murdd Buhéari’s posthumous fame and influence was one of the
factors that triggered the establishment of the tekke. On the other hand, it reveals
that the celibates-to-be inhabitants of the tekke were expected to be keen adherents
of the Nagshbandi order. So much so that, the importance of the silent dhikr, the

most favored method of invocation in the Nagshbandiyya, was particularly empha-
102

La‘lizade Abdiilbaki’s special emphasis in this article shows, on the one

sized in the Persian inscription of the tekke."”* Be that as it may, we are told that
in addition to the celibacy tradition of Khorasan Nagshbandism, the Yasawi style
of vocal remembrance, i.e. dhikr-i arra or “dhikr of the sow”, was also maintained
on a regular basis in the Kalenderhane Tekkesi.!?3 As such, further studies should
be conducted on the simultaneous coexistence of the vocal and silent invocations
in a Naqgshbandi tekke in Istanbul in the mid-18th century, for, more or less at the
same time, the proponents of the jahri and khafi dhikr within the Nagshbandi order
constituted two conflicting factions in Northwest China, and, towards the last fifth
of the century led tumultuous disturbances, particularly in Kansu province of China

under the Qing dynasty.!%

In 1745, two years after the reactivation of the Kalenderhane Tekkesi, another
convent was put into the service of the Nagshbandiyya out of the benevolence of
Yekcesm Ahmed Murtaza, once the commissioner of the Naval Arsenal. Being the
fifth complex founded for the benefit of Central Asian Nagshbandi Sufis in Istanbul,

101 AJkan, ibid, 255. For the endowment see VGMA, Defter 629: 498.

1020gman Ergin, Turk Sehirlerinde Imaret Sistemi, (Istanbul: Cumhuriyet Matbaasi, 1939): 30-31. See also
Zarcone, “Kalenderhane Tekkesi,” 398, and “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a
Istanbul,” 155. Osman Nuri Ergin is incorrect when claiming that the silent invocation had been performed
due to the malignity of ignorant people.

103Zarcone, “Kalenderhane Tekkesi,” 398, and “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens
a Istanbul,” 155; Ekrem Igin, “Melamilik,” DBIA, vol. V, (istanbul: Tiirkiye Ekonomik ve Toplumsal
Tarih Vakfi, 1994): 385. For more on Kalenderhane Tekkesi see Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des
derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 153-157; “Kalenderhane Tekkesi,” 398-399; Haskan, FEyip
Sultan Tarihi, vol. I, annotated by Talip Mert, (Tstanbuls Eyiip Belediyesi Kiiltiir Yayinlari, 2008):95-
98; Ahmet Ersen and Mehmet Ulukan, “Ozbek Tekkeleri ve Eyiip Ozbekler Tekkesi,” in Tarihi, Kiiltiri
ve Sanatwyla Eyiipsultan Sempozyumu IX: Tebligler, (Istanbul: Eyiip Belediyesi Kiiltiir Yaymnlari, 2005):

133-145; Muslu, Osmanls Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 277-278; Alkan, “Osmanli Devleti'nde Ozbek Tekkeleri,”
253-261.

104For the conflict between the advocates of the silent and vocal dhikr see Joseph Fletcher, “Central Asian
Sufism and Ma Ming-hsin’s New Teaching,” in Studies on Chinese and Islamic Inner Asia, ed. Beatrice
Forbes Manz, (Aldershot: Variorum, 1995): 75-96, and “The Nagshbandiyya and the Dhikr-i Arra,”
Journal of Turkish Studies / Tiurklik Bilgisi Arastirmalars 1 (1977): 113-119. According to Fletcher,
Ma Ming-hsin (Muhammad Emin), the leader of “the New Teaching” and reckless defender of the vocal
invocation, after his long journey and study in Arab countries turned to China in 1761. Chang-Kuan
Nabil) Lin, however, states that he returned to China in 1745. See “Ma Ming-Hsin,” TDVIA, vol. 27,
Ankara: TDV, 2003): 268.
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the convent became known as Murtaza Efendi Tekkesi or Kaggari Tekkesi in Eytip.
It is said that the first incumbent of the lodge, Seyh Abdullah Nidai of Kashghar (d.
1760), previously the post-holder in the Kalenderhane Tekkesi, renounced his posi-
tion in the Kalenderhane, since it was designated for celibate seyhs. In other words,
Abdulldah Nidai had to leave Kalenderhane Tekkesi upon his marriage. However,
this was not the first marriage of the seyh. Given that his successor son, Ubeydul-
1ah Efendi, died at the age of forty-five in 1184/1770, we understand that he was
born as the fruit of the previous marriage in 1139/1726-1727, a clear indication that
Abdullah Nidai was a widower when staying at Kalenderhane. The unique case of
Seyh Nidai, as has already been argued in the literature, indicates that the tradition
of celibacy was not observed in Kaggari Tekkesi. However, it is thought that Tur-
kic culture of Central Asia was represented to a large extent in the tekke, too. As
Zarcone puts it, the two convents cultivated different mystical ideologies. Whereas
a Nagshbandi-Qalandari form was embraced in Kalenderhane, a new, energetic, and
rigorist form was represented in Kaggari Tekkesi.'® The most striking feature of
Kaggari Tekkesi, on the other hand, is that it was the second center after the Murad
Buhari Tekkesi from where the Mujaddidi branch of the Nagshbandiyya spread in
Istanbul. Nevertheless, as can be seen in the examples of Abdullah Nidai and his
son, Ubeydullah Efendi, it was also the only venue where the Kasani branch found

the opportunity to be represented.!06

The Ozbekler Tekkesi, founded in 1753 by Abdullah Pasha (d. 1756), the commis-
sioner of the mint (darbhdne emini) and subsequent governor of Marag at the time,
was established as the sixth lodge to serve Nagshbandi dervishes of Central Asian
origin. Being the most famous of the Uzbek tekkes, it was located, unlike others,
in neither the intramural city nor Eytip but on a high hill, Sultantepe, behind the
town of Uskiidar. According to a legend conveyed by Grace Martin Smith, the sul-
tan had the tekke built for Uzbek pilgrims who used to sojourn in Uskiidar under
the guidance of a Nagshbandi seyh and set up their tents on Sultantepe.'%” Along
the lines of abovementioned lodges, Turkic culture and Central Asian customs and

traditions had to be vigorously maintained in this complex. As in the Kalender-

105Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens & Istanbul,” 164. Hamid Algar regards
Zarcone’s assertions “entirely unwarranted”. In his opinion “Nidar’s move from the kalenderhane to the
tekke, far from involving the adoption of ‘a new, energetic and rigorist form of the Nagshbandiyya,” seems
to have been dictated exclusively by his wish to marry, not by any desire or need to acquire new spiritual
loyalties.” See Algar, “From Kashghar to Eyiip: The Lineages and Legacy of Sheikh Abdullah Nidal,” in
Nagshbandis in Western and Central Asia, ed. Elisabeth Ozdalga, (Istanbul: Swedish Research Institute
in Istanbul, 1999): 10.

106 For more on Kaéggari Tekkesi and its importance in the history of the Nagshbandiyya see Zarcone, “Kaggari
Tekkesi,” 485-486, and “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens & Istanbul,” 164-165;
Tanman, “Kaggari Tekkesi: Mimari,” DBIA, vol. IV, 486-487; Muslu, Osmanli Toplumunda Tasavvuf,
288-300; Cetin, “Kaggari Tekkesi,” 295-305.

1078mith, “The Ozbek Tekkes of Istanbul,” 131.
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hane Tekkesi, there are indications that the tradition of Nagshbandi style celibacy
and the Yasawi style of vocal dhikr were ardently observed in Ozbekler Tekkesi.
Furthermore, the surviving guestbook, which was kept and preserved in the tekke
from 1905 to 1923, evidently demonstrates that it was frequently visited not only
by Central Asian Sufis and pilgrims, but also artisans and merchants who tried to

1198 Given this significant detail, one may conclude that

make money in Istanbu
this had always been the reality of the Ozbekler Tekkesi, a crucial point in need of

further studies.19?

Towards the end of the 18th century, the seventh lodge in the service of outsiders
was erected for Qalandari dervishes in the Murad Reis neighborhood across from
the Cinili Mosque in Uskiidar. Although it is once mentioned that it was founded
by its very first seyh, Ahmed Nésir-i Afghani in 1792,19 current literature agrees
on Nu‘man Bey as the builder of the tekke. Due to obscurities in his biography,
it is hard to identify the founder accurately. However, there are reasonable signs
that it was Sultdnzdde or Yegen Ali Pagazade Halil Nu‘man Dede (d. 1798), the
founder of the Uskiidar Mevlevihanesi, who also established the Afganiler Tekkesi.
Completion in 1792 of both architectural projects in Uskiidar is one of the reasons
to think in this way. The second and more convincing reason, is that both buildings
were designed to serve as guesthouses to itinerant dervishes, pilgrims, and strangers
coming from abroad. Indeed, as is emphasized by Tanman, it was this very feature
that distinguished the Mevlevihane of Uskiidar from remaining ones established in
Istanbul.'™ Thirdly, it is known that the Afganiler Tekkesi was reregistered in the
name of Nu‘méan Bey’s waqf in February 1956.112 Lastly, at least in two archival
documents, the founder of Uskiidar Mevlevihanesi Halil Nu‘man Dede is identified as
“Seyh Nu‘méan Bey”.!'3 Given the details of these significant points, I conclude that
Sultanzade or Yegen Ali Pagazdde Seyh Nu‘méan Bey, once the incumbent seyh of

108For a satisfactory study utilizing the said guest registers see Lale Can, Spiritual Subjects: Central Asian
Pilgrims and the Ottoman Hajj at the End of Empire, (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2020). It

was Smith who remarked the registers for the first time in an academic study. See “The Ozbek Tekkes of
Istanbul,” 131-133.

109For an introduction on Ozbekler Tekkesi, see Smith, “The Ozbek Tekkes of Istanbul,” 130-137; Zarcone,
“Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens & Istanbul,” 147-150; Tanman, “Ozbekler
Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. VI, 199-202, and “Ozbekler Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 123-124; Alkan, “Osmanl
Devleti'nde Ozbek Tekkeleri,” 264-267.

110Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 161, and “Afganiler
Tekkesi,” 86.

Ml Panman, “Uskiidar Mevlevihanesi,” TDVIA, vol. 42, (istanbul: TDV, 2012): 372.

2O mer Kocyigit, “Uskiidar Afganiler Tekkesi ve Haziresindeki Mezar Taglary,” in Uluslararase Uskiidar
Sempozyumu VI, 6-9 Kasym 2008, Bildiriler, vol. 1, ed. Cogkun Yilmaz, (Istanbul: Uskiidar Belediyesi,
2009): 668.

1135ee BOA, HAT. 108/4320, and BOA, C.EV. 575/29027/1.
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Galata Mevlevihanesi, was the founder of both Uskiidar Mevlevihanesi and Afganiler
Tekkesi. If this is the case, it is worthy to note that a Mevlevi seyh did not restrain
himself from developing close connections with the Nagshbandiyya affiliated Qalan-
dari dervishes of Central and South Asian origin. In the final analysis, the Afganiler
Tekkesi, erected particularly for Afghan and Central Asian Nagshbandi celibates—
where the tradition of Nagshbandi celibacy was keenly maintained— deserve to be
the subject of further studies.!14

2.3.1.1 The Nagshbandi Qalandarism

Following the brief introduction of the second-wave Nagshbandi lodges built for the
interest of the Central and South Asian dervishes, a few words are due for distin-
guishing the understanding of celibacy in its rooted Qalandari tradition and in the
Nagshbandi system. Emerging from the influence of Buddhism and Hinduism in
the eleventh-century Khurasan, the Qalandariyya was a loosely organized order of
unorthodox wandering dervishes. Qalandari Sufis were believed to have adopted
doctrines of the Malamatiyya to distinguish themselves from other Muslims with
the significant exception that “whereas the Malamatis, without boasting or osten-
tation, carried out scrupulously God’s commands, the Kalandaris sought to destroy
all custom and tradition and to conceal their actions from public view”'5 Although
Qalandaris were infamous for their violation of traditional Islamic society, they es-
tablished their own rules and conventions which were essentially as follows: free from
clothing, practice chahar darb (shaving of the beard, mustache, eyebrows, and hair),
self-laceration, asceticism, wandering, mendicancy, celibacy, sexual libertinism and
love for boys (not necessarily pederasty), use of intoxicants and hallucinogens, and
elevation of music and dance.!'6 Despite their antagonism towards the norms and
moral codes of orthodoxy, Qalandaris interacted with and influenced a few Sufi
brotherhoods, such as Bektagi, Khalwati and Mevlevi, to such a degree that the
Semsi Sufis, who attributed themselves to Shams-i Tabrizi (d. 1247) and showed up
as a result of reciprocal interactions between the Mevlevi and Qalandari systems at

the initially, completely embraced a Qalandari character by the 16th century thanks

140n the lodge of Afghans, see Tanman, “Afganiler Tekkesi,” 400, and “Afganiler Tekkesi: Mimari,” DBIA,
vol. I, 86-87; Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 160-161, and
“Afganiler Tekkesi,” 86; Kogyigit, “Uskiidar Afganiler Tekkesi ve Haziresindeki Mezar Taslar1,” 665-688.

M5 Tahsin Yazic, “Kalandar,” and “Kalandariyya,” EI2, vol. IV, 472-474.

116 Ahmet Yagar Ocak, Osmanli Imparatorlugunda Marjinal Siafilik: Kalenderiler (XIV-XVII. Yizyillar),
(Ankara: TTK, 1992):161-174, 177-180; Ahmet T. Karamustafa, God’s Unruly Friends: Dervish Groups
in Islamic Later Middle Period (1200-1550), (Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press, 1994): 13-23. For
an introduction on the history of the Qalandariyya see Nihat Azamat, “Kalenderiyye,” TDVIA, vol. 24,
253-256.
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to the Mevlevi seyh Divane Mehmed Celebi.'?

In contrast to the flourishing literature on mutual communication between the Qa-
landarism and prominent Sufi orders mentioned above, the Nagshbandi-Qalandari
interaction as an area of study is still in its infancy. Exceptional studies, in this
regard, are those conducted by Thierry Zarcone and Ekrem Isin who brought to
our attention Nagshbandi-Qalandari exchange through a few notes and anecdotes
regarding celibatarian Nagshbandi dervishes of Central and South Asian origin stay-
ing at the abovementioned second-wave lodges. Zarcone particularly emphasizes
that Qalandari culture found its way into the Ottoman Empire thanks the above-
mentioned kalenderhdnes (the tekkes of Kalenderhane, Ozbekler, and Afganiler),
where Central Asian Nagshbandiyya representations took place differently from its
Indian and Meccan sisters, had all the characteristics of a complex heterogenous
compound, and maintained ties with the old Qalandari and Yasawi cultures.!!®
Following Zarcone’s tracks, Ekrem Isin admits the significant place of the kalender-
hanes in the representation of the Nagshbandi-Qalandari celibacy in Istanbul. The
likely transformation in Istanbul of Central Asian Nagshbandi-Qalandari culture,
however, has not received sufficiently the attention it deserves. Therefore, an all-
inclusive study on the transformation of Qalandarism and Nagshbandi-Qalandari
dervishes on their way from homeland to a foreign soil including the Ottoman capi-
tal would be a great contribution to the field. This is so because, as is realized from
the testimony of Zayn al-Abidin Shirvani (d. 1838), an Iranian Ni‘metullahi Sufi
who visited Central Asia in the late 18th and early 19th centuries, the deep-rooted
continuities in the current state of the Nagshbandi Qalandaris during the period in
question were well-observed, and a comparative observation of Central Asian Qa-
landaris at home and abroad would shed light on the changes and transformations,

if any, in their plight and lives in a foreign country.

In the course of his journeys he had encountered three classes of Naqsh-
bandis: shari‘a-observant Sunnis, who did indeed constitute the great
majority; Shi‘is, of whom he had never met more than two or three;
and qalandars, “ignorant of the shari‘a and regarding it as a mere series

117Ocak, Osmanl Imparatorlugunda Marjinal Sifilik: Kalenderiler, 202-205. Karamustafa, God’s Unruly
Friends, 81-82. Depending on Sahidi Tbrahim Dede’s (d. 1550) Giilsen-i Esrdr and Sakib Dede’s (d. 1735)
Sefine-i Nefise-i Mevleviyan, Golpmarh claims that it was particularly thanks to the Mevlevi gseyh Divane
Mehmed Celebi (d. after 1544) that the Semsi temperament coalesced into the Qalandari, Bektagi, and
Hurufi orders in the first half of the 16th century. See Abdulbaki Gélpinarli, Mevildand’dan Sonra Mevlevilik,

(fstanbul: Giil Matbaasi, 1983): 114-122. On the Qalandari-Bektasi synthesis see Ocak, ibid, 205-215. On

Divane Mehmed Celebi, see Nihat Azamat, “Divane Mehmed Celebi,” TDVIA, vol. 9, (Istanbul: TDV,
1994): 435-437.

118Zarcone, “Histoire et croyances des derviches turkestanais et indiens a Istanbul,” 188.
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of fetters.” These qalandars neither prayed nor fasted; regarded mar-
riage as forbidden; consumed large quantities of bhang and hemp juice;
travelled ceaselessly; recited poetry whenever the mood took them; con-
sidered it incumbent to beg every Thursday; and cheerfully designated
themselves as “God’s fools”. Their relation to Islam was purely nominal,
and their sole claim to the true faqr of the Sufis consisted of the clothes
they wore. 119

In a recent study on the Nagshbandi convents erected for the Turkistani dervishes,
the authors Okan Yesilot, Yiiksel Celik, and Muharrem Varol, too, draw attention
to the mutual interaction and communication of the Nagshbandi and Qalandari el-
ements, especially in the kalenderhdnes of Istanbul, and challenge “kalenderhéne”
as an appellative. According to them, this may not be an appropriate term to de-
scribe the lodges built for the Nagshbandi qalandars, as it seems to be given due
to the presence of celibate dervishes there. Nagshbandi qalandars’ disdainful aban-
donment of the earthly pleasures might be another reason behind the designation
of their tekkes as kalenderhdne.’?® Relying on these remarks, we can take it a step
further by pointing out at least two significant transformations happening within
the Nagshbandi Qalandarism in Istanbul. While the first alteration was in the un-
derstanding of celibacy, the second was regarded mendicancy. As to the former, as
cited above, Zayn al-‘Abidin Shirvani reports that Naqshbandi qalandars of Central
Asia regarded marriage as forbidden even as late as the late 18th century. The
story of Seyh Abdullah Nidai Kashghari, however, betokens multiple understanding
of the celibacy in the Nagshbandi Qalandarism. To recall, the legend goes that he
was obliged to renounce the post of the Kalenderhane Tekkesi upon his marriage,
since the position had been stipulated for celibate seyhs. What has escaped atten-
tion is that Abdullah Nidai had never been a straitlaced observant of celibacy. As
I have already noted, upon his death, he was succeeded by his thirty four year-old
son, Ubeydullah Efendi, in 1760, a clear indication of his earlier marriage. Though
we do not know how many times he married, we do indeed know that as widow-
man he married once again around 1745, the year he transferred to Kaggari Tekkesi.
Given the familiarity between La‘lizade Abdiilbaki and Abdullah Nidai, and devo-
tion of La‘lizade’s tekke to the Uzbek celibates, we can readily assert that La‘lizade’s
purpose in erecting Kalenderhane Tekkesi was to look after unmarried wandering
Nagshbandi dervishes rather than promoting a Qalandari-style celibacy. At this

point, we must remember that celibacy as a disposition and preference is not pro-

119Conveyed by Hamid Algar in “From Kashghar to Eyiip,” 6-7. For an introduction on the eyewitness
author, see Y. Richard, “Zayn al-‘Abidin Shirwani,” FI2, vol.XI, (Leiden: Brill, 2000): 484.

120 fetanbul’daki Tirkistan Tekkeleri: Ata Yurt dle Ana Yurt Arasindaki Manevi Képriiler, (Istanbul:
TURCEK, 2017): 182.
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moted in Islam. Therefore, we come across married incumbent seyhs particularly in
Ozbekler Tekkesi, one of the kalenderhdnes of Istanbul. For instance, Seyh Abdiilek-
ber (d. 1785), the first seyh of the tekke, left behind three wives.!?! Given these
examples, we may state that a softer and moderate understanding of Nagshbandi

Qalandarism occurred in Istanbul.

Another pillar of the traditional Qalandarism shared also by the Central Asian
Nagshbandi galandars but seems to have been transformed in Istanbul is mendi-
cancy. Zayn al-‘Abidin Shirvani’s witnessing on this particular was straightforward:
Nagshbandi qalandars considered it a duty to beg every Thursday. In addition, we
should remember a remarkable Nagshbandi-Qalandari figure brought to our atten-
tion by Thierry Zarcone: master Seyh Haydar Taskendi, who, as an Uzbek prince,
born in Bukhara but left the realm of his family’s political influence for Deccan where
he adhered Baba Palangposh (d. 1699), a Ghujdawan-born Nagshbandi master. It
is said that Seyh Haydar, after completing his sojourn in India, headed for the Ot-
toman capital and resided in Uskiidar, where he established a tekke. What is more
striking in the story of Seyh Haydar Taskendi is that he made galandars stay at his
lodge and beg in turns: “About forty galandars waited upon him, and everyday one
of the forty would go out and bring back what he had begged. What had been offered
sufficed all the fagirs as nourishment to keep body and soul together.”'?? In fact,
we do not know accurately whether Seyh Haydar really encouraged his dervishes
to beg, or an ongoing tradition of mendicancy within the circles of the Nagshbandi
galandars of India was ascribed also to him. Considering that several anecdotes per-
taining to the beggary of dervishes in Baba Palangposh’s circle were penned with
pleasure in Malfuzat-i Nagshbandiyya, we may think that the author attributed these
manners to Seyh Haydar to describe him as an obedient and devoted adherent and
khalifa of Baba Palangposh.!'?® Nevertheless, it is very likely that Seyh Haydar,
too, dispatched his disciples for begging. However, there is a significant indication

that this custom came to an end or transformed gradually after the death of Seyh

P21 fetanbul’daki Tirkistan Tekkeleri, 229.

1222arcone, ibid, 158. This significant report from the biography of the seyh is penned by Baba Shah
Mahmtd, another disciple of Baba Palangposh and the designated successor of his companion Baba Shah
Muhammad Muséfir (d. 1714). Baba Mahmid’s text which was written in Persian under the title Malfazat-
i Nagshbandiyya gives significant details as to the twenty-four disciples, khalifas, and associates of Baba
Palangposh and Baba Musafir. The entire text was translated into English by Simon Digby. For the entry
on Seyh Haydar see Bibd Mahmid, Sufis and Soldiers in Awrangzeb’s Deccan: Malfizat-i Nagshbandiyya,
translated from Persian with and introduction by Simon Digby, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001):
244-246. For a meticulous article on Malfuzat-i Nagshbandiyya and the historical context which made
possible the Nagshbandis’ presence in the late 17th and early 18th century Deccan see Simon Digby, “The
Nagshbandis in the Deccan in the Late Seventeenth and Early Eighteenth Century A.D.: Baba Palangposh,
Baba Musafir and Their Adherents,” in Nagshbandis: Historical Developments and Present Situation of a
Muslim Mystical Order, ed. Marc Gaborieau, Alexandre Popovic, and Thierry Zarcone, (Istanbul: ISIS,
1990): 167-207.

123For some of such anecdotes see ibid, 100-101, 179-180, 196-197, and 236-237. It must be born in mind that
begging as a method serves to humiliate the soul in the Qalandari understanding.
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Haydar. As I mentioned above, we know for sure that his tekke received yearly at
least forty kile rice (ten kile per quarter) from the imperial kitchen by the beginning
of the 18th century. By providing a quarterly allowance of aid-in-kind, the Palace
might aim to hinder the residents of the tekke from mendicancy. I assert that, with
the same purpose in mind, the founders of the Nagshbandi tekkes built for the itiner-
ant dervishes, donated revenue-generating landed properties in the 18th century.'?4
If this is so, we can eagerly claim that door-to-door mendicancy and remaining in
a state of poverty, as deep-rooted customs and methods of purification, gradually
abandoned by Nagshbandi qalandars enrolled to the kalenderhanes of Istanbul. Yet,
this does not mean that they gave up begging for alms or refused in-kind aid, for

these were essential for running the lodges.!??

2.3.2 The Role of Mujaddidiyya and Seyh Murad Bukhari

It is an established fact that before the advent of the Nagshbandi seyhs affiliated
with the recently formed Mujaddidi branch, the vicegerent masters of the Ahrari
branch, outputs of the first-wave lodges, had dominated the scene in Istanbul. The
construction of the second-wave lodges over almost a century-long period roughly
from the late 17th to the late 18th century, however, as will be discussed below,
was on the one hand the favor and patronage of the high-ranking officials devel-
oping spiritual affinities with Naqgshbandi tariga. On the other, it was by virtue
of a noticeable increase in the number of Nagshbandi masters gradually making
an appearance in the Ottoman capital. The latter reasoning appertains even to
Seyh Haydar Tagkendil who, as a Nagshbandi-Qalandari seyh, seemed unsuccessful
in making connections with the fruit-bearing Mujaddidi branch during his sojourn
in India when considering the dearth of information pertaining to his and galandar
colleagues’ relations with the disciples of Ahmad al-Sirhindi (d. 1624), the founder
of the Mujaddidiyya: “In our text [Malfuzat-i Nagshbandiyya], there is not a single
reference to Shaykh Ahmad Sarhindi. Moreover, though there are many references
to faqirs travelling to and fro between the Deccan and Transoxiana over a period of
forty years, and of their passing through Shahjahanabad (Delhi) and Lahore, and

even of the places where they lodged in these cities, there is not a single mention

124 For income-generating properties donated by the tekke founders and other philanthropists see Alkan,

“Osmanli Devleti'nde Ozbek Tekkeleri,” 253-269; and Istanbul’daki Tiirkistan Tekkeleri, 89-97, 168-175,
197-209, 235-247.

125Note that during the holy month of Ramadan and other holy days the practice of tolerable mendicancy

continued among madrasa students until the early 20th century. See Mehmet Ipsirli, “Cer,” TDVIA, vol.
7, 388-389.
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of a visit to the takya of Sarhind.”'?6 Nonetheless, there is no harm in asserting
the following: given that Seyh Murad Bukhari’s first expedition to Istanbul coin-
cided with a five-year period from 1681 to 1686,'27 it is possible that he had come
in contact with his Uzbek compatriot, Seyh Haydar, and his Qalandari dervishes.
Moreover, even much earlier than such a connection in the Ottoman realms, they

may have been acquainted with each other back in the years in Transoxiana.

At this point, the most triggering cause behind the construction of the lodges in
service of Central and South Asian Nagshbandis must be brought to the table.
What does it mean when at least seven convents were set up within time span
of almost a century, save the Sah Haydar Tekkesi, all were built by high-ranking
officials and scholar-bureaucrats? In order to have a convincing answer to this
question and for a better understanding of the reasons underpinning the formation
of second-wave tekkes, the role and posthumous influence of Seyh Murad Bukhari
must not be disregarded. It is clear that his sojourns to several Ottoman-Arab
cities since the 1660s familiarized him with notables and preeminent scholars who
would be profoundly influenced by his charismatic personality, competence in many
disciplines, and hard work deriving from his sincere commitment, enthusiasm, and
ambitions.'?® For this reason alone, well-to-do disciples may have attempted to build
such convents to please the seyh in his lifetime or to perpetuate his memory after
his death. The first fitting example is the abovementioned Buhara Tekkesi, built by
Defterdar Isma‘il Efendi in 1692. Given Seyh Murad Bukhari’s strong influence on
statesmen, I am convinced that the spiritual authority on the part of the seyh, and
affection and reverence for Isma‘il Efendi’s part were among the reasons leading the
latter to embark on a lodge project for the Bukharan dervishes. From among the
letters that Seyh Murad exchanged with his Ottoman high-ranking followers, the
one sent to a certain Isma‘il Efendi may be of great value for discerning a possible
relationship between the seyh and the defterdar. Indeed, from among the letters
in hand, only two were sent to addressees bearing the name Isma‘il. The official
position of the addressee is demonstrated in a single case, that is, in the letter to
Mevlana Isma‘l, the qadi of Aleppo.?® However, the titles of the recipients are
different in the two letters, Efendi in one and Mevlana in the other, an indication

to the fact that two distinguished figures are in question. Therefore, I am inclined

126Gimon Digby, Sufis and Soldiers in Awrangzeb’s Deccan, 3-4.

127For further details on Murad Bukhari’s life story, voyages and travels see Butrus Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh

Murad al-Bukhari and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidr Order in Istanbul,” Die Welt des Islams
53/1. (2013): 1-25; and Simsek, 18. Yizyil Osmanly Toplumunda Nakgibendi-Miiceddidilik, 87-99.

128 For more details in this regard see the second chapter in this dissertation.

129F0r the letters see Mesmii®at ve Mektubat, fol. 34a-b, and 98a. The former is sent to the qadi of Aleppo.
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to think that Isma‘il Efendi with whom Seyh Muradd Bukhari exchanged letter(s)

might be none other than the defterddr himself.!30

The second lodge coming into existence in Istanbul thanks to the direct role of the
seyh during his lifetime was the aforementioned Murdd Buhéari Tekkesi converted
in 1715 from a madrasa to a tekke by Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi, the
then chief jurist of Rumelia, for the use of the seyh. Murdd Bukhari’s influence
and spiritual authority on not only Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi but also on his son,
and even grandson, is an indisputable fact. So much so is the case that, Ebulhayr
Ahmed’s grandson, Damadzade Mehmed Murad Molla (d. 1778), who was born in
1718 named after the seyh.!'3! The most essential documentary evidence to Murad
Bukhari’s strict relationship and coordination with Ebulhayr Ahmed, however, is the
collection of the thirty-five letters he had sent to him.'? Given these letters, definite
signs of an intimate and absolute seyh-murid relationship, one can understand better
why Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi provided patronage for Seyh Murad since 1681 and

turned his father’s madrasa into a tekke for him in 1715.

Seyh Murad Efendi’s fame did not come to an end after his death. On the con-
trary, his posthumous influence continued to motivate prominent figures who had
once been his disciples to serve the Nagshbandi order, particularly through the con-
struction of tekkes in Istanbul. We can count at the outset the name of La‘lizade
Abdiilbaki Efendi, who, as has been mentioned earlier, restored the Kalenderhéne
Tekkesi in 1743 for the Uzbek Nagshbandi galandars. What concerns us in this
context is the crucial sentence in the lodge’s endowment deed in which the endower
La‘lizade enunciates that he endows the lodge for the Uzbek celibates who are at-
tached to the order of Seyh Murad Bukhari. It is a well-known fact that La‘lizade
Abdiilbaki was exiled to the island of Limnos following the defeat of the Ottomans
by the Habsburgs in August 1716. Furthermore, we know that it was thanks to Seyh

Murad’s intercession that he was freed from living in exile. However, when he arrived

130T hanks to Defterdar Sar1 Mehmed Pasha’s (d. 1717) Ziibde-i Vekdiyat, we know that Defterdar Isma‘il
Efendi whose sobriquet was Kirli served as defterddr twice; once from 7 June 1690 to October 1691, and
secondly from 4 April 1693 to 15 August 1694. It was during his second term that he was granted the title

of pasha. For more on Kirli Isma‘il Pasha and his successful career see Tanju Demir and Betiil Celik, “XVII.
Yiuzyil Sonlarinda Aydin’da Bir Osmanli Burokrati: Defterdar Ismail Pasa (Kirli),” Tarih Arastirmalar
Dergisi 26/42 (2007): 67-83. Note also that the future seyhiilislim Ebiiishak Isma’il, a well-known disciple

of Seyh Murad, was appointed the qadi of Aleppo in 1692. See Muhammed Nur Dogan, "Ebiiishak Ismail
Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 10, 278-279.

131 For Murad Molla’s biography see Mehmed Siireyya, Sicill-i Osmani, vol. IV, 1114-1115; and Hatice Ozdil,

“Bagka Isimlerle Karigtirilan Bir Mesnevi Sarihi: Mehmed Muradd Naksibendi,” Turkish Studies vol. 8/12,
(Fall 2013): 1013-1014.

13261 more on the relationship between the two figures, see the third chapter of this dissertation. The letters
sent to Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi are collected in Mektibit-1 es-Seyh es-Seyyid Mehmed Murdd, Veliyytiddin
Efendi no. 1837, fols. 2b-29b.
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in Istanbul, he would learn that the seyh had already passed away.!33 Given these
biographical details, we can assert that La‘lizade Abdiilbaki upreared the Kalender-
hane Tekkesi after many years as sign of his deep respect for the memory of the
seyh and as a duty of his loyalty to him. Seyh Murad Bukhari’s posthumous fame
and influence seems to answer the purpose in the construction of another lodge, i.e.,
Mustafa Paga Tekkesi, founded in 1753 as a consequence of the donation of the then
grand vizier Kése Mustafa Pasha (d. 1765). Considering that Muhammad Baha
al-Din (d. 1756), the son of Murad Bukhéri, was the first post-nishin of this tekke,
it was nominated as the second Mujaddidi center in Istanbul after Murad Buhari
Tekkesi.'3* A few decrees dated Evasit-I Z 1167 (28 September-8 October 1754)
clearly points out that the first seyh, Muradzade Muhammed Efendi, who was none
other than Muhammad Baha al-Din, was invited to Istanbul after the completion of
the tekke.!3® This reality, one may claim, raises the possibility that the Mustafa Pasa
Tekkesi was built for Seyh Muhammad Muradi. Be that as it may, the posthumous
influence and unvitiated dignity of the seyh should not be overlooked.

The Murad Molla Tekkesi, named after its founder, Mehmed Murad Molla, is an-
other lodge built in honor of Seyh Murad. Being the grandson of Damadzade Ebul-
hayr Ahmed Efendi, Murad Molla was named after the seyh who had aroused his
father and grandfather’s admiration. Thanks to the favorable impression that Seyh
Murad left behind, following in the footsteps of his grandfather, in 1769, Murad
Molla had a tekke built for Nagshbandis in the Carsamba neighborhood within the
intramural city rather than in extra muros. It seems likely that two distinctive
aspects differentiate this lodge from remaining Nagshbandi convents of Istanbul.
Firstly, into the tekke-complex was incorporated a free-standing library building in
1775. Thus, as the first of its kind, a tekke with a physically unattached library came
into existence.'® Secondly, and perhaps more importantly, the main contribution
of the lodge to the cultural and religious life of Istanbul seems to be the successful
coalescence of the Nagshbandi and Mevlevi traditions there. Yet, available evidence
demonstrates that such an amalgamation was carried through particularly in the
first half of the 19th century during the incumbency of Seyyid Mehmed Murad

133Njhat Azamat, “La‘lizide Abdiilbaki,” TDVIA, vol. 27, 90-91.

134Muslu, Osmanly Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 276. Ayvansardyl is mistaken when identifying Murddzade Al

Efendi as the first seyh of the tekke. See, Hadikatu’l-Cevami‘, 291, and The Garden of the Mosques, 309.
Seyh Ali was the son of Seyh Mehmed, and upon the death of his father, he replaced him in the Kurgunlu
Mahzen lodge built by Kose Mustafd Pasha. See BOA, SOSM.III. 90/6914/1, and BOA, SOSM.III.
90/6913/1.

1357 the decrees in question the vizier, gadis, local notables, qadis and their deputies, and other officers

controlling the cities on the road from Damascus to Uskiidar were asked to provide convenience and
satisfy the needs of Seyh Mehmed Muradi. See BOA, Mihimme Defteri, no. 57/619; BOA, AE.SMHD.I..
237/19064/1; and BOA, C..DH.. 88/4370/1.

136Hatice Aynur, “Murad Molla Kitiiphanesi ve Yapim Kitabesi,” Z Dergisi 5 (2021): 121.
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Efendi (d. 1848), the third seyh of the tekke and renowned Mathnawi reciter of the
time who established a lodge for teaching, reading, and reciting of the Mathnaw1 in
the vicinity of Murad Molla Tekkesi in Carsamba.37

The role of Murdad Bukhéri in the dissemination of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi order
in Istanbul is an established fact. However, he was neither the sole representative
of the Mujaddidiyya in the city nor the only exhorter behind the construction of
second-wave lodges. His unique position in the Nagshbandi networks of Istanbul
was remarkable; but there were other seyhs with Mujaddidi affiliations for whom
lodges were built. What is exceptional in the situation of these masters was that
their Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi chain connected to Ahmad al-Sirhindji, i.e., the founder
of the Mujaddidiyya branch, through Yekdest Ahmad Juryani (d. 1707) rather
than Murdd Bukhari, the two renowned disciples of Muhammad Ma‘stim (d. 1668),
i.e., the son and caliph of al-Sirhindi. The Neccarzade Tekkesi’s restoration and
reorganization as a Nagshbandi convent by Seyh Neccarzade Mustafa Rizaeddin
Efendi (d. 1746) probably during the second decade of the 18th century, is a good
example in this regard, because Seyh Neccarzade’s spiritual lineage goes back to
Ahmad Juryani by way of Arabzdde Muhammed Ilmi Edirnevi (d. 1718) and his
seyh Muhammed Semerkandi (d. 1705).!13% What distinguishes Neccarzade’s tekke
from other Nagshbandi convents is the observance of Celveti and Nagshbandi rituals
there. This is so because Neccarzade had license from these orders, as well as from
the Mevleviyye. Yet, the dominant bent in him and his tekke, we are said, was the
Nagshbandi.3?

The second lodge where the spirituality of not only Ahmad Juryani but also Murad
Bukhari is felt is the Seyhiilislam Tekkesi, which the then seyhiilislam Seyyid Mustafa
Efendi (d. 1745) had built in the Nigsanca neighborhood of Eyiip in 1744. Being
the son of the slain seyhiilislam Seyyid Feyzullah Efendi (d. 1703), Seyyid Mustafa
Efendi (1679-1745) had a life and career with ups and downs. We know, for instance,
that he was able to climb all madrasa ladders within two and a half years, and from
September 1698 to March 1703, he unintermittedly carried out the judgeship of

Salonika, Mecca, and the chief military judge of Anatolia.'? Following the execution

137Baha Tanman, “Murad Molla Tekkesi ve Kiitiiphanesi,” DBIA, vol. V, 516-518; “Murad Molla Killiyesi,”
TDVIA, vol. 31, (Ankara: TDV, 2020): 187-188. On Mesnevihane Tekkesi which is also known as
Darilmesnevi Tekkesi, see Tanman, “Mesnevihdne Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 29, (Ankara: TDV, 2004):
334-336; and “Mesnevihane Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. V, 408-409.

138 For Neccarzade and his spiritual lineage I depend on Simsek, 18. Yiizyil Osmanl Toplumunda Naksibendi-
Miiceddidilik, 130-136; idem, “Neccarzade Riza Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 32, 483-484.

139N\ uslu, Osmanh Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 276-277.

140N\ fichael Nizri, Ottoman High Politics and the Ulema Household, (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014):
92-93.

49



of his father, however, he was exiled alongside of his brothers to Bursa, where he was
obliged to stay until 1730. According to Ayvansarayi, Seyyid Mustafa adhered to
Yekdest Ahmad Juryani during his judgeship in Mecca.!*! However, it is very likely
that he was initiated into Seyh Murad Bukharil as well in Bursa. As I mentioned
earlier, given that Seyh Murad Bukhari resided approximately six years in Bursa
from 1712 to 1718, “one could assume that he formed a close friendship with Murad
Bukhari and other Naqshi-Mujaddidis during his obligatory residence in the city.”*4?
Thus, we can readily contend that, because of his adherence to Seyh Murad and Seyh
Ahmad, years after their demise, Seyhiilislam Seyyid Mustafa decided to establish a
tekke in tribute to both. The third lodge built for the veneration of Ahmad Juryani
is the Kéaggari Tekkesi. To remember, it was found by Yekcesm Ahmed Murtaza in
1745 and donated as a venue of Sufism to the Kasani branch of the Nagshbandiyya.
What is overlooked in the case of Kaggari Tekkesi is that its founder, Murtaza Efendi
himself, was a disciple and deputy of Ahmad Juryani.'*® What is more interesting
in this unique case is that as an authorized Nagshbandi seyh and scholar-bureaucrat,
Murtaza Efendi established the tekke not for his own use, but for a Central Asian
Kasani seyh, such as Abdullah Nidai.

Apart from newly constructed lodges, the spiritual lineage of Seyh Ahmad Juryéni,
was lucky enough to have representation in one of the first-wave Nagshbandi lodges
which until then had been under the care and Sufistic oversight of seyhs from the
Ahrari branch of the order. The salient example in this context was the Emir
Bukhari lodge located in Ayvansaray. As Halil Ibrahim Simsek has pointed out,
the first appointment to the Ayvansaray tekke from among the disciples of Ahmad
Juryani was of Kirimi Ahmed Efendi (d. 1743), assigned there in 1736 after the death
of Seyh Karamanizade Ahmed Efendi. Following the demise of Kirimi Ahmed, the
renowned Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi master, Mehmed Emin Tokadi (d. 1745), who had
been under the tutelage of Ahmad Juryani from 1702 to 1705, was convinced by the
aforementioned Seyhiilislam Seyyid Mustafa Efendi to serve as a seyh at the convent
of Ayvansaray. Upon Mehmed Emin Efendi’s death, which brought to end his two-
year term, seyhs Halil Muradi of Birgi (d. 1749), Hasan (d. 1753), and Ibrahim (d.
1755) became the post-nishin respectively. Even though we do not know whether
the three seyhs were the part of Ahmad Juryani’s lineage, we exactly know that
their successor, Seyh Mustafa Efendi, who had been in charge from 1755 to 1781,

was part and parcel of Juryani silsila, for he received his Nagshbandi ijaza from Seyh

141Ayvemsamé,yi, Hadikati’l-Cevami‘, 283, and The Garden of the Mosques, 302.

142§gq Ugurlu, “Gaznevi Mahmtd: A Neglected Ottoman Clerk, His Career, Miscellany, and Religious and
Literary Network,” 53.

143Sim§ek, 18. Yiizyil Osmanly Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miiceddidilik, 189.
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Kirimi Ahmed Efendi.144

The first-wave lodges must have also enjoyed the mastery of Murad Bukhari’s Sufi
caliphs. However, except for one instance mentioned by Seyhi Mehmed, there is a
dearth of information and documentation as to the presence of Murdd Bukhéari’s
disciples at the long-standing Nagshbandi-Ahrari lodges. The seyh in question is
[spirt Damadi Mustafd Efendi (d. 1708).14° Born in Izmir, he completed his initial
education under his father and Ibrahim Efendi, the mufti of the city, and headed for
Istanbul for specialization. After graduating from the imam of the sultan Mehmed
Efendi, he was assigned to a madrasa. However, after a short while he would give
up his teaching position to adhere to Seyh Murdd Bukhari. Completing his Sufi
education under the direction of the seyh, he spent some time as a preacher in several
mosques of the city, and eventually became the incumbent seyh of the Hekim Celebi
Tekkesi in 1699 and remained in the post there until his death in 1708.146 After Seyh
Mustafa’s death, the post of the tekke passed into Seyh Seyyid Fazlullah Efendi (d.
1709), the then post-nishin of the Fatih Emir Bukhari lodge. Upon the sudden death
of Seyyid Fazlullah in Sinai, to Seyh Ahmed al-Mekki (d. 1710) was given the tekke.
Although his biography remains shrouded in darkness, it is possible that Ahmed
al-Mekki was one of the disciples of Seyh Mustafa Efendi. Furthermore, a master-
disciple relationship between Seyh Murad and himself would not be surprising, if
both were dwelling at the same time in Istanbul. In conclusion, we may claim that
the influence and spiritual lineages of both Murad Bukhari and Ahmad Juryani were
observable in the 18th century, not only in second-wave lodges but also in first-wave

lodges such as Hekim Celebi and Ayvansaray Emir Bukhari.

2.3.3 The Role of the Nagshbandi Patrons

The increase in the number of second-wave lodges cannot be thoroughly understood
without considering the role of the tekke-founders who bestowed favors on Naqgsh-

bandi seyhs and their followers. In other words, it was the financial support and

144g60 Simsek, 18. Yiizyil Osmanlz.Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miiceddidilik, 138, 140-141, 156-159. For more on
seyhs of Ayvansaray lodge see, Istanbul’daki Tiirkistan Tekkeleri, 49-60.

145Depending on the printed copy of Ayvansarayi’s Hadikati’l-Cevami‘, Muslu and Simsek read Seyh
Mustafd’s title as “Esiri Damad1”. However, in the manuscript, Seyhi gives the title as “Ispiri DamAadi”
and states that Seyh Mustafa established kinship bond with the preacher of Ayasofya Mosque Ispiri Ali
Efendi through marriage. See Seyhi, Vekayiu’l-Fudala, vol. II-I1I, 417, and Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald: Seyhi’nin
Saka’ik Zeyli, vol. 3, prepared by Ramazan Ekinci, (Istanbul: YEK, 2018): 2717.

14686yhi, Vekayiu’l-Fudala, vol. 11, 416-417; Muslu, Osmanl Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 236-237; and Simsek, 18.
Yiizipl Osmanl Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miiceddidilik, 119-120. Because of mistransliterating the word
as “Musul” rather than “mevsul” Muslu concludes that Mustafd Efendi was appointed as a professor to a
madrasa in Mosul. From such a misconstruction Simsek infers that Mustafd Efendi went from Mosul to
Damascus where he adhered to Seyh Murad Bukhari.
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philanthropy of the patrons that occasioned a significant number of the Nagshbandi
lodges to be set up as charities. It is beyond doubt that a comparison of the situation
between other Sufi brotherhoods in the 17th and 18th centuries will present a more
realistic view. Since one of the claims of this dissertation pertains to the positive
role and constructive impact of the patrons on the dissemination of the Nagshbandi
tekkes in the late seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, a numerical comparison of
the lodges built for several dervish orders by seyhs and patrons will be an appropri-
ate task. For this purpose, an analysis in light of Table2.7 is necessary. Considering
Table2.7, one realizes that only Mevlevi convents were built by patrons rather than
Sufi masters. The only exception in this regard is the Mevlevi master, Halil Nu‘man
Dede, who built the Mevlevihane of Uskiidar in 1792. However, as is discussed
above, his family bonds provided him great wealth, and he came to fore as a patron
rather than a seyh. The opposite case was seen in Qadiri circles where twelve con-
vents were founded, to a large extent (75%), by Qadiri masters. The more unusual
and remarkable situation on the part of Qadiris was that in two of three examples
in which the founders were not seyhs, Alime Hatun (d. 1821), the daughter of the
qadi Mestcizdde Osméan Efendi and wife of Seyh Mustafd Resmi Efendi (d. 1793),
appears as the founder of the lodges.!*” When it comes to the Bayrami lodges, it
seems that, from the twelve tekkes put into service in the 17th and 18th centuries,
only three (25%) were commissioned by statesmen.'*® The most important devel-
opment within the Bayrami circles seems to have occured in the 17th century under
the guidance and scholarly activities of Aziz Mahmid Hudayl (d. 1628) and his

spiritual descendants who established at least five tekkes only in Uskiidar.'4?

A superficial comparison between the Nagshbandi and Khalwati orders in terms of
the founders of their tekkes will suffice for a better realization of the change and
transformation that happened in the foundation of both over the centuries. For in-
stance, throughout the 16th century, whereas thirty-two of forty-six Khalwati lodges
were erected by courtiers and high-ranking officials, only ten were built by seyhs,

two by artisans, and one by a member of ulema.'>® In other words, 70 percent of

147 The two lodges Alime Hatun built for her husband in 1204/1789-1790 are known as Resmi Efendi Tekkesi
and Kabaluk Tekkesi. For more see Muslu, Osmanls Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 404-405. On the former
see Tanman, “Resmi Efendi Tekkesi,” DBIA, vol. VI, 316-317, and “Resmi Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 34,
584-585. On Kabakulak Tekkesi see http://mustafaresmiahi.net/mustafaahi/tekkeler/kabakulak.html (ac-
cessed 28.06.2023).

148 These were Himmet Efendi Tekkesi by Defterdar ibrahim Efendi in the second half of the 17th century,
Hagim Efendi Tekkesi by Hekimoglu Al Pasha in 1732, and Sarmagik Tekkesi by Kazasker Abdulkadir
Efendi in the second half of the 18th century. See respectively Muslu, Osmanls Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 517,
491-492, and 439-440.

149The tekkes in question were Hiidayi Asitanesi, Seyh Cami‘i Tekkesi, Selami Ali — Selamsiz, Selami Ali —
Acibadem, and Selami Ali — Kisikli. See Muslu, Osmanli Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 440, 474, and 480-482.

150Ay§~e Boliikbagi, “XVI. Yiizyilda Istanbul’daki Halveti Tekkeleri,” 13.
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all Khalwati tekkes owes their buildings to prominent figures in the empire. In the
17th and 18th centuries, when a sequential decline and rise occurred in the number
of Khalwati tekkes, the ratio of the lodges constructed by the dignitaries dropped
as low as 27.5 percent and twenty-nine of forty lodges, which constituted 72.5 per-
cent, were installed by the Khalwati seyhs. Regarding high-ranking patrons funding
the construction of seventeenth-century Khalwati lodges, it is a curious observation
that at least three of them served as the grand viziers.'® As to eighteenth-century
lodges, however, it is said that Ahmed III had the reputed Cerrahi Asitanesi built
in 1703 at the very beginning of his reign, and Damad Ibrahim Pasha contributed
to the Tatar Efendi Tekkesi built for Tatar Hasan Efendi (d. 1766).152 As far as the
Nagshbandi lodges are concerned, Table 2.5 and 2.7 demonstrate that those insti-
tuted under the favor of administrators and scholar-bureaucrats, and those brought
into existence by the Nagshbandi masters presented a ratio of two-thirds to one-
third: (59%) vs (31%). Contrary to first-wave lodges, none of the second-wave
lodges were built upon the initiatives of the sultans. Likewise, except for Kose
Mustafa Pasha, no grand vizier patronized Nagshbandi tekkes in the 17th and 18th
centuries, a situation observed in at least three cases in the seventeenth-century
Khalwatiyya. What makes the Nagshbandi case special is either the domination of
the wealthy scholar-officials such as Daméadzade Ebulhary Ahmed, La‘lizdde Abdiil-
baki, Seyhiilislam Seyyid Mustafa, and Damadzade Mehmed Murad Molla, or the
existence of statesmen such as Defterdar Isma‘il Efendi, Yekcesm Ahmed Murtaza
Efendi, Nu‘méan Bey, and Seyyid Mehmed Agha, who seem to have a background in
the ilmiye establishment. Abdullah Pasha and Kose Mustafa Pasha, however, were
two unique patrons who enjoyed administrative power in the higher echelons of the

state.

The completion date of some Nagshbandi lodges suggests that a struggle for prestige
and competition for good deed took place between their founders. Such a possibil-
ity is particularly observable in the first half of 1740s, when La‘lizade Abdiilbaki,
Seyhilislam Seyyid Mustafa, and Yekgesm Ahmed Murtaza set up their tekkes one

1515ee for instance Bayram Pasha (d. 1638) who built Bayram Pasa Tekkesi as a part of his mosque complex
in 1634-1635, Koprilizadde Fazil Ahmed Pasha (d. 1676) who built Akbiyik Tekkesi for Carhact Seyh
Ahmed Efendi (d. 1669), and Morali Hasan Pasha (d. 1713) who built Nastihi Tekkesi for Seyh Mehmed
Nastihi (d. 1718) in 1688. Because of the chronological errors, Ayvansariyi was mistaken when stating
that Bayram Pasha lodge was erected for the Qadiriyya and Akbiyik Tekkesi was set up by Koépriiliizadde
Fazil Mustafa Pasha (d. 1691). See The Garden of the Mosques, 50 and 65. For the tekkes in question see
Muslu, Osmanly Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 94-95, 165, and 189. See also Tanman, “Bayram Paga Kiilliyesi,”
TDVIA, vol. 5, (Istanbul: TDV, 1992): 267-268, and “Akbiyik Mescidi ve Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 2,
(Istanbul: TDV, 1989): 222-223. For Carhaci Seyh Ahmed see Uzeyir Aslan, “Carhaci, Seyh Ahmed
Efendi,” https://teis.yesevi.edu.tr/madde-detay /carhaci-seyh-ahmed-efendi (accessed 27.06.2023).

152Muslu7 Osmanly Toplumunda Tasavvuf, 87, and 219-220; Tanman, “Nireddin Cerrahi Tekkesi,” TDVIA,

vol. 33, (Istanbul: TDV, 2007): 253-256; Ayvansardyi, The Garden of the Mosques, 392. It is highly
possible that the expense ledgers of the grand viziers contain inputs regarding their patronage for the Sufi
masters and tekkes. However, I have not utilized these sources in the current study.
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after another in Eytiip. The year 1753, on the other hand, witnessed the inauguration
of two considerable tekke-complexes: Mustafd Pasa Tekkesi in Eyiip and Ozbekler
Tekkesi in Uskiidar. We learn from Ayvansardyi that Kose Mustafd Pasha and Ab-
dullah Pasha, the founders of the said complexes, had a relationship of patron and
client. So much so that, during the first grand vizierate of the former, it culmi-
nated in the appointment of Abdullah Pasha as the steward of the grand vizier.!53
Therefore, it has already been proposed that the reasons behind the construction of
Ozbekler Tekkesi by Abdullah Pasha should be sought in his closeness to the grand
vizier Kose Mustafd Pasha.!® Given these significant details, we may claim that
the Nagshbandi patrons in question mutually influenced and encouraged each other

when embarking on the construction projects of tekkes.

At this point, a few notes should also be written on the grand vizier, Kése Mustafa
Pasha, and his’s unique position in the Nagshbandi circles in the mid-18th cen-
tury.!® As mentioned above, he not only built a tekke named after himself, but
also invited Seyh Muhammad Muradi, the son of Murad Bukhari, from Damascus to
Istanbul to serve there. Furthermore, as is conveyed by Ayvansardyi, he renovated
Kurgunlu Mahzen, a cistern inherited from the Byzantine time era in Galata. and
used as an arsenal since then, and turned it into an imperial mosque by putting in a
mahfil for the sultan. The role of the deceased Seyh Murad appears alongside that
of his son in the conversion of the building from a cistern to a mosque. Narrating
from Seyh Muhammad Muréadi, Ayvansarayl pens the story as follows: “My father,
Seyh Murad Efendi -may his grave be hallowed-, beheld in his dreams a bridge being
built from Uskiidar to Galata and angels passing over it. When he asked them for an
explanation, they answered, ‘Some of the Companions of the Prophet were buried
in the Kursunlu Mahzen. We are on our way to make a pilgrimage to them.”'®% De-
spite ambiguities in wording of Ayvansarayi, we understand that Seyh Muhammad
Muradi narrated his father’s dream to the grand vizier in a letter, so the cistern was
cleaned and transformed into a mosque.'®” In addition, Kése Mustafa Pasha built
inside the Kursunlu Mahzen Mosque a Nagshbandi lodge consisting of six rooms
and appointed Seyh Muhammad Muradi as the its head of it.1% Lastly, Mustafa

153Ayvansaréyi, The Garden of the Mosques, 512.
154 fetanbul’daki Tirkistan Tekkeleri, 225.

155 For more on Kose Mustafa Pasha’s life and career see Miicteba Tlgiirel, “Mustafa Paga, Kose,” TDVIA,
vol. 31, 345-346

156Ayvansamé,yi, The Garden of the Mosques, 366. See also Hadikatii’l-Cevami‘, vol. 2, 39.

157According to Howard Crane’s translation, it was Seyh Murad Bukhéari who wrote the letter to the grand
vizier Kése Mustafa Pasha. See The Garden of the Mosques, 366.

158 yysuf Sagir published the endowment deeds of the grand vizier’s foundations. For small details on Kursunlu
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Pasha’s endowments to Murad Buhéari Tekkesi must be remembered.!® During his
first term, in 1753, he added the complex of Murad Buhari Tekkesi, a free-standing
building for the observance of self-inspection (muraqaba), extended and renovated
the mosque of the complex, and added four rooms to the complex for dervishes. 60
Considering these endowments, we can may readily conclude that Kose Mustafa
Pasha favored and promoted the Nagshbandiyya, the order to which he adhered, by

taking the advantage of his position as the grand vizier.

2.3.4 Eyiip: A Center of Attraction for Nagshbandis

Following the conquest of Istanbul, not only the intramural but also extramural site
of the conquered city enjoyed a set of construction projects under its conquerors
aiming with the intention of restoring the city to its former splendor and majesty
through rejuvenations, renovations, and reconstructions. As discussed by Cigdem
Kafesgioglu, it was in this context that the grave of Abu Ayyub al-Ansari (d. 669),
the companion of the prophet and the then eponym of the small town of Eyiip, was
discovered, and “the subsequent construction of a mausoleum and mosque complex
there articulated a spatial and temporal distance to the sacred sites of the former
rule” that concentrated at the intramural site of the city.'%! As explained by Suraiya
Faroqghi, “Eyiip was a small town, functionally dependent upon Istanbul, a major
pilgrimage center and the site of large cemetaries. But from an administrative
point of view, it was the center of an independent district, the Haslar kazasi, which
included all of Istanbul’s Rumelian hinterland, from Biiyiik Cekmece in the south

h 1162

to Arnavudkoyt on the Bosphorus in the nort For the purposes of the current

research, however, the main area of interest is not the entire administrative district

Mahzen lodge see Sagir, “Sadrazam Koése Mustafa Paga’nin Vakif Eserleri,” Vakiflar Dergisi 40 (2013): 57,
59, 63-64, and 78. See also footnote 84 above. For the firman recognizing the appointment of Seyh
Muhammad Muradi to the lodges of Mustafd Pasha and Kursunlu Mahzen, see BOA, C.MF. 56/2758/1.

159For a comparative analysis on Mustafd Pasha’s endowments for the lodges of Mustafd Pasa and Emir

Buhari see Serpil Ozcan, “Toplumsal ve Mekansal Konumuyla Otakciyan Mustafa Pasa Tekkesi,” Kadim
5 (2023): 161-167.

160y ysuf Sagir, “Sadrazam Koése Mustafa Paga’nin Vakif Eserleri,” 57, 79-80. It is understood from a signifi-

cant petition dated 15 November 1752 that the mescid of Murdd Buhari Tekkesi was extended and turned
into a mosque due to the need for a mosque for Friday prayer in the vicinity of the tekke. “Merhum el-Seyh
Murad Efendi Tekyesi mescidiniifi cami® olmaga salahiyyeti olup kurb u civarinda eda-y1 salat-1 Cum®a
olunur cami®i gerif olmadigindan etraf u civarinda sakin ehali ve tekyede mevcud fukara eyyam-1 siddet-i
sitada Cusret gekmeleriyle” BOA, AE.SMHD.I. 264/21374/2.

161Qi§dem Kafescioglu, Constantinopolis / Istanbul: Cultural Encounter, Imperial Vision, and the Con-

struction of the Ottoman Capital, (University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press, 2009): 45. For
Kafescioglu’s discussion on the project in question, see ibid, 45-51. See also Feray Cogkun, “Sanctifying
Ottoman Istanbul: The Shrine of Abu Ayyub al-Ansar1,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Freie Universitiat Berlin,
2015).

1625yraiya Faroqhi, “Migration into Eighteenth-Century ‘Greater Istanbul’ as reflected in the Kadi Registers

of Eytip,” Turcica 30 (1998): 166.
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of Eyiip, but rather a relatively small piece of land that slopes down from Edirnekapi
toward the Golden Horn, with the particular importance of Otakgilar and Nisanca
neighborhoods and the valley where the tomb and mosque of Ayyub al-Ansari are
located.'% It was in and around this zone that thanks to patronage of the Ottoman
sultans and grandies of the empire in repopulations and migrations, the growth and
expansion of the town over the centuries reached a point that, towards the middle of
the 17th century, Evliya Celebi felt to stated that there was no free space between
the walls of Istanbul and Eyiip.'64

My claim at this point is that the expansion of the Nagshbandi tekkes in Eyiip can
be understood within this historical context. As is seen in Table 2.5 and Table
2.6, eight out of twenty-five (32%) Nagshbandi tekkes built in Istanbul from the
mid-15th century to the late 18th century were founded in Eyiip alone. The ratio
becomes even more striking given that Eyiip encompassed 6 of 16 (37.5%) newly
constructed Nagshbandi lodges in the 18th century. Moreover, given that even the
Khalwati order, which continuously dominated the intra muros Istanbul since the
very beginning of the 16th century had only three newly built tekkes in Eyiip in
the 18th century, the significance of the twice as many lodges of the Nagshbandis
is understood better. In addition, for discerning the exceptional place of Eyiip for
Nagshbandis, one must consider that in the 18th century, the number of the new
tekkes erected for the Nagshbandi seyhs was only two in Galata, four in Uskiidar,
and four in the walled city. Nevertheless, as can be inferred from Table 2.6, the
Nagshbandi dominance in Eyiip, at least in terms of the tekkes, might not have
been a phenomenon before the 18th century. Such a finding seems crucial because
an unrivaled preeminence of the Nagshbandiyya in Eyiip in the second half of the
19th century may lead the historian to an anachronistic explanation that the order

165 However, as mentioned

had always been in a preponderant position in the town.
above and as seen in Table 2.5, the earliest two lodges built within the borders of
Eyiip were Emir Bukhari in Edirnekapr and Baba Haydar in Nisanca, and both
were erected during the first half of the 16th century. For the construction of the

third Nagshbandi lodge in the town, one had to wait until 1715, the year that a

163 The significance of Otakg¢ilar and Niganca neigborhoods for Nagshbandis is also emphasized by Davud
Ibrahimli in his MA Thesis on the cultural influences of tekkes in the 19th century Istanbul. See “Istanbul
Tekkelerinin Kiiltiirel Hayata Etkileri (Ozbek Tekkeleri Orneginde),” Unpublished MA Thesis (Istanbul
Universitesi 2022): 58-60.

164 For Evliya Celebi’s statement I depend on Tiilay Artan, “Eytip,” TDVIA, vol. 12, 2. For more on historical
development of Eyiip under the Ottoman rule see ibid, 1-6. For an incomplete list of Ottoman monuments
built within the borders of Eyilip see Mehmet Nermi Haskan, Eyip Tarihi, vols. I-11, (1stanbu1: Tiirk Turing
Turizm Isletmeciligi Vakfi Yayinlari, 1993). See also Halil Inalcik, “Istanbul,” EI2, vol. IV, (Leiden: Brill,
1997): 224-248, and “Istanbul: Tiirk Devri,” TDVIA, vol. 23, (Istanbul: TDV, 2001): 220-239.

165For an example of such an approach see Davud Ibrahimli, “Istanbul Tekkelerinin Kiiltiirel Hayata Etkileri,”
57-62.
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tekke was formed for Seyh Murad Bukhari by Daméadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi.
Yet, the existing documentation demonstrates that, in terms of social functions, the
Edirnekap1 tekke might differ to a certain extent from the remaining lodges built in
Eyiip. Therefore, in what follows, an idiosyncratic function of the tekke in question
will be brought to the table.

Intramural Eyiip Galata Uskiidar
Order 15-16. | 17. | 18. | 15-16. | 17. | 18. | 15-16. | 17. | 18. | 15-16. | 17. .
Nagshbandi | 5 1 4 2 0 6 0 0 2 0 1 4
Khalwati 28 9 16 | 6 1 3 8 3 3 4 2 6
Qadiri 0 1 7 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0
Bayrami 4 1 1 0 2 0 2 2 0 1 4 2
Mevlevi 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1

Table 2.6 Newly established tekkes in Istanbul and its vicinity

2.3.4.1 Edirnekapi1 Emir Bukhari Tekkesi as the center of gravediggers

According to a decree issued on 14 September 1726/17 Muharram 1139, Ali b. Misa,
a resident (tekye-nigin) of the Edirnekapt Emir Bukhari lodge, was appointed as the
supervisor (nazwr) of the lodges of gravediggers (mezarci tekyeleri) located outsides
at the city gates such as Egrikapi, Edirnekapi, Topkapisi, Silivrikapisi, and Yedikule.
It is understood from the content of the said decree that it was issued upon the
complaints that the incumbent residents of the lodges in question had not properly
dug graves for the dead of Muslims.'®® The decree proves in the first place that in the
first quarter of the 18th century, at least five lodges had already been constructed for
the gravediggers at the gates on the land walls of Istanbul.!67 Secondly, and perhaps
most importantly, it affirms that the lodges in question had come under the control
of the Nagshbandis. Was there any connection between the lodges of gravediggers
and the Sufi lodges in general, and Edirnekap:r Emir Bukhari lodge in particular?
What was the meaning of having a Sufi tekke built in and around the gates of the
city walls? It has been stated once that lodges had been built for gravediggers
within the borders of Eyiip at an early date, probably following the conquest of the

166 fstanbul Kadu Sicilleri: Istanbul Mahkemesi 24 Numaral Sicil (H. 1138-1151 / M. 1726-1738), ed. Cogkun

Yilmaz, (Istanbul: ISAM, 2010): 41. The document has utilized by Selma Kusu in her dissertation on the
social and economic life in Eyiip in the first quarter of the 18th century. See Selma Kusu, “XVIIIL. Yiizyilin

Ik Ceyreginde Eyiip’te Sosyal ve Ekonomik Hayat,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Trakya Universitesi 2019):
169-170.

167Gelma Kusu, ibid, 169.
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city.1%8 The relationship between the gravediggers and Sufi brotherhoods, however,
is among topics looking for further studies. Nonetheless, I intend in this subsection
to point out possible interrelationships between the lodges of gravediggers and Sufi

orders in Istanbul.

As to the gravedigger lodges situated outside the Edirnekapi gate, the Ottoman
traveler, Evliya Celebi, gives witness only to a certain tekke formed for gravediggers
(gur kazanlar) and tomb keepers (tirbedarlar). While remaining silent about the
formers, he explains that the tomb keepers had been responsible since the reign of
Mehmed IT for keeping annually an account of the names of notables and grandees
(a®yan u kibar) buried there. The main reason behind such a tradition, goes Evliya,
is sporadic disputes over the borders of the graves which necessitates checking with
the registers (sicillat). Evliya Celebi pretentiously likens the registers to his Seyahat-
name, defines them as marvelous chronicles of the dead (‘acayib tevarih-i mevta)
and a sign from the day of judgement (kiyametden bir nisan), and maintains that
enrolling all the dead in this way is such an unprecedented manner that exists
nowhere.'% Evliya Celebi’s testimony says nothing about would-be relations and co-
operations between the gravediggers and Sufis. Nor does he clarifies clarify whether
the names of ordinary people had been recorded in the registers. Despite such short-
comings, his sentences are noteworthy for proving the existence of gravedigger lodges
in the 17th century.

When it comes to the contact between the Sufi and gravedigger lodges, current
documentation indicates that it was at least since the 16th century that the two
sides developed close connections with each another. For instance, a court record
dated 29 December 1585/7 Muharram 994 makes it clear that el-Hac Mehmed b.
Ali, the seyh of Sar1 Agik lodge in Eyiip, alongside of being the head of the said tekke,
was himself a gravestone dealer and the boss of gravediggers.!”™® Another record,
dating from the second decade of March 1586 mentions that a certain Hiiseyin Dede
endowed his house on the condition that it should serve as a convent for the poor
and gravediggers.!™ As can be understood from their titles (i.e. seyh and dede)
in both cases, the overseers of the aforementioned lodges were themselves mystics

and their disciples residing in the said convents were supposed not only to complete

168K ysu, ibid, 169.

169Evliyé, Celebi b. Dervis Muhammed Zilli, Evliya Celebi Seyahatndmesi: Topkapr Saray: Bagdat 304

Yazmasiman Transkripsiyonu — Dizini, prepared by Orhan Saik Gokyay, vol. 1, (istanbul: YKY, 1996):
154.

170 fstanbul Kady Sicilleri Eyiip Mahkemesi 3 Numaral, Sicil (H. 998-995/M. 1585-1587), ed. Cogkun Yilmaz,

(fstanbul: Tsam, 2011): 55.

Y71 fstanbul Kada Sicilleri Eyiip Mahkemesi 8 Numaraly Sicil, 174-175; and Kusu, ibid, 169.
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their Sufistic education but also to serve as gravediggers in the nearby graveyards.
The affiliation of masters, however, is indefinite. A third court record dated again
March 1586, evidently refers to a Sufi gravedigger, i.e. Dervig Mehmed b. Mehmed,
who served in the cemetery neighboring the Tokmak Dede convent.!™ Given the
unambiguous identification in this record, one can readily concludes that Dervis
Mehmed was one of the morticians dwelling in Tokmak Dede, a tekke located at
outside Egrikap1 gate.!™ Another court record dated 14 November 1749/3 Dhrl-
hijja 1662 reveals that more than a century and a half later the Tokmak Dede lodge
was still a functioning shelter for Sufi gravediggers. This time, however, the tekke-
residing seyh (zaviyedar ve tekke-nisin) Ahmed was ordered not to meddle in the
task of Seyyid Mehmed, the gravedigger in charge, which is a clear indication that
the seyh of Tokmak Dede lodge had did not have a firm control over all gravediggers
affiliated with his tekke.!™ A second court record from 1749 denotes a gravedigger
lodge located at outside the Yenikapi Mevlevihanesi, the existence of which has
already been mentioned by the decree issued on 14 September 1726.17 Given the
proximity and adjacency between the two tekkes, we may speculate that, except for
certain periods, the gravediggers of the lodge were under the command and tutelage

of the seyhs of the Yenikap1 Mevlevihanesi.

From what has been written so far it is understood that the common ground of
Sufi and gravedigger lodges founded outside the land walls of Istanbul might have
been shaped by intertwined relationships and cooperations. Such an inference, as is
argued, hinges upon the assertion that gravedigger lodges, in their localities, were
under the command and control of the immediate Sufi lodges regardless of the latter’s
affiliations. The only exception, as has been unveiled above, came about as a result of
the decree of 1726, which brought the gravedigger lodges located at the five gates of
the city under the supervision of the Nagshbandi Emir Bukhari lodge in Edirnekapi.
What might be, then, the main reasons allowing short-lived authority of the Emir
Bukhari lodge over gravedigger lodges? The geospatial location of the lodge, we may
claim, was one of the reasons facilitating its surveillance over gravediggers. This is
to say that the commanding ground of the Emir Bukhari lodge standing near the
summit of the highest hill of Istanbul, monitoring the slopes going down to the

Golden Horne and Marmara Sea, had to provide a central position. The second and

172 fstanbul Kadu Sicilleri Eyiip Mahkemesi 8 Numaraly Sicil, 187.

17314 is also known as Yavedid Tekkesi. For more on the tekke, see Baha Tanman, “Yavedid Tekkesi,”

TDVIA, vol. 43, (Istanbul: TDV, 2013): 349-350.

174 fstanbul Kady Sicilleri Eyiip Mahkemesi 182 Numaral Sicil (H. 1154-1161/M. 1741-1748), ed. Coskun

Yilmaz, (Istanbul: Kiiltiir A.S, 2019): 536.

175The exact date of the record is 28 October 1749 [16 Zi°l-kacde 1162]. See Istanbul Kady Sicilleri Eyiip

Mahkemesi 182 Numarali Sicil, 546.
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more important reason, might be the prestige and esteemed position of the lodge
among not only the gravediggers but also integral artisans such as stonemasons;
there are indications that at least two craftsmen of stonemasonry or their first-
degree relatives were able to become the seyh of the Edirnekapir Emir Bukhari lodge
during the 17th century. As seen in Table 2.2 above, Taggizdde Mehmed Efendi, the
sixth incumbent, and his son Mustafd Efendi, successively became the post-nishin
of the lodge in question.!”™® The title of the former betokens that he was the son
of a stonemason. Depending on this fact, we may think that he and his son, too,
crafted the stonemasonry. If this is the case, we can conclude that they underwent
a period of training and practice in the lodge where gravediggers and stonemasons
dwelled together, and since they were next to the Nagshbandi lodge, they were able
to attend lessons of the occupant seyh, who would subsequently incorporate them

into the Nagshbandi circles.

2.4 The Eighteenth-Century: A Period of Resurgence for Sufi Orders in
Istanbul?

Had the radical increase in the number of the Nagshbandi lodges in the 18th cen-
tury been a phenomenon for other Sufi orders as well, or was it incidental only to
for the Nagshbandiyya? In response to this question, figures in the Table 2.7 make
it clear that, compared with the 17th century, three out of five firmly established
Sufi brotherhoods enjoyed in the 18th century a growth in convent numbers. There-
fore, we may claim that it was, in one respect, against this background that the
spread of the Nagshbandi tekkes happened. Be that as it may, it is obvious that
the expansion of the Nagshbandi, Khalwati, and Qadiri circles had its idiosyncratic
explanations since the dissemination of each had not rested on similar historical
conditions and opportunities. In other words, while the 18th century Khalwati
advancement owes much to the deep-rooted and widespread tekke networks formed

177

particularly in previous centuries,” '’ it was essentially in this century that a blast an

176Dye to the silence of our sources, we know almost nothing about the details of their biographies. A certain
Tasgizdde Mehmed Celebi b. Ramazan who occurred as the deputy of the then qadi of Nigholu Abdiilfettah
b. Veli in a court record dated 14 December 1637 [26 Rajab 1047] might be none other than Taggizade

Mehmed Efendi, the incumbent seyh of Edirnekap: lodge. For the record, see Istanbul Kade Sicilleri Eyiip
Mahkemesi 87 Numaral Sicil (H. 1047/M. 1637-1638), ed. Coskun Yilmaz, (Istanbul: Isam, 2011): 158.

177 he predominance of the Khalwati order in terms of its tekkes and seyhs before the 19th century is
an established fact. For ascertain the number of Khalwati tekkes in the 16th century Istanbul, I am

resting against Ayse Bolilkkbag’s PhD Dissertation. See Ayse Bolikbagi, “XVI. Yiizyilda Istanbul’daki
Halveti Tekkeleri,” Unpublished PhD Diss. (istanbul Teknik Universitesi, 2015), and “XVI. Yiizyilda
Istanbul’daki Halveti Tekkelerinde Mekénsal Isleyis: Tekkelerin Mensup Olduklar: Kiilliye Icindeki Diger
Birimlerle Tligkileri,” Bilecik Seyh Edebali Universitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitisii Dergisi 3/1 (2018): 214-
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exponential growth occurred in the number of the Nagshbandi and Qadiri lodges.
Yet, unlike the Nagshbandi order, which hadwith its roots in the late 15th- and
early 16th- century Istanbul, the Qadiri order was relatively new in the city, for its
earliest formation came into existence in the 17th century when Kadirthane Tekkesi
or Kadiriler Asitdnesi was put into service in 1630 and when Kubbe Tekkesi was
built towards the end of the century.!™ With the then lodges built during the 18th
century, however, the Qadiri order would be well visible in the city.!™ Contrary to
the three orders which were reinforced by the introduction of new tekkes in the 18th
century, it was in the previous century that an explosion was witnessed in the num-
ber of Bayrami tekkes. Such development was particularly because of the Celveti
branch of Bayramiyya which was formed by Aziz Mahmtd Hudai (d. 1628), whose
disciples established five lodges in Uskiidar.!®Y As to the Mevlevi order, however, a
significant break is not observable in the number of their tekkes. In fact, an absolute
dependence on the number of tekkes can be misleading in the Mevlevi case given
that their influence had been mostly due to the efforts of dede families who nurtured

dozens of masters throughout the 17th and 18th centuries.'®!

Table 2.7 Number of tekkes belonging to most common Sufi orders in Istanbul

Centuries Founded by

Seyhs Officials
Order 15-16. | 17. | 18. | Total | 15-16. | 17-18. | 15-16. | 17-18.
Nagsbandi | 7 2 16 | 25 2 7 5 11
Khalwati | 46 15 128 |90 10 29 36 11
Qadiri 0 2 10 | 12 0 12 0 0
Bayrami 7 9 3 19 3 9 4 3
Mevlevi 2 2 1 5 0 0 2 3

239. For the newly established Khalwati lodges in the 17th and 18th centuries, I depend on Ramazan
Muslu, Osmanly Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 18. Yiizyil,63-228.

178On Kadirihane see Baha Tanman, “Kadirihane Tekkesi” TDVIA, vol. 24, (Istanbul: TDV, 2001): 129-131;
Muslu, ibid, 398-400. On Kubbe Tekkesi, see Muslu, ibid, 400-401.

79%0r the Qadiri lodges built in the 17th and 18th centuries see, Ramazan Muslu, ibid, 373-426.

1800n the biography of Hiidai see, Hasan Kamil Yilmaz, “Aziz Mahmud Hiidayi,” TDVIA, vol. 4, 338-
340. Although Ramazan Muslu inclines to identify Celvetiyye as an independent Sufi order, I prefer
Resat Ongoren’s approach when locating Celvetiyye under Bayramiyya. I depend of the following stud-
ies when revealing the number of Bayrami tekkes per year. Ramazan Muslu, ibid, 427-492 and 507-528;
Resat Ongoren, “Istanbul’da Tasavvufi Hayat,” 275-286; Mehmed Akif Koseoglu, “Istanbul’da Bayrami
Seyhlerinin Postnigin Oldugu Tekkeler ve Giiniimiizdeki Durumlari,” Uluslararasi Hact Bayram-1 Veli Sem-
pozyumu Bildiriler Kitaby 1, ed. Ahmet Cahid Haksever, (Ankara: Aml Matbaacilik, 2016): 429-470.

181 Ramazan Muslu records in this regard the names of Mevlevi dedes such as Siri Abdi (d. 1631), Mehmed
Memis (d. 1723), Gavsi Ahmed (d. 1697), Ebtbekir (d. 1775), Safi Mustafa (d. 1744), Ahmed (d. 1771),
and Mevlanazdde Mehmed (d. 1796). See ibid, 318-345. For more on the Mevlevi lodges in Istanbul, see
ibid 355-372.
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2.5 Conclusion

In this chapter I have focused on the Nagshbandi lodges established in Istanbul
particularly in the 17th and 18th centuries. In accordance with this purpose, I have
attempted to classify Nagshbandi tekkes as “first-wave” and “second-wave.” While
the former category includes convents erected in the second half of the 15th century
and the first half of the 16th, the second category involves the lodges built during
a period stretching from the late 17th century to the late 18th century. As a result

of such a concentration, my findings have been what lies ahead.

First, I have attempted to contribute to the literature on the first-wave lodges first
by bringing to the attention neglected primary sources to clarify uncertainties as
much as possible. My concentration, in this regard, has been on the seyhs of the
Fatih Emir Bukhari lodge established by the celebrated Ahrari-Nagshbandi master,
Emir Ahmed Bukhari, ¢. 1500 and maintained its pivotal position among Istanbu-
lite Nagshbandis for centuries. Since the tekke has been identified with the family
and descendants of Khwaja Ahmed Sadik Tagkendi, I have considered it a duty to
show that before and even after his incumbency Nagshbandi seyhs originating from
the Ottoman realms controlled the post of the tekke approximately from 1516 to
1585, and from 1586 to 1593. What is striking in the biography of the Ottoman
masters served in this lodge is that they were either seyyid or in the networks of
seyyids. Moreover, it seems likely that a rather close relationship emerged between
the Nagshbandi and Khalwati orders during the period, when the latter dominated

the scene in the Ottoman capital.

Second, I have aimed to demonstrate that the role of the patrons or philanthropist
builders cannot be disregarded in the erection of the convents during the period
under scrutiny. The benefactors of the five of seven first-wave lodges were sultans
(Mehmed II, Béayezid II, Stleymén I) or the grand vizier (Riistem Pasha), and in
only two cases was the builder the seyh himself. However, out of eighteen second-
wave tekkes, seyhs had directly involvement in the construction of seven lodges.
The remaining eleven tekkes were charities of high-ranking officials and scholar-
bureaucrats. A comparison between Nagshbandi, Khalwati, and Qadiri lodges seems
crucial in this regard. During the 15th and 16th centuries, the period in which first-
wave tekkes of the Nagshbandiyya occurred, except for ten of forty-six, all Khalwati
lodges were eagerly sponsored by the grandis of the empire. During the 17th and
18th centuries, however, of the newly constructed forty lodges, only eleven were
backed by statesmen. In the case of the Qadiri lodges, it seems that none of them

received assistance from officials. Given the statistics, one can conclude that the
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Nagshbandiyya had already replaced Khalwatiyya in the 18th century in terms of

receiving financial support from high-ranking officials.

Third, it so happens that Eyiip became a center of attraction for Nagshbandis
particularly in the 18th century. The construction in Eyiip of six convents puts
Nagshbandiyya ahead of other Sufi brotherhoods in the district. This reality owes
its explanation in the first place to all six patrons who aspired to set up lodges for the
Nagshbandi geyhs on the parceled lands. One may further claim that Nagshbandis
had a special interest for the town because of the venerated atmosphere provided
by the tomb of Abu Ayyub al-Ansari. If so, one must question the reasons behind
the relative weakness of other orders in and around the town. Moreover this chapter
sheds light on the fact that gravedigger lodges within the borders of Eytip officially
came under the supervision of the Nagshbandi Emir Bukhari lodge in Edirnekap1 in
the 18th century. What is more remarkable in this regard is that, in the 17th century,
at least two seyhs of the Edirnekapi lodge were affiliated with the gravedigger lodges.

Fourth, the lodges built to serve seyhs and dervishes of Central and South Asian
origin have been the matter of discussion in the current chapter. Depending on
existing literature, the chapter has approved that the six tekkes established in Eytip
and Uskiidar were reserved for the benefit and well-being of the pilgrims, merchants,
wanderers and itinerant dervishes from abroad. In this context, the idiosyncratic
condition of the Nagshibandi galandaris and Nagshbandi-style celibacy tradition,
too, have been canvassed in this chapter. Following in the footsteps of Thierry
Zarcone and Ekrem Igin, it has been asserted that a Nagshbandi influenced Qa-
landarism based on the pillar of celibacy might transform into a moderate stage in
Istanbul. The main reasons leading such a claim are supposed state control over the
Sufi lodges and rich sources of revenues stipulated by the founders for the dwellers-
to-be of the founded tekkes.

Fifth, the chapter has discussed that Mujaddidi seyhs and patrons took active roles
in the dissemination of the Nagshbandi tekkes in Istanbul. Particular attention, in
this context, deserves to be directed to the lodges built for the benefit of wander-
ing dervishes. My contribution is that the direct role and posthumous influence
of both Seyh Murdd Bukhéri and Yekdest Ahmad Juryani had motivated Naqgsh-
bandi patrons in building lodges for the poor and celibate outsiders. In order to
prove the relationship between Seyh Murad Bukhérl and the founders of tekkes, I
have considered the letters exchanged between Murdd Buhkari and Isma‘il Efendi
(Buhara Tekkesi), Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi (Muradd Buhéri Tekkesi) and La‘lizdde
Abdilbaki Efendi (Kalenderhane Tekkesi), and speculated on the possible influence
of the seyh on Daméadzadde Mehmed Murdd Molla (Murdd Molld Tekkesi), Abdul-
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lah Pasha (Ozbekler Tekkesi) and Kose Mustafd Pasha (Mustafa Pasha Tekkesi).
In addition, I have pointed out direct links and posthumous influence of Seyh Ah-
mad Juryani on Neccarzade Mustafd (Neccarzdde Tekkesi), Seyhiilislam Mustafa
(Seyhiilislam Tekkesi), Yekgesm Ahmed Murtaza (Kéaggari Tekkesi). Lastly, I have
revealed in this context that the disciples of Murad Bukhari and Ahmad Juryani
were lucky enough to be assigned to first-wave lodges in the late 17th and 18th

centuries respectively in Hekim Celebi and Ayvansaray Emir Bukhari lodges.

Finally, I have argued that eighteenth-century expansion of Nagshbandi lodges may
also be understood from a holistic point of view. That the number of Nagshbandi,
Khalwati, and Qadiri tekkes increased in the 18th century compared to the 17th
century, indisputably testifies that prominent Sufi brotherhoods enjoyed growth in
their network of influence in the period in question. Possible reasons behind such an
augmentation, however, have not been discussed in the chapter since it goes beyond

its scope, claims and intentions.
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3. A FRESH BLOOD: SEYH MURAD BUKHARI AND PENETRATING
HIGH-RANKING OFFICIALS THROUGH THE EPISTOLARY
EXCHANGE

3.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with Seyh Murdd Bukhéri (d. 1720), fresh blood in the history
of the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul. Based on Seyh Murad’s neglected 275 Ara-
bic letters of varying lengths, I will attempt to analyze the politics of Nagshbandi
networking in the case of social, political, and Sufistic networks that came into ex-
istence between SJeyh Murad and his disciples during a forty-year period covering
the last vicennium of the 17th and first fifth of the 18th centuries. Thus, first, I will
question whether a “Nagshbandi Republic of Letters” occurred during the period.
Then, seeking explanations for the reasons behind Murad Bukhari’s success and the
exchange of letters between him and his disciples, I claim that Seyh Murad’s corre-
spondence served at least three purposes. Firstly, through the circulation of letters,
Seyh Murad was able to spread among his followers his reformulated teachings and
theories which resulted in an attempt to form a “Muradi” branch of the Naqsh-
bandiyya. Secondly, it was because of the letters rather than ad hoc discourses
he managed to transmit his order to high-ranking officials and scholar-bureaucrats.
Thirdly, correspondences enabled Seyh Murad to stand over his disciples, to keep
their interest and spirit alive, to meet their needs and promote them in state ad-
ministration. Before conducting such an analysis, however, I would like to draw
attention to new biographic information that has emerged through new primary

sources including the letters.
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3.2 Seyh Murad Bukhari in Ottoman Lands: New Findings

Although a newcomer in the cosmopolitan atmosphere of the Ottoman capital, Seyh
Murad appeared to immediately catch the eye of city dwellers, including a signif-
icant number of officials and scholars. Such an honoring, following his death in
1720, resulted in relatively longer and detailed biographic entries in Turkish and

182" By utilizing these entries, the biography of Seyh Murad has

later in Arabic.
been repeated with small contributions in a few studies as follows.!®3 The story of
Seyh Murad begins in Samarqand in 1640 when he was born into a highly esteemed
naqib al-ashraf family. After completing his initial education in his hometown, he
went to India, where he met Muhammad Ma‘stim, the son of Ahmad al-Sirhind1
(d. 1624) and his master in the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi order. Accompanying his
preceptor, he went on the pilgrimage to Mecca, where he sojourned for three years.
Then he embarked on a long-distance voyage during which his main destinations
were Baghdad, Isfahan, Balkh, and Samarqand. The most distinguishing feature
of this journey was that he had the chance to visit Safavid cities, where he met
Persian Shiite scholars, including celebrated poet, Sdib Tabrizi (d. 1676), to whom

184 Soon afterward, for performing his sec-

he presented a selection of his poems.
ond pilgrimage, he went to Mecca through Baghdad, and after completing his holy
deed stopping by Cairo he headed for Damascus. In Damascus, he arrived around
1670, married and established residence. In 1092/1681, upon an invitation, Jeyh
Murad went to Istanbul, where he stayed for five years. It was during this period
that prominent members of ulema and high-ranking officials adhered to him. In
1097/1686, we see Seyh Murad on his way to Damascus from where he would em-
bark for his third hajj. What differentiates this pilgrimage from the previous ones

is that Seyh Murad, rather than accompanying the official hajj caravan, travelled

1823eyhi Mehmed, Vekayiu’l-Fudald, vol. IV, 673-675 and Vekdyi‘u’l-Fuzald, prepared by Ramazan Ekinci,
vol. 4, 3272-3275; Muhammad Khalil b. ‘Ali al-Muradi, Silk al-Durar fr A¢yan al-Qarn al-Thani ¢Ashar,
vol. IV, ed. Dara b. Hazm, (Beirut: Daru®l-Basha’iri’l-Islamiyya, 1988): 129-131; Ruhsar Zibeyiroglu,

“Mecmi‘ati’t-Teracim: Mehmed Tevfik Efendi,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (1stanbul Universitesi, 1989):
239-240.

183Karl K. Barbir, “All in the family: The Muradis of Damascus,” in Proceedings: Illrd Congress on the
Social and Economic History of Turkey, ed. Heath Lowry and Ralph Hattox, (Istanbul: ISIS, 1990):
330-334; Simsek, 18. Yiizyrl Osmanli Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miiceddidilik, 87-109, and “Murad Buhari,”
TDVIA, vol. 31, 185-187; Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-
Mujaddidi Order in Istanbul.” 6-15; Mehmet Sakir Yilmaz, “Sufi brotherhood beyond boundaries: Murad
al-Bukari’s (1640-1720) travels and residence in Istanbul,” 23rd CIEPO Symposium 11-15 September 2018,
Sofia, Bulgaria. This text of the presentation is published online. See https://openaccess.ihu.edu.tr/xmlui/
bitstream/handle/20.500.12154 /819 /yilmaz2018.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (accessed 2.09.2023).

84T his detail is recorded in Silk al-Durar, 129. It is worth of recalling that Saib Tabrizi himself was a
traveller seeking for patronage in Mughal India. The fruit of his eight-year presence at Mughal court
was sabk-i Hindi, a novelty firstly in the classical Persian and then in the Ottoman poetry through the
imitation of Indian style unusual and unexpected metaphors and images. See Paul Losensky, “Sa’eb
Tabrizi,” Encyclopaedia Iranica, https://www.iranicaonline.org/articles/saeb-tabrizi (accessed 2.09.2023).
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to Hijaz with his own retinue by traversing Arab tribes. Spending a year there,
Seyh Murad went back to Damascus where he would stay until the enthronement
of Mustafa II (s. 1695-1703). Receiving an invitation from Feyzulldh Efendi (d.
1703), the then seyhiilislam and the tutor of the new sultan, in 1696, Seyh Murad
travelled for the second time to Istanbul where he would stay for a short while.'8
In terms of its results, however, the trip was extremely fruitful since “Mustafa II
granted him several villages in the vicinity of Damascus as malikane,” and “enabled
him to establish two Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi zawiyas”'®0 Financially at ease, from
then on Seyh Murad enjoyed another decade in Damascus, which came to an end
with his fourth visit to Mecca in 1119/1707. Right after the pilgrimage, he made his
third visit to Istanbul in 1120/1708 with the intention to permanently stay there.
However, because of suspicion on the part of the grand vizier, Corlulu Ali Pasha (v.
1706-1710), on the pretext that Seyh Murad wishes for another pilgrimage, he was
forced to hastily leave the capital city on 28 May 1709 accompanied by the imperial
navy under Chief Admiral, Ibrahim Pasha.!'®” But following a stopover in Chios,
kapudan pasha allowed him to disembark in Alaiye (Alanya) from where he went to
Bursa by way of Konya and Kiitahya. In August 1717, he travelled to Istanbul for
the fourth time, and passed away on 12 Rabi® al-Akhir 1132/22 February 1720.

The life story of Seyh Murad Bukhari summarized above is marked by his travels.
Indeed, such a predisposition on the part of the Nagshbandi masters was not un-
conventional in the tradition of the order. On the contrary, traveling was one of the
eight substantial principles formulated by Abd al-Khéliq Ghijduwani (d. 1202), the
initial founding figure preceding Muhammad Bah4 al-Din al-Nagshband (d. 1389),
the eponym of the order. As has been emphasized by Hamid Algar, “in its terres-
trial as well as spiritual aspects .. ‘travel within the homeland’ (safar dar watan)”
was “a distinctive and normative rule for his [i.e., Ghijduwéni]| followers.” When
it comes to terrestrial travel, we learn from Algar’s paraphrase from Fakhr al-Din
Ali Saft Késhifi (d. 1532), the Persian Nagshbandi Sufi who wrote Rashahat-i ‘Ayn
al-Hayat on the early history of the order, that “the elders of the path have followed
different choices in this respect: some have begun by travelling, then chosen to stay
in one place; some have begun by remaining in one place and later started to travel;
others have abstained from travel throughout; and yet others have travelled unceas-

ingly throughout their spiritual careers. All of their choices were in principle valid,

185 According to Mehmed Tevfik, the second journey to Istanbul took place in 1101 /1689-90. See Ruhsar
Zibeyiroglu, ibid, 239.

186 Ahu-Manneh, ibid, 11.

187 Ahu-Manneh is mistaken when he states “Apparently this took place in the fall of 1709”. See Ibid, 14. In
fact, this was the arrival of the navy from its expedition. See Tarih-i Rdsid ve Zeyli, vol. 11, 812 and 823.
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conditional only on the forming of a sound intention and correct purpose.”'®8

Seyh Murad was among those who unceasingly travelled. Yet, during his fifty-
odd years in the Ottoman realms his travels seem to have been arranged to have
sojourns in three central cities, Damascus, Bursa, and Istanbul, where his family
members and disciples with high ranks lived. Owing to rigorous biographic entries
written by Seyhi Mehmed and Muhammad Khalil Muradi, in addition to his four
travels to Mecca and Istanbul, we know that he visited the prominent cities of the
Muslim world mentioned above. Yet, new research and understudied primary sources
bring our attention to new details regarding Seyh Murad’s biography, specifically
his travels. His summarized biography in the literature portrays a figure rejoicing
in journeys to well-known cities where he stayed for a given period. Our sources, on
the other hand, show that his travel network within the Ottoman realms was much
wider and could not be confined to cities such as Mecca, Medina, Baghdad, Cairo,
Damascus, Konya, Istanbul, and Bursa. Furthermore, it comes to light that when
Seyh Murad embarked a journey, instead of a well-planned peregrination ending
in the target destination in a short span of time, he amusedly travelled with his
retinue, stopped by the villages, towns and cities located on his route, and spent
days, weeks, and months in locations where he was unexpectedly invited. In some
cases, Jeyh Murad left Damascus because of worrisome situations harming his inner
peace. For instance, when the governor of Damascus Ismail Pasha severely overcame
the conflicts regarding the sharifate of Mecca in 1694, he settled in Aleppo for a
while.!®  Furthermore, until recently, it has been supposed that he had been in
Damascus at the beginning of the 18th century. But as has been proved by Yasar
Sarikaya, he was in Tarsus at least in 1702. According to an #jazat-nama he gave
to Seyh Mustafd b. Osméan (d. 1734), the father of Ebti Said el-Hadimi (d. 1762)
of Konya, Seyh Murad had been in Tarsus in that year.'%0 Given that he was
identified as “Shaykh Murad al-Nagshbandi al-Tarsisi” in the license in question,
one can assert that his sojourn in and around Tarsus was long enough that “Tarsiisi”
as an epithet was ascribed to him. A short epistle dispatched from Seyh Murad to
his son Muhammad, further clarifies that the seyh had been in Hama in 1119/1707,

191

likely during his third expedition from Damascus to Istanbul.””* Lastly, given that

188 Hamid Algar, “Tarigat and Tariq: Central Asian Naqshbandis on the Roads to the Haramayn,” in Central

Asian Pilgrims: Hajj Routes and Pious Visits between Central Asia and the Hijaz, eds. Alexandre Papas,
Thomas Welsford, and Thierry Zarcone, (Berlin: Klaus Schwarz Verlag, 2012): 25-26.

189N\ ehmet S. Yilmaz, “Sufi brotherhood beyond boundaries,” 2-3. Yilmaz depends on Khalil Muradi, the

great grandson of Seyh, in this anecdote, but he does not refer any of his texts.

190Ya§ar Sarikaya, Merkez ile Tasra Arasinda Bir Osmanl Alimi: Eb Said el-Hdadimi, (Istanbul: Kitap

Yayinevi, 2008): 41-45.

191 prektibat, Veliyyiiddin Efendi, no. 1780, fol. 104a.
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Mehmed Ismet Efendi (d. 1747), the collector of Seyh Murad’s epistles, received
from Seyh Murad his ijaza for performing Nagshbandi rituals on 28 Jumad al-Akhir
1125/22 July 1713 in Edirne,'?? it becomes certain that he was in and around Edirne
during the summer of that year. This is a significant detail because it was assumed
that Seyh Murad had been in Bursa during that time. During the summer of the next
year, however, he was in Bursa where he spent his days with friends, adherents and

companions in outdoor lectures and sermons given in the gardens of the city during
the holy months of Rajab, Shacban, and Ramadan, i.e., July-October 1714.193

From these newly uncovered bits of information we understand that Seyh Murad’s
travels were not limited to the cities mentioned in the biographical dictionaries.
Moreover, it surfaces that he enjoyed seasonal trips around cities where he dwelled
for a particular time slot. Particularly during the summers and hotter moths, if not
in the city center, he would prefer to stay in a summer camp on the highlands to
avoid the heat. For example, in one of his letters addressed to Damadzade Ebulhayr
Ahmed Efendi, he asks for a house-functioned Turkmen tent, i.e., oba (qubbatu?t-
Turkmaniyya khayr-gah ya°ni oba), because on the land, he did not feel comfortable
in the haircloth tent (khayma) due to severity of his illness.'? It is revealed in
another letter written on 8 Ramadan for one of the disciples residing in Istanbul
that Seyh Murad enjoyed the summer of that year in summer resorts established
in the mountains of Bursa (dayya‘na haza al-sayf fi ba2i masayif al-jibal) due to
the plague hitting Bursa. When the letter was penned, however, the pestilence had
almost disappeared from Bursa, but then came down upon Istanbul, so that Seyh
Murad invokes God to lift it from there, too.1%?

His collected epistles bring to light more details regarding Seyh Murad’s presence in
Ottoman lands. The first cloudy point regards the initial phase of his life in Dam-
ascus and Anatolia. How did he manage to survive in a climate in which he was
a stranger? The already existing and well-established networks of the Nagshbandi
lodges dedicated to Indian and Central Asian Sufis, pilgrims, merchants, wanderers

and adventurers in the holy lands of Islam and historical cities of the empire had

192\ ehmed Ismet, Simat-» ¢Ismet. Veliyyiiddin Efendi, no. 3191, fol. 177b. It has already been conceived
that Seyh Murad visited Edirne at the beginning of 1680s. See Artan, “El Yazmalar Isiginda Bir Cevre
ve Cehre Eskizi,” 25. But we are deprived of clues for his earlier visiting to this Ottoman city.

193 This is an established fact. The sermons given in Mentes and Omiir gardens, and “the garded under the
street” were noted down by several disciples. But they are understudied and lacked a satisfactory analysis.
See Murat Demir, “Muradd-1 Naksibendi ve Menakib1,” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Uludag Universitesi
1998); Fakirullah Yildiz, “Sohbetndme-i Muhammed Murad Buhéri,” MA Thesis (Istanbul Universitesi
2017). The latter is published as Muhammed Murad Buhari, Sohbetndme, (Istanbul: Litera, 2017).

194 prektabat-, es-Seyh es-Seyyid Muhammed Murad, Veliyytiddin Efendi, no. 1837, fol. 104a.

195 prektabat, fol. 112b.
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to be one of the reasons. Being founded on trade and pilgrimage routes connecting
different regions of the then Muslim world and historical and religious sites where
tombs and shrines of prophets, companions and saints were believed to exist, the
lodges continuously attracted visitors.'%6 In spite of lacking an exact date of es-
tablishment, recent scholarship uncovers that Indian and Central Asian lodges were
erected in many Ottoman cities, which includes Mecca, Medina, Cairo, Jerusalem,
Damascus, Aleppo, Antakya, Adana, Tarsus, Konya, Karahisar-1 Sahib (Afyon), Ay-
din, Kiitahya, Bursa, Istanbul, Edirne, Drama, Vukovar, Tosya, Urfa, Ayntab, Van,
Stileymaniye, Baghdad.!” Our primary and secondary sources show that Seyh
Murad Bukhéri visited at least fourteen of these cities during his journeys, ¥ which
may indicate, on the one hand that he benefited from their presence on his itinerary,
and on the other hand that he scheduled his route in accordance with the networks

of these lodges.

Another reason for Seyh Murad’s success in Ottoman domains was his ability to find
patrons from among the ruling elites of the empire, who provided for him financial
support, as well as for his large family and disciples. As I have discussed in the
previous chapter, the role of patrons in dissemination of the second-wave Nagshbandi
tekkes in Istanbul was an established fact. It was within such a historical context
that in Istanbul he received the support of the chief physician, Nih Efendi (d. 1707),
and his heirs who put a waterfront residence of the family at the disposal of Seyh
Murad, Hiiseyin Efendizade Mustafa Efendi, who arranged his garden most probably
for seyh’s outdoor talks and lectures, and Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi, who converted
his father’s madrasa to a Nagshbandi tekke for Seyh Murad in 1715.19 About twenty
years before Ebulhayr Ahmed’s initiative, strongly backed by a powerful figure such
as Qeyhiilislam Feyzullah Efendi, he was able to set up two tekke complexes in
Damascus. On the outset of the relationship between Seyhiilislam Feyzullah and
Seyh Murad, satisfactory explanations are yet to be brought forward. When and
on which occasion the two figures had been acquainted with each other? Did they
meet in Istanbul as early as the 1680s during Seyh Murad’s first sojourn to the

city, or was it through an intense net formed between them after Feyzullah gained

196 Hamid Algar, “Tariqat and Tariq: Central Asian Nagshbandis on the Roads to the Haramayn,” 21-135;

Rishad Islam Choudhury, “The Hajj and the Hindi: The Ascent of the Indian Sufi Lodge in the Ottoman
Empire,” Modern Asian Studies 50 (2016): 1888-1931; Cemil Kutlutirk, “Transnational Sufi Networks in
India and Anatolia: Nagshbandiyah-Mujaddidiyah Order,” Journal of History Culture and Art Research /
Tarih Kiltir ve Sanat Aragtirmalars Dergisi 9/2 (2020): 267-278.

1975ee Thierry Zarcone, Sufi Pilgrims from Central Asia and India to Jerusalem, (Kyoto: Center for Islamic

Area Studies at Kyoto University, 2009): xv; Ali Emre Islek, “Osmanli Devleti'nde Hindi Tekkeleri,”;
Mustafa Alkan, “Osmanl Devleti'nde Ozbek Tekkeleri,”.

198 The cities in question were Mecca, Medina, Cairo, Jerusalem, Damascus, Aleppo, Tarsus, Konya,

Karahisar, Kiitahya, Bursa, Edirne, Istanbul, and Baghdad.

199H31i] Tbrahim Simsek, “Murad Buhari,” TDVIA, vol. 31, 186.
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control over the ulema bureaucracy towards the end of the century? The current
documentation does not allow us to make undisputed opinions and conclusions on
this point. Nevertheless, there is a strong possibility that they knew each other
before 1670, the year Seyh Murad settled in Damascus. Noting that Feyzullah
Efendi embarked upon his pilgrimage in Jumad al-Akhir 1078 /November-December
1667, we can speculate that it was during and after the hajj season of 1078 that

they began to develop close connections with each other.

Seyh Murad’s epistles demonstrate that, in addition to abovementioned figures, he
enjoyed the patronage of the Kopriilii family, particularly during 1670s and 1680s,
his initial two decades in Damascus, Anatolia, and Istanbul. An undated epistle sent
to Kopriilizdde Nu‘mén Pasha (d. 1719) before his two-month grand vizierate from
16 June 1710 to 16 August 1710 is very crucial in this regard. The epistle clarifies
that it was thanks to the patronage of the grand vizier’s father, Kopriiltizade Fazil
Mustafd Pasha (d. 1691), that Seyh Murdd was able to assure his presence in
Damascus and make longer his initial phase in Istanbul, which lasted for five years
from 1681 to 1686. This is so, because he reminds Nu‘méan Pasha that when trouble
intensified with the poor and weak dervishes during their sojourn in Damascus and

201 Certainly, high-ranking officials

Rum, they appealed to the support of his father.
who appeared as patrons and protectors in the socio-political and Sufistic networks
of Seyh Murad could not be limited to the mentioned elites of the empire. On the
contrary, their number was higher than thought, and a complicated relationship
had taken root between them and the seyh. Furthermore, as is documented in the
epistles, grand viziers such as Sehid Ali Pasha (d. 1716) and Damad Ibrahim Pasha
(d. 1730) were also parts of this network. But since I will focus on the characteristics
of the network in the following subsections of this chapter, I do not go into detail

at this stage.

The best illuminated part of Seyh Murad’s life story in the epistles is the period
of approximately one and a half years starting with his departure from Istanbul
on 28 May 1709 to his arrival in Bursa on 30 October 1710. According to the
conventional historiography, apprehended by the increasing popularity and influence
of Seyh Murad, grand vizier Corlulu Ali Pasha thought of sending him away from
Istanbul; for executing the plan he entrusted Grand Admiral Morali Ibrahim Pasha
(d. 1725), who served twice as grand admiral from 1706 to 1709, and from 1717 to

200 Vekdyi‘u’l- Fuzald, vol. 111, 2333.

201Mektﬂbdt, no. 1780, fol. 39a. The title of Nu‘méan Pasha is “al-wazir al-mukarram” in the epistle. For the

biography of Kopriiliizdde Mustafd and Nu‘man pashas see respectively Abdiilkadir Ozcan, “Képriiliizade
Fazil Mustafa Pasa,” TDVIA, vol. 26, 263-265; and “Kopriiliizade Niiman Paga,” ibid, 265-267.
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1718.292 The real reason behind the naval campaign of 1709 was to repair the fortress
of Limni Island,which fell into ruin as a result of explosion in ammunition store
triggered by the lightning strike on 15 Shawwal 1120/28 December 1708.203 Given
that the navy stopped on the island of Chios (Sakiz) and headed for Alaiye (Alanya),
where Seyh Murad disembarked, we can conclude that this was a multi-dimensional
expedition. An epistle which was sent to Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi probably from
Larende (Karaman) in the fall of 1709 discusses the campaign without the slightest
mention of the situation on Limni.?* We learn from the letter that during the break
on Chios, Seyh Muréd received correspondence from Ebulhayr Ahmed, an indication
that his high-ranking disciples closely followed and were interested in Seyh Murad’s
adventure with the navy.?%> Perhaps, the most noteworthy detail in Seyh Murad’s
letter is that he accompanied the navy until the end of the campaign, and only by
its accomplishment did he disembark in Alaiye, which might mean that he visited
Rhodes and witnessed combat between Ottoman and Venetian naval fleets.?%6 Not
all the visited islands and coastal cities were recorded in the letter, but in light of
Seyh Murad’s statement that they were back with the naval forces in Alaiye upon

07

the completion of the naval expedition,??” we may conclude with caution that they

visited islands such as Crete and Cyprus or coast cities of the Levant.

Despite the sudden and forced journey resembling an exile, Seyh Murad was pleased,
especially with its conclusions. In an epistle dispatched from Larende for Feyzullah
Samarqandi, who resided in Medina at that time, he wrote that “It is from the favor
of Allah to travel with His soldiers on the land and sea, and frontier stations in
the coasts, islands, and cities where happened an increase in the number of beloved
friends. The travel has now ended in Larende and I wish it ends in you in the
end”?%®  His satisfaction with the voyage was so such that he called the grand

admiral as his son (waladina) in the letter penned for Ebulhayr Ahmed, and praised

202F6r more on Moral Ibrahim Pasha’s career and waqfs see Miinir Aktepe, “Kapudan-1 Derya Moral Ascgi
Hac1 Ibrahim Paga ve Vakfiyeleri,” Tarih Enstitiisii Dergisi 6 (1975): 177-203.

203 Trih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 11, 801; Aktepe, ibid, 180.
204For the letter see Mektubat, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1837, fol. 24b.
205The letter was probably conveyed the land and reached the island by way of Izmir.

206The chronicler Rasid states that during his seasonal Mediterranean campaigns Ibrahim Pasha used to visit
Rhodes where the khan of Crimea Devlet Girdy was in exile. See footnote 17 in Aktepe, ibid, 181. When
the navy victoriously reached Istanbul in the fall of 1709, three galleons and a small brig (sahtiya) captured
from the enemy were in the convoy of the ships. See Aktepe, ibid, 181.

207The relevant part is as follows: “summa haysu intahat murabatat al-bahr wa®adna maca waladina ra’is
al-Caskarha ila al-¢Ala’iyya wa kharajna minha”.

2084gp lagad manni®llahi Tacala sayr al-barr wa’l-bahr wa ribatihi maca caskarihi bi-sawahil wa jazayir wa°l-
bilad f1 taksir al-ahbab fihi subhanahtt wa intaha al-sayr al-an ila Larende fa-asa an-yantaha akhiruhu
ilaykum.” Mektubat, Veliyiiddin, no. 1780, fol. 114a.
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the naval forces as “soldiers of God” in the letter to Feyzullah Samarqandi. He was
also content with the hospitality of the noblesses of Alaiye, in whose summer resorts
he was hosted likely in the late August. The only apprehension on his behalf was
for his family and dervishes in Damascus. Therefore, as he states in the letter to
Ebulhayr Ahmed, he sent a courier to Damascus to inform them about his condition

and convey their message to Konya, his next station.

Although the exact date of Seyh Murad’s arrival to Konya is ambiguous, we can
speculate that he had been there before the coming of the winter. If this is so,
it is likely that he arrived there before the Ramadan of 1121/1709 (4 November-
3 December). His intention, as is understood from one of his letters to Ebulhayr
Ahmed Efendi, was to leave the city after the mawlid of the Prophet Muhammad,
which fell on 12 Rabi® al-Awwal 1122/11 May 1710. But because of the insistence
of the residents of Konya he could not depart.2?? The letter in question further
elucidates that it was in Konya that he received a detailed epistle from Damascus
in which his son, Muhammad. asked for the abolishment of heavy taxes on the
subjects of Damascus, particularly those living in the villages assigned as malikane
to Seyh Murad. According to Abu-Manneh, “encouraged by the dismissal of Corlulu
from the grand vizierate in June 1710, he wrote to beg the permission of the Porte
to stay at Bursa, which was granted.”?'® That Seyh Murad had already declared
his intention to leave Konya months before the dismissal of the grand vizier, proves
that his settling in Bursa had nothing to do with Corlulu Al Pasha. Indeed, it
has come to light that he was repeatedly invited by Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi to
stay in Bursa at his mansion prepared for him and his retinue.?!! Therefore, when
Seyh Murad arrived Bursa on 7 Ramadan 1122/30 October 1710, he settled in
DamaAadzade’s house.?'? On his way from Konya to Bursa he continued to inform
Ebulhayr Ahmed about his journey. Before leaving Konya, for instance, he wrote
a letter in which he declared that he pleased the people of Konya by extending his
lodging there, but his aim was now to go to Karahisar.?'? In Karahisar, he wrote to
his loyal disciple at least two letters. In the first one, he informed Ebulhayr Ahmed
that he had received his and other disciples’ letters on his way from Konya and
declared that the courier of the present letter would inform him about his illnesses.

From the second we learn that his break in Karahisar lasted longer than anticipated

209For the letter see Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 18b.

210 Ahu-Manneh, ibid, 14.

2y, lagad anastant makatib al-jam1® muharridatun lana ©ala Bursa” Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 20b.

212 prektabat, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1837, fol. 17b.

213¢wa gad akhazna khawatiri ahli Konya bi-maksun ¢indahum wa qasduna al-an Karahisar” Mektubat, no.
1837, fol. 2b.
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because of the plague hitting adjacent areas, hindering his exit from the city.2!4

Perhaps, towards the end of September Seyh Murad left Karahisar for Kiitahya. It
seems likely that his intention was to stay and relax there for the rest of autumn,
but due to severe cold he felt anxious that his stay would last until the end of the
winter. Therefore, he suddenly decided on the last day of Sha®ban [23 October 1710]

to leave Kiitahya for Bursa where he would arrive after a week.?™

Seyh Murad’s epistles give further information regarding his family members.
Thanks to the secondary sources utilizing Silk al-Durar and Matmah al-Wajid the
biographical dictionaries written by Muhammad Khalil, the great-grandson of Seyh
Muréad, on the prominent figures living in the 12th Hijri century (October 1688-
November 1785) and on the biography of his father Ali al-Murddi (d. 1771), we
have been informed about Muhammad (1682-1755) and Mustafa (7-1750), Seyh
Murad’s two sons.?16 As Karl Barbir has demonstrated, Seyh Murad’s lineage con-
tinued through these two figures. In an undated correspondence sent probably to
one of his masters, however, Seyh Murad speaks of his four young children, Ahmed,
Muhammad, Mustafa and Es‘ad, who begged for the addressee’s prayers.?'” Ahmed
would not occur in any letter again, which may indicate that he passed away as a
young child. Es‘ad, on the other hand, appears in another undated letter sent from
Damascus to Istanbul in which Seyh Murad informs the anonymous recipient that
he received the imamate warrant of his son, Es‘ad Efendi, and expresses his grati-
tude to him for his intercession during the process.?!® Seyh’s presence in Damascus
during the exchange of the letter indicates on the one hand that the correspondence
took place before 1708, the year he rode off the city. On the other, it shows that

Es‘ad Efendi was sufficiently competent to be appointed as the imam of a mosque.

An advisory letter written for male and female members of the seyh’s extended

family is so important that for the first time the females of his family can be iden-

214For the first and second letters sent from Karahisar see respectively Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 13b and 11b.

215 Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 20b.

216Karl K. Barbir, “All in the family: The Muradis of Damascus,” 327-355; Simsek, 18. Yiizyil Osmanl

Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miceddidilik, 110-112; Abu-Manneh, ibid. In Silk al-Durar, from among Seyh
Murad’s sons only the biography of younger Muhammad Bah4 al-Din, the grandfather of the author, was
recorded. See ibid, vol. IV, 114-116. We are said that Muhammad Khalil Muradi began the composition
of Matmah al-Wajid following his father death in 1771 and completed it in 1199/1784. See Issa Abusaliem,
“Manhac al-Muradi fI Kitabuhu Matmah al-Wajid fi Tarjamat al-Walid al-Majid,” Majallatun Kulliyat al-
Adab 59 (2016): 444.

217Mektﬁbdt, no. 1780, fol. 99b-100a. A short note on the copy of the epistle claims that Seyh Murad sent it

to his preceptor Muhammad Ma‘siim (d. 1668). However, Muhammad was born in 1682, fourteen years
after the death of Seyh Muhammad Ma‘stm.

218 pfektabat, no. 1780, fol. 87a-b. Although the name of the recipient is not recorded, the content of the

letter implies that it was Daméadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi.
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tified.?! Despite the uncertainty in its date, it was probably penned in 1710s when
he was in Bursa and his family in Damascus, because his only son mentioned in the
letter is Muhammad, who, as Karl Barbir has stated, had been left behind in Dam-
ascus to control the family and oversee its waqfs. As is understood from another
letter sent from Bursa to Delhi to Muhammad Zubayr, the grandson of Muhammad
Ma‘s{im, the other son, Mustafa, was with Seyh Murad in Bursa.??? Separated from
his family, Seyh Murad invokes Allah to be reunited with his family, for he needs
their service. The epistle indicates that Seyh Murad had three daughters (Emine,
Ayse, and Saliha), four grandsons (Ibrahim, Abdulldh, Khalil, and Ahmed), and
two granddaughters (Nefise and Meryem) alive at that time. Being obsessed with
intrafamilial tranquility, Seyh Murad cared about the hierarchy and control of elders
over juniors within the family living in the same mansion. In this regard, he advises
his daughters to get on well with each other and with his daughters-in-law, whose
names are never mentioned in the epistle but who are identified through the children
to whom they gave birth. In the same vein, the seyh particularly asks his daughters
to obey the absolute authority of his son, Muhammad, and his wife. Muhammad
stands as proxy to Seyh Murad not only as the head of the family in the city but
also as his vicegerent in the Nagshbandiyya. Therefore, the seyh urges all of them to
adhere to Muhammad and receive from him dhikrullah. The epistle likewise brings
to light that Seyh Murad attached great importance to the scholarly and Islamic
education of male and female members of his family. Due only to this reason, he
recommends his daughter Ayse and granddaughter Meryem “to strive bodily and
heartly for beneficial knowledge and good deeds” and commends his daughter-in-law
to invite his grandson, Ahmed, to the right path to advise him decently. Moreover,
the epistle reveals that Seyh Murad had closely followed the education and improve-
ment of his grandchildren, who did not shy away from exchange letters with him. He
was so pleased with Khalil’s letter, the calligraphy and fluent wording in Abdulldh
and Ibrahim’s letters, and the gift sent by Meryem that he felt obliged to express

his opinion for each of them.??!

219F0r the letter see Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 113a-114a.
220Abu—Manneh7 ibid, 14. For the letter see Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 38a-39a.

2211prahim, who was the son of Muhammad, borned in 1118/1706-07 and died on 8 July 1730. See Silk
al-Durar, vol. I, 25-30. Khalil, himself a seyh, was the son of Muhammad. He was born in 1120/1708-09
and died on 10 November 1733 and was buried in the Turbat Dhwl-Kifl, near to his brother Ibrahim. See
Ibn Kannan, Yawmiyyat Shamiyya, ed. Akram Hasan al-°Ulbi, 439. Abdullah was the son of Mustafa, he
died in 1733, eighteen years before his father. See Barbir, “All in the family: The Muradis of Damascus,”
344.
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3.3 A Few Notes on Seyh Murad’s Letters

Despite awareness as to the existence of Seyh Murad’s letters, they have been uti-
lized so far only in four studies. Mehmet Unal, who conducted the earliest study
on the scholarly works of Seyh Murad, has translated short passages from six let-
ters, two of which were written for the chief physician Omer Efendi, one for Khalil
al-Shami, one for the grand vizier Damad Ibrahim Pasha, and two for anonymous
addressees.??? In one of the earlier studies utilizing the letters, Butrus Abu-Manneh
seems to minutely read the letters available to him to historicize Seyh Murad’s
life in the Ottoman domains and to understand his teachings.?® In doing so, he
depends on a collection of letters, of which two copies exist, each containing 213
letters “the majority of which were written in Arabic and a few in Persian” and
sent to Seyh Murad’s disciples, friends, family members. Regarding the collector,
Mehmed Ismet Efendi (d. 1747), and the collected letters, Abu-Manneh states that
he compiled them later in the 18th century “from many hands and copied them
verbatim,” entitled Maktubat, but “did not copy the addressee and none of them
bears the date of writing. Among the few mentioned addressees, however, are the
names of individuals who occupied the highest positions in the state.” Following
this, Abu-Manneh contents himself with giving the names of the head physician,
Omer Efendi (d. 1724), the vizier, Nu‘man Pasha (d. 1719), the grand viziers,
Sehid Ali Pasha (d. 1716), and Nevsehirli Damad Ibrahim Pasha (d. 1730), sey-
hiilislams Ebi Ishak Isma‘dl (d. 1725) and his son, Ishak Efendi (d. 1734), and Seyh
Muhammad Zubayr, the grandson of Muhammad Ma‘siim.??* The third study that
makes use of Seyh Murdd’s epistles was carried out by Tilay Artan, who conveys
Abu-Manneh’s opinions on the letters sent to Damad Ibrahim Pasha. Artan shows
particular interest in the letters written for Ibrahim Pasha, but seems unconvinced
about a special relationship between the seyh and the grand vizier.??> Lastly, some
of the addressees of Seyh Murad’s letters were listed in a study without reference to
the content of the letters.?26

222Mehmet Unal, Seyyid Murdad-i Buhdri Hazretleri ‘Kuddise Sirruh’ Kiilliyati-1, (Istanbul: Kutupyildiz:

Yayinlari, 2013): 43-45.

223Butrus Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order

in Istanbul.”

224Gee ibid, 7-8, and 14-17. The two collections utilized by Abu-Manneh are preserved in the manuscript

libraries of Siilleymaniye and Beyazit. See Esad Efendi, no. 1419; and Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1380.

225Tiilay Artan, “El Yazmalari Isiginda Bir Cevre ve Cehre Eskizi,” 27-28. Artan conveys that Abu-Manneh

kindly shared with her two letters in Arabic, belived to have been addressed to Tbrahim Paga.

226Mehmet Unal and Aliye Yilmaz, “Muhammed Murdd-1 Buhari ve ‘Risdle-i Naksibendiyye’ Adl Eseri,”

Turkish Studies: International Periodical for the Languages, Literature and History of Turkish or Turkic
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My research on the several copies of Seyh Murad’s collected letters brings to light
new details about the compilation. First, contrary to Abu-Manneh’s finding that a
few letters were in Persian, I have seen no letter penned in Persian. But in some
letters one can see Persian couplets. Secondly, I realize that the copies of Mektubat
were more than those mentioned in the literature, and misleading information re-
garding its catalogue numbers has gained recognition. Therefore, the correction of
misinformation must be carried out at this stage. So far, we have been informed of
three copies by Halil Ibrahim Simsek (Veliyiiddin 1780, Pertev Pasa 246, Dariilmes-
nevi 275) and Fakirullah Yildiz (Veliytiiddin 1780, 1781, and 1838), two copies by
Abu-Manneh (Esad 1419, Veliyiiddin 1380), and a single copy by Unal and Yilmaz
(Veliyiiddin 1838).227 My research does not confirm the existence of Seyh Murad’s
Mektiibat in Pertev Pasa 246, Dariilmesnevi 275, and Veliyiiddin 1380.22% In addi-
tion to the copies in Veliytiddin 1780, 1781, 1838 and Esad 1419, I have been able to
identify the following six copies: Veliytiddin 1810 and 1837, Pertev Paga 246 M-1,
Dariilmesnevi 273, and IU-TYY 3442 and 1U-TY 10484 the two collections located in
Istanbul University Rare Book Collection. Thus, the number of detected copies of
Mektubat is ten for the moment, and it is probable that new copies will emerge in
the future. Whereas two of these copies (Veliytiddin 1781 and 1838) were Mehmed
Ismet’s autographs, the remaining copies were duplicated by different hands most of
whom are unknown to us. The copy of Veliyiiddin 1837 has particular importance
for my research, since it is for the first time that we come across the original epistles
of Seyh Murad Bukhari bound in it.??? These are 35 epistles that Seyh Murad sent
to Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi. Considering them, we realize that Seyh
Murad used to pen his letters on the front face of the paper. His seal, however,
appeared on the reverse side. Moreover, the compilation contains another cluster of

45 epistles, which were sent to at least 31 figures.

For the moment, we know neither the beginning nor the completion date of the
collection in the hands of Mehmed Ismet Efendi, the compiler of Mektiibat. Most

9/3 (2014): 1543-1544. The listed names are Muhammad al-Muradi, the head physician Omer Efendi,
Hadizdde Mehmed Efendi, the qadi of Aleppo Isma‘il Efendi, Mestcizdde Abdullah Efendi, Seyh Khalil
al-Shami, the preacher of Bayezid Mosque Seyh Siileyméan Efendi, Nu‘mén Pasha, Seyyid Abdullah, and
Ishak Efendi. The authors rest on Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1838, another copy catalogued in the manuscript
collection of Veliytiddin Efendi.

227Sim§ek, 18. Yiizl Osmanl Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miceddidilik, 106; Yildiz, Sohbetndme,; Unal and
Yilmaz, “Muhammed Murad-1 Buhéari ve ‘Risale-i Naksibendiyye’ Adl Eseri,”

22811 Pertev Paga 246 the commentary of Qasidat al-Burda by Muhammad b. Faydulldh; in Dariilmesnevi
275, the fourth volume of Minhaj al- WaCizin wa Midraj al-Nasihin; and in Veliyiiddin 1380, Kitabu Nuhbat
al-¢Aza®m fr Zakat al-Zahab wa?l-Fiddat wa’l-°Urud wa’s-Sawa?m of Abdurrahmén b. Muhammad b.
Abdulwahhab are catalogued.

2291 the library catalogue, this compilation is mistakenly attributed to Seyh Mehmed Murad b. Abdilhalim
(1788-1848), the post-nishin of Muradd Molla Tekke since 1815. See Mektibat-1 es-Seyh es-Seyyid Mehmed
Murad, Veliyytiddin Efendi, no. 1837. For Mehmed Murad b. Abdiilhalim see M. Hiidai Senturk, “Murad
Naksibendi,” TDVIA, vol. 31, 188-189.
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likely, he attempted to collect and make a fair copy of letters after the death of
his seyh.?3Y He was lucky enough that the disciples of Seyh Murdd preserved the
original copies of the letters in hand, so he could call upon them for copying the
letters. Nevertheless, in some cases, he was unable to convince the addressees to take
from them the original letter. The best documented examples in this regard are 31
original letters preserved by Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi but were not found in Mehmed

231 The main reason for Ebulhayr Ahmed’s hesitation in sharing

Ismet’s compilation.
some of Seyh Murad’s epistles with Mehmed Ismet was obviously regarding privacy.
Contrary to the great majority of the letters, which were condensed by Seyh Murad’s
teachings, advice, and exhortations, the original letters at the disposal of Ebulhayr
Ahmed were related to Seyh Murad’s personal struggles and to his waqf in Damascus,
special requests from the addressee. Based on such a significant reality, we can
deduce that there were other disciples unknown to us who abstained from sharing
with the collector, Mehmed Ismet, the private and personal letters written by Seyh

Murad.

The available copies of Mektubat indicate that the earliest compilation that Mehmed
Ismet completed was that of Veliyiiddin 1781. It is likely that, for his own use and
for his fellows, he recopied the compilation during subsequent years. The carefully
prepared copy (Veliytiddin 1838) and two copies of Mektubat, which were recorded
in his inventory after his death, can be counted as proofs in this regard.?3?> Two
pieces of letters emerging, but standing apart from the autograph copy (Veliyiiddin
1781), prove that Mehmed Ismet did not give up searching for new letters of Seyh
Murad.?33 Yet, Mehmed Ismet was not the only disciple who attempted to collect
the scattered letters of his master. The most convincing clue in this regard is {U-TY
3442, the collection prepared by a disciple still unknown to us. The compiler of the
manuscript prefers a different content layout than that of Mehmed Ismet Efendi.
The array of the exact same letters in the collection is not parallel with Mehmed
Ismet’s arrangement. What is more striking is that the compiler, instead of focusing
only on the Nagshbandi circles of Istanbul, seems to have collected letters from other
cities where Seyh Murad’s disciples were residing. This is so because he would clearly

write on one occasion that he received some letters from Dervig Mustafa and copied

230¥ears before this project, he recorded in his private compilation a letter that Seyh Murad wrote for him.

See Simat-1 cIsmet, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 3191, fol. 142b.

231For the four epistles taken from Ebulhayr Ahmed, see Mektubat, Veliytiddin Efendi no. 1780, fol. 30a, 30a-

b, 95a-96b, and 97b-98a. For the original version of the said letters see respectively Mektubat, Veliyiiddin
Efendi no. 1837, fol. 25b, 9b, 4b, and 17b.

232866 Kismet-i Askeriye, no. 107, fol. 8a.

2338ee Mektabat no. 1781, fol. 29a-b. The initial twenty two folios of this manuscript was reserved for Seyh

Murad’s sermons. For his letters see fol. 23b-117b. An ownership record on the front folio of Mektubat
reads that Mehmed Ismet had the text written, but the script says the exact opposite.
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them in Thessaloniki on 28 Ja 1141/30 December 1728.234

My research brings to light that updated versions of Mektubat compiled by Mehmed
Ismet were prepared by different hands for different collectors. For instance, an un-
known scribe made a copy (Veliytiddin 1780) for Seyhiilislam Veliyytiddin Efendi (d.
1768) by adding four letters from Daméadzade Ahmed Efendi. Except the original 35
epistles he received from his seyh, there is no indication that DAmadzade Ahmed at-
tempted to acquire a collection of the letters. Veliyytiddin Efendi, on the other hand,
after the death either of Ahmed Efendi in 1741 or his son, seyhiilislam Daméadzade
Feyzullah Efendi in 1761, managed to take possession of the letters and bound them
in a single volume together with 45 epistles dispatched to at least 31 fellow disci-
ples (Veliyiiddin 1837).23% Unlike the original ones, all forty-five letters constituting
the second cluster in Veliyyiiddin Efendi’s collection had already been copied by
Mehmed Ismet.?3% What is even more striking is that the copyist was Veliyyiiddin,
apparent evidence that he, too, attempted to collect letters of his deceased seyh.
Although he was not as successful as Mehmed Ismet in compiling the letters, he
steadfastly collected for his library abovementioned four copies of Mektubat. Yet,
none of these compilations had a date of completion. The only compilation with an
approximate date of consummation in Veliyyiiddin Efendi’s manuscript collection
is Veliytiddin 1810, which seems to be completed in the year 1151/1738. Although
the recopying date of the letters was not mentioned in the majmua in question, the
same scribe who duplicated Seyh Murad’s sermons, states that he completed the
task on 21 Safar 1151/10 June 1738.237 Despite the disarray in the composition of
the text, it contributes to our understanding of Seyh Murad’s network by bring-
ing our attention to four letters written to Seyyid Zeynelabidin Efendi which were
unnoticed by Mehmed Ismet Efendi.?3® Moreover, from ownership records penned
on the bookplate of the manuscript, we know that it had been in the possession of
Mustafa Iffet Efendi (d. 1759-60) in 1169/1755-56, and Abdiilvehhab Efendi, whose
connection to the Nagshbandi circles will be explained in the last chapter of this

dissertation.

Despite indisputable evidence that Seyh Murad had developed extremely strong

234Gee Mektubat, TU-TY no. 3442, fol. 23a. This collection is falsely attributed to Murdd Molla in the

catalogue of the library.

235For a short introduction on Damadzade Feyzullah Efendi see Mehmet Ipsirli, “Feyzullah Efendi,

Damadzade,” TDVIA, vol. 12, (Istanbul: TDV, 1995): 525-526.

236Veliyyiiddin Efendi not only copied the second cluster of letters but also wrote a preface to the volume

in question. It is thanks to his introduction that we know now that Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi was the
addressee of the original letters. Veliytiiddin Efendi, no. 1810, fol. 35b.

237Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1810, fol. 35b.

238For the letters is question, see ibid, fol. 112b-113b.
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connections with the Damadzade family, the only copy of Mektubat in the posses-
sion of Damadzades (Dartilmesnevi 273) was dictated by Seyhiilislam Damadzade
Feyzullah Efendi to a certain Mehmed Emin b. Hafiz Mustafa during his first tenure
in the office.?? It was from this copy that Mehmed Resid Efendi (d. 1813), the el-
der son of the renowned Nagshbandi calligrapher, Egrikapili Mehmed Rasim Efendi
(d. 1756), made a fair copy for himself (Esad Efendi 1419) in 1192/1778-79.240
Pertev Pasa 246 M-1, however, was copied by an unknown pen most probably in
the 19th century and stamped with the waqf seal of the Selimiye Tekkesi library,
which was engraved in 1252/ 1836.241 Compare to Mehmed Ismet’s compilation, the
copy lacks many letters, but contains 32 letters that do not exist in Mehmed Ismet’s
composition. Scrupulously read by a later reader, the copy bears the anonymous
reader’s postscripts on the repeated letters in the collection. Needless to say, when

crosschecking the copies at hand, I have benefited from these short notes.

After the exclusion of repeated letters in the available collections of Mektubat, we
have 275 letters of varying lengths sent from Seyh Murad Bukhéari to his disciples.
Yet, my research demonstrates that Mehmed Ismet had not seen and copied at least
48 of them. Current research, shows that from among those that escaped Mehmed
Ismet’s notice, 40 letters were recorded in Veliyiiddin 1837, four appeared in Pertev
Paga 246 M-1, and four in Veliyiiddin 1810. Out of all letters, including 35 letters
dispatched to Damadzade Ahmed, the copyists of Mektubat collections enunciated
the names of addressees in only 82 letters. However, through an elaborative and
comparative reading of the letters, I have managed to establish the addressees in
118 examples as can be seen on Table 3.1. Thus, the names of at least 43 addressees
to whom Seyh Muradd had written at least a letter, have become evident. Neverthe-
less, as the remaining 157 correspondences imply, the number of pen pals exceeded
the tight cluster of forty-three individuals. Indeed, notwithstanding my failure in

detecting the letters penned for them, the content of some letters demonstrates that

239The completion date of the text was Ja 11, 69/12 February 1756. Feyzullah Efendi’s first phase in the
office came to an end on 26 July 1756. See Ipsirli, ibid. In addition to his well-known pamphlets such

as Risale-i Naksibendiyye and Silsiletii’z-Zeheb, the recorded sermons of Seyh Murad were bound in the
Dariilmesnevi 273 compilation (fol. 1b-59b). For the letters see fol. 60b-193b.

24071192 /1778-79 is the date of the ownership record penned on the bookplate. Considering that the script in
the ownership record and in the text is exactly same, I claim that Mehmed Regid Efendi copied the text
for his use in the year in question. For the letters see Siilleymaniye Library, Esad Efendi, no. 1419, fol.
60b-180b. On Mehmed Réasim Efendi, see Ugur Derman, “Mehmed Rasim, Egrikapili,” TDVIA, vol. 28,
514-515. On his son Mehmed Resid Efendi, see Yilmaz Oksiiz, “Egrikapili Mehmed Résim ve Divancesi
(Inceleme-Metin),” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Dokuz Eyliil Universitesi 2010): 21; Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 448-
449.

241gee Stileymaniye Library, Pertev Paga, no. 246 M-1, fol. 1b. For an introduction on Selimiye Tekkesi which
was built by Selim III in 1801-1805 and renovated by Mahmitd II in 1834-1836 as a Nagshbandi lodge see
Baha Tanman, “Selimiye Tekkesi,” TDVIA, vol. 36, 438-439. The library of the tekke which was sponsored

by Pertev Pasha (d. 1837) completed in 1836. See Ismail Eriinsal, “Pertev Paga Kiitiiphanesi,” TDVIA,
vol. 34, 238. On Pertev Pasha’s career see Carter Findley, “Factional Rivalry in Ottoman Istanbul: The
Fall of Pertev Pasha, 1837, Journal of Turkish Studies / Tirklik Bilgisi Arastirmalar X (1986): 127-134,
and “Pertev Mehmed Said Paga,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 233-235.
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Seyh Murad had corresponded with figures whose names are not listed in the Ta-
ble 3.1. His written communication with Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed, for instance,
reveals that he had exchanged letters with not only his father, Mustafa Rasih Efendi,
and the to-be seyhiilislam Veliyytiddin Efendi, but also Stleyman Efendi, Molla Alj,
Molld Ahmed, Hasan Efendi, Abdullah, Halil, Ibrahim and the notables of Damas-
cus about whom we are not informed further.2*? The letter to Isma‘il Efendi, the
gadi of Aleppo, shows that he communicated with a certain Abdulmu’min Efendi.?*3
From another letter, sent most likely to Damadzade Ahmed, we learn that he had
a mentor-disciple relationship with the vizier, Silahdar Silleyman Pasha (d. 1715),
for he asks the addressee to send the courier of the private letter to Rhodes, where
the pasha was in exile.2** Another letter to an anonymous addressee proves that
he exchanged letters with many Sufis and scholars living in the Holy Lands, such
as Seyh Dakhli and Molla Feyzi, who resided in Mecca and al-Korani, al-Mar‘asi,
and Molla Carullah, who were living in Medina.?¥® These examples prove that in
Seyh Murad’s networks of letters not only the identified and listed figures take part
but also many other names who are unknown to us for the moment but will be

recognized and discovered in the future.

3.3.1 Letters in Motion: Few Notes on Their Identification

How broad was the date range during which Seyh Murad corresponded with his
disciples? When exchanged, between which cities and regions did the letters travel?
How did Seyh Efendi and his disciples ensure the safety of the communication?
Were there ruptures and discontinuities between the sender and the receiver? This
subsection has been envisioned to come up with satisfactory explanations for these
questions. The clarification of these matters is important because it will contribute
further to our understanding of the Nagshbandi networks in which Seyh Murad was
at the center. However, it must be noted that since we are deprived of all letters, both
written by Seyh Murdd and written to him, it is not possible to entirely reveal the
scope of his networks coming into existence through this means of communication.

Under such circumstances, it seems more reasonable to tackle with the problem by

242Gee Mektubat, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1837, fols. 3b, 5b, 12b, 22b, 23b; and Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1780,

fol. 109a-b.

243 Mektabat, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1780, fol. 34a-b.

244Mektﬁbdt, Pertev Paga, no. 246 M-1, fol. 109a.

245Mektﬂbdt, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1780, fol. 119a-120a. It is possible that al-Mar‘asl was none other

than Seyyid Omer Mar‘asi, one of his disciples listed in the table. al-Korani, was most probably Ibrahim
al-Korani (d. 1691), the prominent Sufi and scholar of the period. Molla Carulldh, must be Veliyyiiddin
Céarullah Efendi (d. 1738).
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Table 3.1 The addressees and number of received letters

Addressee Number

1 | Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi 40
2 | Muhammad al-Muradi 9
3 | Muhammad and Mustafa al-Muradi 2
4 | Muhammad al-Muradi and Abdurrahim al-Kabili | 2
5 | Family Members 1
6 | Mustafa Efendi b. Hiiseyin Efendi 6
7 | Ikhan al-A’zam 1
8 | Fazil Mustafa Pasha 1
9 | Sehid Ali Pasha 345
10 | Damad Ibrahim Pasha 4
11 | Nu‘méan Pasha 1
12 | Hekimoglu Ali Pasha 1
13 | Seyhiilislam Feyzullah 1
14 | Seyhiilislam Pagmakg¢izade Seyyid Al 1
15 | Seyhiilislam Pagmakg¢izade Seyyid Abdullah 1
16 | Seyhiilislam Mirza Mustafa 2
17 | Seyhiilislam Ebt Ishak Ismail 1
18 | Seyhiilislam Ishak Efendi 2
19 | Seyhiilislam Mehmed Salih 3
20 | Seyh Muhammad Zubayr 1
21 | Seyh Khalil Shami 1
22 | Seyh Kassabzade Siilleyméan 1
23 | Seyh Feyzullah Samarqandi 1
24 | Seyh Seyyid Omer Mar‘asi 1
25 | Seyh (anonymous) 1
26 | Nakibiilegraf (anonymous) 2
27 | Arec Emir Efendizade Zeynelabidin 4
28 | Ismail Efendi (Defterdar) 1
29 | Hekimbast Omer 2
30 | Mestcizade Abdullah 2
31 | Seyyid Lalizade Abdiilbaki 1
32 | Mehmed Salim 1
33 | Seyyid Yasin + Seyyid Abdilkadir 2
34 | Kevakibi Ahmed 1
35 | Kevakibi Veliyytddin 1
36 | Ismail Efendi (qadi of Aleppo) 1
37 | Halil Efendi (naib of Aleppo) 1
38 | Hayrullah Efendi 1
39 | Hadizade Mehmed 1
40 | Bayram Efendi 1
41 | Simavizade Mehmed Efendi 1
42 | Yahyé Efendi (Kirimizade) 1
43 | Mehmed Vehhabi 1
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using Table 3.1.

Given the table in question, one realizes that Istanbul and Damascus were two
hubs of attraction during the circulation of the letters. This was because it was
in Istanbul, where most of Seyh Murad’s disciples, who enjoyed high ranks in the
state administration, lived and preferred to stay, except for certain intervals during
which they performed official duties in the provinces of the empire. In Damascus,
on the other hand, his family members were living and wherever he was he had
to continue the communication with them. However, as the second, third, fourth,
and fifth rows of the table unveil, the total number of detected letters dispatched
to family members was only fourteen, which constitute a slight ratio in the totality.
The main reason behind such a situation, no doubt, was the sense of privacy on the
part of the seyh. In other words, it is most likely that, except for those filled with
or dominated by moral exhortation and sermons, he did not give consent to the
reproduction of the letters with private content addressed to his family members.
Had it been the other way around, it might not have been possible for the letters
to be sent to distant cities such as Mecca, Medina and Delhi to be recopied in a

collection compiled in Istanbul.?46

At this point, we must remember that the notion of privacy was so central in the
minds of Sufis and scholars of the period that, during his journey to Mecca in 1693,
Abd al-Ghani al-Nablusi (d. 1731), a Damascene master in Nagshbandi and Qadiri
orders and prolific scholar known for hundreds of his pamphlets, would remain silent
in his memoirs on several letters he received from family, friends and disciples on
the pretext that “they contain news and what is not suitable to be mentioned in
these memoirs.”?47 The sense of privacy was inherent also in some contemporary
Western men of letters to the extent that they or their successors could either destroy
the letters or censor them. One of the best-known incidents, in this context, is the
burning of some letters of Benedictus Spinoza (d. 1677) by his friends after his death.
As is reported on Spinoza’s published letters by German traveller, Vetter Hallmann,
who visited Rieuwertz junior, in 1703 “More letters had been found than had been
printed; but they were of no importance, and so were burned. But he [Rieuwertz]
had kept one letter, which was lying upstairs among his things. At last, I persuaded

him to fetch the letter and show it to me. It was a short letter written in Dutch

246161 the letters dispatch to these cities see Mektubat, Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 1780, fol. 38a-39a, and
119a-120a.

247For Nablusi’s words see Samer Akkach, Letters of a Sufi Scholar: The Correspondence of ¢Abd al-Ghani al-
Nabulust (1641-1731), (Leiden: Brill, 2010): 20. For Nablusi as a fiery debater of his period see Nir Shafir,
“The Road From Damascus: Circulation and Redefinition of Islam in the Ottoman Empire, 1620-1720,”
Unpublished PhD Diss., (UCLA, 2016): 110-152. For his biography see Ahmet Ozel, “Nablusi, Abdiilgani
b. Ismail,” TDVIA, vol. 32, 268-270.
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on half sheet of paper. The date was the 19 April, 1673.7248 Henry Oldenburg (d.
1677), the secretary of the Royal Society of London, who had been part of Spinozan
epistolary exchange—he sent at least seventeen letters to Spinoza and received from
him at least eleven letters—on the other hand, was famous for censoring letters. He
“diplomatically pruned letters of ‘all Personal Reflections,” polish compliments as

well as rude remarks, before publishing them in the Philosophical Transactions.” 249

That Istanbul and Damascus were two hubs collecting letters of Seyh Murad must
not mislead us in our inferences on their initial destinations. Given that Seyh Murad
spent a considerable portion of his life in Damascus, Bursa and Istanbul, one can
conclude that most of his letters departed from these cities. Yet, as I have demon-
strated above in the context of his seventeen-month journey starting from Istanbul
in late May 1709 ending in Bursa in late October 1710, as a traveling Sufi he could
send letters to Istanbul from anywhere on his way to Bursa and receive answers
wherever he wanted. All in all, it must be known that we deal with a scholar and
Sufi whose letters went back and forth between his current location and the islands
of Chios and Rhodes, and cities of Mecca, Medina, Istanbul, Edirne, Bursa, Dam-
ascus, Delhi, Alaiye, Larende, Konya, Karahisar, Kiitahya, Aleppo, Hama, Mar‘as,

Gharan, and wherever his disciples set foot.

All but one of Seyh Murad’s letters are undated. The only example is the letter
he penned for his son, Muhammad al-Muradi, on 20 Muharram 1121/1 April 1709
from Istanbul to Damascus.?*? In addition, he seldomly wrote the name of the city
or town from where he dispatched the epistle. To this, one should add the copyists’
refrainment from writing the names of the addressees. In the absence of date, origin
and destination of the message and the name of the receiver, in almost all instances,
the only way to historicize the letters is context-oriented reasoning. Adopting this
method, I have been able to observe that his earliest letter was one that he wrote
to one of his masters in which he mentioned his four underage sons, because the
existence of underage boys indicates that the letter was penned in 1680s. The second
earliest dated letter, again from 1680s, was that sent to the vizier, Kopriiliizade Fazil
Mustafa Pasha (d. 1691), during his incumbency as the custodian of the island of
Chios in either 1685 or 1688.2°1 Although his name was not specified in the letter

248Quoted in Abraham Wolf, The Correspondence of Spinoza, (New York: The Dial Press, 1928): 443.

2497 orraine Daston, “The Ideal and Reality of the Republic of Letters in the Enlightenment,” Science in

Context 4/2 (1991): 371.

250 pfektibat, no. 1780, fol. 104a.

251 Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 57a-b. The receiver of the letter is identified only as “the guardian of Chios” in

this letter. Fazil Mustafa Pasha was the guardian of the island in the years in question. See Abdiilkadir
Ozcan, “Kopriiliizade Fazil Mustafa Pasa,” TDVIA, vol. 26, 263-265.
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he received, taking into consideration Seyh Murad’s laudatory words given to him
in abovementioned posthumous letter written to his son, vizier Nu‘man Pasha, I
tend to think that “the guardian of Chios” was none other than Fazil Mustafa
Pasha. When it comes to Seyh Murad’s latest letter, however, I rely on the compiler
Mehmed Ismet Efendi, who confidently commented on the letter sent to the grand
vizier, Damad Ibrahim Pasha (v. 1718-1730), that it was written towards the end
of Seyh Murad’s life, and, thereafter, he did not write letter to notables.?5? If this
is so, we can conclude that during his last years Seyh Murad exchanged letters only

with family members living in Damascus.

Applying the same method, I have also distinguished a letter penned for Seyhtlis-
lam Feyzullah Efendi (d. 1703) from Damascus circa 1700, in which he informed
the seyhilislam that the righteous had performed the Friday prayer on the second
Friday of Sha®ban and Eid prayer of Ramadan behind Seyh Isma‘il in the Umayyad
Mosque, and that the residents of the city joyfully prayed for the sultan and the

253 As is understood from these statements, a restoration project had

seyhiilislam.
been carried out in the mosque, and the people of the city were allowed to pray
there only on two holy days. I have not been able to detect the exact date of the
restoration. Yet, an archival document preserved in the Ottoman Archives proves
that a restoration project was going on for the Great Mosque of Damascus in the
closing years of the 17th and beginning of the 18th centuries. Such an inference
is due to the petition written by the qadi of Damascus, Seyyid Seyh Ibrahim, on
15 Ramadan 1111/6 March 1700 in which he requested the appointment of Man-
stir b. Lutfullah as architect to the vacant position of deceased Mikhail b. Sefar
dhimmi.?®* This was most probably the restoration project started in 1699 by the
sultan, Mustafa II, who “financed the installation and maintenance of a structure
to surround the tomb of St. John (al-Nabi Yahya, known as John the Baptist in
the Christian tradition).”?*> In the absence of date and names of addressees in the
letters, coevaluation of multiple letters has enabled me to determine, for instance,
the recipients of three different epistles and the approximate date of correspondence.
In the letters, two hints are at work: first, the common subject of discussion, i.e.,

fever or malaria (humma) hitting a certain Salih Efendi; and second, Hekimzade, a

252Mektﬁbdt, no. 1780, fol. 28a-29a. “... f1 awakhiri awqatihi al-sharifat wa azunnuhu annahum lam yaktubu

ba’daha namigatun ila al-a®yan”

253 Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 112b-113a. Seyh Isma‘il was either Isma‘il b. Seyh Eyyib (1645-1723) who

was the imam and preacher at the Umayyad Mosque, or Isma‘il al-Haik (1636-1701), the Hanafi mufti of
Damascus. For their biographies see Silk al-Durar, 249-250 and 256-258.

254BOA, IE.EV.. 36/4139.

2558teve Tamari, “Ottoman Madrasas: The Multiple Lives of Educational Institutions in Eighteent-Century

Syria,” Journal of Early Modern History 5/2 (2001): 112.
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certain disciple who informed Seyh Murad of the disease. Receiving the initial letter
in which he was informed about Salih’s disease, Seyh Murad wrote two letters, one
to Salih, the other to his father to transmit his healing wishes. A few months af-
ter the letters, he wrote a third letter to Hekimzade himself complaining about the
hiatus in correspondence.?’® Even though Mehmed Ismet did not write the name
of the addressees, I have been able to identify them thanks to Seyh Murad’s dis-
tinctive statements in each letter. For instance, when writing Yahya Efendi, Salih’s
father, he would say that he was informed about the prevalence of fever over “their
Salih” (Akhbirni Hekimzade fv sahifatihi min ghalabat al-humma “ala Salihuna). In
the letter to Salih, he would write that Hekimzade Efendi had written about the
prevalence of fever over “him” in his report (wa qad akhbarna Hekimzade Efendi fu
mu’annanihi min ghalabat al-humma alaykum). In the letter to Hekimzéade, on the
other hand, he reminded him that he had mentioned to him the disease of “their
Salih” (wa innama zakartum min da‘fi Salihuna). Bearing the receiver’s name, two
other letters in the collection convince me that Salih Efendi was the future seyhiilis-
lam Mehmed Salih Efendi (d. 1762). who joined the circle of Seyhiilislam Yenigehirli
Abdullah Efendi, become his son-in-law, and himself serve as the seyhtilislam from
26 January 1758 to 30 June 1759.2°7 Hekimzade, on the other hand, was obviously
the grand vizier-to-be, Hekimoglu Ali Paga (v. 1732-35, 1742-43, and 1755), when
recalling that Seyh Murad resided for a while in his deceased father’s, chief physi-
cian Nith Efendi’s (d. 1707) waterfront residence back in 1718.2°% As mentioned
above, the date of these letters are unclear. However, given that the chief physician,
Nih Efendi, served from 1695 to 1707, we can conclude that the correspondences in

question may have taken place towards the end of this term.??”

3.3.2 The Problem of Communication and Transportation: Official and Private

Couriers and Pilgrimage Caravans in the Service of Seyh Murad

How did Seyh Murad and his addressees manage the communication and its conti-
nuity? Did they benefit from the long-existing and state-sponsored postal system
or depend on private transportation provided by merchants? Or did they develop a

simpler but more functional system for maintaining communication and sustaining

256For the letters sent to Salih and his father Yahya, see respectively Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 40a and 39a.

For the letter dispatched Hekimzade see ibid, fol. 4a.

257For the two letters bearing Mehmed Salih’s name, see Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 17b and 33a. On Mehmed

Salih’s career see Tahsin Ozcan, “Mehmed Salih Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 28, 526.

2580n Hekimoglu, see Minir Aktepe, “Hekimoglu Ali Paga,” TDVIA, vol. 17, 166-168.

259For the list of chief physicians and their serving period see Nil Sar1, “Hekimbag1,” TDVIA, vol. 17, 161-164.
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the unity of the Sufi brotherhood? Questioning how al-Nablusi communicated with
his relatives, students, friends, and disciples, Samer Akkach once speculated about
the official postal system in the service of the Damascene Sufi and scholar. In addi-
tion, he has pointed out the existence of commercial and private postal services in
which postmen, merchants, friends, relatives, and pilgrims were situated as trans-
mitters of the messages, and concluded that “effective non-official postal services,
commercial and private, were available to members of public.”26Y As an understudied
subject, the military and civil postal systems of the Ottoman Empire are relatively
better illuminated when the nineteenth-century reforms are in question. When it
comes to the seventeenth and eighteenth-century Ottoman Empire, however, only
the official, Istanbul-centered networks of communication and transportation in the
service of the Porte became the matter of discussion in emerging literature. We are

Y

informed, for example, about “ulak-menzil system,” which depended on mounted
Tartar messengers (ulak), foot-messengers (peyk) and stations (menzilhdne), and
running on three main routes in Anatolia and Rumelia, i.e., the right, central, and
left branches. Starting from Uskiidar, the right branch connected Anatolia, Aleppo,
Damascus, and Hijaz to the capital; the central branch reached as far as the Persian
Gulf via Anatolia and Iraq, and the left branch approached Tabriz through Ankara,
Tokat, and Erzurum. A fourth route came to existence between Istanbul and Izmir
when the latter became “a trade center frequented by European merchants” by the
second half of the 17th century.?®! In Rumelia, the right branch linked Istanbul
to the cities on the western, northwestern, and northern coasts of the Black Sea as
far as Ochakiv (Ozi) and Crimea; the central branch, extended to Belgrade through
Edirne, Sofya, Plovdiv, and Nis; the left branch, in parallel with the Via Egnatia, the
ancient Roman road system connecting Constantinople to Adriatic Sea, ran through

Rodoscuk, Giimiilcine (Komotini), Kavala, Thessaloniki and Durres.?02

26OAkkach7 Letters of a Sufi Scholar, 15-21.

2mSulraiyau Faroqhi, Pilgrims and Sultans: The Hajj under the Ottomans, (New York: I.B. Tauris, 1996):
41-42. For an introduction on Izmir’s increasing importance as a trade center see Daniel Goffman, Britons
in the Ottoman Empire, 1642-1660, (Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1998).

2628¢¢ Davut Hut, “History of Communication in Istanbul,” in History of Istanbul: From Antiquity to
the 21st Century, vol. VI, https://istanbultarihi.ist/592-history-of-communication-in-istanbul (accessed
19.09.2023). See also, Yiicel Ozkaya, “XVIII. Yiizyillda Menzilhane Sorunu,” AUDTCFD XXVIII/3-4
(1970): 339-368; Colin Heywood, “The Ottoman Menzilhane and Ulak System in Rumeli in the Eighteenth
Century,” in I. Uluslararas: Tirkiye’nin Sosyal ve Ekonomik Tarihi Kongresi Tebligleri, eds. Osman Okyar
and Halil Inalcik, (Ankara: 1980): 179-186, idem, “The Via Egnatia in the Ottoman Period: The Men-
zilhanes of the Sol Kol in the late 17th / early 18th centuries,” in The Via Egnatia Under Ottoman Rule
(1380-1699), (Rethymnon: Crete University Press, 1996): 129-144, idem, “The Evolution of the Courier
Order (ulak hitkmi) in Ottoman Chancery Practice (Fifteenth to Eighteenth Centuries),” in Osmanische
Welten: Quellen und Fallstudien Festschrift fiir Michael Ursinus, eds. Johannes Zimmermann, Christoph
Herzog, and Raoul Motika, (Bamberg: University of Bamberg Press, 2016): 269-312; Yusuf Halagoglu,
Osmanllarda Ulagim ve Haberlesme (Menziller), (Ankara: PTT, 2002); Sema Altunan, “XVIII. Yiizyilda
Silistre Eyaletinde Haberlesme Ag1: Rumeli Sag Kol Menzilleri,” OTAM 18 (2005): 1-20; Ali Agikel, “Os-

manli Ulak-Menzilhane Sistemi Cercevesinde Tokat Menzilhanesi (1690-1840),” Tarih Incelemeleri Dergisi
19/2 (2004): 1-33.
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Several specimens that I have culled from among the letters of Seyh Murad illu-
minate how the seyh had maintained his communication with disciples living in
distant places. But, unfortunately, none of them clarifies whether he benefited from
the state-backed postal system connecting remote regions of the vast empire. Lack-
ing thorough documentation, I only speculate that he may not have exploited the
existing communication and transportation system, but his high-ranking disciples
most likely did so. In other words, it seems likely that he had indirectly taken advan-
tage of the ulak-menzil system. If this had not been the case, such correspondence
between him and Damadzdde Ahmed Efendi during the seventeen-month period
from late May 1709 to late October 1710 would not have been possible. As such, we
can cautiously conclude that Daméadzade relied upon fast-moving mounted ulaks to
hear about the condition of his master and his retinue in Anatolia. Such a reasoning
is further valid in the cases when Seyh Murad’s addressees were viziers and grand
viziers such as Kopriiliizade Fazil Mustafa Pasha, Nu‘man Pasha, Sehid All Pasha,
Silahdar Siileyman Pasha, Morali Basmacizade Ibrahim Pasha, and Damad Ibrahim
Pasha. Since the means of transportation and communication were state-controlled,
it is most likely that Seyh Murad asked one of his disciples living in Istanbul to
direct the courier of his private letter to Rhodes, where Silahdar Siilleyman Pasha

had been in exile.263

One of the most functional but seasonal means of communication, for not only Seyh
Murad but also all subjects of the empire including Sufi circles, was the annual
pilgrimage caravan travelling back and forth between Istanbul and Mecca through
cities and stations in Anatolia, the Levant and the Arabian Peninsula. The fre-
quently intersecting imperial and small-scaled caravans carried not only pilgrims
but also merchants, passengers and pack animals, luxuries, commodities, spices, tex-

264 Tp addition, diseases, new ideas, debates,

5

tiles, and guard troops of the caravan.
news, books, pamphlets, and letters were carried via caravans on pilgrimage.26
Seyh Murad was lucky enough to send letters to his disciples through hajj caravans,
particularly when in Istanbul and Damascus, the two most significant centers of

the caravan routes. There is no doubt that his sojourns in Damascus were partic-

263Mekt7jbdt, Pertev Paga, no. 246 M-1, fol. 109a.

264For a study on the politics of the pilgrimage and hajj caravans by the land see Suraiya Faroqhi, Pilgrims
and Sultans: The Hajj under the Ottomans.

265For the correlation between the hajj season and the spread of cholera in the second half of the 19th and
early 20th century see particularly the third and fourth chapters under Part Two entitled “Ecologies of
Empire” in Michael Christopher Low, Imperial Mecca: Ottoman Arabia and the Indian Ocean Hajj, (New
York: Columbia University Press, 2020): 43-114; and the fourth chapter in Lale Can, Spiritual Subjects:
Central Asian Pilgrims and the Ottoman Hajj at the End of Empire, (Stanford: Stanford University Press,
2020): 125-148. On the Ottoman precautions against the infectious diseases during the period, see Giilden
Sariyildiz, “Hicaz’da Salgin Hastaliklar ve Osmanli Devleti’'nin Aldig1 Baz1 Onlemler,” Tarih ve Toplum
104 (1992): 82-88. On the circulation of new ideas, debates, and written works, see Nir Shafir, “The Road
From Damascus: Circulation and Redefinition of Islam in the Ottoman Empire, 1620-1720".
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ularly lucrative, because, by relying on the caravans moving between Istanbul and
Mecca, he was able to send messages to friends, relatives and disciples living in the
Holy Lands of Islam, receive their letters when the caravan was back in Damascus.
When the caravan headed for the Ottoman capital, he could dispatch letters for
those living in Anatolian cities and Istanbul. Some letters in Mektubat explicitly
demonstrate that he sent and received letters through pilgrims travelling in the hajj
caravan.?% He even once sent at least two pilgrim couriers with letters to the same
addressee. In one of the letters written to the anonymous addressee, he says that he
will write a letter that another courier from among the pilgrims will take to him and
bring with him the response, so he asks the addressee, to take care of the courier.?67
From a letter dispatched to Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi, we learn that accompanied by
other many letters, the letter of his son Muhammad arrived to him from Gharan, a
historical station located in the northwest of Mecca on the pilgrimage route.?®® The
letter infers that his son, Muhammad, who preferred to stay either in Damascus or
Hijaz delivered in Gharan his letter to the pilgrims who headed for Anatolia and
[stanbul.

While largely functional, the hajj caravan was risky, since sometimes the letters
could be poorly handled, fail to be delivered to the addresses or lost en route.
Therefore, in some letters, we indirectly hear about Seyh Murad’s correspondents
complaining that they had not received his letters.?% In such cases, Seyh Efendi
would feel obliged to repeat or summarize the content of the missing letters or be
obliged to admit that he had been unaware of the situation. In one of his letters to
an anonymous disciple, for example, he stated that he wrote to him several times,
especially with the pilgrims, but he did not know whether they arrived.?”® In par-
ticular, his son, Muhammad, kept complaining that he could not receive letters
written for him. Welcoming this situation, Seyh Muradd would try to appease at
least two of his anonymous disciples who complained about discontinuity in corre-

271

spondence. In a letter, he tried to raise hope by saying “my [son] Muhammad,

too, has complained several times about interruption of our letters, but then in these

266For some specimens see Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 106b-107a, 108b-109a, 111b, 119a-120a, and Mektubat,
no. 1837, fol. 15b, 22b.

267Mektﬂbdt, no. 1780, fol. 111b. “wa sanaktubu maCa gayri haza al-hamil aydan min al-hujjaj wa huwa €ala
cazm al-awd fa layahmilu ilayna makatibikum al-mufassalat wa layakun nazarikum Calayhi”

268 \fektubat, no. 1837, fol. 15b.

269gee for instance, Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 106b, 106b-107a, 108b-109a, 112a-b, and Mektabat, no. 1837,
fol. 21b.

270 pektabat, no. 1780, fol. 106b-107a. “wa gad katabna lakum marraran siyyama maca al-hujjaj wa baC-
duhum fa-lam nuCallim bi-wusuliha”

271 Mektibat, no. 1780, fol. 106b, 112a-b.
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days a letter came to us from him in which he thanks for the arrival of some let-

ters.”272

It seems likely that because of disruptions in communication, Seyh Murad,
and particularly his high-ranking disciples approved the employment of couriers for
uninterrupted and better communication. The mention in some letters of couriers
sent by the seyh to his disciples and family members is hard evidence in this regard.
As has been explained above, he dispatched from Larende to Damascus a courier
to carry his message to his family and deliver their letters to Konya. In a letter,
he explained to his anonymous penpal who might have protested the cessation of
letters, that previously he sent two Uzbek couriers with the hajj caravan, then, two
months later, another courier named Ibn Maghribi, who carried the letters of Sufi
brethren (ikhwan) and now Seyyid Salih, another courier, who would bring messages
to him.2™ Ibn Maghribi, on whom I have found no information, might be either
a loyal disciple of the seyh, or a private courier or a merchant in transit between
Istanbul, Anatolian cities and the Levant. Regardless of their identity, the existence
of couriers in Seyh Murad’s networks makes me think that they were consciously
chosen from among seyh’s disciples, friends and relatives to maintain the order of
communication and transportation between the seyh and his recipients. In cases
when the courier was a disciple, being tasked with the correspondence was also a
requirement for self-discipline. Nevertheless, it must be remembered that employing
either private or subservient couriers was a costly practice, and only a Sufi seyh like
Seyh Murad, who had a regular income from life-term malikane in Damascus or his

disciples with significant positions in state administration, could hire them.

Lastly, we must emphasize another prevailing method adopted by the circles of Seyh
Murad in conducting intra-order communication. Separated by long distances, it
was impossible for them to exchange letters frequently. Therefore, in many cases,
concertedness was reached between him and his disciples in letter exchange. As
mentioned above, he received bulks of epistles from his son and many other pilgrims
who had dispatched them from Gharan. In several examples, we see him receiv-
ing Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi’s letters accompanied by those of a certain Siileyméan
Efendi, Abdullah Efendi, Molla Ali and other brethren.2™ In two other cases, Isma‘il
Efendi, the qadi of Aleppo, and a certain Abdulmu’min Efendi, and All Efendi and
his son, Mehmed Efendi, jointly acted when sending the letters to the seyh.2™ In

return, he would pen letters for his addressees one after another, combine them

272Ibid7 112a. “wa kana Muhammadi aydan shaka marraran min inqita®i makatibina summa f1 hazihi al-

ayyam ja’ana kitabun minhu yashkuru min wusuli ba®d al-makatib”

273 Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 119a-120a.

274 Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 12b, 13b, and 23b.

275 Mektabat, no. 1838, fol. 8b-9a, and 24b.
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into separate groups, and send each cargo along to where it belonged. Thus, to each
group of disciples living in different cities and family members dwelling in Damascus,
couriers carried letters from Seyh Murdd. He must have spent a significant portion
of his time writing letters for his adherents. So much so that, in one instance, he
needed to explain his addressee unknown to us that because of weakness in his right

hand, he was unable to hold the pen for three days.276

3.4 A Nagshbandi Republic of Letters?

Used by Italian humanist Francesco Barbaro (1390-1454) for the first time in a let-
ter sent to his colleague, Poggio Bracciolini (1380-1459), in 1417 and revitalized by
Desiderius Erasmus (1466-1536) in one of his seminal works, Anti-Barbari in 1494,
The Republic of Letters or Respublica litteraria, meant the network of learned,
learning and literature in continental Europe. During the Reformation in Western
Christianity in the 16th century, it was perceived as an alternative to Respublica
Christiana, but Latin survived as the lingua franca of the realm.?”” As an estab-
lished concept, we are told, it emerged in the early 17th century, but its widespread
acceptance was only by the end of that century. As has been defined by Paul Dibon,
as an imaginary republic during the absolutist reign of the Sun King, Louis XIV,
who personally ruled France from 1654 to his death in 1715, it was “an intellectual
community transcending space and time, [but] recognizing as such differences in
respect to the diversity of languages, sects, and countries...”?”® In a more idealized
description, however, it has been portrayed as “a democracy of peers, if not equals”
during the age of monarchies, and as an “ideal republic” which “was a vast invisible
and unshakable society, whose civic links were nourished by an uncompromising
love for the truth, though tempered by friendship, and a respect for knowledge and
talent.” 2™ The ideal of the Republic has been described in a study analyzing the
Enlightenment Republic of Letters as follows: “An elite confraternity distinguished
by merit in literature, scholarship, and science; by near total freedom of expres-

sion; by equality among members, in defiance of rank and birth; and by tolerance

276 Nektabat, no. 1780, fol. 120a-b. “wa yadi al-yumna qad irtahat a®sabiha hatta lam-yumkin I an-amsaka

al-qalam illa ba‘da salasat ayyam”

277Dirk van Miert, “What was the Republic of Letters? A Brief Introduction to A Long History,” Groniek:

Historisch Tijdschrift 204-205 (2014): 271-272.

278Quoted in Dena Goodman, The Republic of Letters: A Cultural History of the French Enlightenment,

(Ithaca, London: Cornell University Press, 1994): 15.

2" Marc Fumaroli, The Republic of Letters, translated from French by Lara Vergnaud, (New Heaven, London:

Yale University Press, 2018): 9.
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-tolerance that was emphatically religious and incidentally national.”?® In a recent
study claiming to periodize the six hundred-year odd history of the Republic of

Letters, the republic and its republicans have been introduced as follows:

The Republic of Letters was the network of scholarly and scientific com-
munity of the sixteenth, seventeenth, and eighteenth centuries. It con-
sisted of scholars and scientists who worked as professors, secretaries,
courtiers, physicians, lawyers, or whoever was rich enough to support
themselves. By frequently corresponding with each other, they formed
a flexible, self-regulating and international conglomerate of networks
spanning the whole of Europe. People became part of this community
by the very act of writing letters: those scholars who failed or refused
to establish sustained lines of communication, could not be reckoned as
citizens of this Republic.?8!

Francocentric historiography has discovered a parallel between the history of the
French monarchy under the House of Bourbon and that of the Republic of Letters
during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. 2?2 According to this point of
view, “the history of the Republic of Letters is interwoven with that of the monar-
chy from its consolidation after the Wars of Religion and until its downfall in the
French Revolution.”?83 Conformity between the monarchy and the Republic was so
well-founded that it can be observed in historical developments. For example, the
establishment and consolidation of the new postal system at the beginning of the
17th century in France marked not only the growing power and control of the state,
but also demands “by a growing literate and commercial public of which the citizens
of the Republic of Letters were a significant part.”?8* Furthermore, particularly in
the 17th century, the Republic of Letters reciprocally nourished and was nourished
by the salons, salon culture, and the private scientific societies whose formation was
funded by the French aristocracy. As to the participants of the salons and scientific
societies, we are said that “[m]agistrates or officers of the court, men of the church

or sword, secretaries, lawyers, and physicians who participated in those societies did

2807 orraine Daston, “The Ideal and Reality of the Republic of Letters in the Enlightenment,” 374-375.

281Dirk van Miert, “What was the Republic of Letters?” 270.

282For some studies emphasizing indispensable role and place of France, French, and French culture in the

history of the Republic of Letters see Paul Dibon, “Communication in the Respublica litteraria of the 17th
century,” Respublica litterarum. Studies in the Classical Tradition 1 (1978): 43-55; Dena Goodman, The
Republic of Letters; Marc Fumaroli, The Republic of Letters.

283Goodmaun, The Republic of Letters, 12.

284Goodman, The Republic of Letters, 19.
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so outside of their professional lives, or outside of any professional life during a time
of leisure that, in their eyes, was the only one suitable to truly liberal and of course

intellectual activities.”28°

By the foundation of the French Academy of Sciences
in 1666, some leading figures of the Republic of Letters gradually came under the
patronage, influence and control of the monarchy, and entered in the service of the
state. The most remarkable impact of the Academy, perhaps, was that it indirectly
forced the incrementally secularized members of the Republic to abandon Latin, the
language of the Church.?®0 Abstention from using Latin was certainly a prospective
process and it had still been in demand in the 18th century, particularly in the
scientific and scholarly compositions. But the 18th century was also a period of
significant transformations within the Republic of Letters. With increasing literacy,
printing press, developing networks of the postal system, gradual evolvement of the
middle class, and the publication of Encyclopédie by Denis Diderot (d. 1784) and
Jean le Rond d’Alembert (d. 1783) during the third quarter of the 18th century, the
Republic of Letters had crossed lines of academies. Direct communication acceler-
ated between self-proclaimed French philosophers and ordinary people, and reputed
names of the old republic began to be challenged by the new generation of the
learned.?®” With Encyclopédie being the main platform for publications on sciences
and arts, communication between men of letters from all over Europe accelerated
even further. Obviously, this was a reformation in the history of the Republic and
“it had begun among men who were spread out across Europe and held together by

an epistolary network and, with Latin, a common language.”?®8

Considering the peculiarities of its circles and self-definitions suggested by its mem-
bers, historians and researchers of the Republic of Letters have proposed several
keywords for a better understanding of such an intangible entity. Though it may
not apply to all men of letters identifying themselves with the republic, characteristic
attributes of this formation are thought to include, but are not limited to the fol-
lowing denominators: equality, openness, tolerance, freedom from prejudice, mutual
respect, criticism, universality, objectivity, cosmopolitanism, autonomy and liberty,
exchange of ideas, reciprocity, and plain language. For example, Pierre Bayle (d.
1706), a skeptical French philosopher and leading figure of the French Enlighten-

ment, encyclopedist and author of Dictionaire Historique and Critique, a critical

285\ arc Fumaroli, The Republic of Letters, 110-111.

286Goodmam7 The Republic of Letters, 21.

287Goodman, The Republic of Letters, 53-89, 136-182; Elizabeth Eisenstein, “Print Culture and Enlightenment

Thought,” Réseauz 6/31 (1988): 7-38; Robert Darnton, “A Polis Inspector Sorts His Files: The Anatomy
of the Republic of Letters,” in The Great Cat Massacre, (New York: Basic Books, 1999): 145-190.

288Goodman, The Republic of Letters, 27-28.
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dictionary of ideas and historical and mythical figures, would assure that “Freedom
reigns in the Republic of Letters. This Republic is extremely free state. We only rec-
ognize the empire of truth and reason.”?8? Be that as it may, there were incidents in
which members of the Republic could no longer tolerate each other. The best-known
example, perhaps, is correspondence between Benedictus de Spinoza (1632-1677),
the famous Dutch philosopher of Portuguese-Jewish origin and Willem van Blyen-
bergh (1632-1696), a Dutch merchant and self-proclaimed Calvinist theologian, on
several theological questions including the “problem of evil” Being at completely
opposite poles, angry with the way the debate was conducted, and angered by his
correspondent’s pietistic criticism, Spinoza asked Blyenbergh not to continue corre-
spondence.?”? The debate had been so ingrained that Gilles Deleuze (d. 1995), the
French postmodernist and antirationalist philosopher, who wrote a monograph of

Spinoza, described the letters as “the letters on evil.” 291

The Republic of Letters cannot be confined to France or any contemporary Western
state and society, nor can it be restricted with a certain period of time or a specific
interval between centuries. In recognition of this reality, scholarship in the 20th and
21st centuries considers it legitimate to define and study the Republic of Letters as a
formation of the lettered, which existed in any particular region or city including non-

292 oceurred around a renowned scholar, or within a specific

Western counterparts,
community or intellectually defined age.?*®> Emboldened by current scholarship on
the Republic of Letters, we can reconsider Seyh Murad’s letters within the scope of

the literature in question. Such a predilection seems legitimate and more reasonable

289For the French quotation from Bayle see Goodman, The Republic of Letters, 12.

290For the eight letters exchanged between Spinoza and Blyenbergh from 12 December 1664 to 3 June 1665,
see Abraham Wolf, The Correspondence of Spinoza, (New York: The Dial Press, 1928): 141-196, 199-200.

)
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translated by Robert Hurley, (San Francisco: City Lights Books, 1988): 30-43.
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Early Modern Europe, eds. Arian van Dixhoorn and Susie Speakman Sutch, (Leiden: Brill, 2008); Gabor
Almasi, The Uses of Humanism: Johannes Sambucus (1531-1584), Andreas Dudith (1533-1589), and The
Republic of Letters in East Central Europe, (Leiden: Brill, 2009);
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Republic of Letters, 1680-1750, (New Haven, London: Yale University Press, 1995); Laurence Brockliss,
Calvet’s Web: Enlightenment and the Republic of Letters in Eighteenth-Century France, (Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 2002); Jesuit Science and The Republic of Letters, ed. Mordechai Feingold, (Cambridge,
Massachusetts: The MIT Press, 2005); Constance Furey, Erasmus, Contarini, and the Religious Republic
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to me, because Seyh Murad’s Arabic letters betoken in the first place the existence of
learned networks in the center of which was situated the seyh himself. The presence
of Arabic as the lingua franca in the Nagshbandi circles of Seyh Murad is important
because it bears on the one hand a resemblance to the Western Republic of Letters
where Latin had maintained its significant position as the lingua franca up until
the turn of the 18th century when it was replaced by French. The ever-increasing
reputation of French in the Republic of Letters would reach a point that German
philosopher, Gottfried Leibniz (1646-1716), despite “all his hopes that German could
be perfected into a ‘bright mirror of reason’ ... addressed the great majority of his 400-
odd correspondents -including many fellow Germans- in French.” 2** On the other
hand, it is a turning point in the Nagshbandi tradition, in the sense that, contrary
to his spiritual predecessors Seyh Muhammad Ma‘sim (d. 1668), Seyh Ahmad al-
Sirhindi (d. 1624), Ubaydullah Ahrar (d. 1490), and many other Nagshbandi seyhs
who embraced Persian as the lingua franca in their correspondences and scholarly
compositions, Seyh Murad preferred to pen letters in Arabic.?? Such a preference,
of course, cannot be interpreted as a rupture in the Nagshbandi tradition, since
the tradition of letter writing did not come to an end, Nagshbandi men of letters
continued to be educated in three languages: Turkish, Persian, and Arabic; Persian
remained as the lingua franca of Nagshbandis of Central and South Asia. In other
words, since the spheres of influence and activity in Seyh Murad’s case was no longer
Central Asia and India, but Anatolia, Rumelia and Arab lands, the lingua franca,
at least in the correspondences, was no longer Persian but Arabic. Nevertheless, it
is possible that early in his career he wrote his letters in Persian particularly when

corresponding with his colleagues and masters living in India and Central Asia.

Communication through epistolary exchange is one of the significant commonali-
ties between the Republic of Letters and its Nagshbandi counterpart in the Ot-
toman realm during the 17th and 18th centuries. As discussed above, having been
separated from his family members and disciples by long distances, Seyh Murad
was in dire need of a functioning communication system in which private couriers

assumed substantial responsibility. When it comes particularly to its equivalent

294Conveyed in Lorraine Daston, “The Ideal and Reality of the Republic of Letters in the Enlightenment,”
376.

295For an introduction on Ahmad al-Sirhindi’s 539 letters collected in three volumes see J.G.J. ter Haar “The
Collected Letters of Shaykh Ahmad Sirhind1,” Manuscripts of the Middle East 3 (1988): 41-44. The Arabic
translation of the collected letters include 536 letters. For the English translation of selected letters see
Arthur Buehler, Revealed Grace: The Jurisdic Sufism of Ahmad Sirhindi (1564-1624), (Louisville: Fons
Vitae, 2011). For the problems of translation in Sirhindi’s letters written in medieval Indo-Persian see
Arthur Buehler, “Translation Issues in Ahmad Sirhindr’s Collected Letters: Why Shari®ah Is A Lot More
Than Just ‘Islamic Law’,” Oriente Moderno XCII/2 (2012): 311-321. On Muhammad Ma‘stim’s 652 letters
collected in three volumes I have not seen any study. For Turkish translation of the letters see Muhammad
MaCsum, Terceme-i Mektubat-» MaCsumiyye, (Istanbul: Matbaa-i Litografya, 1277/1860). For Ubaydullah
Ahrar’s collected letters see The Letters of Khwaja ¢Ubayd Allah Ahrar and His Associates, eds. Jo-Ann
Gross and Asam Urunbaev, (Leiden: Brill, 2002).
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rooted in Western Europe, shorter distance between cities and towns and a better-
functioned state-sponsored postal system had eased uninterrupted communication.
In the Ottoman Empire, however, because of the mountainous topography of Ana-
tolia, Rumelia, the Levant, and Hijaz, geographical regions where Seyh Murad’s
letters circulated, distances between locations were longer, the circulation of letters
was harder and necessitated much time.??0 To this obstacle, we should also add the
insufficiency of the then official postal system regulated for the transportation of
official messages and state affairs. Then, what about the materials exchanged dur-
ing the correspondence? When it comes to the Enlightenment Republic of Letters,
it is reported that “[cJorrespondence in the Republic of Letters ranged from short
notes and letters of introduction to lengthy newsletters and scientific reports, from
the personal and private to the public and published. It could complement printed
matter, go into print, or enclose what was printed.” 27 However, in the epistolary
networks of Seyh Murad, aside from short notes, letters in various lengths that once
penned and sealed by the seyh, I have not come across any other authored text that
exchanged between him and his disciples. Yet, from at least two of his letters sent
to Damadzade Ahmed, we understand that during the composition of his Qur’anic
dictionary, Jami® al-Mufradat al-Qur’an, he asked for Turkish, Persian and Arabic
commentaries, and dictionaries to be sent to Bursa where he was living.2?® After the
completion of the dictionary, he sent it to at least one of his learned disciples (most
probably Daméadzade), who criticized the problems in it. In return, he delightedly
thanked to him for the criticism and recommended one of his disciples who was also

the courier of the letter, to make a new and fair copy of the text.??? When epistles of

296For some studies on Ottoman mountains and their impacts daily life, trade, politics, mobility etc., see J.
R. McNeill, The Mountains of the Mediterranean World, (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003);
Ali Yaycioglu, “Ottoman Montology: Hazardous Resourcefulness and Uneasy Symbiosis in a Mountain
Empire,” in Crafting History: FEssays on the Ottoman World and Beyond in Honor of Cemal Kafadar,
(Boston: Academic Studies Press, 2023): 345-374; and Molly Green, “Ottoman Mountains: Mobility in a
Forbidding Environment,” in ibid, 375-391.

297G00dman, The Republic of Letters, 17-18.

298For the earlier and later letters on this topic, see respectively Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 14b and 22b.
In a recently published study, Numan Cakir has shown that Seyh Murad plagiarized Vankulu Lugat:
when composing the Turkish part of his dictionary. See his “Murad Buhari’nin Kur’an Sozliginiin Tiirkce
Boliimlerinin Ozgiinligii Meselesi,” Tefsir Arastirmalary Dergisi / The Journal of Tafsr Studies 6/2 (2022):
706-732. In fact, in his earlier letter to DAmadzade Ahmed, Seyh Murad explained how he would conduct
the process of research and writing for his Qur’anic dictionary. The letter clarifies that he charged some
madrasa students for this task (wa gad qayyadiu bi-tawfigihi subhanahu bad talabat al-%lm fi tartibi
Mufradat al-Quran al-Azim); that he would pattern his dictionary after Raghib al-Isfahani’s (d. 1108-
09) al-Mufradat fv Ghartb al-Qur’an; that he thought that insertion of Persian and Turkish dictionaries
into his own Mufradat would be beneficial and useful. But, since he did not have Persian and Turkish
dictionaries to carry out his project, he would ask Damadzéade to send him al-Sirah for Persian and Wangquli
for Turkish translations. The letter also provides details that he had sent the incorrect and inaccurate copy
of Raghib al-Isfahani’s al-Mufradat to Damadzade in return for an authentic and pristine copy,and asked
also for the copies of al-Taysir of al-Dant (d. 1053) and al-Kifaya of Khatib al-Baghdadi (d. 1071). Given
these significant details, we can speculate for the moment that Seyh Murad had thoroughly exploited for
the Arabic version of his Qur’anic dictionary the Mufradat of al-Isfahani, and for the Persian version the
Sirah of which author I have not seen any information.

2994y, lagad sarrani ma zakartum min qusur al-tatbiq ... wa gad wassayna li-hamil al-raqimat bi-istiktabi
nuskhat ukhra min Jami® al-Mufradat €ala isti®jal” Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 115a.
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Abd al-Ghani al-Néablusi (1641-1731), a Damascene Nagshbandi-Qadiri Sufi scholar
and contemporary of Seyh Murad, are in question, we realize that he produced most
of them in the form of pamphlets and treatises rather than letters, and compiled
and titled them Wasa?il al-Tahqiq wa Rasa’il al-Tawfig, a preference that brought
him closer to his peers from among the members of the Republic of Letters, whose
letters “were frequently not letters in the modern sense, but dissertations ‘epistolary

dissertations’” 300

The Nagshbandi Republic of Letters resembles its Western equivalent also in terms
of the centrality of savant/erudite conversation (conversatio erudita) in the circles
formed around the seyh or teacher. Marc Fumaroli, the first historian who drew
attention to the importance of the savant conversation among some learned of the
seventeenth century Republic of Letters, reminds us that “Erasmus defined corre-

79

spondence as an ‘exchange between absent friends.’” Relying on Erasmus’s defini-

tion, he claims further that “[t]hat description essentially suggests that in-person
conversation between friends was the most desirable form of communication.”30!
We are told by Fumaroli that savant conversation regained its honor and historical
precedence in the second half of the 17th century through two intellectual devel-
opments that would not have been favored by Enlightenment philosophers. First,
thanks to the German scholar, Daniel Georg Morhof (1639-1691), who offers us in
his Polyhistor “the most articulated account of the art and erudite conversation in
one dedicated chapter” and second, thanks to the ana literature, “a rather unique
genre” that “enabled readers to participate, more or less faithfully, in the intimacy of
an erudite circle gathered around a teacher and to hear his spoken word, rather than

7302 According to Morhof, nothing could im-

his official, public, and written voice.
prove man more than frequent conference with savant; it was the happiest discipline
that touched the spirit “more profoundly than that dull path that passes by reading
and solitary meditation.” Therefore, Fumaroli explains that savant conversation was
“the supreme method of sharing information and education, a ‘general discipline’
to develop the mind, inseparable from its agrément.”3%3 This was because, dur-
ing erudite conversations there appears agreement between participants, and most
importantly, erudition “was not linked to the volume or profusion of savant’s pub-

lications, impressive though they may have been, but to the wisdom inherent to his

300VVolf, The Correspondence of Spinoza, 35.

30l Fumaroli, The Republic of Letters, 122. For more on savant conversation, see the seventh chapter in Ibid,
122-132.

3021pid, 125.

3031hid, 127.
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singular being (memory and ingendum). 304

The savant conversation was one of the pillars of the Nagshbandi order. Yet, rather
than conversatio erudita it has come to be known as “conversation” or “companion-
ship” with the seyh (sohbet, suhbet, or suhba), depending on the regions in which it
was performed. As Dina le Gall has emphasized, this was an irshad: mode of Sufism.
The murshid seyh as “the intimate guide of disciples in the transformative process of
progressing toward mystical union, was at center stage.” 3% Texts circulating in the
Nagshbandi circles quote from Muhammad Baha al-Din Nagshband, the eponym of
the order, a very popular adage flowing as follows: “our is a tariga of suhba, not
seclusion (khalwa), because in khalwa exists reputation, and by reputation comes
calamity.”3% The suhba is s rooted in the Nagshbandi tradition so that it is directly
associated with the rabita, one of the most fundamental methods of advancement
in the Nagshbandi order that can be rendered as “the practice of fixing the visual
form of the shaykh in the imagination as a prelude to taking on his qualities to
making him the conduit for the flow of divine energy.”3%7 In his undated letter to
[lkhan-i A‘zam, following in the footsteps of Muhammad Baha al-Din Nagshband,
Seyh Murad emphasizes indistinguishability between the savant conversation and
the Nagshbandi order by stating that the order (and path) of the khwajagan is the
conversation (wa tariqati hadarati khwajagan quddisat asraruhum al-suhbatun).3%%
The savant conversation and attachment to the seyh so deeply penetrated into the
Nagshbandi tradition that in one of his letters to Mehmed Vehhéabi of Larende,
he stated that all the troubles arose from poor suhba, absence of dervishes’ rabita
for the seyh, and triumph of heedlessness.?% He admitted in one of his letters to
Hiiseyin Efendizade Mustafa Efendi that attachment to the seyh reinforced the au-
thority of the savant conversation and wiped out all doubts. 3! As he explained

in a letter to Seyh Kassab Stiileyméan, the vaiz of Sultan Bayezid Mosque, the sa-

304Thid, 129-130.

305Dina Le Gall, A Culture of Sufism, 157.

306Dina Le Gall, A Culture of Sufism, 158. Ubeydullah Ahrar, Melfizit, translated from Persian to Turkish
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307Dina le Gall, ibid, 159.

308 pfektubat, no. 1838, fol. 10b-11b.

309 g ektubat, no. 1838, fol. 9b-10a. “habibt qurrati ¢ayni kullu al-bala min su®i al-suhbat wa khuluwwi rabitat

al-fuqara wa galabat al-gaflat”

310 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 76a-77b. “fa al-suhbat 1a tabqa taraddudan fi shay®in ... fa al-rabitat tuqawwimu

magam al-suhbat”
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vant conversation had to be continuous, because “the truth of truths” could only be
obtained through continuous conversation, which lead dervish to “the most exalted
purpose”—God.3!! But, how could the savant conversation be maintained when
the seyh and his disciples were separated by long distances? As I discussed above,
the only solution was the exchange of letters. However, correspondence could never
be a counterbalance to the savant conversation. As Seyh Murad states in one of his
letters to a disciple unknown to us, an elaborated clarification of the matters can
only be through the savant conversation since the Nagshbandi order is the order of
the conversation not of correspondence or literary composition (kitabat). Neverthe-
less, he accepts that under such circumstances correspondence functions as mutual
conversation,®'? which is in line with Erasmus’ position that defines correspondence

as an “exchange between absent friends”.

If one were to speak of an equivalent of the Republic of Letters formed in Ottoman
domains and depended on reciprocal correspondence for continuous communication,
not only Nagshbandi circles but also other Sufi brotherhoods present several histor-
ical and agreeable instances. Indeed, in terms of intellectual networks formed by
Sufis and scholars through reciprocal exchange of correspondences and treatises,
substantial examples emerged in the Muslim world as early as the 10th century
when an informal network of anonymous members of Ikhwan al-Safa such as The
Brethren of Purity, produced fifty-two treatises on several topics including music,
astronomy, logic, geography, ethics, magic, arithmetic, geometry and so forth in Ab-
basid Basra.3'® Modelling on this initial example, we are told that a similar network
of intellectuals existed around Sharaf al-Din Ali Yazdi (d. 1454), a Timurid court
historian and scholar of Persian origin, in Iran in the 15th century.3'* In the Indian
subcontinent, too, letters circulated through many intellectual networks of Sufis
over the centuries. For instance, as evidenced by his collected letters Maktubat-i
Quddusiyya, a network of the lettered had emerged around the eminent Chishti-
Sabiri seyh Abd al-Quddus Gangohi (d. 1537) during the first half of the 16th

century.>'® When it comes to the 17th century India, as I mentioned above, we

311Mektﬁbdt, no. 1838, fol. 12a-b. “.. bi’l-suhbat al-muttasilat ila haqiqat al-haqa’iq wasilat ila magsud
al-acla”

312 pfektabat, no. 1838, fol. 6a-b. “wa tafsil al-bayan la yata®t1 illa bi®’l-suhbat ... mac‘a anna tarigatuhum
al-suhbat la al-kitabat ... wa al-murasalat taqarraba al-mushafahat”

313vves Marquet, “Ikhwan al-Safa,” EI2, vol. III, 1071-1076; Enver Uysal, “Ihvan-1 Safa,” TDVIA, vol. 22, 1-

6; Fatih Altug, “Thvan-1 Safa’da Zoopolis ve Kozmopolis Karg1 Karsiya,” Doju Bati, Faunaya Agit: Hayvan
82 (2018): 223-244. Since 2018 onwards, Oxford University Press has published the treatises of Ikhwan
al-Safa under the editorship of several editors as part of the “Epistles of the Brethren of Purity” series.

3141ker Evrim Binbag, Intellectual Networks in Timurid Iran: Sharaf al-Din ¢Ali Yazdi and the Islamicate
Republic of Letters.

3157¢ is said that most of his surviving letters were penned for the Muslim nobles and rulers of the Indian sub-
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see through at least two samples that networks of intellectuals came into being
around the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi masters, Ahmad al-Sirhindi (d. 1624), and his
son, Muhammad Ma‘sim (d. 1668). Like their counterparts in Iran and India, Ot-
toman men of letters formed circles of erudition in which circulating letters not only
sustained communication between separated friends, but also provided the patron-
client relationships and served their worldly needs. The collected letters of Lamil
Celebi (1473-1532), a prolific scholar and Nagshbandi seyh from Bursa, prove that
the author penned the letters to assure his high-ranking addressees his loyalty and
strict obedience to them.?'® From the second half of the 16th century to the first
quarter of the 19th, Ottoman men of the pen in the Ottoman capital left behind
thousands of letters collected either in separate collections or decades of minseat
compilations.>'” However, as can be seen in studies on Ganizdde Mehmed NAadiri
(d. 1627), Veysi (d. 1628), Okguzade (d. 1630), Azmizade Héletl Nergisi (d. 1635),
Nev‘izade Atayi (d. 1635), Nabi (d. 1712), Nahifi (d. 1738), Celebizade Isma‘il
Asim (d. 1760), Ebiibekir Kani (d. 1792), extensive scholarship on Ottoman insd
literature has revolved for decades around either the stylistic features of the letters or
the skills of the talented author in composing overly ornate prose. In other words, in
only a small number of studies have the historical importance of chancery manuals,
which may include both formal and private epistles composed by abovementioned
figures, their significance as sources for patron-client relations, and social, political

and cultural history been analyzed.3!®

continent. See M. Zameer Uddin Siddiqi, “Shaikh Abdul Quddus of Gangoh and Contemporary Rulers,”
Proceedings of the Indian History Congress 31 (1969): 305-311; Muzaffar Alam, “The Mughals, the Sufi
Shaykhs and the Formation of the Akbari Dispensation,” Modern Asian Studies 43/1 (2009): 140-141. For
his biography see Simon Digby, “¢Abd al-Qoddus Gangohi (1456-1537 A.D.): The Personality and Atti-
tudes of A Medieval Indian Sufi,” Medieval India: A Miscellany 3 (1975): 1-66; B. B. Lawrence, “°Abd al-
Qoddus Gangohi” Encyclopaedia Iranica, https://www.iranicaonline.org/articles/abd-al-qoddus-gangohi-
indo-muslim-saint-and-litterateur-d-1537 (accessed 2.10.2023); G. Bowering, “Gangoht,” EI2 Suppl. 312-
313; Riza Kurtulus, “Gengiihi, Abdulkuddis,” TDVIA, vol. 14, 24.

316 The transcription of Lamii’s letters can be seen in two studies. See Hiiseyin Karaman, “Lamil Celebi’nin
Miingeat1,” Unpublished M.A. Thesis, (Afyon Kocatepe Universitesi 2001); and Hasan Ali Esir, Miingedt-1
Lamii (Lamii Celebi’nin Mektuplar) -Inceleme-Metin-Indeks-Sozlik-, (Trabzon: Karadeniz Teknik Univer-
sitesi Yaymlari, 2006).

317For one of the earliest studies on Ottoman letters, see Orhan Saik Gokyay, “Tanzimat Dénemine Degin
Mektup,” Tirk Dili 274 (1974): 17-87. Focusing on official epistolary, including miingeat collections of
the 19th century and excluding manuscripts of letters prepared by Sufi circles, Josef Matuz lists 137
chancery manuals recorded in the library catalogues. See Josep Matuz, “Uber die Epistolographie und
Insa’ -Literatur der Osmanen,” Zeitscrift der Deutschen Morgenlandischen Gesellschaft 1 (1969):574-594.

318Gee among others John R. Walsh, “The Esalibii®l-Mekatib (Miinge®at) of Mehmed Nergisti Efendi,”
Archivum Ottomanicum 1 (1969): 213-302; Christine Woodhead, “Ottoman Inga and the Art of Letter-
Writing Influences Upon the Career of the Nigsanci and Prose Stylist Okguzade (d. 1630),” Osmanls
Arastirmalary VII-VIII / The Journal of Ottoman Studies VII-VIII (1988): 143-159; idem, “Circles of
Correspondence: Ottoman letter-writing in the Early Seventeenth Century,” Journal of Turkish Literature
4 (2007): 53-68; idem, “Writing to a Grand Vezir: Azmizade Efendi’s Letters to Nasuh Paga, 1611-1614,”
in Osmanh’nin Izinde: Prof. Dr. Mehmed Ipsirli Armagdani, (Istanbul: TIMAS, 2013): 485-492; idem,
“Learning From Letters: Problems and Potential in Studying Miinge’at Mecmualari,” in Klasik Edebiy-
atvmazan Dili (Bildiriler), ed. Mustafa Isen, (Ankara: Atatirk Kiltiir Merkezi Bagkanligy, 2017): 195-206;
idem, “The Ottoman Art of Word-Painting. Rhyme and Reason in Seventeenth-Century Turkish Literary
Letters,” The Seventeenth Century 38/5 (2023): 885-903; Andras J. Riedlmayer, “Ottoman Copybooks of
Correspondence and Miscellanies as Source for Political and Cultural History,” Acta Orientalia Academiae
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Contrary to the rhetorical, rhymed, bombastic and flowery prose literature that gives
the author the opportunity to flaunt his skills and expertise on the one hand and to
perpetuate communication and preserve the patronage network on the other, corre-
spondences composed within the circles of Sufi brotherhoods were plain, lucid, loud
and clear, for they were transmitters of Sufistic knowledge from the master to his
adherents. A close look at Ottoman Sufi networks demonstrate that Khalwati circles
generated remarkable collections of frank and easily understandable correspondence
from the last quarter of the 16th century to the first quarter of the 18th centuries. In
this regard, we can count dream letters dispatched from Murad III (r. 1574-1595) to
Seyh Siicd and from Asiye Hatun to Seyh Muslihiiddin and his successor son, Seyh
Hasan, circa 1641-43, the scattered letters of Niyazi-i Misri (1618-1694), letters from
Khalwati-Karabasi Seyh Mehmed Nastihi (1648-1718) to his disciple, Dervis Ibrahim
Agha, a steward in the imperial treasury, and letters from Khalwati-Giilseni Seyh
Hasan Sezai (1669-1738) to his family members and disciples.3'® Roughly during the
same period, apart from that of Lamii Celebi mentioned above, we have no collec-
tion of letters composed by Nagshbandis. By the last quarter of the 17th and during
the 18th centuries, however, aforesaid collections of Arabic letters composed by Abd
al-Ghani Nablusi and Seyh Murad came to the forefront. It was also in the 18th
century that figures who seemed to be affiliated with both Nagshbandi and Mevlevi
orders devised their personal collection of flowery and rhetorical letters. Nahifi Sii-
leyméan Efendi (d. 1738), a follower of Mevlevi Nagshbandi, and Melami orders, a
famous poet and statesman who served under Sehid Ali Pasha, and, following his
death, under Damad Ibrahim Pasha until 1726, was one of the scholar officials who
left behind some of his correspondences.??Y Kiiciikgelebizade Isma‘il Asim Efendi (d.
1760), another famous poet and official chronicler who served as seyhiilislam during
the last moths of his life, is another Mevlevi-Nagshbandi who had at least two of
his clerks copy his correspondence. Whereas Isma‘il Asim’s earlier collection, which
included thirty-seven letters was composed by Hadizade Mehmed Emin Efendi of
Bursa, the disciple of Seyh Murdd with whom he had exchanged letters, the later

Scientiarum Hung 61/1-2 (2008): 201-214.

319Gee see Ozgen Felek, Kitabi’l-Menamat: Sultan III. Murad’wn Riya Mektuplars, (istanbul: Tarih Vakfi Yurt
Yayinlari, 2014); Cemal Kafadar, “Miitereddit Bir Mutasavvif: Uskiiplii Asiye Hatun’un Riiya Defteri 1641-
1643,” in Kim var imis biz burada yog iken: Dért Osmanli: Yenigeri, Tiiccar, Dervis ve Hatun, (Istanbul:
Metis, 2009): 123-191; Derin Terzioglu, “Sufi and Dissident in the Ottoman Empire: Niyazi-i Misr1 (1618-
94),” Unpublished PhD Dissertation, (Harvard University, 1999); Uskiidarli Mehmed Nasiihi Halveti, Seyr
i Silik Mektuplar (Miirdseldt), prepared by Mustafa Tatci and Abdiilmecit Islamoglu, (Istanbul: H

Yayinlary, 2017): 157-392; Himmet Konur, Hasan Sezdi ve Mektuplar: Isiinda Tasavvuf Hayat, (izmir:
Tibyan Yaymecilik, 2003)

320For Nahifi’s eight letters penned during the last quarter of the 17th and first quarter of the 18th centuries,
see Ramazan Ekinci, “Sevgiliye ve Dost(lar)a Mektuplar: Miingedt-1 Nahifi,” TAED 54 (2015): 239-287.

For his life story and career, see Irfan Aypay, “Nahifi Siileyman Efendi (Hayati, Eserleri, Edebi Kisiligi ve
Divani'nin Tenkitli Metni),” Unpublished PhD Diss. vol. I, (Selguk Universitesi 1992): 1-9; Edith Giilgin
Ambros, “Nahifi,” EI2, vol. VII, 905; Mustafa Ismet Uzun, “Nahifi,” TDVIA, vol. 32, 297-299.
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collection which consisted of 235 letters was prepared by a certain Lutfi Efendi.??!

3.5 An Attempt to Form Muradi Branch Within the Nagshbandiyya

In his Tibyanu Wasa?il al-Haqa?iq fo Bayani Salasil al-Tara”iq, an exhaustive en-
cyclopedia written during the last quarter of the 19th century on the history of
mainstream Sufi orders and their branches, Haririzdde Mehmed Keméaleddin (1850-
1882) mentions a “Muradi” branch connected to Seyh Murdd Bukhari that came

322 Had such a branch re-

into existence within the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi order.
ally formed as claimed? According to Halil Ibrahim Simsek, a Muradi branch did
not actually materialize.3?® Contrary to Simsek, I believe that a Muradi branch
emerged from within the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi order at least in the 18th century
in Bursa, Konya, and Damascus. Indeed, traces of the historical presence of such
a formation in Damascus are well-documented. The abovementioned Silk al-Durar,
penned by Muhammad Khalil, the great grandson of Seyh Murad, intently recorded
the biographies of Muradis, all of whom were either sons or grandsons and great
grandsons of Jeyh Murad. Of course, in the text in question, “al-Muradi” was uti-
lized in the first place as a patronymic title to identify Seyh Murad’s progeny. Yet,
considering the continuity in his family’s spiritual authority in Damascus, we can
contend that al-Muradi had also referred to the continuous influence and authority
of the Muradi branch in the metropolis. Three surviving texts from the second half
of the 18th century prove that from among the Nagshbandi circles in Anatolia, some
individuals or groups of dervishes had already assumed “al-Muradi” as a descriptive
title for themselves. The first and second texts are the copies of Jami® al-Mufradat
al-Qur?an, the Qur’anic dictionary of Seyh Murad, which were completed in Bursa
on 25 Rabi® al-Awwal 1166/30 January 1753 and in 1169/1755-56. The copyist of

the former text, el-Hac Dervig Abdurrahim, utilizes “al-Muradi” and “al-Bursevi” to

321For the biography of Kiigiikcelebizadde Isma‘il Asim, see Abdiilkadir Ozcan, “Asim Efendi, Celebizade,”
TDVIA, vol. 3, 477-478. He was known with his affiliation to the Mevlevi order, but considering that he
was the son-in-law of the chief physician Omer Efendi, another disciple and correspondent of Seyh Murad,
I tend to think that he was also an adherent of the Nagshbandi order. For this significant detail, see Semavi
Iyice, “Hekimbag1 Omer Efendi Kiilliyesi,” TDVIA, vol. 17, 165-166. For his letter collection prepared by
Hadizdde Mehmed Emin Efendi, see Siilleymaniye Kiitiiphanesi, Esad Efendi, no. 3832, fol. 1b-29b. For
Seyh Murad’s letter to Hadizade Mehmed, see Mektubat, Veliyiiddin, no. 1838, fol. 6b. For the collection
composed by Lutfi Efendi, see Kiiciitk Celebizade Isma’il Asim Efendi, Miinse’dt-« Asum, prepared by Fahri
Unan, (Ankara: TTK, 2013). Fahri Unan states that he was not able to detect the manuscript copy of
the collection. See Ibid, XXIII and XXVII. For the manuscript copy that escaped Fahri Unan’s notice, see
Miinge?at-1 Celebizade Asim Efendi, Sileymaniye Kutiiphanesi, Halet Efendi, no. 358.

322Ha.ririzé,de7 Tibyanu Wasa?®il al-Haqaiq fv Bayani Salasil al-Tara’iq, vol. 111, Stleymaniye Kiitiiphanesi,
Ibrahim Efendi, no. 432, fol. 121a.

3238imsgek, “Murad Buhari,” TDVIA, vol. 31, 186.
102



introduce himself and his seyh, Seyyid Sa‘ld al-Nagshbandi, who dictated the copy
in hand.??* The said Seyh Seyyid Sa‘id must have been the copyist of the second
text was completed three years later in 1169. In the text, he introduces himself as
“Mehmed Sa‘id al-Muradi al-Nagshbandi,” and makes it clear that he is the disciple
of Seyh Ibrahim al-Bursevi, who was none other than Karababazade Ibrahim (d.
1722), the disciple and deputy of Seyh Murad in Bursa and one of the recorders
of his sermons delivered there.??> Given these significant details, I conclude that a
Nagshbandi-Muradi branch had taken root in Bursa as early as the first half of the
18th century. The third text is a commentary entitled Tuhfat al-Ahbab fi al-Suluk
ila Tariq al-Ashab on Seyh Murdd’s Silsilat al-Zahab. 1t was written in 1174/1760-61
in Konya by Seyh Késec Ahmed al-Trabzoni (d. 1777), a Nagshbandi and Mevlevi
seyh who followed the Nagshbandi order through Ebt Said Hadimi (d. 1762) in the
middle of the century, but attached also elements of the Mevlevi order towards the
end of his life in the city in question.??6 Considering that the author, Seyh Késec
Ahmed was identified as “al-Murddi” and “al-Nagshbandi”3?7 in the two copies of
this text, I claim that the Muradi branch of the order was also formed in Konya,
probably through the effort of Ebti Said Hadim1 in the 18th century.

Did Seyh Murad really intend to create a Muradi branch of the Nagshbandiyya?
If so, how did he manage to establish a branch named after him? In response
to these questions, I argue that his aim was to be associated with a new path
within the order bearing his name. For achieving this purpose, he depended on the
circulation of letters, continuous travels, and regularly organized gatherings, where
erudite conversations took place between him and his followers. In other words, it
was through these mechanisms that he was able to spread his teachings, personal
method, approach and agenda in Sufism, and, if he had one, his own doctrine. In
fact, he had never overtly claimed to pave a new path, and, quite the contrary,
when propagating he would depend only on the Nagshbandi order and the path of
Khwajagan, the historical flag-bearers of the order. But, as understood from his
surviving letters, he was aware of his potential and conscious enough of his personal

charisma and the mission that took him on the road. As emphasized by Butrus

324See, Muhammed Murad, Cdmi‘uw’l-Mufreddt, Nuruosmaniye, no. 479, fol. 624b.

325For the copy duplicated by Seyh Mehmed Sa‘id al-Muradi, see Istanbul Universitesi, NEK-AY, no. 339.

326The completion date of autograph copy is recorded in Siileymaniye Kiitiiphanesi, Hasan Hiisnii Pasa, no.

7891/1, fol. 19a; and Milli Kiitiphane Yazmalar Koleksiyonu, no. 06 Mil Yz A 8301/1, fol. 21b. For a
study on obscurities regarding Seyh Kosec Ahmed, see Ali Uremis, “Yeni Bilgiler Isiginda Trabzonlu Kosec
Ahmed Dede,” Selcuk Universitesi Tiirkiyat Arastirmalary Dergisi 19 (2006): 175-191.

327Tn the bookplate of a copy Seyh Ahmed is introduced as “Seyh Dervig Ahmed al-Trabzoni al-Nagshbandi

al-Muradi”. See Stleymaniye Kiitiiphanesi, Bagdath Vehbi, no. 2045, fol. la. In the completion record of
the other copy which was completed in Bursa in 1191/1777-78 he is presented as “al-Nagshbandi al-Muradi
al-Hadimi”. See Siileymaniye Kiitiiphanesi, Asir Efendi, no. 422/3, fol. 170b.
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Abu-Manneh, for explaining the reason for which he stayed in Bursa, he would
write to Muhammad Zubayr that he would be able to “transmit the word of truth”
to the capital, the seat of the caliphate.??® In a few other letters to his disciples,
he expressed that his personal and their collective purpose in their localities was
“to deliver the word of salvation” (li-iblagi kalimat al-nasr ila mahallihi bi-wasatati
ahbabina), “to deliver the word of truth” (li-iblagi kalimat al-haqq), “to implant the
word of truth” (fi ilga” kalimati haqq bi-wasitati amsalikum), “to promptly convey
the word of goodness” (tabligi kalimat khayr fr waqt ila mahallihi), “to anticipate the
time the word of goodness reach the good” (li-tawaqqu‘u waqt li-kalimat khayr ila ahli
khayr).32? Undertaking such a noble cause, he had to persuade the target audience
that he was not an ordinary, run-of-the-mill seyh. Therefore, he felt compelled in
his teachings transmitted through his written words and erudite conversations to
say something new and to be novel rather than repeating the usual formulations
that had been circulating among Sufis for centuries. Without considering the role
of disciples in reinforcing the authority of their master, I claim that it was mainly
in this way that established his fame and charisma as the founder of a new branch

within a deeply rooted, well-grounded Nagshbandi order.

What, then, were the teachings of Seyh Murad? In his article on the seyh, Butrus
Abu-Manneh has brought our attention his teachings transmitted through the let-
ters. To summarize Abu-Manneh’s findings on the issue, we should agree that two
main themes were emphasized in the letters: “The first was the exposition of the
rituals and principals of the order, and the second was Sheikh Murad’s concern for
Islam.” The core of the first was twofold: “to observe constantly [the believer’s]
presence with God and secondly to follow in full His honoured beloved one [i.e.
the Prophet].” Thanks to observance of these precepts, “continuous worshipping
[of God] which leads to annihilation éstihlak [in Him]” would occur. Moreover, a
Nagshbandi had to obey the shari®a, pay regard to the sunna of the Prophet in his
actions, and avoid bid“a (reprehensible innovations) and rukhsa (toleration of prohi-
bitions under mitigating circumstances). In addition, he “emphasized the absolute
unity of God..., stressed the need to observe the rabita (mystical link) with him.” As
to his concern for Islam, on the other hand, Abu-Manneh realized that “[a]t a time
of defeat and retreat of the Muslim state at the hands of ‘the infidels’ and growing
anxiety and despair, he exhorted his followers who reached higher positions in the
state to be extremely vigilant about their religion and to work for its revival.” It

was through letters that he was able to preach the ideals of Orthodox Islam and use

328 Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhari and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidr Order in Istan-
bul,” 14.

329 pektabat, Veliyiiddin, no. 1780, fol.87a, 98a, no. 1837, fol. 4b, 5b, 29b.
104



his “spiritual prominence to exert moral and religious influence on statesmen and

other dignitaries, and to call upon them to defend the fundaments of Islam.”33"

What was the novelty in Seyh Murad’s teachings? Neither Abu-Manneh nor anyone
else who has written on Seyh Murad and the expansion of the Nagshbandi order in
the heartland of the Ottoman Empire, has addressed this question. In fact, Seyh
Murad’s views and ideas summarized by Abu-Manneh had already been articulated
by many other scholars and teachers within not only Nagshbandi circles but also
circles of other Sufi orders long before Seyh Murad’s appearance and continued to
be expressed long after his death. I assert that the pivotal novelty in his teachings
was in the conceptualization and reformulation of the message rather than in its
content. To put it differently, I posit that he successfully established and reinforced
his authority through the installation of new or seldom-used concepts culled from the
vocabulary of Sufism rather than the articulation of new ideas. Thus, by highlighting
rare terms, reformulating them in the texts, and imbuing in them new meanings,
he managed to consolidate his authority as the founder of a new branch in the
Nagshbandi tree.

Because of its frequent use in the letters, the most remarkable concept in the Sufi
parlance of Seyh Murad is #stihlak, which, as we have seen above, is translated as
“annihilation” by Abu-Manneh. Through a close reading of the letters, we realize
that Seyh Murad uses the word to cover the meaning of fana or fana fillah (extinction
of the self in God), a widespread and well-recognized concept in Sufi terminology.
Despite its centrality in Sufi minds, to the best of my knowledge, Seyh Murad utilized
the concept of fana in only four letters of which two were written to Daméadzade
Ahmed and Mehmed Salih.?3! Except for this rare use, in the rest of his letters,
he always used istihlak in lieu of fana when he needed to emphasize the state of
fana in dervish. Istihlak, as a concept, meant more for Seyh Murad, but before
going into detail, we must underline a few points regarding fana. In the Sufic
tradition, two definitions have been developed for fana. First, “the passing-away
from the consciousness of the mystic of all things, including himself, .. and its
replacement by a pure consciousness of God,” and second “annihilation of imperfect
attributes .. and their replacement by the perfect attributes bestowed by God.”332

In this understanding, taken with the loss of consciousness, the humanly agent is

330For Abu-Manneh’s subsection of the teachings of Seyh Murad, see “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the
Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidt Order in Istanbul,” 16-20. For more on Seyh Murad’s teachings
see Hatice Tag, “Murdd Buhéari'nin Hayat1 Eserleri ve Tasavvufi Goriigleri,” Unpublished MA Thesis,
(Yiiztinei Yl Universitesi 2015): 20-46.

331For the letter sent to Damadzade, see Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 4b; and the one for Mehmed Salih see
Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 17b. for the remaining two letters see no. 1780, fol.67a-68b and 80b-82a.

332Fazlur Rahman, “Baka® wa-Fana,” EI2, vol. 1, 951.
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replaced by the divine personality of God, he is in ecstasy, and from that moment
on, God is the only actor and man is not responsible for his actions and states
that may contain contradictions to the sharz®e and sunna.?3® Whether such a state
is temporary or permanent has led to heated debates among Sufis and scholars.
Moreover, these debates are directly related to the doctrines of wahdat al-wujud (the
oneness of being, or unity of being) attributed to the Andalusian mystic and scholar,
Ibn Arabi (1165-1240), and wahdat al-shuhud (the oneness of witnessing, or unity
of appearance) developed by ‘Ala al-Dawla Simnéani (1261-1336), but established
as a doctrine at the hands of Seyh Ahmad al-Sirhindi.?3* To summarize roughly,
according to the wahdat al-wujudist view, only God exists; the world we see around
us is the shadow of God’s names and attributes. Since shadows are imaginary and
have no real existence, the only existence is of God. The wahdat al-shuhudist view,
on the other hand, maintains that God and all His creation simultaneously exist.
Everything that is created is shadow in the sense that God manifests Him in it.33°
In conjunction with these debates, it is mostly defenders of wahdat al-wujud who
claim that dervish’s fana in God is constant once he tastes its flavor. Proponents
of wahdat al-shuhud, on the other hand, highlight that the state of fana is instant
and transient; it is impossible for human beings to be united with God; if there is a
union, it is the union of images not of being. Once the dervish comes to his sense,

he is responsible for all his actions as a worshipper.

When we analyze Seyh Murad’s idea of istihlak against this background, we realize
that it was the central concept in his Sufi terminology. It always appears in the
following formulation in advice to disciples: “the continuation of worship on the
path of istihlak” (dawam al-“ubudiyyat ‘ala tariq al—z’stihldk).336 The formulation
points out that istzhlak is the last phase that a Nagshbandi dervish reaches in the
process of self-discipline. Most importantly, it is a path of its own, and can be con-
sidered identical with that of the Nagshbandi order. Therefore, in a few letters in
which we identify his disciples Seyyid Omer of Mar‘as, Mehmed Salih Efendi, Ishak
Efendi, and Seyh Stileyméan, the preacher of Bayezid Mosque, among the addressees,

333Hellmut Ritter, “Fena,” IA, vol. 4, 546-547.

334Yohanan Friedmann, Shaykh Ahmad Sirhindi: An Outline of His Thought and a Study of His Image in

the Eyes of Posterity, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000): 26; M. Nazif Sahinoglu, “Alaiddevle-i
Simnéani,” TDVIA, vol. 1, 346; William C. Chittick, “Wahdat al-Shuhud and Wahdat al-Wudjud,” EI2,
vol. XI, 37-39; Ekrem Demirli, “Vahdet-i Viicid,” TDVIA, vol. 42, 434.

335Necdet Tosun, fmdam-1 Rabbini Ahmed Sirhindi: Hayatr, Eserleri, Tasavvufi Goriigleri, (Istanbul: Insan

Yayinlari, 2009): 88-107. For more on the comparison between Sirhindi and Ibn Arabi and their doctrines
see Cavit Sunar, Imam Rabbani — Ibn Arabi: Vahdet’ Sihid Vahdet’i Viicid Meselesi, second edition,
(Istanbul: Anadolu Aydinlanma Vakfi Yayinlari, 2006). On wahdat al-wujud, see also Seyyed Hosein Nasr,
Three Muslim Sages: Avicenna- Suhrawardi-Ibn °Arabi, (New York: Caravan Books, 1976): 104-108.

336Seyh Murad stressed this formulation in many of his letters. For some examples see Mektubat, no. 1838,

3b-4a, 6a-b, 9a-b, 9b-10a, 10b-11b, 12a-b, 16a-b, 17b-18b, 19b-20a, 20b-22a, 24a-b, 25a-b, 25b-26a, 33a;
and Mektubat no. 1780, fol. 78b-79b, 101a-b, 102a-b, 115a-b, 117a-119a.
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he states that the order or path (tarig, maslak) is of istihlak as in the formulation
of “wa huwa tarigi dawam al-ubtidiyyati ala tariq al-istihlak”?3” and “wa dhalika
maslak dawam al-ubudiyyati “ala tariq al-istihlak.” As can be extracted from the
formulation, the continuous worship is a must-have for a Sufi during the process.
Yet, as explained by Seyh Murad, in almost all letters in which he discusses istihlak,
servanthood of the worshipper necessitates constant presence with God and com-
plete obedience to the Prophet Muhammad (dawam al-hudur bi-Hi subhanahu wa
kamal al-ittiba® li-Habibihi al-karim). How can a believer maintain presence with
God and obey the Prophet? To this question, he emphasizes inseparable binaries
(mutalaziman). Thus, it comes out that one can obey and be in the presence of God
and Prophet externally and internally (zahiran wa batinan) by believing in God and
surrendering to Him (imanan wa islaman), loving and practicing good (hubban wa
tamalan), heartly and bodily (qalban wa qaliban), and devoutly and by renouncing
the world (ikhlasan wa tabattulan).33® What is the outcome of continuous worship on
the path of istihlak? For Seyh Murad, the greatest reward at the end of the process
is not a union with God (wahdat) but existence of a consistent (ga%m) connection
or bond (nisbat) between God and worshipper, and Omnipotency (Rububiyyat) and
servitude (Cubudiyyat).*® This explanation is very crucial, for it underlines the
eternal and everlasting hierarchy between God and servant, and dissimilarity be-
tween the eternal Creator and the mortal created. Therefore, and perhaps upon
the questions and requests of disciples who wanted more details, he needed to fur-
ther emphasize the importance of the matter. In his letter to the chief physician,
Omer Efendi, for instance, he states that the body and all its parts are blessed by
God’s blessings; before God, the worshipper is in a state of non-existence as in the
original; God, on the other hand, is Everlasting and in Him the worshipper is annihi-
lated.?40 In his letter to Ishak Efendi, who served as seyhiilislam from October 1733
to his death on 31 October 1734, Seyh Murad clarifies that “istihlak is a necessary
bond and adoration only comes with it; the worshipper is forever a worshipper in
all circumstances, modes, time, and space; God, on the contrary, is Ever-Living,

All-Powerful, Omniscient, All-Hearing, All-Seeing, and All-Encompassing.” 34!

337See Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 12a-b, 16a-b, 17b-18b, 33a.

338Gee particularly Mektabat, no. 1838, fol. 6a-b, and 6b, the letter sent to Hadizdde Mehmed Efendi of
Bursa.

339Gee for instance the following explanation in his letter written for Mirzd Mustafd Efendi (d. 1722), who
served as seyhiilislam from December 1714 to June 1715: “dawam al-°ubudiyyat ©ala tariq al-isthilak bi-
madmiuniha wa huwa al-maqsud bi-zuhur al-nisbat bayn al-ubudiyyat wa al-Rububiyyat” Mektubat, no.
1838, fol. 10a-b. See also ibid, fol. 6a-b, 10b-11b, 12a-b, and 20b-22a.

340Mektﬁbdt, no. 1838, fol. 3b-4a. “fa inna al-wujud wa tawabi¢ihi kulliha fa’idun min faydihi subhanahu

bada’an wa baqga’an fa-laysa li°l-cabd illa aslihi wa huwa al-°adam wa innama Huwa ga’imun bihi mus-
tahlikun fihi.”

341Mektﬁbdt, no. 1838, fol. 16a-b. “fa al-istihlak gqaydun lazimun 1a yata®t1 al-cubudiyyat illa bihi fa al-abd
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Seyh Murad’s emphasis on the sharp contrast between God and all His creation
in terms of the constant state of Omnipotency and servitude, and eternalness and
mortality, is a deviation from both the wahdat al-wujudist doctrine that advocates
the unity of beings, and the wahdat al-shuhudist doctrine that justifies the transient
unity of images. By emphasizing constancy in the state of God as God, and the
worshipper as worshipper, describing istihlak as a necessary bond between them, and
underscoring “annihilation through continuous worship,” he directs our attention to
a third way, the path of servitude (‘“ubudiyyat), which has absolute legitimacy in
sharia and sunna. Nevertheless, it must be expressed that this view, too, was not
an innovation by Seyh Murad in the history of the Nagshbandiyya. Long before
him, al-Simnani (1261-1336) proposed C¢abdiyyat as “the highest level for a good
perception of existence,” and under his influence, Seyh Ahmad al-Sirhindi upheld
the same opinion towards the end of his life. In this theory, one either perceives of
God and the world separately or sees the world but but not God.?*? In other words,
unity of being is impossible between God and His creation, and one can perceive
God’s creation through the universe He has created but can never perceive Him.
Then, we can readily assert that when proposing a third way, rather than making
a novelty, Seyh Murdd was under the influence of Ahmad al-Sirhindi, the father of
his own seyh, Muhammad Ma‘sim, and the second master in his Sufi lineage. His

only novelty was conceptual, to replace “abdiyyat with “ubudiyyat.

As I mentioned above, when highlighting istihlak, Seyh Murad did not introduce a
new concept to Sufi vocabulary, but rather substituted a rarely used term for fana,
one of the most common concepts in Sufic terminology. Apart from Sufism, istihlak
has developed as a term in Islamic jurisprudence (figh) as well as in commercial and
business law of contemporary Muslim states. In figh, it denotes the disappearance or
perishment of a small amount of forbidden matter (whether food or drink) in a large

amount of clean and halal matter to the extent that it is no longer forbidden.343

In contemporary commercial and business law, however, it means consumption.34*
When it comes to the emergence of istihlak as a concept in Sufi terminology, my

research demonstrates that Hakim Tirmidhi (d. 932) was the first Sufi scholar to

kullahu “abdun wa f1 kulli hal wa tawr wa zaman wa makan cabdun wa al-Mawla jalla jalaluht Hayyun
Qadirun *Allmun Sam1®un Basirun Muhitun”

342Necdet Tosun, Imdm-1 Rabbini Ahmed Sirhindi, 108.

343yunus Naci Cibiz, “Islam Hukukunda Istihlak ve Hitkiimleri,” Yalova Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi 5 (2015): 225-

248; Murat Simsek, “Helal Gida Arastirmalarinda Giiniimiiz Fikih Promlemi Olarak Istihale ve Istihlak,”
Helal ve Etik Arastirmalar Dergisi / Journal of Halal and Ethical Research 1 (2019): 1-17; Mohammad
Hashim Kamali, “Perishment, Extreme Dilution,” in Shariah and the Halal Industry, (Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 2021): 97-102.

344K emal Serkan Keskin, “Katma Deger Vergisi ile Istihsal (iretim) ve Istihlak (titkketim) Vergileri Arasimndaki

Farklar, Her ki Vergi Rejiminin Uygulanmasina Yénelik Avantaj ve Dezavantajlar,” Vergi Raporu Dergisi
219 (2017): 9-36.
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conceptualize the term. In his Kayfiyyat al-Suluk ila Rabb al-¢Alamin, the text that
he devised to answer the questions of his anonymous friend, who himself was a
Sufi master, he describes istihlak as a spiritual station below fana. Therefore, he
continues “the masters among us are scornful of this [i.e. istihlak], because it is a
waste of time, and loss of [true] rank, and associates the world with that which is
unsuitable to it.”3*® In one of the earliest sources written on Sufis and Sufi concepts
in the tenth century, Muhammad b. Ibrahim al-Kaldbadhi (d. 990) explains it
under the concept of mahabba (love). Quoting from a certain Abit Abd al-Allah
al-Nabaji, he says that istihlak is “the annihilation of man in God the Creator”
insomuch that “there is no earthly pleasure [hazz] left in him and no trace of his
affection remains.”?#6 Ibn Arabi is another Sufi scholar who kept istihlak in use as a
Sufic concept in his composition, which has come to be known as Risalat al-Anwar.
However, what he did was not a novel contribution, but rather a word-for-word
plagiarism from Hakim Tirmidhi’s abovementioned text.?*” Thinking together, Seyh
Murad’s understanding of istihlak with that of the earlier Sufi scholars mentioned
here, one can easily notice that he tried to transform the spiritual position of the
concept by raising it to the level of fana, attributing it connotations of the well-
established concept of Sufism. Unlike Hakim al-Tirmidhi, Ibn Arabi, and Abd al-
Karim al-Jili who downplayed istihlak in the face of fana, Seyh Murad attributed
great importance to it, making it the center of his teachings through its consistent
and resolute use in his letters, savant conversations and scholarly works. It was
through this manner that he was able to establish himself as the founder of a new
branch within the Nagshbandi order.

3.5.1 The Reception of Seyh Murad and His Istihlak

If Seyh Murad attempted to form a Muradi branch, how was the reception of his

teachings in Nagshbandi circles? Were there Sufi acclaims for him and his teachings?

345&1—Hak¥m al-Tirmidhi, Kayfiyyat al-Suluk ila Rabb al-¢Alamin, ed. “Asim Ibrahim al-Kayyalr, (Beirut: Dar
al-Kutub al-®Ilmiyya, 2007): 11-12. For the text, see ibid, 11-22. For the translation I mainly depend
on Rabbia Terri Haris who mistakenly attributes the text to Ibn Arabi. See Ibn Arabi, Journey to the
Lord of Power: A Sufi Manual on Retreat, translated by Rabbia Terri Haris, (Rochester: Inner Traditions
International, 1981): 28. Entitled Risalat al-Anwar in the catalogues of the manuscript libraries of Istanbul,
this text is attributed to Ibn al-Arabi rather than Hakim Timirdhi.

346 Ahy Bakr Muhammad b. Ishaq al-Bukhari al-Kalabadhi, Kitab al-TaCarruf li-Madhhab Ahl al-Tasawwuf,
ed. Arthur John Arberry, (Qahira: Maktabat al-Khénji): 79. On al-Kalabadhi, see A. J. Arberry,

“Kelabazi,” IA, vol. VI, 537-538; Paul Nwyia, “al-Kalabadh1,” EI2, vol. IV, 467; Siilleyman Uludag,
“Kelabazi, Muhammed b. Ibrahim,” TDVIA, vol. 25, 192-193.

347For Ibn Arabi’s text and Abd al-Karim al-Jili’s (1365-1408) commentary on it, see ‘Abd al-Karim al-Jili,
al-Asfar can Risalat al-Anwar fima Yatajalla li-Ahl al-Dhikr min al-Anwar, ed. ¢Asim Ibrahim al-Kayyali.
For the text, see Ibn Arabi, Journey to the Lord of Power. The late Muzaffer Ozak (1916-1985), the
post-nishin of the central lodge of the Khalwati-Jerrahi order from 1966 to his death, and Tosun Bayrak
(1926-2018) his deputy in the US, wrote separate introductions for this publication.
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The written material that survives particularly from the 18th-century Nagshbandis
allows us to answer these questions in the affirmative. As discussed in the previous
sections of the current chapter, the ante-mortem and posthumous circulation of his
letters, the ten copies of his Mektubat, most of which were composed following his
death in the 18th century, and the existence in the 18th-century Damascus, Bursa
and Konya of Muradi Nagshbandis are clear indications to a favorable reception of
Seyh Murad and his teachings. To this, we should add the composition of twenty-one
copies of Jami¢ al-Mufradat al-Qur’an, his Qur’anic dictionary written in Arabic,
Persian, and Turkish.3*® My research on the copies of this text demonstrates that
except for a single copy duplicated in the 19th century,3*” the rest were products of
the 18th century. In fact, the number of copies with a record of completion dated
to the 18th century is thirteen, but considering that most of them were kept in
libraries founded by high-ranking officials in the 18th century, I confidently conclude
that all of the copies were brought about in the same century.?®® Seyh Murad
and his assistants succeeded in completing Jami® al-Mufradat on 14 Safar 1131/6
January 1719.3%1
1172/1758-59, at least twelve copies of Jami® al-Mufradat were brought into being

for not only modest Nagshbandi circles, but also high-ranking officials and scholar-

It seems likely that over a period of forty years from the date to

bureaucrats including Hekimoglu Ali Pasha, Haci Begir Aga, Damadzade Ebulhayr
Ahmed Efendi, Veliyytiddin Efendi and Celebizade Abdurrahim. It is noteworthy
that whereas two of the copies were prepared for Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed
around 1140/1728, at least three copies were reproduced in and around 1169/1755-
56, and a copy was duplicated in 1172/1758-59 for Veliyytddin Efendi, who owned
a second copy that passed to the ownership of Mehmed Régib Pasha (d. 1763).352

3480n the colophons of the manuscripts, see the 50th footnote in Numan Cakir. Cakir has located twenty
copies of Seyh Murad’s dictionary, he nevertheless states that there are seventeen copies of it in the
manuscript libraries. See Numan Cakir, “Murad Buhari’nin Kur’an Sézliigiiniin Tiirkce Boliimlerinin
Ozglinligii Meselesi,” 714. The twenty-first copy which I have located in Nuruosmaniye no. 481 is a
deficient but illuminated copy of thirty folios. The distinctive kelime-i tevhid on fol. la of the manuscript
indicates that it has been transferred from the chief black eunuch Haci Begir Agha’s (d. 1746) manuscript
collection.

349Gee Stileymaniye Kiitiiphanesi, Pertevniyal no. 91. This copy was duplicated in Mecca in 1273/1856-57.

350From three copies kept in the manuscript collections of al-Azhar University of Cairo, Maktabat al-Haram
of Mecca, and Chester Beatty Library of Dublin, I have not been able to uncover the date of the copy
preserved in Mecca. We are said that the copy in al-Azhar Library is dated 1169/1755-56. See Mushtaq
Ahmad Wani, “Development of Islamic Sciences in Kashmir,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Aligarh Muslim
University 1999): 45. The copy catalogued in Chester Beatty, no. 5078 is said to be authored by a certain
Ibrdhim al-Brusawi in the 18th century. See Arthur J. Arberry, The Chester Beatty Librar: A Handlist
of the Arabic Manuscripts, vol. VII, (Dublin: Hodges, Figgis & Co., Ltd., 1964): 26. There is no doubt
that he was the copyist Karababazdde Ibrahim (d. 1722) rather than the author of the text. See Numan
Cakar, ibid, 715.

351Qak1r, ibid, 715. For the autograph copy see Siileymaniye Kitiiphanesi, Murad Buhari, no. 25. The
completion record of the composition can be seen in Nuruosmaniye, no. 480, fol. 940b; and Fatih, no. 653,
fol. 378b.

352For the manuscripts of Dadmadzade Ahmed, see Fatih, no. 652, 653. For the copies from 1169 see Nuru-
osmaniye, no. 479; Hamidiye 65, and al-Azhar, no. 32933. For the copy from 1172, see Veliyyiiddin, no.
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The great demand forJami® al-Mufradat in the middle of the 18th century can be
explained in the context of a substantial increase in the number of the Nagshbandi
tekkes during 1740s and 50s. As I have shown in the first chapter, at least six tekkes
were established by grandees such as Seyhiilislam Mustafa, La‘lizade Abdilbaki,
Yekcesm Ahmed Murtaza, Abdullah Pasha and the grand vizier, Bahir Mustafa
Pasha, over a period stretching from 1742 to 1753. It is clear, then, that the visible
rise of the Nagshbandi order in the mid-18th century can best be observed in the
demand for Seyh Murad’s Qur’anic dictionary and the increase in the number of the

lodges.

The favorable reception of Seyh Murad and his teachings can also be viewed through
the interest in his pamphlets. Growing literature has already demonstrated that he
composed at least four tracts on the teachings and rituals of the Nagshbandi order.
The tracts in question were as follows: Silsilat al-Zahab, Risala fr Talgin-i [sm-i
Zat ‘ala Tariqat-i Nagshbandiyya, Risala fo al-Ta‘rif al-Ruh and Risala fi Suluk
al-Nagshbandiyya.3®® To these, we should add a fifth tract, Risala al-Mansubat,
a previously unrecognized composition copied by Seyh Muradd’s son and deputy
Muhammad Bah al-Din.3%* Of these, the first and second works became more pop-
ular and were included in many manuscript collections. All but Risala fi Talgin-i
Ism-i Zat were penned in Arabic. Silsilat al-Zahab, on the other hand, was trans-
lated into Turkish as part of two commentaries in the 18th and 19th centuries. The
Turkish text of Risala fi Talgin-i [sm-i Zat and commentaries on Silsilat al-Zahab
are crucial, because, as in the case of his letters and Qur’anic dictionary, they enable
us to understand better Seyh Murad’s reception by Ottoman learned. Furthermore,
it was because of them that Ottoman Sufi circles became more familiar to Seyh
Murad’s conceptualization of istihlak and found the opportunity to reflect on it. In
one of earliest copies of Risala fr Talgin-i Ism-i Zat dated Shawwal 1124 /November
1712, istihlak was interpreted as an equivalent to fana, as disposition of “staying
in despicableness of non-existence to know the blessings of existence in all its as-
pects.”3 When it comes to Silsilat al-Zahab, La‘lizade Abdiilbaki’s translation of
and commentary appears as one of the first steps taken by an Ottoman to under-

stand the seyh and his concepts and formulations. In his commentary entitled Risala

449. For the copy that Ragib Pasha received from Veliyyiiddin’s collection, see Ragib Paga, no. 102.

353Gee Halil Ibrahim Simsek, 18. Yiizyil Osmanl Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miceddidilik, 102-109, idem, “Mu-

rad Buhéri,” 186; Unal and Yilmaz, “Muhammed Murad-1 Buh4ri ve ‘Riséle-i Naksibendiyye’ Adl Eseri,”
1543-1545; Hatice Tag, “Murad Buhari’nin Hayati Eserleri ve Tasavvufi Gortgleri,” 15-19; Ali Coban,

“Telif ve Teklif: XVIII. Yiizy1l Osmanl’sinda Naksibendilik Risaleleri,” TALID 16/31-32 (2018): 141-145;
Numan Cakir, “Murad Buhari’nin Kur’an Sézliigiiniin Tiirkce Boliimlerinin Ozgiinliigii Meselesi,” 712-713.

354Gee Veliytiddin Efendi, no. 1810, fol. 153b-155b; Siileymaniye Library, Dartilmesnevi, no. 273, fol. 10b-13a.

355“yol_{luk alcakhiginda durup varlik ni®metini tevabi®i ile taniyup” Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 3191, fol. 141b.
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al-Muradiyya fi Tariqat al-Nagshbandiyya, when translating istihlak as a method of
obtaining the most certain knowledge of God through annihilation in Him (hagq
al-yagin), La‘lizade leaves the term in its place and reinforces its meaning by adding
fana to his translation as follows: “6yle hakka’l-yakin ki istihlak ve fena tarikiyle
olan devam-1 cubudiyyet sebebiyle muhakkak ve sabit olmusdur.”3®® Tuhfat al-Ahbab
fv al-Suluk ila Tariq al-Ashab, the Arabic commentary written by Késec Ahmed al-
Trabzoni on Silsilat al-Zahab in 1174/1760-61, is another text in which the path of
istihlak is rethought. According to Seyh Kosec Ahmed, istihlak was “the complete
annihilation of the worshipper in his submission to God to the extent that no trace
of his egotism remains.”3*” More than a century after the emergence of La‘lizade’s
Turkish commentary, Mehmed Riistem Résid (d. 1863), a Sivas-based Nagshbandi-
Khalidi seyh, the deputy of Khalid al-Baghdadi, undertook the translation of Silsilat
al-Zahab, completed it around 1272/1855-56, and published his work on 15 Muhar-
ram 1274/5 September 1857 in Istanbul. On a marginal note in his composition, he

likens the state of an annihilated dervish to a “corpse in complete surrender.” 3°8

La‘lizade Abdulbéaki, Késec Ahmed Trabzoni, and Mehmed Riistem Raésid had au-
thorization in the Nagshbandi order. Their scholarly works mentioned above facil-
itated the spread of Seyh Murad’s teachings and reformulated concepts including
istihlak. Seyh Murad’s scholarly and spiritual influence was not limited to scholars
in question and there were others who seemed to adopt Seyh Murad’s conceptual
novelties in their works. The first example in this regard is Mustafda Rasim Efendi, a
Nagshbandi lexicographer and proto-encyclopedist who penned the first comprehen-
sive dictionary on the concepts of Sufism in the Ottoman Empire. In his Istilahat-i
Insan-i Kamil, the dictionary that he was able to complete in forty-four years from
1780 to 1824, he wrote at least three entries through block quotations from Seyh
Murad. However, except the entry on egotism (enaniyyet), he did not mention his

source, Seyh Murad.?* Unspecified block quotations from Arabic to Turkish in the

356 Risala al-Muradiyya fi Tarigat al-Nagshbandiyya, Sileymaniye Kiiiiphanesi, Haci Mahmud Efendi, no.
2456/2, fol. 70b. I have not been able to locate the exact completion date of La‘lizide’s commentary.

357Sﬁleymaniye Kiitiiphanesi, Bagdatli Vehbi, no. 2045/1, fol. 3b. Abdulldh Eyytbi (d. 1836) translated
Kosec Ahmed’s text from Arabic to Turkish in 1824. For the transcription of his translation see Bilal Tek-
tin, “Abdullah Eyytbi'nin Tuhfetii’l-Ahbab Terciimesi,” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Marmara Universitesi
2019): 148-262.

358“meyyit gibi kemal-i teslimiyetde olmaga derler” in Mehmed Riistem Rasid, Durr al-Muntakhab min Bahr
al-Adab fv Tarjamat Silsilat al-Zahab, (Istanbul: Tabhane-i ¢Amire-i Litografya, 1274): 4. For Seyh
Mehmed Riistem’s short biography see Mehmet Arslan, “Rasid, Ragid Mehmed Riistem Efendi, Sivash,”
https://teis.yesevi.edu.tr /madde-detay /rasid-rasid-mehmed-rustem-efendi (accessed 11.10.2023).

Av

359The entries in question were “endniyyet”, “Tarikat-1 Aliyye-i Naksibendiyye Usfilii” and “Tariki’l-insibag”.
See Thsan Kara, “Tasavvuf Istilahlar Literatiirii ve Seyyid Mustafa Résim Efendi'nin Istildhat-1 Insan-1
Kamil’i,” PhD Diss., vol.II, (Marmara Universitesi, 2003): 100, 424, and 424-427. For the published version
of the dictionary see Seyyid Mustafa Rasim Efendi, Tasavvuf Sozligii: Istidhdt-1 Insan-w Kamil, (Istanbul:
Insan Yayinlari, 2008). On the lexicographer Seyyid Mustafa Réasim, see Thsan Kara, ibid, vol. I, 101-102;
and idem, “Ibnir’l-Arabi’nin Tasavvuf Istilahlarina Etkisi ve Seyyid Mustafa Rasim Efendi’nin Istilahat-1
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text proves that he read Seyh Murad’s circulated letters and utilized them for his dic-
tionary. Istilahat-i Insan-i Kamil indicates further that Mehmed Sadik Erzincani (d.
1794), an Erzincan-based Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi seyh who settled in the Ottoman
capital in the last quarter of the 18th century, too, exploited Seyh Murad’s formula-
tions. Mustafa Rasim’s quotation from Seyh Mehmed Sadik demonstrates that the
latter benefitted from Seyh Murad in his explanations on the benefits of istihlak,
which results in a connection between God and worshipper.3%0 Lastly, we should
point to Seyh Murad’s influence on another 19th-century Nagshbandi-Khalidi seyh,
Mustafa Ismet Garibullah of Yanya (1808-1873). In at least one of his Arabic letters
to his disciple Al Sirrl Sem‘ulldh, he maintained that remembrance of God could
only be possible through the annihilation of the heart (bi-tarigi istihlak al-qalb).3%!
Given these examples, we can confidently claim that Seyh Murad’s reception in Sufi
and scholarly circles was approvable, as his particular emphasis on istihlak and his
reformulation of already existing terms of Sufism engaged the attention of many
subsequent Nagshbandi seyhs and scholars of the 18th and 19th centuries to the
extent that they either wrote commentaries on his works or exploited his words in

their compositions.

3.5.2 Letters as A Means of Monitoring State Affairs, Controlling Statesmen,

and Protecting Personal and Familial Interests

Months before the meeting of the war cabinet that declared war on the Tsardom of
Russia on 20 November 1710, rumors regarding a possible military campaign against
the Russians reached Seyh Murad’s ears in the summer of 1710 in Karahisar, where
he took a breather on his way from Konya to Bursa but could not depart due to
the plague hitting adjacent areas. Therefore, in the second letter he wrote from
Karahisar to Damadzade Ahmed, he asked him to be informed in detail about the
truth of the matter, the would-be role of the imperial navy stationed in the Mediter-

ranean Sea and its commanding admiral, the grand admiral.?6? Does this passage

Insan-1 Kamil'i Ornegi,” Tasavvuf: Ilmi ve Akademik Arasturma Dergisi (Ibnii’l-Arabi Ozel Sayisi-2) 23
(2009): 592-593.

360Gee “Tasavvuf Istilahlan Literatiirii ve Seyyid Mustafa Rasim Efendi’nin Istilahat-1 Insan-1 Kamil’i,” vol.
II, 671. The quoted passage is as follows: “Ala tariki’l-istihlak devAm-1 ubtidiyyetin faydasi ancak devam-1
huzir ve kemal-i ittiba’ zzimninda bulunur. Ve ol fayda kurb-i Hakk’i ve cemi’ maéarifi cAmi’ olan rubtibiyyet
ile ubtdiyyet beyninde vaki’ olan nisbetin zuhtirudur.”

361Quoted in Mahmud Ustaosmanoglu, Sohbetler, vol. 1, (Istanbul: Ahiska Yaymevi, 2012): 9-10. Seyh
Mahmud Ustaosmanoglu, was an expert on Seyh Mustafd Ismet Garibulldh. He transcribed, edited and

published Seyh Mustafd’s Risale-i Kudsiyye. See Seyh Mustafa Ismet Garibullah, Risale-i Kudsiyye, vol.
1-2, ed. Mahmud Ustaosmanoglu, (Istanbul: Ahiska Yayinevi, 2021).

362 Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 11b. “wa haysu shacat akhbar al-safar ila cabhat al-Ris ... an haqiqat amrihi lam
naflam kama yanbagl wa hal wachi Donanmati Bahr al-Abyad ila tilka al-cabhat wa kayfa amri amiruha
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attest that Seyh Murdd wanted to intervene directly in state affairs or that he
wanted to monitor domestic and foreign affairs distantly? The second option seems
more realistic to me. It is no longer a mystery that the great majority of Seyh
Murad’s collected letters were written for the upper echelons Ottoman state ad-
ministration including grand viziers, viziers, grand muftis, judges and madrasa pro-
fessors. Through constant communication with grandees and scholar-bureaucrats,
Seyh Murad was able to spread his teaching and propagate his order among them.
This, as discussed above, was the primary function of the letters. The second func-
tion of the letters was related to more mundane and concrete purposes. I claim that
by exchanging letters with senior officials, Seyh Murad aimed to keep an eye on his
disciples enjoying high ranks, to follow state affairs remotely, and to protect and
maintain his own benefits as well as of his disciples, family and lodges in Damascus
and Istanbul. However, I must underline this significant point: He did not aim to
form in the state organization a Nagshbandi clique under his direct control, nor he
attempted to interfere in the state affairs. On the contrary, he was aware of his
limits and seemed to take the utmost care not to become embroiled in factional

rivalries and interpersonal conflicts.

There is no doubt that Seyh Murad enjoyed contacting and influencing officials of
the empire, but we have clues that he tried his best to avoid being the initiator of
a master-disciple relationship with them. In other words, as a tutor he expected
his prospective novices to commence the process of Sufi education by attending in
his savant conversations or by consulting him through letters. This was pertinent
to at least to his relationship with the members of the ulema. When, for instance,
Déamadzade Ahmed wanted to know whether he had written to a certain Veli, or
asked the seyh to write a letter for that person, who was most probably the future
seyhiilislam Veliyyiddin Efendi (d. 1768), he wrote the following passage in reply:
“I have not written to him for a while, because I have already taught you that
my letter is response to a letter, or a favor for a seeker. Since he did not write,
I did not write. Even if there was need for advice, its influence depends on the
desire. Since he appealed to you, I dispatch a letter to you that you transmit it to
him.”3%3  As is clearly understood from the passage, Seyh Murdd expects a novice
not only to start the communication, but also to eschew intermediaries during the
communication. This was an essential condition, because the relationship between
the seyh and a beginner disciple is private, and the latter is expected to hide nothing

from his master. When it comes to his contact with dignitaries who had already

fa-®asa an-tafsuluna lana dhalika kullahu”. For more on the background of campaign see Akdes Nimet
Kurat, Prut Seferi ve Barigr 1128 (1711), vol. I, (Ankara: TTK, 1951); see also Kemal Beydilli, “Prut
Antlagmas1,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 359.

363 pektabat, no. 1837, fol. 22b.
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proven themselves, we do not know accurately who the exact initiator of the process
of spiritual journey was. What we know is that when there was an interruption of
communication with officials, he would not hesitate to restore communication and
become its second initiator. For instance, in the abovementioned letter to the vizier,
Nu‘man Pasha, he stated that if he were able to revive the correspondence, it would
pervade friendship and familiarity.?* In another example, towards the end of his
letter to Hadizdde Mehmed Efendi, the secretary of Kiiciikcelebizade, Isma‘il Asim
Efendi, he explained the reason behind his correspondence: “What 1 aimed at by
writing is to inquire about your soundness.”3%° These examples explicitly indicate
that there was a rupture in communication between them and that Seyh Murad

wanted to revive it.

Who were the correspondents of Seyh Murad? As shown above in Table 3.1, I have
managed to detect at least forty-three of his addressees, some of whom have been
identified in the previous studies referred to in the current chapter. In addition
to the dignitaries recognized in the literature, it is the current study that expands
our knowledge and awareness of grandees such as grand vizier Kopriiliizade Fazil
Mustafa Pasha, future grand vizier, Hekimoglu Ali Pasha, vizier Silahdar Stileyméan
Pasha, geyhiilislams Feyzullah, Pagmakcizade Seyyid Al and Veliyyiiddin Efendi in
the network of Seyh Murdd. The dominance of ulema in this network is particularly
remarkable. Considering only those who were able to climb to the rank of the grand
mufti, we realize that he exchanged letters with at least nine figures. While four of
them, Feyzullah Efendi (d. 1703), Pagsmakgzade Seyyid Ali Efendi (d. 1712), Mirza
Mustafa Efendi (d. 1722) and Ebi Ishak Isma‘l Efendi (d. 1725) became grand
mufti during the lifetime of Seyh Murad, the rest, Pagmakc¢izade Seyyid Abdulldh
(d. 1732), Ishak Efendi (d. 1734), DAmadzade Ahmed Efendi (d. 1741), Mehmed
Salih Efendi (d. 1762) and Veliyytuddin Efendi (d. 1768) were appointed to the post
during the years after his death. Nevertheless, there is no doubt that, except the
names listed in the Table 3.1, he had contact with many other senior officials and
scholar-bureaucrats including grand muftis, qadis and madrasa professors, but for

the moment we cannot identify them.

I have argued above that Seyh Murad paid particular attention to the continuity
of letter exchange with his disciples, both ordinary and those enjoying authority in

state administration. In many cases where letters were interrupted, he reminded

6

his disciples that he waited a long time for their letters?%®, an implication that

364 Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 13a-b.
365 Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 6b.

366For some examples, see Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 9b-10a, 10a-b, 10b-11a, 24b, 24b-25a, 26b-27a, 32a-b,
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they should write letters more often. In his letters to Mehmed Vehhabi, Mirza
Mustafa, and Ilkhan al-A‘zadm, he needed to express his happiness for the arrival of
long-awaited letters.?6” Due to frequent loss of communication, he felt compelled
in many letters to ask his disciples to continue writing letters for him by utilizing
repeated formulations such as “do not cut me off from your news” (la tangati¢ ‘anni
akhbarikum or akhbarika), “do not cut me off your pleasant news” (la tanqati® ‘anni
akhbarikum al-sarrat), “do not cut me off news of your soundness” (la tangati®
anni akhbari salamatikum).3%® The addressees of the most of these letters are still
unknown to us. Among the letters with a known recipient, on the other hand,
we see figures such as the grand vizier, Sehid Ali Pasha, chief physician, Omer
Efendi, to-be seyhiilislam, Mirza Mustafd Efendi, DaAmadzade Ahmed Efendi, and
the anonymous head of the descendants of the Prophet (nagib al-azam). What was
the reason for Seyh Murad’s insistence on such a request? In terms of master-disciple
relationship, the main reason behind his insistence was his desire for the permanence
of the spiritual bond existing between him and his followers. Given that a significant
number of his followers were senior statesmen of the empire, however, I assert that
through continuous exchange of letters he intended to keep them under his influence
and control, and to penetrate their feelings, so that he could pursue his interest and

follow state affairs more closely.

3.5.2.1 Sharing the sorrows and joys

How, then, did he manage to control his distinguished followers over long distances?
My research demonstrates that he implemented, among others, three significant
methods to bolster his own confidence and thus maintain his influence over his fol-
lowers. In this regard, he shared their pain and joy, mediated for them when they
fell out of favor, and restricted himself with the Qur’anic commandment of “enjoin
good and forbid evil” rather than interfering in state affairs. Butrus Abu-Manneh
has noted that Seyh Murdd’s letters were written down “[a]t a time of defeat and
retreat of the Muslim state at the hands of ‘the infidels’ and growing anxiety and

despair” and that “[h]is mission came at a time of socio-political transformation cou-

39b-40a; Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 107b-108a, and 109a-b.
367Gee respectively, Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 9b-10a, 10a-b, and 10b-11a.

368For some letters containing requests like these, see Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 3b-4a, 5a, Tb, 9a, 10a-b, 20b;
Mektuabat, no. 1780, fol. 71b-72a, 85a-b, 86b, 87a-b, 91la-b, 94a-b, 100b-101a, 105a, 111b-112a, 112a-b,
117a-119a; and Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 2b, 16b, 27b, 45b-46a.
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pled with the brutal shock of severe military defeat at the hands of ‘the infidels.”369
These statements touch only one side of the truth. Seyh Murad’s fifty-odd years in
the Ottoman domains witnessed not only defeats and retreats but also victories and
reconquests. From the Battle of Vienna (1683) to the Battle of Zenta (1697), and
from the Peace Treaty of Karlowitz (1699) to the Peace Treaty of Passarowitz (1718),
Ottoman armies lost to and reconquered from the armies of the Holy League several
cities, islands, and frontier towns and fortresses. For instance, Belgrade changed
hands three times during this period. Ottomans lost the city in September 1688,
retook it in November 1690, and lost it again in August 1717. Nish was captured
by the forces of the Holy League in September 1689, but lost it to the Ottomans
in September 1690. The Morean peninsula was seized by the Republic of Venice
in the summer of 1686 and remained under the Venetian rule until its reconquest
in the summer of 1715. The island of Chios fell in October 1694, but Ottoman
rule was restored in February 1695.370 The importance for our subject of these and
other exchanges in the rulership is that Seyh Murad’s high-ranking disciples were
at the forefront during the military expeditions. Ottoman forces under the grand
vizier, Fazil Mustafa Pasha, for instance, not only expelled the forces of the Holy
League from the Balkans, but also reconquered cities such as Belgrade, Nish, and Se-
mendire (Smederevo), and fortresses on the banks of Danube including Fethiilislam
(Kladovo), Vidin, and Hirsova (Hargova) during the summer campaign of 1690.37!
Defterdar Kirli Isma‘il Pasha (d. 1698), another disciple, who, as discussed in the
previous chapter, established the Buhara Tekkesi for the Central and South Asian
Nagshbandis in 1692, is known for his successes not only as the head of the financial
office, but also as a military commander under Fazil Mustafa Pasha in the western
frontiers of the empire. Sehid Ali Pasha, who served as grand vizier from late April
1713 to his death on 5 August 1716 was the mind behind the reconquest of the
Peloponnesian peninsula in 1715. And the grand vizier, Nevsehirli DAmad Ibrahim

Pasha, was the architect of the Peace Treaty of Passarowitz.

As the situation dictates, during a period of successive defeats and victories in
battle, Seyh Murad sent letters to his disciples to either relieve or congratulate
them. In a letter written for an anonymous statesman during an ongoing military

campaign, he stated that they were waiting for the victory of the ghazis for a long

369 Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order in Istan-
bul,” 18-19.

370For more on the military campaigns carried out during the period in question, see Ismail Hakk: Uzuncarsil,
Osmanly Tarihi, vol. III/1, (Ankara: TTK, 1995): 434-595.

371 Abdiilkadir Ozcan, “Kopriiliizdde Fazil Mustafa Pasa,” 263-265.
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time while praying for them to return victorious.?”? In the letter to Isma‘il Efendi
who, I believe, was none other than abovementioned Defterdar Kirli Isma‘il, after
expressing warm wishes for him, he states that the troops has been struck by ulcer
(qarh), the realm has overflowed, and “corruption has spread on land and sea as a
result of what people’s hands have done,” Yet, immediately afterwards, he soothes
him with another Qur’anic verse: “So do not slacken, do not grieve; if you have
believed, you are indeed the most superior.”” In another letter which was written
right after hearing the defeat of the Ottoman troops, he sorrowfully said that “[our]
tranquility has been broken with the breaking of the soldiers of Islam.”3™ Upon
hearing the news of victory, too, he put pen to paper. This time, however, his aim
was to salute his victorious followers and pay them his compliments. Most probably
after the campaign of Prut (1710-11) or Morea (1715), he sent a letter to Damadzade
Ahmed to congratulate him and “all communities of Islam for this sacred victory.”3™
In a letter written probably for a victorious vizier or grand vizier, he congratulates
his adherent for his endeavor, resolution, faithfulness and for returning safely laden
with booty.37 In another letter, again to an anonymous dignitary, the addressee is

saluted for his triumphant return from the lesser jihad to the grater jihad.3""

Yet, military triumph was not the only occasion for Seyh Murad to send greetings
and good wishes to his disciples. Several examples that I culled from his collected
letters show that he was keen on sharing his blessings with those struck by illnesses
and greetings with recently married ones. As I mention above, he would send healing
wishes to Mehmed Salih Efendi and his father, Yahya Efendi, upon hearing from
Hekimzade All that the former was caught by humma. When a certain Mehmed
Emin fell ill, he wrote to his father to express his wishes for a speedy recovery.3®

When Damadzade Ahmed informed him about the paralysis (nazila) afflicting him,

372 Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 112a-b.

373For the letter see, Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 98a. For the first verse see Qur’an, al-Rum:41; for the second
verse see Ali ®Imran: 139.

374 Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 108b-109a. “wa gad inkasarat al-khawatir bi-inkisari caskar al-Islam”

375 Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 19b. “wa ahnikum wa iyyana macashir al-Islam bi-hadhihi nasr al-®aziz” I have
not come across with any detail in DA&madzadde Ahmed’s biography regarding his presence in a military
campaign. Most probably he was in the retinue of a pasha at least in a military campaign.

376Mektﬂbdt, no. 1838, fol. 15b. “wa ahnikum bi’l-°awdi saliman ghaniman bi’l-ghayrat wa al-sabat wa
al-sadad”

377 M ektubat, no. 1838, fol. 4b. “wa ahnikum bi°l-°awdi mansurina min al-jihad al-asghar ila al-jihad al-akbar
tagabbalallahu TeCala minkum jami®an”. It is maintained in the hadith literature that while combatting
physcially on the battlefield is the lesser jihad, fighting against the lower self is the greater jihad. On jihad
see Emile Tyan, “Djihad,” EI2, vol. II, 538-540; and Ahmet Ozel, “Cihad,” TDVIA, vol. 7, 527-531.

378 Mektibat, no. 1780, fol. 101b.
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he began his response by praying for his health.?™ In addition to these specific
examples, he uttered his blessings for another sick disciple unknown to us.?®® When
it comes to his greetings for newlywed followers, I have found only two specimens
where he wishes for the happiness in two worlds.?®! All of these congratulatory and
consolatory addresses, get-well wishes and greetings for marriage should be seen
primarily as humanitarian gestures and most basic humanitarian duties. On the
other hand, however, it must be borne in mind that sharing the joy and pain of
grandees could serve to influence them. In other words, Seyh Murad’s courtesies
also aided in consolidating his authority and developing a strong control mechanism

over his high-ranking disciples.

3.5.2.2 Intercession for disgraced dignitaries

The second method that Seyh Murad adopted to maintain his control over the
authorities was to lend them a hand when they lapsed from grace and to mediate
for them for positions in state administration. Regarding the intercession for others,
I have noticed a remarkable case going back to his years in Damascus where he
interceded for a local janissary family to be given the commandery of a pilgrimage
caravan. He writes in an undated letter carried by an anonymous janissary to one
of his high-ranking disciples that the courier, like his ancestors, was member of
the local janissary corps in Damascus and belonged to local tribes and clans. His
intention was to make his father and uncle the commanders of a hajj caravan, but

382 Quch an

his own claim was to be affiliated with the Sublime Porte (Babiyya).
intervention on behalf of a local janissary family with strong tribal connections is
particularly striking. It proves on the one hand Seyh Murad’s growing interactions
with and influence on local tribes and families. On the other, however, it betokens
his desire to direct state affairs. Since the letter is undated, we do not exactly
know the historical context in which it was written. But, as touched upon earlier
in this chapter, when Ismail Pasha, the governor of Damascus and the commander-
in-chief of the pilgrimage caravan, ruthlessly solved conflicts over the sharifate of
Mecca in 1694 against the interests of Sharif Sa‘d, Seyh Murad harshly condemned

him and left Damascus for Aleppo, where he settled for a while. With reference

379 Mektibat, no. 1837, fol. 16b.

380 pfektubat, no. 1780, fol. 72a-b.

381 Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 82a, and 105b.

382Mektﬂbdt, no. 1780, fol. 120b-121a. “wa hadha hamil al-raqimiyya min jund al-Sham aban wa jaddan min

ahl al-“ashayir wa al-qabayil wa qad yagsidu bi-abihi wa “ammihi umara al-hajj wa zu®mihi an-yantasibu
ila Babiyya”
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to the incident, Mehmet Sakir Yilmaz has concluded that “[i]t seems that Murad
Buhari attempted to influence Ottoman policy about amirate of hajj and sharifate
of Mecca. If we are to believe Muhammed Halil Muradi, his great grandfather even
managed to reach Sultan Ahmed II, who passed away on 6 February 1695 without
reaching a decision about latest undesirable results of Ismail Pasha’s actions. Sultan
Mustafa II replaced him and reversed the Ottoman policy towards Sharif Sad in the
first days of his reign.”38 It was perhaps against this background that Seyh Murad
recommended a local janissary family to be appointed as the commander of the
hajj caravan. The conclusion seems reasonable, because it is an established fact
that from the first quarter of the 17th century to the beginning of the 18th century,
the majority of amir al-hajj were chosen from among the janissary elders residing

384

in Damascus. Nevertheless, since the name of the janissary and his family was

unspecified, we do not know whether he was appointed to the intended office.

Seyh Murad had to have attached special importance to Damascus. Long years af-
ter his intervention for the post of the amir al-hajj, he recommended to Daméadzade
Ahmed in 1714 the appointment of a certain Molld Hasan to the qadiate of Dam-
ascus.>®®  However, the list of the qadis of Damascus indisputably proves that
Déamadzade Ahmed failed to fulfill his master’s recommendation at least for Dam-
ascus, for Molla Hasan’s name is absent there.?80 Given that Mirza Mustafa Efendi
and Ali Pasha, the then gseyhitilislam and the grand vizier, were Seyh Murad’s dis-
ciples and correspondents, Damadzade Ahmed’s failure in this incident draws fur-
ther attention. Nonetheless, perhaps due to ongoing conflicts between the crews of
Damadzade Ahmed and Mirza Mustafa,38” Seyh Murdd’s offer for Damascus was

dismissed.

In contrast to uncertainty in the first case and failure in the second, Seyh Murad
successfully restored the dignity of at least two disciples who had fallen into disfavor
and exiled to the islands of the Mediterranean. The first episode in this regard is the
story of Bakizdde Abdiilhadi Efendi’s (d. 1143/1730-31) rescue from exile in Cyprus.
Abdiilhadi Efendi belonged to an ulema family from Bursa. Abdiilbaki Efendi, his

father, was a Sufi scholar who served as the Friday preacher in Hisar mosque in the

383Mehmet S. Yilmaz, “Sufi brotherhood beyond boundaries,” 3.

384\ iinir Atalar, “Emir-i Hac,” TDVIA, vol. 11, 132.

385 Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 13b. “wa hadha al-Molla Hasan yuridu al-Sham fa-layakun C€alayhi husni

nazarikum”

386For the list covering the period from 1115/1703-04 to 1143/1730-31, see Seyhi Mehmed Efendi, Vekdyi‘u’l-

Puzald: Seyhi’nin Sakdik Zeyli (Inceleme-Tenkitli Metin-Dizin), vol. III, 2789-2790; and ibid, vol. IV,
3378-3379.

387See Mehmet Ipsirli, “Mirza Mustafa Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 30, 168.
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city. Completing his education, Abdiilhadi was appointed as a madrasa professor
in Muharram 1106/August-September 1694. However, in due course, he switched
from madrasa professorship to gaza administration. We see him as a delegated
judge in Tire in 1116/1704-05 and in Trablussam (Tripoli) in 1119/1707-08. In
Jumad al-Akhir 1123/July-August 1711, however, he was appointed as the qadi
of Kayseri. Seyh Murad’s abovementioned letter, written to Daméadzade Ahmed
conveying Molla Hasan’s request for Damascus, clarifies that Abdiilhadi was in Bursa
that year but already sent to exile to Cyprus when the letter was penned. In fact,
neither the date of the letter was specified nor did Seyh Murad give a clue about
the cause and place Abdiilhadi’s exile. In light of an imperial order issued for the
governor Mustafa Pasha and the qadi of Bursa in Evahir-i Ca 1126/4-13 July 1714,
we surely know that Abdiilhadi, the former qadi of Kayseri, was sent to exile to
Cyprus on charges of being a public agitator (sahib-i cem®yyet), aider of bandits
(mud-i eskwya), the source of disorder (menba® fesad), and of causing a revolution
in the order (ihtilal-1 nizam ahval ve ri’yete bas ve badi olmagla).3®® Following
Abdiilhadi’s exile, Seyh Murad immediately wrote Damadzade the letter in question.
There, he reported what follows about Abdiilhadi, his family and their assistance
for him, and asked for the immediate aid of Damadzade: “My beloved! Hadi Efendi
has been exiled. It is of his neighborly kindness that ever since we landed here from
your land, he, his father, his brother, and his sons have doted on and loved us. But
now, not only he but all of them are in state of calamity that they importunately
and disturbingly appeal us that cannot be described. And, it is from the tarigat to
help those in need whether it be minors or elders or women.”® The known career
path of Abdiilhadi demonstrates that Seyh Murad’s letter served the purpose in this
specific case. Because, two and half years following the exile, we see him as the qadi
of Manisa in Muharram 1129/December 1716. Afterwards, he would be appointed
to the qadiate of Diyarbekir in Rabi® al-Awwal 1134 /December 1721 and of Uskiidar
in Jumad al-Akhir 1139/January 1727.3%

The second figure who received Seyh Murad’s assistance during days of hardship in
exile was La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki Efendi (1679-1746). Following the defeat of the Ot-
toman armies in the Battle of Petrovaradin against the Habsburg armies in August
1716, and the death of the grand vizier, Sehid Ali Pasha on the battlefield, La‘lizade

388BOA, Miihimme Defteri no. 122, fol. 57a, order no. 178.

389Mektﬂbdt, no. 1837, fol. 13b. In fact, this was not the first case that Abdulhadi enjoyed Seyh Murad’s
favor in his career. Most probably during an interim period that he spent in Bursa, he asked Seyh Murad
to mediate on his behalf for the teaching position in one of the imperial madrasas of Bursa. Seyh Murad
interceded for him by conveying his request to a scholar-bureaucrat who was most probably Daméadzade
Ahmed. For the letter, see Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 34b.

390For the short biography of Abdiilhadi Efendi, see Findiklili Ismet Efendi, Sakaik-i Nu’maniye ve Zeyilleri:
Tekmiletii’s-Sakaik fi Hakk-1v Ehli’l-Hakaik, 23-24.
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was charged with leading astray the grand vizier by waiting for the propitious mo-

391 Therefore, he was stripped of all authority

ment to launch attack on the enemy.
and sent into exile in Limnos probably towards the end of that year. We learn from
La‘lizade that he had stayed on the island for eighteen months during which time he
continued to communicate with Seyh Murad, who guided him through the epistles
(kerem ve himmetleriyle bi’l-mikdtebe ifdza ve istifade vdki‘ olurdu). Additionally,
he states that Seyh Murad mediated on his behalf for his release from the island and

392 Thanks to La‘lizade’s testimony about himself, this part

for his abode in Bursa.
of story is well illuminated. Seyh Murad’s neglected letters clarify further ambigui-
ties in the story. A letter sent to Damadzade Ahmed Efendi, for instance, explicitly
reveals that when attempting to release La‘lizade from the island, Seyh Murad acted
not on his own will but on the will of Damadzade Ahmed, who dared not to be the
intermediary to free his friend from captivity. Accordingly, what Seyh Murad did
was nothing other than what he was recommended to do through a letter sent by
Damadzade in that he wrote letters to the grand mufti and the chief physician ask-
ing their assistance in freeing La‘lizdde.3?3 The chief physician, Omer Efendi, who
would hold the post from 1715 to 1724, and the grand mufti Ebii Ishak Isma‘il,
who served as geyhiilislam from December 1716 to May 1718, were followers of Seyh
Murad with whom they exchanged letters. Therefore, as the surviving letter written
for Omer Efendi shows, he drew for them a short but clear roadmap on what they
should do: “I ask by the grace of God for your favor on La‘lizade in his release from
the island and for his abode in Bursa or in another place on God’s extensive earth on
the condition that he repents, out of [your| compassion for his sharifa mother, [your]
kindness for her honorable ancestor, and your good work before the dignitaries, in
particular His Excellency kaymakam.”3%* As this passage suggests, Seyh Murad
emphasized, among others, two significant points. First, that La‘lizdde must repent
for his grave mistake: his interest in astrology that resulted in the misdirection of

the slain grand vizier and poor command of the Ottoman armies. Second, that

391gilahdar Findiklilh Mehmed Aga, Nusretname: Inceleme — Metin (1106-1133 / 1695-1721), prepared by
Mehmet Topal, (Ankara: TUBA, 2018): 1033 and 1044; Rasid, Tdrih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, 870.

39240n sekiz ay Limni Kalesi’'nde hiis¢in-i harmen-i eb ve dane iken Seyh Hazretleri zahiren ve batinan bu
bendelerine indyet buyurup taraf-1 devlete mahsiis sefaatname irsal edip hakkimda hiisn-i sehddet ve Limni
Kalesi’'nden istihlas ve Bursa’da maiyet ve hizmetlerinde olmaya ricd buyurdular.” See Biigra Cakmaktasg,
“La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki'nin Mebde’ ve Mead Adh Eseri,” Unpublished MA Thesis, (Marmara Universitesi,
2010): 253. See also Nihat Azamat, “La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki,” TDVIA, vol. 27, 90-92. For one of the letters
sent to La‘lizdde see Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 53a-b.

393M6kt7jbdt, no. 1837, fol. 15b. “wa ata®n1 minkum mu®nisatun dhakartum fiha kitabatun shafacat li°l-Muftt
wa akhir f1 takhlisi Laclizade fa-katabtu 1i°l-Muft1 wa Hekimbagi ma tarawnuhu”

394Mektﬁbdt, no. 1780, fol. 85b. “wa arju min fadlillahi Tacala husni nazarikum ©ala La‘lizade f1 takhlisihi min
al-jazirat ila ardillahi al-wasiat aw ila Burusa bi-sharti tawbatihi ... tarahhuman €ala walidat al-sharifat
ikraman li-jaddiha al-kartm bi-sa®yikum al-jamil “inda hazarati wulat al-umara jazahumullahu Tacala
khayran siyyama ¢inda al-khayri hazrati al-Qayim-maqam al-jamil” This letter was partly translated to
Turkish by Mehmet Unal. See Seyyid Murid-i Buhdri Hazretleri ‘Kuddise Sirruh’ Killiydti-1, 45.
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the chief physician Omer Efendi should request, in particular, the assistance of the
kaymakam, Nevsehirli Ibrahim Pasha, who would be appointed as the grand vizier a
few months later. Why did Seyh Murad direct Omer Efendi to Ibrahim Pasha and
no to someone else? It so happens that he was one of the seyh’s most reliable and
loyal followers. Most importantly, he had gradually eliminated his rivals in state
administration and won the absolute confidence of Ahmed III who designated him
as grand vizier and kept him in that position for more than twelve years. Because
of these reasons, through the agency of the grand mufti and the chief physician,
Seyh Murad entrusted the question of La‘'lizade’s liberation from exile to Ibrahim
Pasha, who would free him during his first year in the grand vizierate. This is a
clear indication of the unwavering alliance and concordance of Nagshbandi officials

in this matter.

3.5.2.3 Being content with “enjoin good and forbid evil”

The third point that contributed to Seyh Murad’s control over his high-ranking
adherents was his self-awareness regarding his limits. Being conscious about his
incapacity in the politics and fearing possible failure when intervening in factional
and interpersonal struggles, he refrained from interfering in state affairs as much as
possible. It is striking that he was so eager to develop strong links with dignitaries,
yet so distant from state affairs. There were many justifications for his desire to
remain in the background and stay out of the sight. Since the beginning of his
stay in the Ottoman realm, he witnessed or heard about several brutal incidents,
where many scholars and Sufi masters were either lost their lives or were uprooted
from their localities and forced into exile. One of the most famous examples in
this context is the banishment of Niyazi-i Misri (1618-1694), a far-famed Khalwati
seyh exiled to the Mediterranean islands three times: first, from Edirne to Rhodes
where he stayed for nine months from September 1674 to May 1675; second, from
his hometown Bursa to Limnos, where he stayed for fifteen years from April 1677 to
1692; third, from Edirne in 1693 to Limnos, where he died the year after.3?> Another
Sufi and scholar subjected to exile in Limnos was Karabag Ali, a Sa‘bani-Khalwati
sevh who stayed on the island from 1679 to 1683 with Niyazi-i Misri. 3% Atpazari
Osméan Efendi (1632-1691), a Celveti seyh who developed close connections with
palace circles, was exiled to Cyprus in 1690 by the order of Kopriiliit Fazil Mustafa

395Derin Terzioglu, “Sufi and Dissident in the Ottoman Empire: Niyazi-i Misr1 (1618-94),”; Mustafa Agkar,
“Niyazi-i Musri,” TDVIA, vol. 33, 166-169.

396K erim Kara, “Karabag Veli,” TDVIA, vol. 24, 369-371. For the tense relationship between Niyazi-i Misri
and Karabag Ali in Limni, see Derin Terzioglu, “Sufi and Dissident in the Ottoman Empire: Niyazi-i Misr1
(1618-94),” 167-170.

123



Pasha, the grand vizier and disciple of Seyh Murad, due to his harsh criticism of the
wars against the Austrians. He died in exile in the year after.3?” To these figures we
should add another Khalwati gseyh, Mehmed Nasiihi Efendi (1648-1718), who was
exiled to Kastamonu, where he stayed from 1714 to 1716.3%8 Even though we have
no evidence as to direct communication between Seyh Murad, the said Khalwati
and Celveti seyhs, by taking into consideration their fame in the Sufi circles of the
Ottoman capital, we can conclude that the seyh was cognizant of their stories ended

in exile.

From among Seyh Murad’s contacts, however, at least three celebrated scholars and
Sufis stand out for their disastrously ended careers. Among them, two figures, Vani
Mehmed Efendi (d. 1685) and Seyhiilislam Seyyid Feyzullah Efendi (1639-1703) are
particularly noteworthy. Despite their perennial influence on and cooperation with
the sultans and grandees, following breakouts stemming from worsening internal and
external conditions, the former was expelled from the imperial court in 1683 to stay
in Bursa where he would pass away. The latter, who was not so fortunate, was slayed
by the rebellious forces along with his son, Fethulldah Efendi, in Edirne. The third
figure that can be counted in this context was La‘lli Mehmed Efendi (1640-1707), the
father of La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki Efendi. He was born into and grew in the Bayrami-
Melami milieu of Istanbul and became a successful scholar-bureaucrat. During his
judgeship in Mecca from Muharram 1110/July 1698 to Muharram 1111/July 1699,
he developed cordial relationship with Seyh Murad. In Dhi°l-hijja 1118/March 1707,
he was exiled to Cyprus where he passed away in Jumad al-Awwal 1119/August
1707.399 Mirza Mustafa Efendi, one of Seyh Murad’s disciples who held the office
of grand mufti from the mid December 1714 to the late June 1715, was known for
his passion for power politics, which resulted in his dismissal from the office and
banishment from the capital four times. He was exiled to Midilli in February 1689,
to Cyprus in May 1691, to Sinop in July 1699 and to Trabzon in June 1715.400
Contrary to abovementioned Sufis and scholars, he managed each time to redeem

himself and return to the capital.

3978akib Yildiz, “Atpazari Osman Fazli,” TDVIA, vol. 4, 83-85. Atpazari Osméan Efendi’s hatred and hostility
for Fazil Mustafa Pasha can be seen in his wording recorded by Isma‘il Hakki Bursevi (1653-1725), his
adherent and deputy in the Celveti order. See Isma‘il Hakki, “Kitab-1 Silsile-i Ism4il Hakki bi-Tarik-i
Celveti” in Celvetilik Metinleri, edited and translated by Selami Simsek, (Istanbul: Ketebe, 2021): 268.

398K erim Kara, “Mehmed Nasiihi,” TDVIA, vol. 28, 500-5002; Mustafa Tatci, Uskiidarls Muhammed Nasihi
ve Divan’, (Istanbul: Kaknis, 2004): 26.

3990n La‘li Mehmed’s relationship with Seyh Murad, see Nihat Azamat, “La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki,” 90. On La‘li
Mehmed’s biography, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekdyi‘u’l-Fuzala, vol. 3, 2422-2425. We are said by Seyhi that
La‘li Mehmed was dismissed from the judgeship of Edirne in Safar 1103/October 1691. From this time to
his judgeship in Mecca he was given the honorary rank (paye) of Mecca in 1691, and that of Istanbul in
Jumad al-Awwal 1109/November 1697. It is possible that he had been in Mecca during this period.

400fsmail Hakk: Uzungarsih, Osmanly Tarihi, vol. IV/2, 462-464; Mehmet Ipsirli, “Mirza Mustafa Efendi,”
TDVIA, vol. 30, 167-168.
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Moreover, during his third residence in Istanbul, Seyh Murad himself became a vic-
tim of factional strife taking place between the grand vizier, Corlulu Ali Pasha and
the Melami coalition of Silahdar Ali Agha, that is the future grand vizier Sehid
Ali Pasha, and the then geyhilislam Pagmak¢izade Seyyid All Efendi (d. 1712).
According to Ragid, the chronicler of the time, when realizing that Seyh Murad
was highly honored and respected by the grandees, grand vizier Corlulu All Pasha
took offence for an unknown reason (sebeb-i na-ma‘lim ile Sadria‘zam Corlulu Ali
Pasa’ya vesile-i igbirdar olup) and charged the grand admiral. Ibrahim Pasha, to
expel the seyh from the capital.®%! Based on Résid, without questioning the real
reason, it has been suggested in the literature that the struggle took place between
Corlulu Ali Pasha and Seyh Murdd.2? A few other studies mention the forma-
tion of a possible coalition between Melamis and Nagshbandis during the period in
question.?3 In all probability, however, Seyh Murdd was not partake in the power
struggle between the grand vizier and the Melami faction. It is plausible that by
sending the seyh from Istanbul, Corlulu intended to prevent the Melami faction
from taking advantage of Seyh Murad’s presence in the city, because both Silahdar
All Agha and Pagmakgizade Seyyid Ali had developed close connections with the
seyh. Hence, Morali Basmacizade Ibrahim Pasha, a reliable and loyal protégé of the
grand vizier and the then grand admiral charged with the execution of the plan,
disembarked Seyh Murad in Alaiye while Corlulu was still holding the grand vizier-
ate. Furthermore, as I mentioned above, Corlulu did not restrict Seyh Murad from
travelling nor did he prevent his disciples from contacting him. As such, Daméadzade
Ahmed and others were able to communicate with him during the journey, which
started in late May 1709 and ended in late October 1710.

Due to bitter struggles in the upper echelons of the state that resulted in the ex-
pulsion and even execution of celebrated Sufis and scholars including Seyh Murad’s
acquaintances and followers, and in order to retain the life-term tax-farms that he
had benefitted from for a long time, Seyh Murad had to be aware of the limits of
his influence and authority. Moreover, receiving excessive attention in the capital
could constitute grounds for prosecutions. Therefore, he had to exercise caution so
as to not raise doubts of the dignitaries. As can be discerned from his following
statements in a letter sent from Istanbul to Damascus, because of the influx of vis-

itors, once, his uneasiness and apprehension reached a point that he felt obliged to

401Rasid, Tarih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 11, 1177.

4028im§ek, 18. Yiizydl Osmanly Toplumunda Naksibendi-Miiceddidilik, idem, “Murad Buhari,”; Abu-Manneh,
“Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order in Istanbul,”

403Fkem Igm, “Melamilik,” DBIA, vol. 5, 384-385, idem, “Ali Efendi (Pagmakqizade),” DBIA, vol. 1, 190-191;
Tilay Artan, “El Yazmalar: Isiginda Bir Cevre ve Cehre Eskizi,” 25-26.
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appease the government and asked for leniency and patience for a few days: “So far,
we have suffered from an influx of visitors in Istanbul. Therefore, we had to request
from the ministers of the state their patience for days to remove the stampede of

the needy.”404

One indication of awareness regarding limited authority was to be
content with recommendations and leave the final word to disciples enjoying senior
ranks. Therefore, as can be seen in the abovementioned cases regarding exiles and
appointments, Seyh Murad was not in a position to push his followers further when

they failed to fulfill his requests.

Another indication is the avoidance of harsh criticism for the errors of the grandees
when giving them advice in accordance with the commandment to “enjoin good and
forbid evil.” For this reason alone, when warning against confidence in the science of
stars the grand vizier, Sehid Ali Pasha. known for his interest in science even on the
battlefield, he adopted soft wording in his message emphasizing trust in God rather
than signs of the stars: “Steadfastness in trust in God by severely rejecting astrology
will lead to victory, because believers put their trust in God.”*% It seems likely that
in his relationship, particularly with Sehid All Pasha, Seyh Murad refrained from
engaging in interpersonal and factional conflicts even in favor of his disciples due to
his inability to lead his decisions. The most appropriate example in this sense is,
perhaps, the catastrophic end of the former grand vizier, Silahdar Siileyméan Pasha,
in Rhodes in 1715. Siilleyméan Pasha owed his grand vizirate to Sehid Ali Pasha. He
had been appointed as the grand vizier on 12 Shawwal 1124/12 November 1712 and
dismissed from the office on 6 April 1713 upon the recommendation of Ali Pasha,
the silahddr.2% Following his short grand vizierate, he enjoyed another short-term
in state administration, but this time as an admiral-in-chief from 13 April 1713 to
7 November 1713. Subsequently, he was respectively appointed as the guardian to
the islands of Kos (Istankdy), Heraklion (Kandiye) and Chania (Hanya) in Crete
and Rhodes. Yet, in Rhodes, where he was appointed in early Shawwal 1126/10-
20 October 1714, his official duty was turned into exile at first, and then he was
executed upon a decree issued in the mid Shawwal 1127/10-20 October 1715.407
Mehmed Ragid and Findiklih Silahdar Mehmed Agha, the two chroniclers of the

404Mektﬂbdt, no. 1780, fol. 105a. “wa nahnu ila®l-an fi muzahamat al-zuwwar bi-Istanbul wa qad lazama

an-asharna ila al-arkan bi°s-sabr ®anna ayyaman li-raf®i izdihami ahl al-hajat”

405Mektﬁbdt, no. 1838, fol. 7b-8a. The addressee of the letter is specified only in the collection catalogued

under Pertev Paga, no. 246-M1, fol. 10a-b. “ashadd tankiran li®n-nujum tasabbutan €ala al-tawakkul
al-jalib li°®n-nasr wa Cala Allah fa-layatawakkal al-mu®mintn”

4O6Ré§id, Térth-i Ragid ve Zeyli, vol. 11, 871; Uzungarsil, Osmanl Tarihi, vol. IV/1, 93, 97.

4070n his short biography see Mehmed Stireyya, Sicill-i Osmani, vol. 5, 1542-1543, and Uzuncgarsgili, Osmanls

Tarihi, vol. IV /2, 296-298. For the decree regarding his execution see BOA, Mihimme Defteri, no. 123, 58,
entry no. 282. For the decree regarding his transfer from Chania to Rhodes see BOA, Mihimme Defteri,
no. 122, p. 166, entry no. 496.
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period, are silent about the reason behind the execution of Silahdar Siileyméan Pasha.
What the latter could say was that Sehid Ali Pasha was the mastermind behind the
dismissal of Kopriiliizade Nu‘'méan Pasha and execution of the grand viziers, Corlulu
Ali Pasha (d. 1711), Giirci Yisuf Pasha (d. 1713), Hoca Ibrahim Pasha (d. 1713)
and Silahdar Siilleyman Pasha (d. 1715).4% Seyh Muradd must have been aware
of intrigues of his ruthless disciple. But, he had no power and spiritual authority
to prevent him from executing his plans. Nor, as understood from the collected
letters, attempted to hinder execution of the dismissed officials. Therefore, when
his disciple, Silahdar Siilleyman Pasha, was in exile in Rhodes, he did not dare to
directly and openly communicate with him. Rather, what he would do was to send
the letter by private courier for Siilleyman Pasha to one of his high-ranking disciples,
most likely Damadzade Ahmed Efendi, and request his assistance for shipping the
courier to Rhodes. “If the transportation is not possible for the courier of the letter,”
he would say “let your favor be for him.”4%? Indeed, there are indications that Seyh
Murad distrusted and cringed before Sehid All Pasha. An intimidating incident
which happened during his sojourn in Bursa is remarkable in this regard. In a letter
written for an anonymous receiver, he wrote write that “in the middle of the month
of Sha®ban, letters came to me from two dervishes not known to me saying that
the grand vizier (waliyyu”l-amr) has taken an oath to do away with you and he is
determined to do so. Beware and leave for Baghdad. If your friends direct you to
Damascus, do not obey them.”"9 We are not informed about the threat the grand
vizier mentioned in the letter. Yet, considering that Sehid Ali Pasha was, perhaps,
the only powerful, capable and longer-lasting grand vizier during Seyh Murad’s
sojourn in Bursa in the second decade of the 18th century, I tend to think that it
was he who intimidated the seyh.

Before powerful, self-ordained, and capricious statesmen such as Sehid Ali Pasha,
Seyh Murad had nothing to do but remind them of good and evil, a significant
Qur’anic bidding for the self-regulation of the Muslim community. As a divine com-
mandment, “enjoin good and forbid evil” used nine times in the Qur’an to refer “the
collective duty of the Muslim community to encourage righteous behavior and dis-

courage immorality as recognized by reason and the Islamic moral and legal system.

408gi1ahdar Findiklili Mehmed Aga, Nusretndime, 1054-1055.

409Mektﬂbdt, Pertev Paga, no. 246 M-1, fol. 109a. “wa ustkum bi-isali raqimat fa-asallahu ilaykum bi-yadi
hamili hadhihi al-raqimat ila al-wazir Stileyman Paga bi-Rodos ... in-lam yumkin li-hamil al-raqimat al-1sal
wa la-yakun €alayhi husni nazarikum”

40 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 85a-b. “wa qad atacni kitabat min darwishayn fi awasiti Sha®ban lam ahaqqaq
ma‘rifatihuma yadhkurani anna waliyyu®l-amr gad halafa bi°llahi®l-cazim ©ala annahu qad saa f1 gatlika
wa huwa musirrun Cala dhalika fa-ahdharu adhhab ila Bagdad wa in akhtara laka ahbabika ila al-Sham
fa-la tatu®ahum”. See also Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-
Mujaddidi Order in Istanbul,” 14-15.
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Aims to remove oppression from society and instead establish justice. Applied to
moral, social, political, and economic facets of life. It is, ideally, the distinguishing
trait of the Muslim nation.”*!! In Ottoman historiography, the phrase has mostly
been the subject of discussion as a source of legitimacy for the puritan movement of
the Qadizadelis. Ahmet Yasar Ocak, Necati Oztiirk, Madeline Zilfi and Semiramis
Cavusgoglu have demonstrated how Qadizadelis instrumentalized the admonition to
serve their religious and political ambitions.*'? Devoting a chapter to this topic,
Marc David Baer interpreted it as “the central tenets of the Kadizadeli piety” in the
race for the conversion of non-Muslims and reconversion of Muslims into Islam.*!?
Marlene Kurz has shown the centrality of the command in the understanding of Fa-
zlizdde Ali, who penned in 1740s a polemical work harshly criticizing the statesmen
and wulema, attacked the entire Ottoman Muslim community, and condemned the

changes and transformations he witnessed in social life and the public sphere.14

Our attention has already been drawn to interactions between Nagshbandis and
Qadizadelis, and the possible relations between Seyh Muradd and Vani Mehmed
Efendi, acknowledged as the leading figure of third Qadizadeli wave in the Ottoman
capital, and his pupil Seyhiilislam Seyyid Feyzullah Efendi, in the forefront.4!> What
has been unknown as my findings show Seyh Murad had developed close connections
with the successors of Ustiivaini Mehmed Efendi (1608-1661), the most prominent
figure in the second wave of the Qadizadeli movement during the 1650s. After
a series of verbal attempts against Sufis, especially the Khalwatis, embolden by
their connections in the state echelons and janissary corps, Ustiivani Mehmed and
his followers decided to enclose all Sufi tekkes in Istanbul in 1656. However, with
swift intervention of the grand vizier, Képrilii Mehmed Pasha (v. 1656-1661), the
Qadizadeli faction was disbanded and their leaders, including Ustiivini Mehmed,

were expelled to Cyprus. Following a few months of exile on the island, he was

AT« Amr bi al-Maruf wa’l-Nahy an al-Munkar,” in The Oxford Dictionary of Islam, ed. John L. Esposito,

(Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003): 19-20. For an introduction on the origins, historical reception
in different sects in Islam and importance of the motto for the Muslim community see Mustafa Cagrici,
“Emir bi’l-Ma‘rtf Nehiy ani’l-Miinker,” TDVIA, vol. 11, 138-141.

412 Ahmet Yasar Ocak, “XVII. Yiizyillda Osmanli Imparatorlugu’nda Dinde Tasfiye (Piiritanizm) Tesebbiisler-

ine Bir Bakig: ‘Kadizadeliler Hareketi’,” Tiirk Kiultiri Arastirmalars XVII-XXI/1-2, (1979-1983): 208-225;
Necati Oztiirk, “Islamic Orthodoxy Among the Ottomans in the Seventeenth Century With Special Ref-
erence to the Qadi-zade Movement,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (University of Edinburgh, 1981); Madeline
Zilfi, “The Kadizadelis: Discordant Revivalism in Seventeenth-Century Istanbul,” Journal of Near Eastern
Studies 45/4 (1986): 251-269; idem, “The Kadizadeli Challenge,” in The Politics of Piety, (Minneapolis:
Bibliotheca Islamica, 1988): 129-181; Semiramis Cavusoglu, “The Qadizadeli Movement: An Attempt of
Sert®at-Minded Reform in the Ottoman Empire,” Unpublished PhD Diss, (Princeton University, 1990).

413Marc David Baer, Honored by the Glory of Islam: Conversion and Conquest in Ottoman Europe, (Oxford,

New York: Oxford University Press, 2008): 63-80.

414\ farlene Kurz, Ways to Heaven, Gates to Hell: Fazlizade °Ali’s Struggle with the Diversity of Ottoman

Islam, (Berlin: EB-Verlang, 2011): 20, 34.

45Djipa le Gall, “Kadizadelis, Naksbendis, and Intra-Sufi Diatribe in Seventeenth-Century Istanbul,” 1-28;

Tilay Artan, “El Yazmalar: Isiginda Bir Cevre ve Cehre Eskizi,” 24-27.
128



allowed to leave the island to live his hometown, Damascus, where he would pass
away. 10 The biographies of at least two Ustuwanis having been penned in Silk
al-Durar proves that Ustiivani family was one of the distinguished families of the
city.*!” Learning from Ustiivani Mehmed’s failure in Istanbul, his heirs in Damascus
must have recomposed themselves and renounced sharp interpretations on religious
matters in public space. Perhaps, it was due to such a renunciation that a certain
Muhammad Ustiivani, who had to be grandson or great grandson of the celebrated
Ustiivani Mehmed, appeared as a serving disciple of Seyh Murad during his years
in Anatolia and Istanbul. *!® Needless to say, Muhammad UstiivAni’s presence in
the circles of Seyh Murad indicates also that his family’s relationship with the seyh
goes back to the past.

How did Seyh Murad conduct the guidance of “enjoining good and forbidding evil”
for senior officials? The content of some letters demonstrate that he transmitted the
main message he wanted to give by putting it in the form of prayer and good wishes.
For instance, when invoking “may Allah converge the frightened poor of Islam and
the brotherhood through you” in his letter to Kopriilizdde Nu‘méan Pasha,*!” he
referred to the heartbreaking situation of the state and society that had to be re-
covered. In the letters written for grand viziers, he adopted specifically formulated
prayers and good wishes to guide them. By presenting the prayer “I pray to God
to revive by you this position (magam), to guide you rightly in the situation He
ordained, to elevate your favor towards the means of His help .. to elevate by you
His word, to devastate and rout by you His evil-commanding (ammarat), accursed
(rajim), and debauched (fajarat) enemies, and to help by you to His soldiers in whom
He is pleased and with Whom they are pleased”#?? for a grand vizier unknown to
us, he not only professes his confidence in him, but also shows him what he must do

and the path he must follow. In another letter dispatched for an anonymous grand

416p6r Ustiivani’s biography see Muammer Gégmen, “Ustiivini Mehmed Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 42, 396-
397. For an insightful analysis particularly on the second wave of the movement, see Marinos Sariyannis,
“The Kadizadeli Movement as a Social and Political Phenomenon: The Rise of a ‘Mercantile Ethic’,”
in Political Initiatives from the Bottom-Up in the Ottoman Empire, ed. A. Anastasopoulos, (Rethymno:
Crete University Press, 2012): 263-289.

A7For the biographic entries on Mustafd Ustiivani (d. 1713), the son of Ustiivini Mehmed, and Yahya
Ustiivani (d. 1746), see Silk al-Durar, 200-201 and 229-231.

4181 at least two letters one of which was written for Seyh Abdurrahim al-Kabili and Muhammad Baha
al-Din al-Muradi, Seyh Murad’s deputies in Damascus, Seyh Muradd mentioned the names Muhammad
al-Ustiivani, al-H4aj Niyaz and Ali Celebi among his serving attendants. See Mektibat, no. 1780, fol. 105a,
and 107b-108a.

419Mektﬁbdt, no. 1838, fol.13a-b. “fa-asad an yasta’nis bi-kum al-guraba al-mutawahhishuin al-Islam wa
ukhuwwatihi”

420Mektﬂbdt, no. 1838, fol. 14b-15a. When writing “to guide rightly in the situation He ordained” and “in
whom He is pleased and with Whom they are pleased” he reminds respectively Qur’anic verses al-Kahf:10
and al-Fajr:28.
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vizier, he put into paper the following prayers and good wishes: “I entreat God to
make you the eyes of ‘the strange Islam’ and Muslims, to have mercy through you
on rulers and subjects (al-ra wa’l-ra‘iyyat), to open by you the paths of victory, to
devastate by you the enemy, to crush by you oppression and oppressors.”2! In an-
other letter he wrote “I ask God for your salvation and happiness in the two worlds,
and by you the salvation of the world, and particularly of the rulers, subjects and

the elevation of His word.” 422

As is understood from the cited prayers, the peace of the Muslim community and
the soundness of nobles and subjects, and the suppression of the enemies of the
Ottoman Empire equated with the enemies of God, and the eradication of tyranny
and oppression are among themes emphasized by Seyh Murad. By mentioning the
said goods and evils in his messages, he aimed to guide his disciples to the right
path. Yet, as can be seen in what follows, it was only in one of the letters that
he explained to the anonymous correspondent how he could manage the office he
held and what he should do when running the state: “I pray to God .. to revive
by you this position, an office of trusteeship and of protection for Islam and for
the care of its fundaments and for the supervision of its pillars that brings the
victory and crushes the enemy. Indeed, all these come about by the fulfillment
of gratitude to God for whom your nation rightly stands, by the enforcement of
law, by giving advices, .. by the justice and benevolence, and by giving the office
to the competent.”*?3 Seyh Murad penned such adhortatory letters not only for
the viziers and grand viziers but also for scholar-bureaucrats who were burdened
with administrative duties in the provinces. For instance, when Damadzade Ahmed
Efendi was appointed gadi of Mecca in the beginning of the 18th century,*?* he
dispatched to him a letter containing the following special advice related to affairs
of the Holy Lands: “I implore God to ease by you the rulers and subjects, to elevate
by you His word, to devastate by you His enemy, to revive by you His religion, to
magnify by you His stations of the great pilgrimage (masha®r), to restore by you

His cities, to show mercy by you on His servants.”?> Thus, it turns out that the

421 pr ektubat, no. 1780, fol.92a-b. “The strange Islam” is a reference to a well-known hadith.which is as follows:
“Islam began as something strange and will go back to being strange, so glad tidings to the strangers.”
https://sunnah.com/ibnmajah:3986 (accessed 29.10.2023).

422 \rektabat, no. 1780, fol. 91b.

423Mektﬁbdt, no. 1780, fol. 90b-91a. See also Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of
the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order in Istanbul,” 19.

424For the moment, we do not know the exact date of Damadzade’s appointment to Mecca, but we know that
before appointing to the judgeship of Istanbul in 1706, he was the qadi of Mecca. See Findiklili Mehmed
Aga, Nusretndme, 844. This detail does not occur in Seyhi’s account. According to him, Bekrizdde Ahmed
Efendi, a Damascene scholar, was the qadi of Mecca from Muharram 1116 to Muharram 1117/6 May
1704-25 April 1705. See Seyhi Mehmed, Vekdyi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 3, 2374-2376, 2783.

425Mektﬁbdt, no. 1837, fol. 21b. “wa atadarra® ila’llahi Tacala an yartha bikum al-ra‘t wa al-raCiyyat wa ya‘la
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content of his prayers and good wishes might differ from one another depending on
the rank of the recipients. Most importantly, in order not to offend high-ranking
disciples and to keep them under control, they were penned in a soft style to guide

them on the path of “enjoining good and forbidding evil”.

3.5.3 Protection for Personal and Familial Interests

For Seyh Murad, the personal and familial interests and the needs of the tekkes
located particularly in Damascus were among leading motives for exchanging letters
with some dignitaries. On this point, I have explained that his relationship with
Daméadzade Ahmed cannot be reduced to a murshid-murid communication, as it
involved satisfaction of the interest through the provision of needed books and a tent
for Seyh Murad. From the disciple’s point of view, serving the master and fulfilling
his needs was not only part of his/her spiritual journey, but also the most basic
humanitarian gesture. This was a long-established tradition, in which gift-giving
was also a part. Therefore, it is not surprising when we come across incidents in
which Seyh Murad thanks and expresses his satisfaction for the presents he received
with the letters.*?6 However, we confirm only five gift-givers in six cases where
an anonymous grand vizier, Sehid Ali Pasha, Damad Ibrahim Pasha, Damadzade
Ahmed and Mestcizade Abdullah (d. 1737) appear as the givers.*?” Unfortunately,
except a single incidence where he was given ginger and two cases in which he
was given female slaves, we are not informed about the quality and nature of the
gift. Female slaves were sent to him by the grand vizier, DAmad Ibrahim Pasha
and Damadzade Ahmed Efendi. It is likely that he accepted the grand vizier’s
present. But a surviving letter, shows us that he rejected the slave girl presented
to him by the Damadzade Ahmed. Since his excuse for refusing the concubine is
worthy of notice, I would like to quote it here: “I thank to you for the concubine
that you gifted .. but I apologize for rejecting her. This is not because of her poor
creation, or absence of her competence, or my reluctance for marriage. Indeed, there
is remedy in her. Instead, it is because of the appearance of pregnancy in her by

completion of fetus according to the clairvoyant of the tribes.” The passage reveals

bikum kalimatihi wa yaghar bikum aduwwihi wa yuhy1 bikum dinihi wa yu®azzim bikum mashaCirihi wa
ya’mur bikum biladihi wa yarham bikum ¢ibadihi”

4265ee for instance, Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 3b, 9b, 26a; Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 5b-6a, 7b, 24a-b, 37b,
40a-b, Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 82a, 82b, 84b-85a, 86b, 88a,100b-101a, 113a-114a.

427For the two letters sent to Damadzade see Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 9b, 26a; for the letter for Sehid Ali
Pasha, see Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 7b; for the letter to the anonymous grand vizier see Mektubat, no.
1780, fol. 86b; and for the letter to Mestcizdde Abdullah, see Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 24a-b. We learn
from Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 3b, a letter sent to Damadzade Ahmed Efendi, that the grand vizier Damad

Ibrahim Pasha sent a female slave to Seyh Murad.
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a scandal. It suggests that the gifted concubine had intercourse with someone else
weeks before her experience with Seyh Murad. The exploiter might be the previous
owner. But the seyh had also committed a grave offence in the process. He violated
the period of ¢iddat and istibra by not waiting for the completion of at least three
lunar months before sexual intercourse. Therefore, as is understood in what follows,
that he expressed his regret and asked God for forgiveness: “May Allah forgive me
that I abhorrently abused her without istibra of [her| purity. I am the one seeking

forgiveness. 428

Gift-giving constitutes only one face of the coin in Seyh Murad’s relationship with
his adherents. The other face of the relationship deals the fulfillment of needs
and the protection of interests by his disciples upon his request. Needless to state
that letters were instrumentally very useful in this process. However, the contacted
authority might delay the request or be incapable of satisfying it. It is meaningful
within this context that Seyh Murad explicitly expressed his need for many male
servants in one of the letters written for Damadzade Ahmed. Upon Damadzade’s
failure or procrastination he wrote in the next letter that a single servant would
also suffice.*?? This was one of the last letters that he sent for Damadzade from
Bursa, and, in the absence of further correspondence on this matter, we do not know
whether or not his request for servants was observed. Years before this incident,
however, he appealed several times to his contacts in Istanbul for their assistance in
responding to his and his relatives’ needs, and solving legal and financial problems
of his tekke located in Damascus. As I have already mentioned, during his residence
in Damascus, before 1708, he obtained a berdt granting imamate of a mosque to
his son, Es‘ad. It was thanks to the same correspondences that he was able to
introduce his son, Muhammad Baha al-Din, to the scholarly bureaucracy of Istanbul
to guarantee professorship for him in a madrasa in Damascus.*3 While struggling
for positions with regular incomes for his sons, he was very careful not to violate the
classical Islamic ideals. For example, upon hearing that his son, Muhammad, who
had suffered hardship due to financial problems, successfully reserved for himself the
income of a town as a pension (arpalik) with the encouragement of the geyhiilislam,

Seyh Murad immediately intervened in the matter and had the decision annulled.

428For the letter in question see Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 9b. “istibra” has been defined by Sir James
W. Redhouse as follows: “An abstaining from intercourse with a newly obtained slave woman until after
her menstruation, so that, if she proves to be pregnant, this may not be attributed to the new owner.”
Redhouse, A Turkish and English Lexicon, new impression, (Beirut: Librairie du Liban, 1996): 89. On

¢iddat, see Yvon Linant de Bellefonds, “Idda,” EI2, vol 111, 1010-1013; H. Ibrahim Acar, “Iddet,” TDVIA,
vol. 21, 466-471.

429 Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 15b. “wa kuntu dhakartu lakum min shiddat al-ihtiyaj ila al-khawadim al-
mutacaddida fa-idha al-wahidat aydan infagadat”

430g6e Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 87a-b, 109a-b.
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In his opinion, receiving side income of arpalik was a violation of Qur’an and sunna.
Because of this he was resentful of his son and the geyhiilislam, and sorrowfully and
disappointedly explained to his son what follows: “A decision granting arpalik to
you has been issued, but I returned it to be given to someone else other than you.
.. I marveled at him [i.e. geyhiilislam] that this happened, for he knew that my
consent was not for such things. I thought that you secretly asked him to do this,
and I accused you of this. If you had told me that, I would have disavowed you. If
you make a mistake with the fomentation of mala fide dignitaries (bi-targibi qurana”

al-s%), your repentance and remorse must be immediately to Allah.”43!

The needs and interests of the tekke he founded in Damascus is another factor that
motivated Seyh Murad to reach out grandees through letters. Thanks to protection
and financial support of the grand vizier, Fazil Mustafa Pasha, and the grand mufti,
Seyyid Feyzullah Efendi, he was firmly entrenched in Damascus, where he would
establish a madrasa and a tekke complex for which a life-term tax farm (malikine
mukata‘a) was also granted.*32 His letters prove that whenever the time came for
the renewal of the contract (tajdid al-amr) between the waqf of the tekke and the
Chief Accounting Office (Bas Muhdsebe), rather than submitting a petition to offi-
cial authorities, he asked his high-ranking followers in Istanbul for the solution of
the case. It is understood from a letter that it was perhaps in the late seventeenth
or early eighteenth century that he received the assistance of several dignitaries
including the father of the addressee (wa laqad jahada al-walid wa amsalihi ma‘a
“uluwwi maratibihim), for the renewal of the contract to protect the benefit of Mus-
lims (fr masalih al-“bad) and affairs of the poor, i.e., dervishes (fi himayati “alaqat
al-fuqara).*3® In an uncertain date in the 18th century, however, he depended on
Daméadzade Ahmed and an anonymous dignitary when an inspection was carried
out on the pious foundation through comparison of ledgers preserved by the waqf
and Bas Muhésebe. 434

When explaining the main reason behind Seyh Murad’s travel to Istanbul in 1708,

the chronicler Mehmed Résid states that it was due to the encroachment of oppres-

431 Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 7la. For Seyh Muradd’s two letters to the seyhiilislam which contain similar
criticism see Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 70b, and 90a-b. He informed Damadzdde Ahmed about this
bothersome situation. See Mektubat, no. 1837, fol. 9b. Seyh Murdd’s criticism of the arpalik would be
shared by abovementioned Fazlizdde Ali who claimed that receiving arpalik stipend was a means to bleed
the beytilmal. See Marlene Kurz, Ways to Heaven, Gates to Hell, 49-50. On the implementation of the
arpalik in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries see Zilfi, The Politics of Piety, 66-70.

4320n life-term tax farms in the Ottoman Empire, see Mehmet Geng, “Malikane,” TDVIA, vol. 27, 516-518.
433 Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 120b-121a.

434 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 99a-b.
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sors upon some villages granted to him as madlikine.*3> Karl Barbir has pointed
to possible links between Jeyh Murdd’s departure and Nasth Pasha’s (d. 1714)
appointment as governor of Damascus in the same year: “More than any other
governor of the early eighteenth century, Nasuh demonstrated his determination
to implement the Ottoman authorities’ new controls over the province’s fiscal re-
sources and political life, the very policy that Sayyid Murad had unsuccessfully
opposed.”®36 Butrus Abu-Manneh, on the other hand, has stated that “it does not
seem that Sheikh Murad was able to establish a strong presence of the order in
Damascus. And after the violent death of Feyzullah Efendi in the revolt of 1703,
which also led to the deposition of the sultan, Sheikh Murad seems to have faced
considerable pressure in Damascus, the nature of which is unclear.”*3” Given that
Nastih Pasha was appointed to Damascus on 18 August 1708 and reached the city

8,438 we can conclude that Seyh Murad’s

during the beginning days of November 170
departure had nothing to do with his incipient governorship. Some of the letters
tell us that there were at least two basic causes that led Seyh Murad’s flight from
Damascus: first, heavy debts of his son Muhammad, and second, heavy taxes on
both the revenues of his waqf and the subjects living in the villages and arable lands
granted to him as a life-term tax farm. In other words, his main purposes in trav-
eling to Istanbul in 1708 was to find a philanthropist grandee who would vouch for

or directly pay his son’s debts and to mediate tax relief.

On his way from Konya to Bursa in the late 1709 and early 1710, Seyh Murad re-
peatedly reminded Damadzade Ahmed of his troubles in question and asked him
to pay close attention to them.?3® Simultaneously, towards the end of his grand
vizierate, Corlulu All Pasha showed interest in Seyh Murad’s troubles to find so-
lutions for them. Being informed about the development by the grand admiral,
Seyh Murad wrote to Damadzade that what the grand vizier should do was noth-
ing but abolish duties levied on the incomes of the poor from villages and arable

lands, and to offer his son, Muhammad, treats to pay off his debts.**® Dismissed

435Ré§id7 Tarih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 11, 1177. “ber-vech-i mélikdne uhdelerinde olan ba‘z1 kuraya tetaviil-i

eyadi-i zalemeyi def* i ref* etmek kegdkesi ferag-1 hatirlarina dagdaga verdiginden”

436K arl Barbir, “The Muradis of Damascus,” 333.

437Abu—Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidr Order in Istan-

bul,” 13.

438\ [uhammed Yazici, “Asilikten Pagaliga Bir Osmanli Yoneticisi: Osmanoglu Nasuh Paga’nin Hayati ve

Mubhallefat1,” in Gegmisten Gelecege Kigiik Asya Anadolu, ed. Mustafa Aca and Mehmet Ali Yolcu,
(Canakkale: Paradigma Akademi, 2022): 155-156.

4398ee for instance Mektabat, no. 1837, fol. 2b and 18b.

440Mekt7jbdt, no. 1837, fol. 2b. The grand admiral during this period was Egribozlu Mehmed Pasha who

replaced Morali Basmacizade Ibrahim Pasha in 1709. Considering that the latter was Seyh Murad’s disciple
with whom he travelled to Alanya in the said year, I tend to think that by “qapudan pasha” he was referring
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from the office soon after, Corlulu Ali Pasha would be able to lessen neither the
burden of taxes nor the debts. Furthermore, we do not know whether Seyh Murad’s
request for tax reduction was fulfilled in subsequent years. What we know is that
he was able to make the future grand vizier, Nevsehirli Damad Ibrahim Pasha, the
agha in the imperial palace, pay his son’s debts, which was valued at 5250 gurus
or 630.000 akce.*4! Learning that Ibrahim Agha agreed to pay the debts, he sent
a letter with the moneylender to the agha in which he expressed his gratitude and
profound prayers and asked him to pay the debt in full quickly.**? Even though the
date of payment is uncertain, we can surmise that it was made in the first half of
1710s. Considering his statement “we have repeatedly witnessed the faithfulness of
your commitment .. and your reiterant cautionry for the surrounding vulnerable”
in one of the latest letters he wrote towards the end of his life for Damad Ibrahim
Pasha, who held the grand vizierate, I conclude that Seyh Murad was financially
supported several times by Damad Ibrahim Pasha.**3 There is no doubt that a
special relationship was formed between the two figures over the course of time.*44
Damad Ibrahim Pasha’s continuous financial patronage for the seyh and the trust
Seyh Murad placed in him when rescuing La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki from exile is clear
evidence in this regard. Ibrahim Agha’s consent to pay a large debt out of his own
pocket denotes the deep roots of his relationship with Seyh Murad. It is very likely
that theirs was murshid-murid sincerity going back to Ibrahim’s earlier career in the
late seventeenth and early eighteenth century. Furthermore, it must be remembered
that he had also developed close connections with Mevlevis and Bayrami-Melamis of
the time.?4® Taking into account these details, we can assert that he did not recoil

from having affiliations with Sufi brotherhoods and masters serving in Istanbul.

ibrahim Pasha.

441 Thanks to the reform in the Ottoman monetary system in the beginning of Ahmed III’s reign, stability
that lasted nearly sixty years was ensured in the exchange rate of Ottoman gurus and akge. See Sevket
Pamuk, A Monetary History of the Ottoman Empire, (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2000):
162-163; idem, “Kurus,” TDVIA, vol. 26, 458.

442For the letter see Mektabat, no. 1780, fol. 110a-b. “wa laqad astadna min hamil al-raqimiyyat min
harjiyyati tarigiyya 5250 gurushan fa-®asa an-yasa®una f1 ada’ihi ilayhi sari®an tamaman wa kamalan”

443 Mektabat, no. 1838, fol. 28a-b. “wa ashhadatna marraran ©ala sidq tacahhudika ... wa kafalatika 1i°d-
duCafa bi°l-jiwar cala al-takrar”

444Despite surviving letters exchanged between Seyh Murdd and Damad Ibrahim Pasha, the peculiarity of
their relationship has not been noticed before. See for instance, Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhart

and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order in Istanbul,” 17; Artan, “El Yazmalar: Isiginda
Bir Cevre ve Cehre Eskizi,” 27-28, footnote 98.

445Artan, “El Yazmalar: Isiginda Bir Cevre ve Cehre Eskizi,” 5-6, 36-37.
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3.5.4 Serving the Provincial Ulema

The last factor that kept correspondence alive and enabled Seyh Murad to maintain
control over his disciple in the Ottoman capital was his struggle to find cadres
and patrons in Istanbul or provinces for newly graduated madrasa students, and
to help the needy among his followers. In addition to short letters written to find
solutions for such problems, there are decades of letters bearing short notes, hints
and intercessions regarding the problems of Sufi brothers and/or others who asked
for Seyh Murad’s help and intercession. It is crucial to note that, unlike previous
incidents mentioned in this chapter, Seyh Murad not only applied the assistance of
dignitaries, but also often wrote to his son, Muhammad, his deputy and the head of
his family in Damascus, asking him to help the needy who came to him. What made
Seyh Murad’s role as an intermediary more striking and even more exceptional, was
his Sufi identity and the written evidence he left behind. It is noteworthy in this
regard that in at least 33 of 275 letters he interceded for the courier or “bearer of the
letter” (hamil al-ragimat) going to Istanbul, Damascus, Hijaz or any other places
for special purposes. However, except for Damadzade Ahmed, who received thirteen
letters, his son, Muhammad, who got seven letters, and Seyhiilislam Feyzullah and
Hiiseyin Efendizade Mustafa Efendi, each of whom took one letter, I have not been
able to determine the names of addressees for whose favor Seyh Murad wrote the
letters. 46

It is known that following the enthronement of Mustafa II (s. 1695-1703) and
appointment of Seyyid Feyzullah as seyhiilislam, Seyh Murad was able to establish in
Damascus two complexes that served simultaneously as tekke and madrasa. Whereas
the first tekke-madrasa complex, Madrasa/Zawiyya al-Muradiyya, which consisted
of fifty-two rooms for disciples and students, the second complex, Madrasa/Zawiyya
al-Barraniyya, had thirty rooms.*4” In fact, if we are to believe Khalil al-Muradi,
Madrasa al-Muradiyya was not a newly constructed complex, but rather a conversion
from an inn where men of wickedness and debauchery (ahl al-fisq wa’l-fujur) had
stayed. By its conversion, Seyh Murad prepared an endowment deed in which he
stipulated that beardless boys (amrad), married men (mutazawwij) and tobacco
smokers (sharib li’t-tutun) were forbidden to lodge there. This meant that only

young men and celibates who had no bad habits were allowed to stay, a stipulation

446For the letters to DAmAdzade, see Mektibat, no. 1837, fol. 8b, 9b, 10b, 10b, 13b, 13b, 20b, 21b, 23b, 27b,
and Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 88a, 109a-b, 120b-121a; for the letters to his son, see Mektubat, no. 1780,
fol. 103a, 103a, 103b, 103b, 103b, 104a, 104a-b; for the letter to Feyzulldh Efendi, see Mektubat, no. 1780,
fol. 112b-113a; for the letter to Hiiseyin Efendizdde Mustafa Efendi, see Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. T78a.
For remaining letters see, Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 83b, 86b, 86b-87a, 87a-b, 87b-88a, 100a-b, 106a, 109b,
114a, 119a-120a, and Mektubat, no. 1838, fol. 34b.

447Gee Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhari and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi Order in
Istanbul,” 11.
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that would be embraced partly by La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki for his Kalenderhane tekke.44®
Madrasa al-Barraniyya, however, was a new project that completely belonged to
Seyh Murad. According to Steve Tamari, the madrasa was the mansion of Seyh
Murad “transformed into a mosque-madrasa complex.”4*? In the absence of Seyh
Murad in Damascus, the first madrasa was controlled by his son Muhammad Baha

al-Din, while Mustafa, the other son, served as a professor in the second madrasa.*>?

In the dearth of sources, we can only speculate about pupils and graduates attending
lectures and lodgers inhabiting the two madrasa-tekkes. First, it is undoubtful that
members of Seyh Murad’s extended family, were among the residents of the com-
plexes. To them one should add the family of Abdurrahim al-Kabili (d. 1723), the
deputy of Seyh Murad in Damascus, and Central Asian relatives of both seyhs who

451 Secondly, given that Damascus was a crucial

might temporarily visit them there.
departure and arrival station on the pilgrimage and trade routes, it is very likely
that Central Asian pilgrims, merchants and wandering dervishes made visits to these
complexes on their way throughout the year, but especially during the pilgrimage
season, a well-known fact particularly when it comes to lodges established for out-
siders in Istanbul. It is possible that, after completing their holy deeds, some young
pilgrims from Central Asia stayed there to further their education or to join the ex-
isting madrasa system. Lastly, we must consider local students having education in
Seyh Murad’s madrasas. The presence in Seyh Murad’s retinue of abovementioned
Muhammad al-Ustiivini might betoken that sons of some prominent Damascene
families were receiving their education in these madrasas. However, it is equally
true that families from rural Damascus, too, entrusted their sons to Seyh Murad.
For instance, we know that Mustafd al-Nablusi (d. 1740), a Hanbali jurist in Dam-
ascus, “stayed at one of the Muradiyya madrasas after moving to Damascus from
Nablus.”4%2

Where were the graduates of Seyh Murad’s madrasas employed? What was the role
of Seyh Murad in their scholarly career after their graduation? There is no harm in

thinking that some of the graduates would have positions such as assistants, lectur-

44836 Silk al-Durar, 130. This tekke/madrasa came to be known as “Madrasa al-Nagshbandiyya al-Jawaniyya

al-Muradiyya” in Damascus. See BOA, AE.SOSM.III, 58/4228.

4498teve Tamari, “Ottoman Madrasas,” 124.

450For Muhammad’s trusteeship over and professorship at Madrasa al-Muradiyya, see BOA, AE.SOSM.III.,

58/4228. While enjoying the professorship of dahil rank at Madrasa al-Barraniyya, Mustafd would be
appointed by Seyhiilislam Feyzullah Efendi as a professor of Sahn rank on 24 Safar 1111/21 August 1699.
See BOA, AE.SMST.II., 86/9312.

BlEor the biography of Seyh Abdurrahim al-Kabili, see Ibn Kannan, Yawmiyyat Shamiyya, 351-352; al-

Muradi, Silk al-Durar, vol. IV, 9-10.

452866 footnote 79 in Steve Tamari, “Ottoman Madrasas,” 124.
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ers, professors, preachers, imams and muazzins in either the functioning madrasas of
Damascus, the number of which reached 65 in the 18th century,*®3 or the mosques of
the city where circles were formed under the supervision of scholars to teach Islamic
sciences. The administrative and secretarial positions in the pious endowments and
households of the local notables were also open to senior and inferior members of
ulema. Having controlled a regular income from the malikane granted to him, Seyh
Murad, too, was in a position to employ madrasa graduates in his own madrasas
and the mosque that was part of his waqf he established in 1108/1696-97. Despite
not being a native of the city, Seyh Murad did not hesitate to rely on Damascene
Sufis and scholars in his endowments. We are told, for example, that he stipulated
in the endowment deed of Madrasa al-Muradiyya many positions, that of including
caretaking of the books of madrasa for Seyh Abd al-Rahméan al-Manini, a deputy
of Seyh Murad, and professor and supervisor of the Sumaysatiyya madrasa-tekke.
Following his death, his positions were transferred to his brother Ahmed al-Manini
(1678-1759), another student and deputy of Seyh Murad, and by his death, living de-
scendants of Seyh Abd al-Rahman.*®* We have already mentioned that Seyh Murad
guaranteed warrants for his three sons, Mustafa, Muhammad and Es‘ad, positions
of professorship and imamate. However, his sons were not the only teachers in his
madrasas. For example, we are said that Abd al-Rahmén al-Kafrstsi (d. 1765)
“started his career as an ‘alim at one of the Muradiyya madrasas before becoming
Shafi‘i mufti and a prime contender for the prestigious Qubbat al-Nasr teaching post
at the Umayyad Mosque.”#® According to Khalil al-Muradi he travelled to Istanbul
to receive the warrant for the said muftiship. Be that as it may, it is likely that he
turned his connections with the Muradis of Damascus into his advantage during the

process.

I have emphasized that during and after his years in Damascus, Seyh Murad was
closely interested in the problems of the city and the appointments to senior offices
such as judgeship and amir al-hajj. 1 have also mentioned that he sent a letter from
Damascus to Seyhiilislam Seyyid Feyzullah during the restoration of the Umayyad
Mosque in 1699-1700. The letter has particular importance for our subject, for it
proves his involvement on behalf of the scholars of the city in the appointments to
the Umayyad Mosque and the Madrasa al-Badra’iyya, one of the religious education
centers of the city established as a Shafi‘l school in the 13th century by the qadi

453For the number see Tamari, “Ottoman Madrasas,” 127.

454g0e Tamari, “Ottoman Madrasas,” 124. For the biography of Ahmed al-Manini, see Silk al-Durar, vol.
I, 133-145. Umm al-Khayr Khadija, the daughter of Ahmad al-Manini was married to Ali al-Muradi,
the grandson of Seyh Murdd and son of Muhammad. See Barbir, “All in the family: The Muradis of
Damascus,” 345.

455Tamari, “Ottoman Madrasas,” 124, footnote 79. For his biography see Silk al-Durar, vol. 111, 324.
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of Damascus at the time, Najm al-Din Abti Muhammad Abdulldh al-Badrad’i (d.
1256).4°% Considering that in the letter Seyh Murad thanks to the seyhiilislam for his
right decision to give the pulpitry of the Umayyad Mosque to the competent (khitabat
al-Amawi li-ahlihi), | infer that he took an active role throughout the process. When
it comes to appointments to vacant teaching positions in the Badra’iyya Madrasa,
we learn that he intervened in the assignments at least three times by relying on the
patronage of Feyzullah Efendi. In the first instance, he requested the said madrasa
from Feyzullah for some seekers of knowledge since it had remained idle (/i-ba‘d
talabat al-“lm li-taattuliha), an indication that it had been inactive for a while. In
the second case, he requested it for Seyyid al-Hisni, for he merited it (li-istihgagihi).
And, now, he requested it once again, but this time for Hasan al-‘Ajlani (d. 1728).457
Given that a certain Mahmid al-Kurdi was one of the professors in the madrasa, in
September 1685,4%% we can speculate that Seyh Murad was able to activate it after
his arrival in the city in 1670s, owing to his acquaintance with Seyhiilislam and Vani
Mehmed Efendi. Since the post of professorship in this madrasa was stipulated for

multiple professors to teach at the same time,*?

it is possible that some graduates
of Seyh Murad’s madrasas or his local friends managed to secure the unoccupied

positions for themselves.

The presence of Seyh Murad as an intermediary between the center and province,
state and subject, and sources and interest were not exceptional cases or unconven-
tional situation. On the contrary, countless examples that we come across in the
primary sources, including biographic dictionaries, ostend that it was a common
practice for anyone seeking his/her benefits, including a madrasa output, a usurper,
stakeholder or local gentry in provinces of the empire, to find someone who could
serve him as an intermediary in the province or the center. Khalil al-Muradi’s Silk
al-Durar and Ibn Kannan’s Yawmiyyat Shamiyya are significant sources for a better
understanding of provincial ulema’s struggles for the local and central offices. Uti-
lizing Silk al-Durar, Abdul-Karim Rafeq has established that the eighteenth-century

456506 the footnote 89 in Suud Muhammad al-Asfur, “The Political Role of the Ulama of Damascus at the
Time of Circassian Mameluks,” Anali Gazi Husrev-Begove / Gazi Husrev Bey’s Library Annals XXIII-
XXIV (2005): 382.

457Mektﬂbdt, no. 1780, fol. 112b-113a. Seyyid al-Hisn1 was most probably Damascus-borned famous seyh
Seyyid Taqi al-Din (1643-1717), or, less likely, one of his relatives Abdurrahméan, Yahya, and Muhib al-Din.
For Seyyid Taqi al-Din’s biography, see Silk al-Durar, vol. 11, 5-6; and Ibn Kannan, Yawmiyyat Shamiyya,
277.

458G6e BOA, AE.SMMD.IV., 21/2341.

459Up until 3 Ramadan 1157/10 October 1744, seven seyhs simultaneously benefitted from this madrasa,
each receiving one akce per day. Upon the renouncement of five beneficiaries around this time, a certain
Seyh Abdurrahméan b. Muhammad replaced them. The seven beneficiaries, the first five of whom would
relinquish their post, were as follows: Seyh Muhammad Sa‘id, Seyh Muhammad Abt al-Mufti, Seyh
Muhammad Abi al-Suriir, the military seyh Muhammad al-‘Ajlani, Seyh Muhammad Abi al-Hasan, Seyh
Muhammad Salihi, and the military seyh Mustafa. See BOA, C..MF.., 142/7070.
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“Syrian ulema” often travelled to Istanbul for two purposes: “to enroll in the sul-
tanic schools so as to qualify for higher office, and to seek favours to consolidate

7

their standings in their home towns.” According to his findings, from among the
Syrian ulema whose biography was recorded by al-Muradi, 58% of Alepine, 47% of
Damascene and 50% of Qudsi ulema had travelled to Istanbul to secure their ben-
efits. 460 Given this reality with Seyh Murad’s intercession for the provincial ulema
and notables, I conclude that a significant number of Damascene scholars benefit-
ted from his influence over the members of the central bureaucracy during the last
quarter of the seventeenth and first quarter of the eighteenth centuries. Therefore,
when asking an anonymous scholar-bureaucrat for his favor for a madrasa for the
righteous, erudite and virtuous bearer of the letter who connected to him by an
ancient bond,*! Seyh Murad mediated most likely for one of his Damascene disci-
ples. In another letter dispatched to Damadzade Ahmed, he requested that he send
al-Hajj Abdullah, his servant dervish and the courier of the letter, to Damascus,
and if possible, to allocate a salary for him from the bayt al-mal.*5? In some cases,
even if the need of the person making the request was not mentioned, Seyh Murad
felt obliged to present him with praising words. He introduced one of them, for
example, as someone harmless and beneficial for the addressee.*%3 For another one,
he wrote what follows: “Our beloved son, the bearer of the letter, has visited us.
We have found refreshment in him and we did not contemplate about him, because
he has succumbed to your charms.”*%* Nonetheless, it is remarkable that in most of
cases the specific requests of supplicants were not mentioned. Surely, in such cases,
the carrier of the letter would verbally explain his request to the senior official and
the written message that he carried from Seyh Murad to his disciple would function

as a letter of reference for him.

I have pointed out the significant position of Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi
several times in the current chapter. The collected letters prove that, for Seyh
Muréad, he was the most reliable disciple in Istanbul. On many occasions when he
needed something and wanted to rescue someone from exile and help an aspirant for
his appointment to a desired or suitable position, Damadzade Ahmed appeared as
the first authority to be consulted. The primary reason behind such a confidence was

the deep-rooted presence of Damadzade’s family in Istanbul, in the ulema hierarchy

460 Apdul-Karim Rafeq, “Relations Between the Syrian ‘“Ulama’ and the Ottoman State in the Eighteenth

Century,” Oriente Moderno 18/79 (1999): 76. For more in this regard, see especially 74-81.

461 Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 86b-87a.

462 ©fektubat, no. 1837, fol. 10b.

463 Mektubat, no. 1780, fol. 114a.

464 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 87b-88a.
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and Nagshbandi circles. Minkarizades, the family of Daméadzade Ahmed’s maternal
grandfather, had been present in Istanbul since the late 16th century. Born in
Istanbul in 1609, his grandfather, Minkarizdde Yahya Efendi (d. 1678), enjoyed
a tenure lasting more than eleven years from 21 November 1662 to 21 February
1674 as the seyhiilislam. Although from Cankiri, his father, Mustafd Rasih Efendi
(d. 1684), was a well-known figure within the ulema and Nagshbandi networks
of Istanbul. Damadzade Ahmed himself was an Istanbul-based scholar and judge.
Except for his judgeships in Thessaloniki from May 1696 to June 1698, Bursa from
October 1700 to November 1701 and Mecca a few years later, he spent the rest of his
life as a madrasa professor and judge in Istanbul. He was the qadi of Istanbul from
22 September 1706 to 28 September 1707. From this day to 2 March 1710, he ruled
Kitahya from Istanbul through his deputy as an arpalik, and directly transferred
to the chief judgeship of Anatolia, the position that he would hold until 5 May
1711. Following a short break, he was appointed as the chief judge of Rumelia on 19
April 1714 and remained in the position until 18 April 1715. His second term in the
position was from 21 February 1718 to September 1719, and his third term covered a
period from 26 February 1724 to 13 July 1725. Lastly, he served as seyhiilislam from
24 February 1732 to 22 October 1733.465 The continuous presence in Istanbul and
familiarity with the scholarly and secular bureaucracy made Seyh Murad dependent
on Damadzade Ahmed in most cases. Therefore, once the demands became more
frequent, he felt obliged to apologize to Damadzade due to the large number of

people expecting his favors for their needs.466

Spending a significant part of his life separated from his family members living in
Damascus, Seyh Murad relied on letters to maintain communication with them. In
his absence, his son, Muhammad Bahé al-Din, and his deputy in the order, Seyh Ab-
durrahim al-Kabili, looked after his family, the affairs of his waqf and the education
of his disciples there. Having control of a regular income from the granted malikane,
his deputies in Damascus must have enjoyed a relatively rich and comfortable life.
In such conditions, it is possible that in addition to itinerant dervishes, the local
poor and needy, the debt-ridden, the stranded wayfarer, and the like depended on
his tekke-madrasas supported by the waqf. Therefore, in at least seven letters to his
son or Seyh Abdurrahim, Seyh Murad asked their assistance, either for the courier

of the letter or local figures who turned to him. Seyyid Yésin (d. 1733) of Hama,

465For his career and life story see Uzuncarsih, Osmanle Tarihi, vol. IV/2, 469-470; Ipsirli, “Damadzade
Ahmed Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 8, 449-450; Seyhi, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 3, 2270, 2274, 2778-2781, 2820;
vol. 4, 3366-3367. For the career of Mustafd Rasih Efendi, see Seyhi, Vekdyi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 2, 1267-1269.

For more on Minkarizade, see Ozgiin Deniz Yoldaglar, “Minkarizade Yahya and the Ottoman Scholarly
Bureaucracy in the Seventeenth Century,”.

466 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 88a. “habibi actadhiru ilaykum Can kasrat al-multamisat T qada® hajat al-muhtajm
itimadan Cala i°tina’ikum fihim fa-1a yasqalanna calaykum”

141



a descendant of Abd al-QAadir al-Jilani (d. 1078-1166) and himself a Qadiri seyh
and an eminent Sufi scholar of the time and the heirs of a certain Seyyid Hiiseyin
were among the natives offered a livelihood.*6” Moreover, it seems that he had
shown a particular interest in the problems of his friends and disciples embarking
on a pilgrimage. In a letter, he asked his son to help the noble bearer of the letter
on his way to the hajj, particularly by providing a horse.*6® In another incident
when his son, Seyh Abdurrahim, and many of his relatives were in Mecca, he asked
them to pay close attention to the courier of the letter when he arrived there.*6? By
displaying his philanthropy through such backings and subsidizations, Seyh Murad
fulfilled his obligation to God and His servants. On the other hand, however, he
strengthened his image of protector and helper seyh, which in return consolidated

his authority over his followers and those depending on him.

3.6 The Impossibility of A Nagshbandi Faction Within the State Organization

Did Seyh Murad, who was able to develop close connections with so many senior
officials and scholar-bureaucrats, want to establish within the state organization
a Nagshbandi faction consisting of homogeneous, coherent, target- and interest-
oriented, interdependent, and loyal figures were subjected to his authority? If he had
such a goal, did he succeed? A discussion in this regard is nothing but a speculation,
for it is impossible to know his ultimate target. The written evidence surviving to
the date, however, proves that he had no such a purpose. Even if he pursued such
a goal, it is evident that a harmonious and consistent Nagshbandi faction claiming
to rule the state and the sources did not come into existence. To substantiate this
claim, it suffices to recall the struggles and intrigues taking place between grandees
known by their affiliations with the Nagshbandi order. The conflicts and bloody
rivalries between Seyh Murad’s disciples are proper examples in this regard. Sehid
All Pasha, was known to have exchanged letters with Seyh Murad. But, he seems
to not have come under the influence and control of the geyh, for he did not hesitate
to undermine the position of several authorities, including Seyh Murad’s followers,
in order to pave the way for himself. As a result of his ruses, grand viziers, Corlulu
Ali Pasha (v. 1706-1710), his patron and pupil in the enderin, Giircii Yisuf Pasha

467 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 103b, 104a-b. When Seyyid Yasin died, however, he left behind superabundant
wealth, lands, fiefs, real estates. See Ibn Kannan, Yawmiyyat Shamiyya, 437.

468 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 103b.

469 prektabat, no. 1780, fol. 103a.
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(v. 1711-1712), Silahdar Siileyman Pasha (v. 1712-1713) and Hoca Ibrahim Pasha
(v. 1713) were executed; Baltact Mehmed Pasha (v. 1704-1706, 1710-1711) was
exiled first to Midilli and then to Limni, where he passed away, and Koéprilizade
Nu‘mén Pasha (v. 1710) was banished from Istanbul to serve in the western frontiers
of Cyprus and Crete, where he died.*”® From among these grand viziers, Nu‘méan
Pasha and Silahdar Stileyman Pasha were disciples of Seyh Murad, but he could
not dissuade Sehid Ali Pasha, another disciple, from deauthorizing the former and
wiping out the latter. Damad Ibrahim Pasha, whose devotion to Seyh Murad was
more pronounced, was appreciated for his favor and mercy even on the grandees who

471 However, when Mehmed Ismet

had done evil to him before his grand vizierate.
Efendi, one of the disciples and deputies of Seyh Murad in Istanbul and collector of
his letters, requested a teaching position for a madrasa through a qasida in 1726, he

rejected the request.*7?

Fights for senior positions among the Nagshbandi members of the Ottoman ulema
constitutes another base for my claim that neither Seyh Murad attempted to form
under his control a Nagshbandi clique within the state nor was such a formation
achieved undesignedly. Mirza Mustafa Efendi, who served as geyhiilislam from 15
December 1714 to 27 June 1715, and his son, Mehmed Salim Efendi, were followers
of Seyh Murad. Despite his commitment to Seyh Murad, however, Mirza Mustafa
considered Damadzade Ahmed a rival and was uncomfortable with his incumbency
as the chief judge of Rumelia. For these reasons, he underhandedly composed poetic
petitions against Damadzade which resulted in the loss of offices for both.4™ It was
probably due to this rivalry that Seyh Murad failed to secure the gadiate of Dam-
ascus for a certain Molla Hasan Efendi. Ebi Ishak Isma‘il Efendi, Seyh Murad’s
adherent who served as seyhiilislam from 11 December 1716 to 6 May 1718, owed
this position to Damad Ibrahim Pasha, the caimacam of the grand vizier. Contrary
to Ibrahim Pasha, who was in favor of peace with the Austrians, he inclined to-
ward the continuity of the war. Therefore, he even lobbied for the appointment of
Kopriiliizdde Nu‘man Pasha to the grand vizierate at the expense of Damad Ibrahim
Pasha in 1718. But he failed to fulfill his projection and was exiled to Sinop, where
he would reside for more than two years.*™ His son, Ishak Efendi (d. 1734), too, was

the follower of Seyh Murad. He managed to serve as seyhiilislam from 21 October

470For their intriguing career and life stories, see Uzuncarsili, Osmanl Tarihi, vol. IV /2, 280-305.

471Uzun§ar§1h, Osmanly Tarihi, vol. IV /2, 313.

4728ee the last chapter of this dissertation.

473Uzungaur§1h7 Osmanh Tarihi, vol. TV /2, 462-463; Tpsirli, “Mirza Mustafa Efendi,” 167-168.

474Uzungar§1h, Osmanly Tarihi, vol. TV /2, 464-465; Muhammed Nur Dogan, “Ebiishak Ismail Efendi,”

TDVIA, vol. 10, 278-279.
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1733 to 31 October 1734. Before his appointment to the position, however, his an-
ticipated assignment to the chief judgeship or Rumelia was impeded by Daméadzade
Ahmed, the seyhiilislam who regarded him as a rival and a threat to his current
position. Upon Ishak Efendi’s protest against seyhiilislam Damadzade Ahmed, he
was exiled to Kiitahya, his arpalik. It was only thanks to direct intervention of the
sultan, Mahmid I (r. 1730-1754), that Ishak Efendi was brought from Kiitahya and
appointed grand mufti. 47

These examples prove that a coherent, target- and interest-oriented, and intercon-
nected Nagshbandi faction did not emerge during Seyh Murad’s lifetime or after his
death. Nor he attempted to effectuate such a clique within the state formation. Sec-
ondly, it turns out that rather than the group or communal interests, Seyh Murad’s
followers prioritized personal interests and the continuation of the hierarchical order.
It seems likely that, for high-ranking Nagshbandis, as long as personal interests did
not intersect, being attached to the same seyh was not the sufficient reason to enjoy
and share privileges. In other words, among multiple identities, being a Nagshbandi
was not the primary and preeminent identifier for disciples in the service of the
state. An official was first an official, and a scholar-bureaucrat was first a scholar.
Then would come his affiliation with the Nagshbandi order. Being cognizant of this
reality and such power politics in statecraft, Seyh Murad had to be very cautious
in order to not end up on the losing side. Therefore, he did not interfere in politics

and state affairs as much as possible.

3.7 Conclusion

Through an elaborated utilization of Seyh Murdd Bukhari’s letters, I have designed
the current chapter in two main bodies. In the first body, I intended to shed light
on the dark spots in his biography, to elucidate how he maintained his communi-
cation with his disciples, friends, and family members, to show how his letters were
collected years after his death, and to question whether a Nagshbandi Republic of
Letters formed around Seyh Murdd. In the second part, I focused on the main
reasons behind Seyh Murad’s desire for continuous exchange of letters with his ad-
dressees, among whom high-ranking officials constituted a significant portion. I have
claimed in this regard that his initial purpose in writing letters was to propagate his

reformulated teachings, which would result in return in the formation of the Muradi

475Uzungar§1h, Osmanl Tarihi, vol. TV /2, 469-472; Muhammet Nur Dogan, “Ishak Efendi, Ebiiishakzade,”
TDVIA, vol. 22, 530-531.
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branch of the Nagshbandiyya. Secondly, I have asserted letters allowed him or af-
forded him the opportunity to consolidate and maintain control and influence over
his high-ranking followers in the service of the state, to protect his own interests,
those of his family and his lodges, and to find cadres for his provincial followers in
the center and particularly in their localities. Lastly, I argued that although he had
been keen on developing affiliations with grandees, neither did intend to establish
a Nagshbandi faction within the state machinery, nor did such an interest- and

target-oriented organization emerge spontaneously after Seyh Murad’s death.

Given that his collected letters contain significant information regarding his biog-
raphy, the current chapter has aimed at first to bring to light unknown or cloudy
details as to Seyh Murad’s life story, his family and the initial phase of his relations
with dignitaries. As to his family members, for instance, it has become clear that
apart from Mustafd and Muhammad, his two sons, who have already been identi-
fied in the literature, he had two more sons: (Ahmed and Es‘ad), three daughters
(Emine, Ayse, and Saliha), four grandsons (Ibrahim, Abdullah, Khalil, and Ahmed),
and two granddaughters (Nefise and Meryem). Secondly, it has come out that Seyh
Murad was a mobile preceptor. Rather than staying in certain places, he constantly
travelled in Ottoman towns and cities located on the trade and pilgrimage routes.
“Travel within the homeland” (safar dar-watan), one of the eleven principals of the
Nagshbandi order, and his self-confidence and conviction that he was divinely com-
missioned to spread the word of truth were the main reasons behind his travels.
Nonetheless, it is particularly noteworthy that he visited cities where the Indian
lodges were erected for itinerant dervishes. But, since the sources of these tekkes
were insufficient to meet his and his dervishes’ needs, he turned to the dignitaries
of the state. As a stranger and newcomer in the Ottoman lands, he seems to have
enjoyed the patronage of Kopriilii Fazil Mustafa Pasha, Vani Mehmed Efendi, Sey-
hiilislam Feyzullah Efendi and the heirs of Seyhiilislam Minkarizade Yahya, particu-
larly of his son-in-law, Mustafa Rasih Efendi. In the later parts of his life, however,
he benefited from the patronage of viziers and grand viziers such as Kopriiltizade
Nu‘méan Pasha, Sehid Ali Pasha, Damad Ibrahim Pasha, Silahdar Siileyman Pasha,
Basmacizade Morali Ibrahim Pasha, and scholar-bureaucrats such as the chief physi-
cians, Nuh Efendi and Omer Efendi, Hiiseyin Efendi, DaAmadzade Ahmed Efendi and
Ebii Ishak Isma‘il Efendi.

Due to his incessant travels, Seyh Murad had spent a significant part of his life
separated from his adherents and family members. Because of this, he relied on the
exchange of letters to maintain the communication with his disciples, friends, and
relatives. The current chapter has maintained that during the process he and his

addressees adopted, among others, two significant methods. First, they depended
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on the existing commercial and pilgrimage routes through which their messages
were transported. Secondly and more importantly, however, they employed private
couriers who carried letters from the seyh and his followers and vice versa. The
main reasons in hiring private deliverers, however, were the fear for interruption
in communication and the private content of the message. Such an operation was
possible in their circles because both Seyh Murad and his high-ranking devotees had

wealth, allowed them to hire dispatch-riders for transportation.

The chapter directs attention to the way in which letters were recorded, dupli-
cated, and preserved. Leaving aside letters with private content, it seems likely
that hortative letters were reproduced and circulated by Seyh Murad’s followers
immediately after their composition or arrival to addressees. They were intently
preserved because they were survivals of the seyh and source of blessings for the
disciples. Therefore, after Seyh Murad’s death, Mehmed Ismet, the collector of the
letters, was able to record 227 in his collection. The chapter asserts that neither
was Mehmed Ismet the only disciple attempting to make a collection of letters, nor
managed to collect all surviving letters. Of forty-eight letters unseen by Mehmed
Ismet, thirty-one letters were in the possession of Damadzade Ahmed Efendi, who
did not share them with anybody because of the sense of privacy. The chapter
argues further that apart from Mehmed Ismet Efendi, an anonymous collector who
composed the manuscript catalogued under IU-TY 3442, Damadzade Ahmed Efendi
and Seyhiilislam Veliyyiiddin Efendi attempted to collect scattered letters of Seyh
Murad from different hands.

One of the significant contributions of the current chapter is that it evaluates Seyh
Murad’s learned circle, which owed its intra-communal communication to the letter
exchange within the context of the extensive literature on the Republic of Letters.
The Republic of Letters was an imaginary republic of the learned particularly in
17th- and 18th- century Europe. Its members depended on the constant exchange
of letters to keep communication alive among themselves. The chapter discusses
whether a Nagshbandi Republic of Letters came into existence around Seyh Murad.
It proposes in this regard that there were some similarities between the Republic
of Letters and Seyh Murad’s lettered circles. The first similarity that the current
chapter has discovered is the existence of a lingua franca in Seyh Murad’s Nagsh-
bandi network. Whereas Latin and later on French was the lingua franca of the
Republic of Letters, the lingua franca of its Nagshbandi equivalent was Arabic. The
second commonality of the two entities, the chapter claims, was the “communica-
tion through epistolary exchange” since both depended on the exchange of letters
to maintain the communication. Lastly, the chapter asserts that “the centrality

b

of savant/erudite conversation (conversatio erudita)” was a significant similarity
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between the two republics. Yet, while savant conversation was a matter of fact,
particularly for some German scholars by the second half of the 17th century, as an
irshadi mode of Sufism that attaches great importance to the personal conversation
and companionship with the Sufi master, it was one of the pillars of the Nagshbandi

order since its foundation.

In the second body of the current chapter, I tried to understand the reasons behind
Seyh Murad’s willingness to pen for his disciples so many letters. The initial find-
ing of the chapter is that, separated from disciples residing in different localities,
Seyh Murad educated them through letters. In the meantime, he was propagated
his teachings through reformulated and reinterpreted concepts, which had been in-
grained in the Sufi lexicon. The chapter asserts that his primary purpose in adopting
such a method was to establish himself as the founder of a Muradi branch in the
Nagshbandi order. Bringing to light several historical examples of Nagshbandis
identifying themselves as “Muradi” in eighteenth-century Konya, Bursa, and Dam-
ascus, the chapter contends that Seyh Murad had indeed succeeded in establishing
a Muradi branch. By utilizing commentaries written on Seyh Murad’s pamphlets
and texts quoting from his scholarly works, the chapter explored further the circula-
tion of Seyh Murad’s reformulated Sufistic concepts and the reception of his teach-
ings within the circles of Sufi brotherhoods. As a result, it propounds that Seyh
Murad’s reception was particularly favorable in the eyes of La‘lizade Abdiilbaki,
Koésec Ahmed Trabzonil, Mehmed Riistem Réasid, Mustafa Rasim Efendi, Mehmed
Sadik Erzincani, and Mustafd Ismet Garibullih of Yanya, the Nagshbandi seyhs
and authors whose scholarly works played an instrumental role in spreading Seyh

Murad’s teachings.

The chapter has discussed that epistolary exchange between Seyh Murad and his
followers was also functional in the sense that it allowed the seyh to maintain his
control and influence over grandees of the empire, to protect the benefits of his fam-
ily members and lodges, and to find appropriate positions and sources of income
for provincial disciples whose merit was beyond dispute. As to the former point, it
has been put forward that he guaranteed the continuity of his worldly and spiritual
authority on his affiliates with senior ranks through congratulatory and consola-
tory letters that share their joys and sorrows, favoring letters that restored dignity
to the disgraced, and adhortatory letters with the purpose of “enjoining good and
forbidding evil,” In relation to this topic, I have argued that Seyh Murad was not
strong enough to intervene in politics and state affairs. What his limited power and
influence enabled him to do was to compose these kinds of letters by which he was
able to remotely monitor and control his pupils of high ranks in state administra-

tion. With this and the power struggles between Seyh Murad’s followers in mind,
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the chapter also asserts that neither a harmonious Nagshbandi faction came into
existence in the state machinery, nor did Seyh Murad himself attempt to undertake
such a political project. However, in the case of Seyh Murad’s personal and familial
interests, as well as those of the provincial scholars who developed close relations

with him, the chapter demonstrates that the letters worked opportunely.
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4. NETWORK-CREATING MEANS OF PENETRATION: THE
NAQSHBANDI REALITIES OF THE SEVENTEENTH AND
EIGHTEENTH CENTURIES

4.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with the Nagsbandi realities of the seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries. During the period, the Nagshbandi order became more visible in Istanbul.
In this context, I will turn to the religious and political factors and phenomena to
which the success of the Nagshbandi order can be attributed. What were the rea-
sons behind the gradual development and influence-building skills that contributed
to the visibility of the order in the Ottoman capital? In response to this question
and as a contribution to the existing literature, I will first discuss the relationship of
the Nagshbandi seyhs and their alliance with the scholars and scholar-bureaucrats,
arguing that this relationship assertively contributed to the image and spread of the
order. Secondly, by focusing on their links with seyyids and leading seyyid families,
I will point to proximity to seyyids and seyyidhood as a reason for their ability to
exert influence. In doing so, I will particularly highlight many seyyid seyhs serving
in the Nagshbandi lodges of Istanbul. Thirdly, I will focus on “lodgeless seyhs,”—
the seyhs without a specific lodge, who did not serve in any of the second-wave
Nagshbandi lodges in the eighteenth century. It was these seyhs who, after re-
ceiving authorization from a Nagshbandi master, continued their spiritual guidance
without affiliation to a lodge. Their endeavor, I will assert, contributed directly to
the spread of the order in Istanbul. Finally, I will discuss their relationship with
other Sufi orders. In doing so, I will emphasize that it was consciousness about
“coexistence” and “mutual respect” rather than a desire for conflict and antagonism
that shaped and even dominated Nagshbandis’ relationship with other Sufi broth-
erhoods. In this section, in order to strengthen my argument, I will draw attention,
first, to the existence among the Nagshbandis of the jami¢ al-turuq seyhs who re-

ceived authorization from many Sufi orders, and second, to the positive views of
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eminent Nagshbandi seyhs towards other orders.

4.2 Concordance with the Ulema and Sharia

In the previous chapter, I emphasized several times the significant position of offi-
cial ulema in the networks of Seyh Murad Bukhari. How should we understand the
dominant presence of the ulema, the champions of the sharia, within the Nagshbandi
circles of the Seyh Murdd? Was this a situation confined only to his scholarly and
Sufi milieu or a historical phenomenon of the Nagshbandi order? Writing on the
history of the Nagshbandiyya since 1970s, Hamid Algar is one of the first scholars
emphasizing the “interrelation of the shari®a and tariga” in the Nagshbandi order.
According to him, strict obedience to sharia and sunna, and precedence of the Bakrt
silsila (silsilat al-zahab), that not only betokens the order’s identification with Or-
thodox/Sunni Islam but also legitimizes the supremacy of silent dhikr over vocal
invocation, have always been distinctive features of the Nagshbandis wherever they
existed, whether it be Transoxiana, Iran, India, Arabia, Anatolia, Balkans or Cau-
casia. He particularly stresses that ever since the appearance of the Nagshbandis in
the Ottoman realms in the fifteenth century, “the order has played a role of cardinal
importance in the spiritual and religious life of Turkish people. Sober and rigorous,
and devoted to the cultivation of God’s Law and the exemplary model of the Com-
panions, it was above all the order of the ulama: countless members of the learned
institution gave it their allegiance.”*™ Hamid Algar’s opinions as to the affinity
between the Nagshbandis and ulema have been shared by Resat Ongoren, Necdet
Yilmaz, Ramazan Muslu and Hiir Mahmut Yiicer, who have studied the history
of Sufism in Anatolia focusing on the 16th, 17th, 18th, and 19th centuries. Ac-
knowledging that the foundation of all Sunni orders is based on sharia and that the
borders between sharia and tariqa is permeable, each of these authors finds special
links between Nagshbandis and members of the ulema in the Ottoman Empire. 4"
However, only Resat Ongéren has attempted to explain why the dialogue between

Nagshbandis and ulema was more well-grounded. In his opinion, the competence

476For some of his studies on the history of the order, see Hamid Algar, “Some Notes on the Nagshbandi
Tariqat in Bosnia,” Die Welt des Islams, New Series, vol. 13/3-4 (1971): 168-203; idem, “The Nagshbandt
Order: A Preliminary Survey of Its History and Significance,” 123-152; idem, “A Brief History of the
Nagshbandi Order,” in Nagshbandis: Historical Development and Present Situation of a Muslim Mystical
Order, (Istanbul: ISIS, 1990): 3-44; “Nakshband,” EI2, vol. VII, 933-934; idem, “Nagshbandiyya: in
Persia and in Turkey,” EI2, vol. VII, 934-937; idem, “Naksibendiyye,” TDVIA, vol. 32, 335-342.

477Re§at Ongoéren, Osmanhlar’da Tasavvuf: Anadolu’da Sifiler, Devlet ve Ulema (XVI. Yiizinl), 335-396;
Necdet Yilmaz, Osmanl Toplumunda Tasavvuf: Sifiler, Devlet ve Ulemda, 449-457; Ramazan Muslu,

Osmanly Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 18. Yiizyl, 598-621; Hiir Mahmut Yicer, Osmanli Toplumunda Tasavvuf:
19. Yiizyl, 747-776.
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of Nagshi masters in religious sciences, the perfection of their spiritual influence,
their success in treading a fine line between the internal and external state of the
dervish, their preference for silent dhikr over the vocal one, and their ability to edu-
cate madrasa affiliates without distracting them from the madrasa were among the
reasons that persuaded Ottoman ulema in favor of the Nagshbandi order.4™® With
regard to interconnectedness of the sharia and tariga in understanding 18th cen-
tury Nagshbandi-Mujaddidis, Hasan Giimiigsoglu, another historian of Sufism, has
authored an article recently published. By utilizing selections from texts written
by Kadizdde Mehmed Efendi (d. 1635), Murad Bukhéri (d. 1720), Abd al-Ghani
al-Néablusi (d. 1731), Mehmed Emin Tokadi (d. 1745), Ebt Sa‘ld Hadimi (d. 1762)
and Miistakimzade Siilleyméan Sa‘deddin Efendi (d. 1788), renowned Nagshbandi
figures of the 17th and 18th centuries, he has argues that Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi
seyhs were in defense of sharia and the creed of Sunni Islam, a view that has been

proposed by historians studying the Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi order.*™

When it comes to Nagshbandi-ulema relations in the Indian subcontinent a differ-
ent narrative is of concern. The general tendency in the literature in this context is
that strict adherence to sharia may not be a characteristic feature of all Nagshban-
dis of India before the advent of Seyh Ahmad al-Sirhindi (1564-1624), the founder
of the Mujaddidi branch of the order and self-proclaimed renovator of the second
millennium (mujaddid-i alf-i thant) known for his prioritization of sharia and reli-
gious sciences and determining agency in giving the tekkes the function of madrasas.
Because of Sirhindi’s harsh criticism of the modus vivendi and modus operandi of
the Muslim Indian state and society, including that of Sufi brotherhoods, which, in
his view, were against sharia and Islamic ideals, his and his successors’ missionary
activities were impeded by obstacles. We are told that “[ojne was fierce religious
antagonism on the part of the rival Nagshbandi lineages and of orthodox circles
at large, who were alarmed at Sirhindi’s extravagant statements. Another was the
inability of the Mujaddidis to establish firm contacts with the political authority.
Then there was the inner rivalry among the Mujaddidi family itself, which prevented
unified action.”® This was the overall picture of seventeenth- century India under
the Mughal Empire. With the disintegration of Mughal rule in the following cen-
tury, in the Indian subcontinent “[t|he political crisis resulted in the disappearance of

most Nagshbandi lines dependent on the government, leaving the Mujaddidiyya the

478 Ongdren, ibid, 392-393.

479 Hasan Giimiigoglu, “Osmanl’da Naksibendiyye/Miiceddidiyye Tarikat1 ve Ehl-i Siinnet Hassasiyeti,”
Mezhep Arastirmalar Dergisi 15/2 (2022): 482-509.

480T¢7chak Weismann, The Nagshbandiyya: Orthodozy and activism in a worldwide Sufi tradition, (London:
Routledge, 2007): 61.
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only viable offshoot.”#8! And, because of the efforts of prominent Naqshbandi mas-
ters including Mir Nésir ‘Andalib (1693-1759), his son Mir Dard (1720-1785), Shah
Waliulldh of Delhi (1703-1762), Mirza Mazhar Jan-i Jandn (1699-1781) and many
others, particularly in the Northern India, the increasingly influential Nagshbandi-
Mujaddidi order “was to shape the views of many ‘ulama toward sobriety in spiritual

experience and rigorous adherence to the religious Law 482

It is indubitable that securing the support of the ulema for themselves and their
order was a well-reasoned strategy, a deserved success, and an advantage for the
Nagshbandi seyhs in conducting righteous and nonhazardous relations with the
state and society. Being conscious of this fact, Khalid al-Baghdadi (1779-1827),
the founder and eponym of the Khélidiyya branch of Nagshbandiyya known for his
success spreading the Nagshbandi order to rural and uneducated masses through
his deputies, would write to one of his disciples the following command: “Do not
initiate into the order except distinguished ‘ulama.” This is important, because as
Butrus Abu-Manneh explains, the Nagshbandi order “is an urban order and as such
it spreads primarily among the upper and the more educated ranks of society.”483
As can be inferred from these explanations, “interdependency” is the right if not the
most appropriate word to describe the relationship between the Nagshbandis and
the official ulema. So much so that, one can see among the seyhs lodging in the first-
and second-wave Nagshbandi tekkes of Istanbul many madrasa graduates, dropouts
and professors. The biographies of Seyyid Fazlullah Efendi (d. 1709) and his son,
Seyyid Abdiilkebir Efendi (d. 1719), the two successive seyhs of Emir Bukhari lodge
located in Fatih, are significantly important for a better understanding of the co-
operation between Nagshbandi order and the ulema. Born in 1049/1639-40, Seyyid
Fazlullah was nominated mudarris by the chief judge of Rumelia Karacelebizade
Mahmid Efendi in 1055/1645 when he was only six years old. As a typical exam-
ple of “cradle ulema”, he remained in the dahil rank Makstid Bey Medresesi until
November 1656. Until October 1666, he held the professorship of haric rank Sa‘ban
Aga Medresesi. After that, he was appointed to Sinan Aga Medresesi, where he
served until March 1670. Upon the death of his father, Seyyid Abdullah Efendi,

481Weismann, ibid, 63.

482Barbara D. Metcalf, “The ‘Ulama in Transition: The Eighteenth Century,” in Islamic Revival in British
India: Deoband, 1860-1900, (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1982): 28.

483For the quoted command of Khalid al-Baghdadi and Abu-Manneh’s explanation, see Butrus Abu-Manneh,
“The Rise and Expansion of the Nagshbandi-Khalidi Sub-order in Early Nineteenth Century,” in Studies
on Islam and the Ottoman Empire in the 19th Century (1826-1876), (Istanbul: ISIS, 2001): 18. For more
on the spread of Nagshbandi-Khalidi order in the Ottoman lands and its interactions with high echelons of
the state, see “The Nagshbandiyya-Mujaddidiyya and the Khalidiyya in Istanbul in the Early Nineteenth
Century”, “The Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi and the Bektashi Orders in 1826”, and “The Nagshbandiyya-
Mujaddidiyya in Istanbul in the Early Tanzimat Period”, related articles of Abu-Manneh collected in ibid,
41-57, 59-71, and 99-114.
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around this time, he relinquished the official madrasa hierarchy to become the serv-
ing seyh of the lodge. Upon his death in September 1709 during his journey to
Mecca, his son Seyyid Abdiilkebir replaced him in the tekke in May 1710. Seyyid
Abdiilkebir was also a madrasa graduate. He received his miildzemet from seyhiilis-
lam Pagmakcizade Seyyid Ali Efendi in March 1701, but rather than teaching in a
madrasa, he remained as the secretary of his patron who would become geyhiilislam
on 26 January 1704. The only madrasa in his teaching career was Cenabi Efendi
Medresesi, where he served as a haric rank professor from November 1706 to May
1710. From this date to his death on 13 June 1719, however, he was the incumbent

seyh of the tekke in question. %4

The existence of several scholar seyhs who successively served in the Hekim Celebi
Tekkesi, one of the first-wave Nagshbandi lodges of Istanbul, is worthy of mention
to have a good grasp of the Nagshbandi-ulema relationship. One of the best-known
examples, in this regard, is Seyh Ahmed of Tire (d. 1624). Born and received his ini-
tial education in Tire-Aydin, he went to Istanbul, where he graduated from Ataullah
Ahmed Efendi (d. 1571), the Birgi-Aydin born tutor of Selim II (r. 1566-1574) and
protégé of the grand vizier, Riistem Pasha (d. 1561), known for his adherence to
the Nagshbandi order. Perhaps due to loss of his powerful tutor and patron, around
1000/1592, Seyh Ahmed moved to Tire, where he served as a madrasa professor and
town mufti. It was there, according to the biographer, Atai, that he was introduced
to the Nagshbandi order, a weak and dubious statement given his earlier presence in
the Nagshbandi circles of Istanbul. In the following years, he went back to Istanbul
where he would serve as the incumbent seyh of the Hekim Celebi lodge until his
death.*®® Seyh Ahmed was not charged with high-ranking madrasas of Istanbul.
Nor did he serve as a qadi of a central town or city. But he had fame and prestige in
and influence over the official ulema ranks. Therefore, in the absence of the grand
mufti, Hocazade Es‘ad Efendi (1570-1624), who was taken to the Khotyn campaign,
he served as the deputy seyhiilislam in Istanbul in 1621.

Seyh Ahmed was not the only post-nishin with a madrasa background in the Hekim
Celebi lodge. Nor he was the only provincial man of knowledge seeking his future
and spiritual fortune in Istanbul. Bosnevi Osman (d. 1664), Mu‘abbir Hasan (d.
1687), Ispiri DAmadi Mustafa (d. 1708) and Ahmed al-Mekki (d. 1710), his succes-
sors at the lodge, too, were provincial scholars who went to Istanbul in search of a

better career. While Osman and Mu‘abbir Hasan originated from Bosnia, Mustafa

484For the biographies of Seyyid Fazlullah and Seyyid Abdiilkebir, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol.
3, 2719-2720, and ibid, vol. 4, 3276-3277. On Fazlulldh, see also Necdet Yilmaz, Osmanls Toplumunda
Tasavvuf: Sifiler, Devlet ve Ulema, 380-381.

485 oy Seyh Tirevi Ahmed’s biography, see Nev’izade Atai, Hadaiku’l-Hakaik fi Tekmileti’s-Sakaik, 759-760.
For Ataullah Efendi’s biography see, ibid, 149-151.
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was from Izmir. Ahmed, however, most probably came from Mecca. However, the
current documentation indicates that it was Hasan and Mustafa who participated
in the official madrasa system. Mu‘abbir Hasan, for instance, was the son of the
deputy district governor (alaybeyi) of Mostar,*80 and in Istanbul became student
in one of the misile-i Sahn rank madrasas. Mustafa, on the other hand, had al-
ready been an educated madrasa graduate before his arrival in Istanbul, where he
would become the official graduate of Mehmed Efendi, the imam of the sultan.*87
It was thanks to Mehmed Efendi’s milazemet that he was appointed as professor
to a dahil rank madrasa. When it comes to Bosnevi Osméan, however, we cannot
ascertain his connection with the existing madrasa hierarchy. What we know about
him is that he was a well-educated disciple and deputy of Seyh Tirevi Ahmed Efendi.
Therefore, as early as 1031/1621-22, three years before the commencement of his
duty at the Hekim Celebi lodge, he was appointed to the Fatih Mosque as the Fri-
day preacher. He transferred to Bayezid Mosque in 1045/1635-36, to Silleymaniye
Mosque in 1052/1642-43 and to Ayasofya Mosque in 1061/1651, the position that
he retained until his death in 1664. Bosnevi Osmén’s consistent and prolonged
tenure at the pulpits of the these imperial mosques stands in stark contrast to Ispiri
Damad: Seyh Mustafa’s career trajectory. As mentioned in the first chapter, he was
a madrasa professor when he adhered to Seyh Murad Bukhari. It is worthy to note
that he renounced his madrasa career and transferred to preaching. After serving
as a teacher and preacher in Hocapasa Mosque, he was appointed to Fatih in April
1690, to Bayezid in February 1692, to Stileymaniye in February 1694 and to Ayaso-
fya in November 1694. It was only in July 1699 that he became the incumbent seyh
of Hekim Celebi lodge. Yet, his links with madrasa were never cut. As is stated
by Seyhi, he instructed at Sultdn Bayezid Medresesi as the deputy of seyhliilis-
lams Debbagzade Mehmed (November 168-February 1688, and March 1688—June
1690), Ebi Sa‘idzade Feyzullah (June 1690-March 1692, and April 1692—-June 1694),
Pagmakcgizade Seyyid Ali (January 1704-February 1707), and Sadreddinzade Sadik
Mehmed (June 1694-March 1695 and February 1707-January 1708).488

It is not surprising that the preacher of the imperial mosques is a madrasa gradu-

ate or has perfection in Islamic sciences. However, it should be remembered that

486Mﬁstakimzéde, Mesaypp-name-i Islam, Siileymaniye Library, Esad Efendi, no. 1716/1, fol. 8b.
487For the career of imam-1 Sultani Mehmed Efendi, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 2, 1044-1045.

4880 the career of Bosnevi Osmaén, Mu‘abbir Hasan, and Ispiri DAmadi Mustafa, see respectively Seyhi
Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 2, 1356, 1414-1415, and ibid, vol. 3, 2716-2718. On Bosnevi Osman, see
also Dina Le Gall, “Kadizadelis, Nakgbendis, and Intra-Sufi Diatribe in Seventeenth-Century Istanbul,” 4-
5. On the careers of geyhiilislams who patronized Ispiri Damadi Mustafa, see Mehmet Ipsirli, “Debbagzade
Mehmed Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 9, 62-63; idem, “Feyzullah Efendi, Ebtsaidzade,” TDVIA, vol. 12, 526;
idem, “Pagmakc¢izade Ali Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 34, 185-186; idem, “Sadik Mehmed Efendi, Sadreddinzade,”
TDVIA, vol. 35, 395.
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madrasas were not the only centers of religious education in a period when education
policies were not centralized and monopolized by the state. In fact, before the mod-
ernization of education in the Ottoman Empire, neither the state nor the madrasa
were the only decision- and policy-makers in education.*®” It has been brought to
our attention that informal circles of learning in the mosques and tekkes contributed
to education and literacy in Istanbul, Bursa, Cairo, Damascus and other Ottoman
cities.??0 These circles educated not only preacher Sufis in religious sciences, but also
townsmen, including public storytellers, celebis and members of military groups.!
Nevertheless, particularly when it comes to the training of preachers, madrasa seems
to be the most important center for their cultivation. “Of the thirty-five preachers”
in the seventeenth-century Bursa, for example, “twenty are madrasa graduates. Of
this twenty, eight individuals occupied posts as miiderrises in Bursa, one is a retired
military judge, one a former judge, while the remaining ten are mentioned simply

as graduates of a 40-akce or lower-level madrasa.” 492

A closer look at Sufi preachers identified in the biographical dictionaries of the
ulema reveals that, rather than their Sufi affiliations, their competence in religious
sciences, and, perhaps, the eloquent oratory, and most probably their connections
with the state and statesmen, were the most important criteria for an appointment
to the imperial mosques. The existence of not only Nagshbandi but also Khalwati,
Qadiri, Zeyni, Celveti, Bayrami and Mevlevi seyhs among the preachers of the grand
mosques of Istanbul is satisfactory evidence to understand this reality. The level of
education, the skill of oracy and the ability of comprehension and articulation of the
matter, however, might vary from preacher to preacher. This is also valid when it
comes to the elections and/or selections of geyhs for the posts of the lodges belonging
to different Sufi orders. It is obvious that not all seyhs had the same or similar level of
education and charisma. It is also clear that the minimum qualification requirements
to become a seyh changed from order to order. In fact, it was the master seyh
who had the last word in the selection of his deputies. Therefore, someone who

was considered competent in one order could be considered inadequate in another.

489For the modernization of the education in the Ottoman Empire, see Selguk Aksin Somel, The Modernization

of Public Education in the Ottoman Empire 1839-1908 Islamization, Autocracy, and Discipline, (Leiden:
Brill, 2001).

49ONelly Hanna, In Praise of Books: A Cultural History of Cairo’s Middle Class, Sixteenth to the FEighteenth

Century, (Syracuse: Syracuse University Press, 2003); Dana Sajdi, The Barber of Damascus: Nouveau
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2013); Aslihan Stimeyra Giirbiizel, “Teachers of the Public, Advisors to the Sultan: Preachers and the Rise
of a Political Public Sphere in Early Modern Istanbul, (1600-1675),” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Harvard
University 2016): 180-224.
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The biography of Feyzi Hasan Efendi (d. 1690), the father of Seyhi Mehmed, is
particularly remarkable in this regard. According to Seyhi, born in 1036/1626-27,
his father adhered to the renowned Khalwati-Sivasi seyh Abdiillahad Nirl Efendi
(d. 1651) in 1054/1644 when he was eighteen years old. He received both his
Khalwati ijaza and initial madrasa education from Abdiilahad Nirl. Feyzi Hasan
continued his madrasa education under Fazil Monla Celebi, Dersi‘am Salih Efendi
and Bigakci Mehmed Efendi, and received his graduation certificate from Kudsizade
Seyh Mehmed Efendi (d. 1674) most probably when the latter became either the
chief judge of Anatolia (October 1650) or chief judge of Rumelia (April-May 1651).
Then he was appointed to one of the dahil rank madrasas. But, after a short while,
he renounced his madrasa career in return for preaching in mosques. He was the
Friday preacher of the Arakiyyeci Ibrahim Cavus Mosque from 1652 to 1668, the
year he transferred to the Kilig¢ Ali Pasha Mosque as Sunday preacher in lieu of the
Mevlevi seyh, el-Hac Ahmed Dede, who passed away in Medina in 1078/1667-68. It
was during this initial pulpitry that he adhered to Bosnevi Osmén and el-Hac Ahmed
Dede from whom he received his Nagshbandi and Mevlevi authorization. Thanks to
his Mevlevi ijaza, he replaced his seyh in Kilic Ali Pasha Mosque. His Nagshbandi
ijaza, on the other hand, opened for him the door of the Nagshbandi lodge located
in Edirnekap1 where he served as the seyh from late 1675 until his death on 14
November 1690.49 Feyzi Hasan’s biography indicates that his thorough education
in religious sciences and his authority in three orders contributed to his career as
a preacher seyh. Because he had such qualifications he was able to transfer from a
neighborhood mosque to a grand mosque, and then from there to one of the oldest
Nagshbandi tekkes of Istanbul.

The close connections between the Nagshbandi seyhs and the eminent figures of
the official ulema hierarchy had twofold influence on the spread of the order in the
Ottoman lands. These links, on the one hand, enabled the recruitment of more
and more scholar-bureaucrats into the order. The participation of statesmen from
secular and scholarly bureaucracy in the Nagshbandi circles resulted in the first
place in favor of the seyhs themselves, their family members and their lodges. Many
cases that I have discussed in the previous chapters and the current one prove that
it was owing to connections and cooperations with the officials of the state that
Nagshbandi preceptors managed to guarantee job positions with regular incomes in
government offices, mosques, madrasas and waqfs for themselves, their relatives, and

even their disciples. It was also because of such connections that they were rewarded

493For the biography of Kudsizdde Seyh Mehmed, el-Hac Ahmed Dede and Feyzi Hasan Efendi, see respec-
tively Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 2, 1072-1077, 1367-1368, and 1861-1863. On el-Hac Ahmed
Dede, see also Necdet Yilmaz, Osmanl Toplumunda Tasavvuf: Sifiler, Devlet ve Ulema, 279-280. On
Abdiilahad Niri Efendi, see ibid, vol. 2, 1327-1334, and Abdullah Ugman, “Abdiilahad Niri,” TDVIA,
vol. 1, 178-179.
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with tekke-madrasa complexes in metropolises of the empire. Having a madrasa
background and strict links with existing ulema networks contributed, on the other
hand, to relations between Naqgshbandi seyhs with the ordinary people. The venues
and spaces where interactions with the public took place were mosques and Sufi
lodges. Serving as preachers in the mosques of Istanbul, like their peers from other
Sufi orders, Nagshbandi masters had the opportunity to teach the congregation core
values of Islam and the basic provisions of sharia. It was also through the pulpits of
the mosques that preacher seyhs, most of whom held the post in or had a connection
to a tekke, were able to make political speeches on current issues and spread their

orders among the urbanites.

When it comes to the function of the mosque rostrum as a platform for religio-
political debates, Ottoman historiography has long revolved around the so-called
Qadizadeli movement specified as anti-Sufi, puritan, fundamentalist, and challenged
mostly Khalwati seyhs preaching in the imperial mosques of the Istanbul in the 17th
century. However, as Derin Terzioglu convincingly argues in the historical context
starting from the mid-sixteenth century onwards, “Sufi preachers had distinguished
themselves as political commentators long before the emergence of Kadizadeli move-
ment, and would continue to do so long afterwards.”4%* According to her, it was these
“Sunna-minded” and “opinion-maker” Sufi preachers who contributed to the “Sun-
nitization” of the state and society by giving advice and preaching in the mosques
and composing instructive texts for the use of the people. Qadizadelis, on the other
hand, despite their opposition and rivalry for some Sufis and their beliefs and prac-
tices, “did not reject sufism or sufis categorically.” Terzioglu also makes the curious
observation in that “[g]enerally speaking, the Kadizadelis seem to have concentrated
in their writings on social and religious practices, and not delved into administrative
matters such as taxation, appointments to public offices or criminal law.”4% Sufi
preachers neither hesitate to encourage rulers to obey and perform the sharia in the
state administration, nor they abstain from participating in and directing insurrec-
tions against the government. Abdiilmecid Sivasi (1563-1639), the Khalwati master
who became the target of the first-generation Qadizadelis, for instance, was known
with his written advice to Ahmed I (r. 1603-1617) for the observation of sharia.%
One of the most distinguishing incidents in which a Sufi preacher took a politically

active role to lead the politics of power was the rebellion of 1730, which resulted in

494Derin Terzioglu, “Sunna-minded Sufi Preachers in Service of the Ottoman State: The Nasihatname of
Hasan Addressed to Murad IV,” Archivum Ottomanicum 27 (2010): 243.

495Terzioglu, “Sunna-minded Sufi Preachers in Service of the Ottoman State,” 256, and 258.
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EKEV Akademi Dergisi 50 (2012): 25-46.
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the deposition of Ahmed III, and the execution of the grand vizier, Damad Ibrahim
Pasha, and viziers, Kaymak Mustafd Pasha and Kethiidda Mehmed Pasha. As Selim
Karahasanoglu has brought to our attention, Ispirizdde Ahmed Efendi (d. 1730),
the Friday preacher of Ayasofya known to run negotiations between the palace and
rebels, became the leading figure during the revolt. Although he was not the mas-
termind of the rebellion, “the occurrence of the 1730 rebellion in the known manner

was thanks to the guidance of Ispirizade.”497

Ispirizade Ahmed’s leadership in the revolt is crucial to understand the influence of
a Nagshbandi preacher during one of the landmark upheavals of the 18th century.
Born in Ispir-Erzurum, his father Ispiri Ali Efendi (d. 1692) went to Istanbul during
a time when influential Erzurumi figure Vani Mehmed Efendi was invited by the
grand vizier Képrilizade Fazil Ahmed Pasha (v. 1661-1676). As a new arrival in
the city, Ispirf Ali enjoyed particularly the patronage of the seyhiilislam, Minkarizade
Yahya Efendi who introduced not only him but also another Erzurumi, the future
seyhiilislam, Seyyid Feyzullah Efendi, to the official ulema hierarchy. His career as
a preacher started in 1072/1661-62 in the Eyub Mosque, and within ten years he
reached the top position: the Friday preachership of Ayasofya in March 1672.498
Ispiri Ali Efendi was presumably a Naqgshbandi seyh. As stated previously, his
son-in-law, Mustafa Efendi, was the Nagshbandi seyh of the Hekim Celebi lodge.
Ispirizdde Ahmed was also part of the existing Naqshbandi circles of Istanbul. As
an archival document proves, after the death of his father, he lost the privileges
given to the father in the Dariilhadis of Sofu Mehmed Pasha. It was only by the
beginning of Seyyid Feyzullah’s second term as grand mufti that his privileges were
restored.*” Another document demonstrates that when he was the preacher in the
Selimiye Mosque in 1708, he was given the vacant preachership of Seyh Mustafa, his
recently deceased Nagshbandi brother-in-law, at the Bostancilar mosque, located in

the Imperial Garden (hdsbahge).”"

As to the mosque as the functional space in the service of the Nagshbandi mas-
ters to spread the order among the urbanites, an attention-grabbing anecdote con-

veyed by Miistakimzade deserves attention. Quoting from Seyh Agirsak¢t Mehmed

978elim Karahasanoglu, “Osmanli Imparatorlugunda 1730 Isyanina Dair Yeni Bulgular: Isyanmn Organiza-
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Efendi, the deputy of Khalwati-Sivasi seyh Mehmed Nazmi Efendi (d. 1701),°%!
Miistakimzade writes the following about abovementioned Seyh Bosnevi Osméan: “It
is one of the strangest things that in every mosque where he was Friday preacher,
after the preaching he properly performed the great hatm, the adornment of the
tariga. I have been present many times in these assemblies which were held by
the participation of the aspirants and adherents of the tariqa.”®°? Writing in the
second half of the 18th century, Miistakimzade, himself a Nagshbandi seyh, finds
strange that Bosnevi Osman organized gatherings in mosques for performing hatm-i
hacegan, the most crucial and distinctive Nagshbandi invocation.’%® The astonish-
ment of Miistakimzade proves that Sufi preachers rarely used mosques to spread
the order to which they adhered. On the other hand, Agirsak¢t Mehmed Efendi’s
testimony attests that mosques were functional for Bosnevi Osmén to propagate
his views and spread the order among the congregation. One of the crucial points
in Mehmed Efendi’s statements is that not only the followers (muhibban), but also
aspirants (taliban) were participants in this Nagshbandi dhikr. Bosnevi Osméan’s
allowance for aspirants to attend the ceremonies, was a deviation from the Naqgsh-
bandi tradition instructing that attendees of the hatm-i hacegan could only be the
followers of the order. Since this was a matter of high concern in the order, Seyh
Murad Bukhéari would reiterate in his letters to his newly appointed deputies that
this dhikr was unique to the Nagshbandi order, and therefore, those who had not
been affiliated with the order should not be included in its circles.’®* As such,
we may conclude that Seyh Bosnevi Osméan aimed to spread the Nagshbandi order
among urbanites by establishing dhikr circles in the imperial mosques and condoning

the participation of non-adherents to them.

5010n Mehmed Nazmi, see Hasan Aksoy, “Nazmi Efendi, Mehmed,” TDVIA, vol. 32, 460-461.

502gee Mistakimzade, Ahval-i Suyub-i Ayasofya, Sileymaniye Library, Esad Efendi, no. 1716/2, fol.

14a. “Gara’ibdendiir ki Cum® vacizi oldugu her cami®de bacde’l-va®z zinet-dih-i tarikat-1 Siddikiyye
ve Selmaniyye ve ber-giizar-1 silsile-i Gucduvaniyye olan hatm-i kebir-i macriifi iltizam iizre icra buyurup
taliban ve muhibban-1 haziran ile eda buyurduklar:i meclisde kerrat ile bulunmusduk deyti Nazmi Efendi
hulefasindan Agirsakct Mehemmed Dede nam merd-i mevsuku®l-kelamdan muharrir-i mukassiruin mesmu®1
olmugdur”

5030n hatm-i hacegan see Resat Ongéren, “Hatm-i Hacegan,” TDVIA, vol. 16, 476-477.

504See, for instance, “Wa amma khatm-i khajagan fa-innahti wirdun mansubun ilayhim makhsusun li-

fuqara’ihim wa li-man uzini min al-sulaha ma‘rufun bi-azim al-khayr wa al-barakat” in the letter to
Ilkhan al-A‘zam, and “wa min al-manstubat ila mashayikhina wirdun laysa min da®ayim tarigihim yuqgalu
lahtt khatm-i khajagan ... wa la yasta®miluhu illa ahli tarigihim wa bil-izni minhum” in the letter for
Seyyid Omer of Mar‘as in Mektabat, no. 1838, fol. 10b-11b, and 17b-18b.
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4.3 Familial Cooperations With Seyyids: The Impact of Prophetic Nobility

The explicit presence of seyyids, holding authentic or fabricated certificates, among
the Nagshbandis of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries is a crucial fact that
deserves special mention here. The proximity to the official ulema, who in most
cases formed a bridge between the state and the order, and statesmen and Sufi
masters, resulted in a flow of benefits from the state to the order in cases where
Sufi preachers played an active role. Descent from the Prophet, I argue, had a pos-
itive impact on the charisma of the Nashbandi seyhs, particularly in their relations
with common people, who attended their sermons and erudite conversations in the
dervish lodges and neighborhood and imperial mosques. By linking themselves to
the lineage of Prophet Muhammad, they were ensuring social respect and venera-
tion for themselves. By the same token, the social and economic privileges could be
given to them, their immediate relatives, and tekke and madrasa complexes built for
them. In fact, such characteristics were compatible with the historical realities of
the centuries in question. It is a interesting observation, for instance, that “[w]hile
sayyid/sharif status promised prestige and privilege throughout Islamic history, it
was not very often that the drive to acquire Muhammadan nobility reached the pro-
portions it did in Ottoman lands in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.”?%
We are notified that the main incentive for the commoners to obtain a certificate
regarding their nobleness, was the objective to be exempted from the heavy avariz
taxes, once exceptional extraordinary levies that began to be collected regularly by
the 17th century.’® As a result, Ottoman Balkans, Anatolia, Syria, the Levant,
and Egypt enjoyed a major increase in the number of seyyids or pseudo-seyyids
(miiteseyyid) claiming descendancy from Prophet Muhammad and even formed po-
litical factions in their localities, especially in the Arab populated lands.?%” It was
also during these centuries that powerful and influential families claiming prophetic

nobility became more apparent particularly in the ulema bureaucracy in Istanbul

505H1"11ya Canbakal, “On the ‘Nobility’ of Provincial Notables,” in Provincial Elites in the Ottoman Em-
pire: Halcyon Days in Crete, V (A Symposium Held in Rethymno, 10-12 January 2003), ed. Antonis
Anastasopoulos, (Rethymno: Crete University Press, 2005): 47.

506Rﬁya Kilig, Osmanlida Seyyidler ve Serifler, Istanbul: Kitap Yaymevi, 2005; Hiillya Canbakal, Society and
Politics in an Ottoman Town: C¢Ayntab in the 17th Century, (Leiden: Brill, 2007): 77-89; idem, “The
Ottoman State and Descendants of the Prophet in Anatolia and the Balkans (c. 1500-1700),” Journal of
the Economic and Social History of the Orient 52 (2009): 542-578.

507Bruce Masters, “Power and Society in Aleppo in the 18th and 19th Centuries,” Revue du monde musulman
et de la Méditerranée 62 (1991): 151-158; Michael Winter, Egyptian Society Under Ottoman Rule, 1517-
1798, (London: Routledge, 1992): 182-192; Dror Ze’evi, An Ottoman Century: The District of Jerusalem
in the 1600s, (New York: State University of New York Press, 1996): 63-86.
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and among the local families in the provinces.??®

Despite some exceptional examples, there is no harm in thinking that most of the
Sufis and scholars who were able to bring written evidence or produce witnesses to
their claim of prophetic nobility were in fact pretenders. Ismail Hakki Uzuncarsih
has emphasized that most of Ottoman grand muftis who came to be known as seyyids
were in fact ethnic Turks who obtained certificates by forgery to hold the office in
question.?® Sir Paul Rycaut (1629-1700), who spent seventeen years in Istanbul and
[zmir from 1660 to 1677, claimed that the nakibilesrafs, the head of the descendants
of the Prophet, abused the office by giving certificates to pretenders. “The Turks
being well acquainted with this abuse” he goes “carry the less respect to the whole
generation; so that as often as they find any of them drunk or disordered, they
make no scruple to take off their green turbans first, kissing them and laying them
aside with all reverence, and afterwards beat them without respect or mercy.”?10
Seyhiilislam Seyyid Feyzullah Efendi, who once served as the nakibilesraf from
November 1686 to February 1688, was one of the seyyids accused of claiming false
lineage. According to the chronicler, Silahdar Findiklih Mehmed Agha, not only was
his lineage fictitious, but he was also a magician.’'! Perhaps due also to this thought
in the minds of rebels, he would be brutally slayed alongside his son Fethullah, the
nakibiilesrdf, in 1703.512 Notwithstanding such historical examples and accusations,
my task in the current chapter is not to conduct an inspection on self-proclaimed
seyyids as the central and provincial nakibilesrafs often did particularly in the late
16th and 17th centuries.’'3 Rather, what is more important for this study is the
existence within Nagshbandi circles of many Sufi masters and scholars with the title

of seyyid.

As I have already discussed in the first chapter, seyhs claiming a lineage from the
Prophet constituted a significant number among the masters of first-wave Naqsh-
bandi lodges of Istanbul. Emir Ahmed Bukhéri, the founder of Fatih and Ayvansaray

508Canbakal, “On the ‘Nobility’ of Provincial Notables,”; Winter, Egyptian Society Under Ottoman Rule;

Laura Bottini, “Les Descendants du Prophete a Homs: Notes en Marge,” Oriente Moderno 79/2 (1999):

351-373; Ismail Hakki Uzuncarsili, Osmanls Devleti’nin Ilmiye Teskilat:, fourth edition, (Ankara: TTK,
2014): 169-173.

509Gee the second footnote in Uzuncarsili, Osmanl Devleti’nin [lmiye Teskildti, 172.

510paul Rycaut, The Present State of the Ottoman Empire, 111.

511 Nazire Karagay Tirkal, “Silahdar Findiklili Mehmed Aga Zeyl-i Fezleke,” 1120. For Sildhdar’s contradic-

tory statements on Seyyid Feyzullah’s nobleness, see Ayhan Isik, “Maktiil Seyhiilislam Feyzullah Efendi’nin
Torunu Nakibii’l-esraf Abdullah Efendi’nin Hayat1 ve Terekesi,” Mezhep Arastirmalars Dergisi 14/2 (2021):
914-915.

512For the detailed story of his last days see Silahdar Findiklilh Mehmed Aga, Nusretname, 781-784.

5130\ urat Saricik, Osmanl Imparatoriugu’nda Nakibii’l-Esraflik Miessesesi, (Ankara: TTK, 2003): 137-142.

161



lodges and the eponym of Fatih, Ayvansaray and Edirnekapi lodges, was himself a
seyyid. Following his death, except four seyhs who were members of ethnic Turkish
families of Anatolia, all the seyhs who succeeded his post in the Fatih lodge up until
mid-19th century bore the honorary title of seyyid. Similarly, Mehmed Efendi, the
first incumbent seyh of the Hekim Celebi lodge was a seyyid. It is also worthy to
recall that many seyyids appeared either as founder seyhs or patrons of second-wave
Nagshbandi lodges. Among the founders of these lodges, for instance, Seyhiilislam
Mustafa, La‘lizdde Abdilbéaki, and Mehmed Agha, who established respectively the
tekkes of Seyhiilislam, Kalenderhane and Tahir Aga in 1742, 1743 and 1763 were
famous for their noble lineage. In the same vein, Murad Bukhari, the first seyh
of the Murad Bukhari lodge in Istanbul and the founder of two tekke-madrasas in
Damascus, was a celebrated seyyid whose father had served as the nakibilesraf of
Samarqand. We must also remember that Seyh Mustafa who founded ca. 1750
Seyyid Baba lodge, where he became the first seyh, Abdullah and Abdiilekber (d.
1787-88), the two initial seyhs who succeeded each other at Ozbekler Tekkesi, and
Celebi Seyh Mehmed (d. 1794), the fourth seyh at Kaggari Tekkesi were well-known

seyyid masters in second-wave lodges. 914

The tenure of seyyid masters at the Nagshbandi lodges of Istanbul had to be func-
tional and fruitful in the sense that it provided a prestigious position to the tekkes
where they lodged. The claim for prophetic descent could influence sincere and de-
vout common people more than anyone, since the veneration of the Prophet and his
deceased and living descendants was an honorable task kept alive in the collective
memory of Muslims. The presence of many seyhs bearing the title of seyyid served
in the Nagshbandi lodges, we can assert, resulted in the spread of the order among
ordinary urbanites. It was perhaps because of this reason that Sir Paul Rycaut
realized in seventeenth-century Istanbul a type of Nagshbandiyya identified with a
seyyid. He equated the prevalent Nagshbandi establishment in Istanbul with “the
Order of religious Turks called Ebrbuharee” which derived from “the Holy Emir
Ebrbuhar” who was none other than Emir Bukhari.?'® The living legends and fame
of Emir Bukhari in 17th- and 18th- century Istanbul is not surprising, for it was a
city where the dead and the living were side by side. As can be seen in the examples
of Abli Ayyub al-Anséari, Abi Shayba al-Khudri, Abt al-Darda and Ka‘b b. Malik,
the tombs of the Companions were erected on Ayvansaray-Eytip line. The tombs of
Sufi saints such as Emir Bukhari, Ebu’l-Vefa, Merkez Efendi, Siinbtil Efendi, Toklu
Dede, Tokmak Dede, Yahya Efendi and Aziz Mahmitd Hiidai, on the other hand,

5MFor the list of Nagshbandi masters at Seyyid Baba, Kaggari Tekkesi, Murad Buhari Tekkesi, and Ozbekler
Tekkesi, see Zakir Stukrl Efendi, Mecmu‘a-i Tekaya: Die Istanbuler Derwish-Konvente und Ihre Scheiche,
ed. Klaus Kreiser, (Freiburg: Klaus Schwarz, 1980): 36, 50-51, 56, 76.

515paul Rycaut, The Present State of the Ottoman Empire, 141.
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were founded in the intramural and extramural quarters of the city.?'® Whether
they belonged to seyyids or not, they were centers of attraction for city dwellers,
pilgrims and itinerant dervishes. In at least two letters to Daméadzade Ahmed, Seyh
Murad expressed his intention to visit the tomb of Abli Ayyub al-Ansari and the
Companions along with him. 57 He was such an impressive seyyid master that
people used to flock to visit him during his sojourns in the city. After his death,

however, his tomb became a site of veneration.

The Nagshbandi-seyyid relations and interactions are documented in its best in the
biographical dictionaries of the ulema. Seyhi Mehmed’s Vekayiu’l-Fudala is essen-
tial in this regard. The source enables us to identify a remarkable number of scholars
with the title of seyyid in ulema bureaucracy. With reference this source alone, I
claim that a Nagshbandi-seyyid cooperation came into existence in the Ottoman
ilmiye establishment in the 17th and 18th centuries. What made this collaboration
even more striking was its consolidation through familial bonds and friendships. The
coordination of renowned nakibiilesrafs and some Nagshbandi seyhs deserves a closer
look for a better understanding of the topic. The first example is Kudsizade Seyh
Mehmed Efendi (d. 1674), who incessantly served as the nakibilesraf for almost
eighteen years from March 1657 to September 1674. From as early as 1035/1625-26,
when he was a promising professor of Sahn rank, as the chief judge of Anatolia and
Rumelia, and as the nakibiilesraf, he gave miilazemet to at least ten novices. What
made Kudsizade’s candidates special for the ulema quota was that three of them
were relatives, namely maternal grandfather, maternal uncle, and the father of the
biographer, Seyhi Mehmed, the future Nagshbandi seyh of the Edirnekapi lodge.
Whereas Ahmed Efendi (d. 1643-44), the maternal grandfather of the author, was
introduced to the hierarchy of the ulema when he was thirty-six years old, his son,
Mecdi Mehmed, was nominated in 1650 when he was thirteen. Feyzi Hasan Efendi,
Seyhi Mehmed’s father and the future Nagshbandi master of Edirnekapi lodge, how-
ever, as mentioned above, was included in the quota in either 1650 or 1651 in his
mid-twenties.?'® The liaison between Kudsizidde Seyh Mehmed’s family and that of
Seyhi Mehmed continued after the death of Kudsizade. In 1683, for example, the
chief judge of Anatolia Mehmed Efendi (d. 1686), who himself was a Nagshbandi

516 For more on the tombs most of which were part of tgkke—complexes in Istanbul, see Baha Tanman, “Istanbul
Tekkeleri,” in Antik Cag’dan XXI. Yizyila Biyik Istanbul Tarihi: Mimari, ed. Coskun Yilmaz, vol. VIII,

(fstanbul: IBB Kiiltiir AS., 2015): 410-427; and Halil Ibrahim Diizenli, “Istanbul Tiirbeleri,” in ibid,
428-449. On the tombs of Toklu Dede and Abl Shayba al-Khudri as sites of veneration, see Christoph
K. Neumann, “Toklu Dede: A Byzantine Building in Ottoman Istanbul,” in Anekdota Byzantina: Studien
zur Byzantinischen Geschichte und Kultur, eds. Isabel Grimm-Stadelmann, et al. ( De Gruyter, 2023):
489-502.

517\lektiibat, no. 1837, fol. 9b and 12b.

518For the biographies of Ahmed, Feyzi Hasan, and Mecdi Mehmed, see respectively Seyhi Mehmed,
Vekayi‘uw’l-Fuzald, vol. 1, 435-436; vol. 2, 1861-1863; and vol. 3, 2633-2636.
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and once the novice and secretary of Kudsizade, nominated Mecdizdde Ahmed (d.
1723), the son of Mecdi Mehmed and the cousin of Seyhi, as his maildzim. °'9

Kudsizade Mehmed’s case seems even more special when we take into consideration
his relations with renowned Nagshbandi-Melamis of the period who claimed descen-
dance from the Prophet. Seyyid Mehmed Hagim Efendi (d. 1677), the Melami
qutb after the execution of Stut¢ii Begir Agha (d. 1662), was the novice of Kud-
sizade Mehmed. He adhered to Kudsizade during his qadiship in Bursa in 1644
and was introduced by him to the official ulema system.’?® Another renowned
Nagshbandi-Melami was Seyh Seyyid La‘lizide Mehmed Efendi (1642-1707), the fa-
ther of La‘lizdde Abdiilbaki Efendi. He was only eight years old when Kudsizade
reserved a novice quota for him.??! Nagshbandi-Melami interaction and cooperation
is also observable in the case when Pagmakcizade Seyyid All, the Melami qutb after
the death of Seyyid Mehmed Hésim Efendi, gave miildzemet to Seyyid Abdilkebir
and appointed him his secretary. Seyyid Abdiilkebir served from 1710 to 1719 as
the incumbent geyh of the Emir Bukhéari lodge located in Fatih. Given these exam-
ples, we may argue that a direct channel of communication and cooperation existed
between leading and luminary seyyids and the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul. Nev-
ertheless, it must be born in mind that these figures had simultaneously enjoyed
multiple identities. They were not only well-educated seyyids occupying offices in
ulema bureaucracy, but also adhered to several Sufi paths. Therefore, it is hard to

determine which was the most dominant identity in their personalities.

In addition to Kudsizades and Pagmakcizades, Feyzullah Efendizades, Fenarizades,
Seyrekzades, Es‘adzades, Hocazades and Allamezades were among nakibtilesraf fam-
ilies associated with the Naqgshbandi order. Unlike others, Kudsizades played a
leading role in the existing Nagshbandi network of tekkes. As a petition dated 22
Muharram 1101/5, November 1689 indicates, the charitable foundations of Emir
Bukhari’s tekkes came under the supervision of Kudsizades during the long tenure
of Kudsizade Seyh Mehmed Efendi. After his death, the supervision of the foun-
dations passed to his daughters, Serife Rabi‘a, Serife Hatice, and Serife Ayse.5??
Another petition dated 24 Shawwal 1111/14, April 1700, demonstrates that Serife

Ayse was still controlled the waqfs of Emir Bukhari. This time, however, not directly

519For Mecdizdde Ahmed, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 4, 3028-3030.

520For his biography, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘ul-Fuzald, vol. 2, 1123-1126. See also the sixth chapter of

this study.

521Geyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u'l-Fuzald, vol. 3, 2422-2425.

522BOA, IE.ENB. 4/391.
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but through the deputies.??3 Obviously, this was a deal between Naqshbandi seyyid
families. Kudsizades were able to manage the waqfs of Emir Bukhari because of their
lineage, which was claimed also by Emir Ahmed Bukhari. Seyhilislam Feyzulldh
Efendi’s inference in the second case was familial rather than procedural. Because,
as we learn from Seyhi Mehmed, his son Ahmed (1680-1716), was the son-in-law of
Kudsizade Seyh Mehmed Efendi, and it is possible that he was the husband of Serife
Ayge.524

As can be understood from the entries that I have culled from Seyhi Mehmed’s
biographical dictionary and presented in this chapter, his was a useful primary
source for a better portrayal of Nagshbandi-ulema and Nagshbandi-seyyid interac-
tions, since some of Nagshbandi scholars used seyyid as an identifying title. What
contributes even more to the uniqueness of Seyhi’s dictionary is his rigorous atten-
tion to record the burial places of the deceased from the 17h and 18th centuries,
especially when it comes to the extramural hazire of Emir Bukhari Tekkesi near
Edirnekap: (108 deceased), and the Pinarbagi cemetery (47 deceased) in Bursa.
Utilizing Seyhi Mehmed’s notes as to the burial places of seyyid ulema, I have found
108 deceased buried in the extramural hazire of Emir Bukhari lodge. Given this,
once can easily notice twenty-one seyyids who constitutes almost one fifth of all
individuals (See Table 4.1). What is even more striking is that twelve of twenty-
one seyyids were members of five prominent nakibiilesraf families, respectively four
from Fenarizades, three from Seyrekzades, three from Es‘adzades, one from Ho-
cazides, and one from Alldmezades. Furthermore, three of twenty-one seyyids who
were buried there (Seyrekzade Seyyid Y{inus Efendi (d. 1652), Fenarizade Seyyid
Mehmed Efendi (d. 1696), and Seyyid Ca‘fer Efendi (d. 1697)), had served once as
the nakibiilesraf>%> Allamezade Seyyid Abdullah (d. 1656) and Hocazade Seyyid
Mehmed (d. 1702), on the other hand, were sons of nakibiilesrifs. 2% Therefore,
I have come to conclusion that Fenarizades, Seyrekzades, Es‘adzades, Allamezades

and Hocazéades were also among nakibiilesraf families affiliated with the Nagshbandi

52311 her petition to the then Seyhiilislam Feyzullah Efendi, she requested that Osmén, the current deputy-

trustee of the tekke located in Ayvansaray who failed to administer the waqf be replaced by a certain Ibrahim
who was trustworthy, straightforward, and capable for the position. Although nothing more is said about

Ibrahim in the petition, considering that Seyhiilislam Feyzullah’s incilination for the benefits of his family,

we may conclude that it was his son Ibrahim (d. 1709). For the petition see BOA, IE.ENB. 5/561. For
Feyzullah Efendi’s family tree, see Michael Nizri, Ottoman High Politics and the Ulema Household, 23.

For Tbrahim, see Mehmed Siireyya, Sicill-i Osmdni, vol. 3, 749.

5240n Ahmed, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 3, 2659-2661. See also Ahmet Tiirek and F. Cetin
Derin, “Feyzullah Efendi’nin Kendi Kaleminden Hal Terciimesi,” Tarih Dergisi 24 (1970): 71-72.

525For their biographies, see respectively Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 1, 668-670; vol. 3, 2067-2069,
and 2080-2082.

526For their biographies, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 1, 750-751; and ibid, vol. 3, 2175-2176.
For the biographies of nakibilesrdifs Allame Seyyid Mehmed Seyhi and Hocazade Seyyid Osméan, see ibid,
vol. 1. 229-236, and vol. 3. 2159-2161.
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establishment in Istanbul.

Table 4.1 Seyyids buried around Emir Bukhari lodge in Edirnekap1

Name Family Certificated by Last Position
1 | Seyhi Mehmed Fenarizade | Seyhiilislam Hoca Sa‘deddin | Qadi - Eyiip
2 | Mehmed Ef. Fenarizade | Karacelebizade Mahmitd Nakibitilegraf
3 | Lutfullah Fenarizade | Seyhiilislam Catalcali All Mudarris
4 | Ahmed Fenarizade | Karacelebizade Mahmid Qadi - Mecca
5 | Yinus Ef. Seyrekzade | Ganizade Mehmed Nakibiilegraf
6 | Mehmed Asim Seyrekzade | Seyhilislam Esirl Mehmed Mudarris
7 | Abdurrahmén Seyrekzade | Seyhiilislam Catalcali All Mudarris
8 | Mes‘td Es‘adzade Kadri Efendi Mudarris
9 | Mehmed Ebussuiid | Es‘adzade Karacelebizade Mahmiid Qadi - Aleppo
10 | Mehmed Sa‘deddin | Es‘adzade Seyhilislam Catalcali Ali Mudarris
11 | Mehmed Hocazade | Seyhiilislam | Catalcali Ali Mudarris
12 | Abdulldh Allamezade | Unknown Mudarris
13 | Abdurrahim Cukacizade | Seyh. Ahizade Hiiseyin Qadi - Filibe
14 | Ahmed Cukacizade | Unknown Qadi - Medina
15 | Ca'fer Ef. Seyhiilislam Ebu Sa‘ld Nakibiilegraf
16 | Mehmed Ef. Alizade Unknown Qadi - Kayseri
17 | Mehmed Sabri e Seyhiilislam Yahya Qadi - 7
18 | Mustafa Edibizade Seyhiilislam Yahya Qadi - Uskiidar
19 | Mustafa e Unknown Mudarris
20 | Abdullah Esrefzade Kadri Efendi Mudarris
21 | Mehmed Seyh. Debbagzade Mehmed | Mudarris

The said examples prove the existence of well-established links and intertwined re-
lationships between “Great Molla” families who produced chief judges and grand
muftis alongside nakibilesrdfs.”>” The members of some of these families shared
three common identities: they were seyyids by birth, scholars by professional incli-
nation and Nagshbandis by Sufi taste. Moreover, consciousness for intra-familial co-
operations was a significant power in their hands. Therefore, the then chief judge of
Rumelia, Karagelebizdde Mahmiid Efendi (d. 1653), did not hesitate in 1055/1645
to give mildzemet to at least four underage seyyids. Whereas one of them, the
abovementioned Seyyid Fazlullah Efendi, would serve as the incumbent seyh of
the Emir Bukhéari lodge in Fatih from 1670 to 1709, and Fenarizade Seyyid Mehmed
Efendi chaired the office of nakabet from December 1694 to March 1695. Fenarizade
Seyyid Ahmed (d. 1698) and Es‘adzade Seyyid Mehmed Ebussutd (d. 1682), the

remaining two novices, however, completed their careers as gadis.”?® Except Seyh

5270n Great Molla families of the 18th century, see Madeline Zilfi, The Politics of Piety, 43-80; and “Elite
Circulation in the Ottoman Empire: Great Mollas of the Eighteenth Century,” Journal of the Economic
and Social History of the Orient 26/3 (1983): 318-364.

528For their biographies see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 2, 1234-1235; and vol. 3, 2092-2093.
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Seyyid Fazlullah, who was buried in the skirts of Mount Sinai, all three novices
of Karacelebizade Mahmtid were buried around the Emir Bukhari lodge located in
Edirnekapi. A similar situation applies to four novices of the then seyhiilislam,
Catalcali Ali Efendi (d. 1692), who held the office for more than twelve years from
February 1674 to September 1686 and from March 1692 to April 1692. His novices,
Fenarizade Lutfullah (d. 1697), Es‘adzdde Mehmed Sa‘deddin (d. 1699), Hocazade
Mehmed (d. 1702) and Seyrekzdde Abdurrahméan (d. 1704) were all seyyids and
members of established nakibilesraf families in Ottoman scholarly bureaucracy. Ex-
cept Seyrekzade Abdurrahman, whose paternal uncle Seyrekzade Ytinus and pater-
nal cousin Seyrekzade Abdurrahméan had once become the nakibilesraf, the remain-
ing three novices of Catalcali All were the sons of nakibiilesrafs. Needless to say, all

of them were buried in Edirnekap: around the Emir Bukhari lodge.??*

The meticulousness of Seyhi Mehmed in recording the burial ground of those buried
around the Edirnekapi Emir Bukhari lodge is crucial given that both he and his fa-
ther, Feyzl Hasan, were serving masters of the tekke in question. Obviously, by draw-
ing attention to such seemingly trivial details in biographic entries in Vekayiu’l-
Fudala, he aimed to implicitly emphasize the Nagshbandi affiliations of those de-
ceased. Considering that enclosed graveyards of the intramural Sufi lodges could
function as posthumous gathering places of the regulars of the relevant lodges,?°
we can conclude the extra-muros cemetery in the vicinity of the Emir Bukhari lodge
served the same function. Yet, the burial ground of the Emir Bukhari lodge was
distinguishable from those of other intramural and extramural tekkes, particularly in
terms of its spiritual atmosphere created by the sepulture of countless seyyid schol-
ars there. Writing during the last quarter of the sixteenth century on this lodge and
adjacent mosque were built by Seyh Mahmtid Celebi in 1530, the biographer, Mecdi
Mehmed Efendi (d. 1591) clarified that still in his time “that mosque and that

529For their biographies see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzala, vol. 3, 2090-2091, 2126-2127, 2175-2176, and
2344-2345. On Catalcali Ali Efendi, see Mehmet Ipsirli, “Catalcali Ali Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. 8, 234-235.

530For some studies on several hazires of Istanbul, see among others Aksel Tibet, Ekrem Igin, and Dilek
Yelkenci, “Stelae Turcicae VIII: Yenikapr Mevlevihanesi Haziresi,” in Cimetiéres et Traditions Funéraries

dans le Monde Islamique / Islim Diinyasinda Mezarliklar ve Defin Gelenekleri, vol. I, (Ankara: TTK,

1996): 223-281; Yavuz Ozdemir, Galata Mevlevihdanesi Miizesi, (istanbul: Tirkiye Turing ve Otomobil
Kurumu, 2008); Ash Sagiroglu Aslan and Yesim Sokiitlii, “Seyh Devati Mustafa Haziresi’'ndeki Mezar

Taslar1,” TUBITAK: final report, (Kayseri: Erciyes Universitesi, 2016); Yesim Sokiitlii, “Istanbul-Uskiidar
Seyh Devati Mustafa haziresinde yer alan mezar taslary,” Unpublished M.A Thesis, (Erciyes Universitesi,
2015); Sahure Yarig, “Uskiidar Ayazma Camii Haziresi’'ndeki Mezar Taglar1,” Sanat Tarihi Dergisi XXVII
(2018): 197-249; Sahure Yaris and Ziilkiif Yarig, “Uskiidar’daki Cingene Firim1 Camii (Karakadi Camii)
Haziresi'ndeki Mezar Taglar1 Uzerine Bir Degerlendirme,” Uluslararas: Sosyal Arastirmalar Dergisi 9/44

(2016): 738-756; Ahmet Semih Torun, “Seyh Muhammed Murad-1 Buhari Tekkesi Haziresi Uzerine Bir
Degerlendirme.”  Vakiflar Dergisi 34 (2010): 125-161; Mesut Ayar, “Eyiip’te Oluklubayir Naksgibendi

Tekkesi,” Istanbul Arastirmalar, 2 (1997): 53-66; for an elaborated version of this article see Mesut Ayar,
“Eyiip’te Ismi Unutulmus Bir Tekke: Seyh Arapzade Haci Ali Efendi Naksibendi Dergahi,” in Yiicel Dagl
Amisina, eds. Evangelia Balta, Yorgos Dedes, Emin Nedret Isli, and M. Sabri Koz, (Istanbul: Turkuaz,
2011): 31-51; Omer Kogyigit, “Uskiidar Afganiler Tekkesi ve Haziresindeki Mezartaslar1,” 665-688.
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lodge have become famous for its affiliation with Emir Bukhari and have become
wellspring of the learned (“ulema) and righteous (suleha). By the burial of a great
multitude and abundance of predecessor nobles (esraf-: eslaf) there, it has overflowed

7531 These statements prove that as early as the late sixteenth

with blessed graves.
century, the burial area of the Emir Bukhari lodge in Edirnekap1 had turned into a
center of attraction for the ulema claiming descent from the Prophet Muhammad.
As I have demonstrated, this tradition steadily continued into the seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries and almost one fifth of all deceased buried around this tekke
were seyyids. It must also be remembered that the cemetery was a typical example
of many eztra-muros cemeteries which were systematically promoted by Ottoman
authorities since the late fifteenth century, “much in the style of Western cemeteries

7532 Therefore, the existence in this

of the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.
burial area of graves belonging to seyyids and ulema, who were not affiliated with

the Nagshbandi order, would not be surprising.

4.4 The Role of Lodgeless Seyhs

The third factor in the expansion of the Nagshbandi order in Ottoman lands was the
mission of the lodgeless seyhs. T use “lodgeless seyh” in this study to describe a Sufi
master authorized by a Nagshbandi seyh to teach and spread the principles of the
order but was not conditioned to conduct the guidance by retreating to a tekke. In
other words, a lodgeless seyh was a deputy whose priority was to practice his social
status and profession in daily life rather than fulfilling duties that an incumbent
seyh performed daily at his tekke. However, this does not mean that he never served
in a tekke. Therefore, I include in this category those who carried out s short-dated
services in the lodges during their long career. As can be seen in the table composed
of identified lodgeless seyhs belove (Table 4.2), they were mostly members of the
official ulema who could serve in different stages of their lives as imam, muezzin,
preacher, miiderris, qadi, chief judge, mufti, and chief mufti. Nonetheless, there

were also officials who held “secular” posts in the state administration, and more

531Mecdi Mehmed Efendi, Hadatku’s-Sakaik, 519. “halen ol cami® ve ol zaviye Emir Buhariye intisabla schret
bulup €ulema ve suleha yatag olmugdur egraf-1 eslafdan cem®i kesir ve cem®i gafir anda defn olunup
mezarat-1 miitebereke ile tolmugdur”

532Edhem Eldem, “Urban Voices From Beyond: Identity, Status and Social Strategies in Ottoman Muslim
Funerary Epitaphs of Istanbul (1700-1850),” in The Farly Modern Ottomans: Remapping the Empire,
eds. Virginia Aksan and Daniel Goffman, (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007): 234. On
the transformation of western cemeteries and their relocation as extramural burial grounds see Philippe
Aries, Western Attitudes Toward Death: From the Middle Ages to the Present, trans. Patricia M. Ranum,
(Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press, 1975): 69-73; Julie Rugg, “Defining the Place of Burial: What
Makes a Cemetery a Cemetery?,” Mortality 5/3 (2000): 259-275.
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importantly, artisans and craftsmen who constantly engaged with society. Setting
aside some exceptional figures such as Mehmed Emin Tokadi, who authorized at

least forty-four seyhs in the Nagshbandi order,33

it is likely that each lodgeless
seyh initiated fewer followers into the order than incumbent seyhs who controlled
tekkes for years. Yet, it is highly likely that the number of lodgeless seyhs exceeded
that of those officially recognized with lodges. It was for this reason alone that
the Nagshbandi order could be propagated through all layers of society and in the

networks of artisans and guilds.

In the fourth table in the Appendix of his book on the history of Sufism in the
eighteenth-century Ottoman Empire, Ramazan Muslu has attempted to list the
names of scholars who were affiliated with Sufi orders. Out of thirty-five figures
listed in his table, twenty had affiliations with the Nagshbandi, six with Mevlevi,
four with Khalwati, two with Celveti, one with Bektagi and one with Bayrami or-
ders. The order of only one scholar, Seyhiilislim Mehmed Sadik Efendi (d. 1709),
whose patronage for Ispiri Damad: Seyh Mustafd was mentioned above, however,
could not be detected by Muslu.?** Unfortunately, the author was unaware of
the fact that the listed scholars in his table were lodgeless seyhs, at least when it
comes to those affiliated with the Nagshbandi order. He failed to realize, for in-
stance, that Karababazade Ibrahim Efendi, Kimil Mehmed Bey, Carullah Veliyyiid-
din, Damadzade Ebulhayr Ahmed Efendi and Mehmed Ismet Efendi, five of ten
scholars listed jointly in his and my tables were authorized Nagshbandi masters
rather than mere adherents of the Nagshbandi order.?®> Considering this fact, we
can conclude that all of thirty-five names that Muslu recorded were in fact autho-
rized lodgeless seyhs. If this is so, it becomes clear that lodgeless mastery was a
phenomenon for the circles of almost all Sufi brotherhoods particularly in the 18th
century. However, it had to be a well-established tradition adopted specifically by
the Nagshbandi order.

My table on the lodgeless seyhs is in agreement in the first place with the findings
of the existing literature, in the sense that Murad Bukharl and Ahmad Juryani, the
two disciples and deputies of Seyh Muhammad Ma‘stim, had contributed much to
the spread of the Nagshbandi order among the scholar-bureaucrats and grandees of
the empire. Thirteen deputies of Seyh Murad and nine deputies of Seyh Ahmed
constitutes two-thirds of the list. With the addition of six masters authorized by

533For the list of forty-four deputies of Mehmed Emin Tokadi, see Hiiseyin Vassaf, Sefine-i Evliyd, vol. 2, 72.
534For the list, see Ramazan Muslu, Osmanl Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 18. Yiizyl, 743.

535Curiously enough that although he knew that Mehmed Hadimi was an authorized geyh, he listed him
among scholars adhered to the order. See ibid, 607-608.
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Table 4.2 Lodgeless Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi seyhs

Lodgeless Seyh Death | Last Position Authorized by
1 | Seyyid Feyzullah Ef. 1703 Seyhiilislam Murad Bukhari
2 | Pagsmakcizade Seyyid Ali | 1712 | Seyhiilislam Murad Bukhari
3 | Ebulhayr Ahmed Ef. 1741 Seyhiilislam Murad Bukhari
4 | Veliyytddin Ef. 1768 Seyhiilislam Murad Bukhari
5 | Idris Ef. 1705 Qadi - Uskiidar Murad Bukhari
6 | La‘lizade Abdulbaki Ef. 1746 | Qadi - Istanbul Murad Bukhari
7 | Karababazade Ibrahim 1722 Mudarris Murad Bukhari
8 | Vasif Mehmed Emin Ef. 1725 Mudarris Murad Bukhari
9 | Mehmed Salim Ef. 1743 | Chief Judge Murad Bukhari; Fazlullah Ef.
10 | Mehmed Ismet Ef. 1747 Mudarris Murad Bukhari
11 | Hadimi Mustafa Ef. Mudarris Murad Bukhari
12 | Hadimi Mehmed Ef. 1762 Mudarris Murad Bukhari
13 | Rahmetullah Bukhari 1751 ? Murad Bukhari
14 | Muhammed Semerkandi 1705 | Seyh Ahmad Juryani
15 | Kimil Mehmed Bey 1732 | Muhéasebe-Anadolu | Ahmad Juryani
16 | Kahraman Agha ? Ahmad Juryani
17 | Ziyaeddin Mehmed 1736 Chief Judge Ahmad Juryani
18 | Veliyyiiddin Carullah Ef. | 1738 | Qadi - Edirne Ahmad Juryani
19 | Heykel Hiiseyin Ef. 1739 Calligrapher Ahmad Juryani
20 | Seyyid Mustafa Ef. 1745 Seyhiilislam Ahmad Juryani; Murdd Bukhar
21 | Yekgesm Ahmed Murtaza | 1747 | Riznamge-i Evvel | Ahmad Juryani
22 | Mehmed Emin Tokadi 1745 | Seyh Ahmad Juryani; Murdd Bukhar
23 | Cezerizade Mehmed Sa’id | 1752 Mehmed Emin Tokadi
24 | Mehmed Bahti 1753 Imam Mehmed Emin Tokadi
25 | Halil Ef. 1773 Mehmed Emin Tokadi
26 | Miistakimzade Siilleyman | 1781 Calligrapher Mehmed Emin Tokadi
27 | Seyyid Yahya Ef. 1784 Mehmed Emin Tokadi
28 | Ahmed Sevki Ef. 1785 Mehmed Emin Tokadi
29 | Egrikapili Mehmed Rasim | 1756 Calligrapher Kirimi Ahmed
30 | Sohrab Agha ? Kahraman Agha; Nablusi
31 | Emir Agha ? Kahraman Agha
32 | Mustafa Efendi 1731 Odabast Kahraman Agha
33 | Mehmed Rasid 1735 | Chief Judge Emir Aga
34 | Késec Ahmed Trabzoni 1777 Hadimi Mehmed
35 | Mehmed Agah Aga 1770 Neccarzade Mustafa Riza

Mehmed Emin Tokadi, who himself was the deputy of Seyh Ahmed, eight-tenths

shows up. The exceptional presence of the official ulema among the lodgeless seyhs is

an indisputable fact. It is noteworthy in particular that twelve of thirteen deputies of

Seyh Murad served in the upper echelons of the scholarly bureaucracy as seyhiilislam,

qadi, chief judge, and mdderris. Such a situation is, of course, in conformity with my

findings presented in the previous chapter regarding Seyh Murad’s networks. Besides

that, Table 4.2 points to a striking procedural difference between Seyh Murad and
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Seyh Ahmed. Contrary to the former, who concentrated his influence on the ulema,
the latter extended his hand to secular bureaucracy from where he was able to
recruit disciples such as Kimil Mehmed Bey, Kahraman Agha, and Yek¢cesm Ahmed
Murtaza. It was through the guidance of these figures that the Sufi chain of Yekdest
Ahmed ensured its continuity in secular bureaucracy as can be seen in the examples
of Sohrab Agha, Emir Agha, and Odabas: Mustafa Efendi.’3¢ Therefore, in what
follows, I will bring attention to Kimil Mehmed Bey, Mehmed Emin Tokadi, and
Heykel Hiiseyin Efendi, three lodgeless Nagshbandi seyhs representing the mystical
lineage of Yekdest Ahmad Juryani.

Kimil Mehmed Bey is one of the most remarkable figures to have a better under-
standing of a lodgeless seyh in high position in state administration. He was the son
of Doganc1 Hiiseyin Pasha (d.1691), who served as the head of the financial office
from 14 October 1687 to 21 March 1688. Hiiseyin Pasha’s incumbency in the finan-
cial office likely occasioned his three sons’, Kimil Mehmed, Mahmfid and Ibrahim,
appointments to positions in the same bureau in the beginning of their careers. We
know, for instance, that Mahmiid served as Defter Emini before his appointment as
Maliye Tezkirecisi in November 1695. Educated in the imperial school, Ibrahim, the
other son, had already become a steward in the inner treasury thanks to Corlulu
All Pasha. After serving as sildhdar of the sultan for two months from February
to April in 1704, he became pasha and was appointed as governor of Sehrizol in
October of the same year. From this date to 1715, he served thrice as governor of
Sehrizol, twice in Aleppo, and once in Ezurum, Mosul and Diyarbekir. Completing
his first phase in the eastern provinces of the empire, he served as the custodian
of Mediterranean islands and coastal cities such as Inebahti, Istankdy and Agriboz
from June 1715 to October 1720, the date he became the governor of Marag. It
was during his government in Marag when he was called to Istanbul in 1721 to be
married either to Ayse Sultan or Emine Sultan, the two daughters of Mustafa II who
were born 1696.737 After the marriage, which took place after the mevlid ceremony
of 1133/11 January 1721, he was transferred to Erzurum as governor. It was there
that he was charged with the commandership of armies going for the campaign on

Revan and Gence. Finally, he passed away in Erzurum in the winter of 1724. 538

5360n Odabagi Mustafa Efendi who received his Sufi training from Kahraméan Agha, see Findiklili Ismet
Efendi, Tekmileti’s-Sakaik fi Hakk-1 Ehli’l-Hakaik, 342.

5370n “the relative silence surrounding the princesses’ marriages” that “gave rise to some confusion regarding
their identities” see Tiulay Artan, “Royal Weddings and The Grand Vezirate: Institutional and Symbolic
Change in the Early Eighteenth Century,” in Royal Courts in Dynastic States and Empires, eds. Jeroen
Duindam, Tiilay Artan, and Metin Kunt, (Leiden: Brill, 2011): 361-362. Although the chronicler Rasid
recorded the name of princess as Ayse in his entry on the mevlid ceremony dated 11 January 1721, his
successor Celebizdde Asim identified her as Emine in the entry on the death of Sildhdar Ibrahim Pasha.
See respectively in Tadrith-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 11, 1215, and vol. III, 1347-1348.

5380n Doganci Hiiseyin Pasha, see Tarith-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 1, 417; Mehmed Stureyya, Sicill-i Osmani,
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Silahdar Ibrahim Pasha’s long service in the eastern and Arab provinces of the em-
pire was not accidental. By assigning him to the provinces in question, the steerers
of the state mechanism in Istanbul aimed on the one hand to eliminate his possible
influence and domination in state affairs in the center. On the other hand, however,
they aimed to control provincial politics by benefitting from his presence there, which
indicates that the center was sure of his loyalty to the sultan. The second possibility
seems more reasonable to me because our sources contain telling clues regarding his
familial connections, particularly with Arabs and Arab-populated regions. When
his father, Hiiseyin, was dismissed from his office on 21 March 1688 and impris-
oned, the imdm of Silleymén II (r. 1687-1691), Arabzade Abdiilvehhab Efendi (d.
1691), took an active role for his forgiveness. It was thanks to Arabzdde Abdiilve-
hhab’s intervention that Hiiseyin Efendi was not only pardoned, but also promoted
to the rank of pasha and appointed governor of Basra, an Arab province, in May
1688.53% Following the banishment of Arabzade Abdiilvehhab in January 1690 by
the grand vizier Kopriiliizade Fazil Mustafa Pasha from the court of Sileyméan II to
Medina, where he would pass away in Muharram 1103 /September-October 1691,74°
things became aberrant for Hiiseyin Pasha. First, he was called from the island of
Agriboz to Edirne and then executed soon after the death of Arabzade Abdilve-
hhab Efendi.®*! Having close connections with Arabs and Arab-populated regions
seems to have had a decisive impact on the career of Kimil Mehmed Bey, the son of
Hiiseyin Pasha and elder brother of Silahdar Ibrahim Pasha. For instance, following
his tenure as Rliznamgce-i Evvel, he carried in 1690 and 1692 the robes of honor and
berdts of Ahmed b. Ghalib (d. 1701) and Muhsin b. Hiiseyin (d. 1695), the two
successor sharifs of Mecca.”*2 From 1710 to 1717, he served as the seyhi’l-harem
of Mecca, which necessitated simultaneously the ruling of Habesg province, which
was deprived of its former importance, and the governorate of Jeddah sanjak.?*3

In his case, however, the governorate of Habes was given to him only in November

vol. 3, 721; Ismail Hami Danismend, Osmanl Devlet Erkana, (istanbul: Tiirkiye Yayinevi, 1971): 278. On

Hiiseyin Pasha’s son Mahmiid, see Tdrih-i Risid ve Zeyli, vol. I, 513. On Silahdar Ibrahim Pasha, see
Mehmed Siireyya, Sicill-i Osmani, vol. 3, 778; Tarth-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 111, 1347-1348.

5390n Defterdar Hiiseyin Efendi’s dismissal and re-promotion see Defterdar Sar1 Mehmed Paga, Zibde-i

Vekayiat, 287, 289; and Tarith-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 1, 340-341.

5406 Arabzade Abdiilvehhab Efendi’s career, see Seyhi Mehmed, Vekayi‘u’l-Fuzald, vol. 3, 1977-1978. On

Arabzades, see Arzu Giildégiiren, “Uc Asir Istanbullu Bir Ulema Ailesi: Arabzadeler,” DIVAN 23/45
(2018/2): 27-79.

541Defterdar Sart Mehmed Paga, Ziibde-i Vekayiat, 359-360, 409, 411; Tarih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 1, 384,

416-417.

542 Tarih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 1, 419-420; Ismail Hakk: Uzuncarsih, Mekke-i Miikerreme Emirleri, (Ankara:

TTK, 1972): 92-94.

5430n the history of Habes under the Ottoman rule, see Cengiz Orhonlu, Osmanly Imparatorlugu’nun Giiney

Siyaseti: Habes Eyaleti, (Istanbul: Edebiyat Fakiiltesi Matbaasi, 1974). For the deterioration of the
situation in the 18th century, see ibid, 129-140. See also idem, “Habes Eyaleti,” TDVIA, vol. 14, 363-367.
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1714. In treatment similar to that given his brother Ibrahim, Kimil Mehmed Bey
was prevented from rising in the administrative ranks of the central bureaucracy.
Sehid Ali Pasha’s enmity towards him was so virulent that he issued a decision for
his execution the day before his disaster in Petrovaradin on 5 August 1716. Even
though he enjoyed the rank of pasha as the governor of Habeg, upon his return from
Mecca in 1717, he was demoted and continued his career as an experienced specialist
in the finance office. We know, for instance, that he was a mevkifatc: in 1726. In

May 1728, however, he was appointed as the Chief Accountant of Anatolia.®**

Could a lodgeless seyh in a senior position serve as a master of a Sufi brotherhood
in the Ottoman capital? And if so, how? The mendkibname of Mehmed Emin
Tokadi, drafted by his disciple, Seyyid Yahya Efendi (d. 1784), but completed by
Ahmed Hasib Uskiidari (d. 1786) is a useful source where satisfactory answers to
our questions can be found. Containing first-person narratives from Mehmed Emin
Tokadi, the text has the characteristics of an ego-document.’*® According to the
menakibname, from November 1702 to March-April 1706, Mehmed Emin stayed
in Mecca, where he was initiated by Yekdest Ahmad Juryani to the Nagshbandi
order. Upon his return from Mecca, Ahmad Juryani gave him two hundred gold
coins and handed him a letter of recommendation to be delivered to Kimil Mehmed
Bey, his deputy in Istanbul.?0 It was because of this letter that Mehmed Emin was
patronized by Kimil Mehmed in his mansion and further educated in the Nagshbandi
path. These significant details in the mendkibname denote on the one hand that
Seyh Ahmad Juryani, as in the case of Seyh Murad Bukhari, enjoyed a rich, high-
quality living rather than the life of a destitute, idle dervish. On the other hand, it
demonstrates that the roles assumed by Daméadzade Ahmed Efendi in Seyh Murad’s
case, were played by Kimil Mehmed Bey in this case. What Mehmed Emin observed
in Kimil Mehmed Bey’s mansion, were fine details regarding the training method of

a lodgeless Nagshbandi seyh. We are told that Kimil Mehmed, a solemn and laconic

544For his career see Mehmed Streyya, Sicill-i Osmant, vol. 3, 963-964; and Miistakimzade, Tuhfe-i Hattatin,
406. Mehmed Siireyya has penned this entry by utilizing anecdotes in the mendkibname of Mehmed Emin
Tokadi where the date of Kimil Mehmed is recorded as 1132/1720. However, a chronogram recorded by
Ayvansardyi proves that he died in 1145/1732. For the incorrect date in the mendkibname see, Ahmed
Hasib Uskiidari, Mendkib-2 Mehmed Emin Tokadi, Princeton University Library, Islamic Manuscripts, no.
495, fol. 9a. This text is erroneously entitled Bevdkiti’l-Haremeyn and attributed to Miistakimzade. For
Ayvansarayi’s record, see Ayvansarayi, Mecmud-i Tevdrih, 214. For pieces of information regarding Kimil
Mehmed Bey’s career in the chronicle of Rasid Mehmed and Celebizade Isma‘il, see Tarih-i Rasid ve Zeyli,
vol. I, 376, 415, 419-420, 564; ibid, vol. II, 821-822, 888, 1032; and ibid, vol. III, 1484-1485, 1596.

545Barbara Kellner-Heinkele, “The Pearl in the Shell: Sheykh Mehmed Emin Tokadi’s (d. 1745) Self-vita
as Scripted by Sheykh Seyyid Hasib Uskiidari,” quoted in Selim Karahasanoglu, “Learning from Past

r

Mistakes and Living a Better Life: Report on the Workshop in Istanbul on ‘Ottoman Ego-Documents’,
Review of Middle East Studies 54/2 (2020): 299.

546For the biography of Mehmed Emin Tokadi, see Hiiseyin Vassaf, Sefine-i Ewliya, vol. 2., 62-78; Halil

Ibrahim Simsek, Mehmed Emin-i Tokddi: Hayatr ve Risaleleri, (Istanbul: Insan Yayinlari, 2005); idem, 18.
Yiizynl Osmanly Toplumunada Naksibendi-Miceddidilik, 141-161; idem, “Mehmed Emin Tokadi,” TDVIA,
vol. 28, 467-468.
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figure, often had savant conversations with his guests. In his initial conversations
with Mehmed Emin, he explained complicated topics pertaining to spiritual journey
of a dervish. Since he was well-versed in the history of the Nagshbandi order and had
a good grasp of knowledge on the biographies of its pioneering figures, he could tell
the most appropriate anecdote whenever a hardship appeared in Mehmed Emin’s
state of mind. Furthermore, to some degree, he could reveal and estimate correctly

what was in his heart and mind.547

A comparative reading of the menakibname and Tuhfe-i Hattatin is telling not only
on the methods adopted by some lodgeless seyhs to disseminate the Nagshbandi or-
der in Istanbul, but also on how the order was enrooted among the calligraphers. We
learn from first-person narratives of Seyyid Yahya, the drafter of the mendkibname,
that whereas Mehmed Emin Tokadi preferred to execute spiritual guidance at his
home located in Fil Yokusu street in Zeyrek, Heykel Huseyin Efendi (d. 1739-40),
another disciple and spiritual nominee of Yekdest Ahmad Juryani, used to gather
with his followers in a barbershop opposite the funeral gate of the Ayasofya. It is
worthy note that both seyhs hunted after eligible postulants in order to incorpo-
rate them into the tariqga. While Mehmed Emin mostly entrusted this duty to his
dervishes, Heykel Hiiseyin walked through the streets and mosques of the city in
search of suitable students. For instance, the latter would find Seyyid Yahya by
the fountain of Koca Mustafa Pasha Mosque before a Friday prayer and invite him
to the barbershop. Yet, upon being inspired that Mehmed Emin was responsible
for Seyyid Yahya’s guidance, he relinquished him. Mehmed Emin met with Seyyid
Yahya for the first time during his visit to the calligrapher, Katibzade Mustafa,
whose mansion in Aksaray neighborhood overflowed with students of calligraphy.
This significant anecdote in the menakibname indicates that the mansions and sa-
lons of calligraphy were among places where lodgeless seyhs recruited followers for
their order. Given Katibzade Mustafa Efendi’s adherence to the Nagshbandi order,
one can surmise that he often invited to his mansion Nagshbandi seyhs equipol-
lent to Mehmed Emin to give lectures to his pupils. As a master of calligraphy
and a lodgeless seyh, Heykel Hiiseyin Efendi is an appropriate example for having
a better understanding of the close connections between interpenetrating circles of
Nagshbandis and calligraphers. According to Miistakimzade, he was accustomed to
have erudite conversation with his pupils when practicing calligraphy, an explicit

indication that he did not omit the spiritual education of his calligraphy students.?*®

547 Ahmed Hasib Uskiidari, Mendkib-» Mehmed Emin Tokadi, fol. Sa.

548For the first-person narrative of Seyyid Yahya, see Ahmed Hasib Uskiidarl, Mendkib-1 Mehmed Emin
Tokadi, fol. 10a-15a. For Heykel Hiiseyin Efendi, see Miistakimzade, Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 178-179. For
Katibzade Mustafa Efendi, see ibid, 533.
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4.5 Multiplicity of Identity, Intra-Sufi Cooperation, and Culture of Coexistence

Writing about the self-perception of twentieth-century Muslim Moroccans, Gary
S. Gregg has found that multiple identities, seemingly at odds with each other,
are assumed by the same individual. Thus, he has concluded “[t|he multiplicity of
identities indicates that the culture is not only distributed but that individuals do
not act as stable points of integration. Rather, this multiplicity suggest much more
volatility to both personality and culture than most theories assume.”>*? Gregg’s is a
psychological and anthropological analysis of modern Muslim individuals who devel-
oped identities under the conditions of the twentieth-century world. Was formation
of multiple identities possible for a Muslim Ottoman in 17th- and 18th- century
Ottoman Empire? Is it possible to study the history of Ottoman Sufis and Sufism
without sinking into prejudices of the Eurocentric and even ethnocentric scholarship
that perceive “the formation of ‘independent’ selves in ‘individualist’ cultures” and
“‘interdependent’ selves in ‘collectivist’ cultures.”>*® Can we trace the formation of
multiple identities in a Nagshbandi Sufi who had sense of belonging in several Sufi
brotherhoods?

My answers to these questions are in the affirmative. However, as a concept “multi-
ple identities” refers to harmonious and coexistent rather than conflicting identities
in my adaptation, for there were Sufis who belonged to several Sufi brotherhoods.
In fact, the sense of belonging to several Sufi brotherhoods is more common among
ordinary people than among educated dervishes who are more likely to be identi-
fied with a single order. In this regard, we need to consider the inhabitants of a
neighborhood where lodges of different Sufi orders were established in close prox-
imity to each other. Baha Tanman has highlighted the dense construction of tekkes
along the belt of the city walls from Yedikule to Ayvansaray, in the neighborhoods
lined up on the Beyazit-Edirnekap: axis, on the slopes leading down from this axis
to the Golden Horn and the Bayrampasa stream in and around Aksaray and the
Aksaray-Kocamustafapaga axis, and in the vicinity of the Nisanca and Otakgilar

551

neighborhoods on the line from Edirnekapi to Eyiip.°?* In whose favor was inhabi-

549Gary S. Gregg, “Culture, Personality, and the Multiplicity of Identity: Evidence from North African Life
Narratives,” Ethos 26/2 (1998): 148.

550Gary S. Gregg, Culture and Identity in a Muslim Society, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007): 17-
18. For the theory of multiple identities see Seymour Rosenberg and Michael Gara, “The Multiplicity of
Personal Identity,” Review of Personality and Social Psychology 6 (1985): 87-113.

551Baha Tanman, “Osmanli Sehrinde ve Mahallesinde Tekkelerin yeri: Istanbul Ornegi,” in Osmank
Toplumunda Tasavvuf ve Sufiler: Kaynaklar — Doktrin — Ayin ve Erkan - Tarikatlar — Edebiyat — Mi-
mari — ITkonografi — Modernizm, ed. Ahmet Yagar Ocak, (Ankara: TTK, 2005): 425-428; idem, “Istanbul
Tekkeleri,” 413-414.
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tants’ sense of belonging in the neighborhoods where several Sufi orders represented
their lodges? Considering only a short line in Nisanca, where Naqgshbandi, Khalwati,
and Cerrahi circles formed around the lodges of Murad Bukhari, Abdiilmecid Sivasi,
and Sertarikzade, I conclude that, with some exceptions, the inhabitants of this
neighborhood developed a sense of belonging to all three lodges and did not refrain
from showing their respect to their incumbent seyhs. They were able to attend the
circles of vocal dhikr on Sunday at the Sertarikzade Tekkesi and on Thursday at the
Sivasi Tekkesi. On Friday, however, they could visit the Seyh Murad Tekkesi, where
the silent invocation was practiced.’® This was also the case for the halagas of
religious and scholarly conversations in the tekkes and sermons in the neighborhood
or imperial mosques where the masters of these and other Sufi lodges educated the
congregation. In these special gatherings, ordinary urbanites were able to develop
multiple identities and a sense of belonging to different Sufi brotherhoods, which in

turn contributed to a culture of coexistence in the city.

Contrary to ordinary people who may have felt free to continue or give up the
Sufi gatherings of several seyhs at the same time, the educated dervishes and mas-
ters were generally expected to abide faithfully to a single seyh and order, which
in turn resulted in their identification with the order connected to a single iden-
tity. Adherence to multiple orders was legitimate but necessitated above all strict,
equal, and simultaneous commitment to the principles of other orders and seyhs
from whom the authorization has been received. However, since this was a heavy
burden on the dervish and carried the risk of not being perfected in any order, the
aspirants of the Sufism were recommended to practice a single order rather than
joining several orders at the same time.?®3 Be that as it may, surviving historical
records prove the existence of many Sufi masters who had were affiliated with several
brotherhoods in the Ottoman Empire during the seventeenth and eighteenth cen-
turies. “Like other ‘ulema of his time,” for instance, we are told that a Damascene
Sufi and scholar, Abd al-Ghani al-Nablusi, “belonged to a number of Sufi tariqas
(orders), the most important for him being the Nagshbandiya and the Qadiriya or-

ders”®* Seyh Murad Bukhari, like his Damascene peer and Hindi masters, were

552For dhikr days in the tekkes of Istanbul in the late 19th century, see Selami Simsgek, “Son Dénem Celveti
Seyhlerinden Bandirmalizdde Ahmed Miinib Efendi'nin Hayati, Eserleri ve Mecmué-y1 Tekaya’s1,” 152-168.

On the dhikr ceremonies practices in the tekkes of Istanbul, see Omer Tugrul Inancer, “Istanbul’da Tarikat
Ayin ve Zikirleri,” in Antik Cag’dan XXI. Yiizyla Biiyiik Istanbul Tarihi: Islam, vol. V, 316-340.

5535adik Vicdani, Tarikatler ve Silsileleri (Tomdr-1 Turik-v ‘Aliyye), prepared and abbreviated by Irfan

Giindiiz, (Istanbul: Enderun Kitabevi, 1995):107; Muslu, Osmanle Toplumunda Tasavvuf: 18. Yiizyil,
621-622, footnote 399.

554 Ahdul-Karim Rafeq, “‘Abd al-Ghani al-Nabulsi Religious Tolerance and ‘Arabness’ in Ottoman Damas-
cus,” in Transformed Lanscapes: Essays on Palestine and the Middle East in Honor of Walid Khalidi, eds.
Camille Mansour and Leila Fawaz, (Cairo & New York: The American University in Cairo Press, 2009):
1.
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educated in the Nagshbandi and Qadiri orders. Feyzl Hasan Efendi, the father of
the biographer Seyhi Mehmed, mentioned above, had authorization in the Khal-
wati, Mevlevi and Naqgshbandi orders. It is highly possible that he delegated his
authority to his son, who succeeded him in the Emir Bukhéari Tekkesi in Edirnekap.
Mehmed Emin Tokadi had authorization in the Nagshbandi, Qadiri, and Shadhili
orders.”® Mehmed Ismet, as will be discussed in the next chapter, received the ijaza
from at least five orders, namely Nagshbandi, Mevlevi, Qadiri, Bayrami and Shad-
hili. To these and many other examples, we must add prominent Melami-affiliated
seyhs, including Sar1 Abdulldh Efendi (d. 1660), Seyyid Mehmed Hagim Efendi (d.
1677), Pagmakcizade Seyyid Ali Efendi, Sehid Ali Pasha, La‘li Mehmed Efendi and
La‘lizade Abdiilbaki Efendi, whose connections with Nagshbandi seyhs have been
mentioned several times in this study. The most striking Nagshbandi seyh with mul-
tiple Sufi affiliations, perhaps, was Mistakimzade Siileyméan Sa‘deddin Efendi (d.
1719-1788). Although he had been authorized in five tariqgas—Naqgshbandi, Qadiri,
Mevlevi, Khalwati and Celveti—, the number of seyhs who gave him authorization
was fourteen. What is even more notable in his case is that eight of the masters
were members of five Khalwati branches— respectively three Semsi, two Nasuhi and

one each from Sivasi, Siinbiili, and Ramazani branches.??6

There is no doubt that most of these seyhs obtained ijaza from the masters of dif-
ferent orders as a baraka as a sign of blessing (tabarrukan) for themselves. On the
other hand, as I have discussed in the example of Feyzl Hasan Efendi above, this
tradition enabled him to operate the Nagshbandi lodge in Edirnekapi. Yet, it was
also by virtue of this tradition which was hand in hand with intra-Sufi cooperation
and religious tolerance that a culture of coexistence was established in the Ottoman
Empire during the relevant time period. For instance, Abd al-Ghani al-Nablusi
penned two polemical treatises in 1672 and 1692 to defend himself and Ibn al-Arabi
against vehement attacks by an anonymous Riimi/Turkish scholar who accused them
of nonbelief, since they mentioned “the possibility that non-Muslims might go to
paradise rather than hell” by paying jizya, which in return brings earthly and heav-
enly happiness. In his defence, in which his tone was as ugly as his opponent,
after describing the anonymous scholar with diatribes and derogatory attributions,
al-Nablusi claimed that the unnamed scholar was incapable of understanding both
sharia and Arabic, for he “insists that only Muslims are promised paradise by God
whereas dhimmis .. are destined to go to hell” and argued in opposition “that by

paying jizya, which bring financial support to the Muslims, non-Muslims would be

555Hl'jseyim Vassaf, Sefine-i Evliyd, vol. 2, 63-64.

556 Ensar Karagoz, “Ilmiye Teskilat: Tarihine Kaynakhk Eden Bir Alim: Eserleriyle Miistakimzade Siileyman
Sadeddin,” Unpublished PhD Diss., (Istanbul Universitesi 2022): 87-88.
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forgiven by God for their unbelief and, like Muslims, would then be qualified to go
to paradise where all become Muslims in the hereafter.”®®” In order to justify his
position he brought forward an interesting explanation: “[Slince some of the dim-
mis were led by God to inner faith (al-iman batinan)” he went on “their happiness
becomes specific happiness and thus they enter Paradise along with Muslims. They
become Muslims according to the laws of the hereafter, but not of this world.”®>®
Al-Nablusi was also a defender of Sufism and Sufi orders and their rituals against the
strident criticism of the intolerant ulema. In 1685, he penned a treatise, al-°Uqud
al-lu’lu’iyya fr tariq al-sada al-Mawlawiyya, which gained widespread circulation, in
defence of the Mevlevi order and the sama® and dawaran rituals of Mevlevis. There,
considering the fact that the invocation of God, recitation of the Qur’an, narration
of hadith and praising the Prophet, the Companions and the saints were the com-
ponents of the Mevlevi rituals, he concluded that there were no contradictions to

sharia and sunna in their gatherings. %

Al-Uqud al-lu’lu’iyya of al-Nablusi is a considerable specimen testifying that Naqgsh-
bandi scholars who had multiple Sufi affiliations contributed to the culture of coexis-
tence and sustained intra-Sufi cooperation and collective consciousness of the Muslim
community through scholarly works in which they attempted to defend other Sufi
brotherhoods. Al-¢Uqud was translated into Turkish by Pecevi Arif Ahmed Dede
(d. 1724), who served as the post-nishin of the Yenikap1 Mevlevihanesi from 1713 to
his death. Ahmed Dede was a jami¢ al-turuq seyh. Being the son of Seyh Mustafa
(d. 1699), a Khalwati-Ussaki seyh, he was born into a Khalwati milieu. He explains
in the introduction of his translation that he embarked on such a project at the
insistent request of Dervis Omer, the chief cook of the Mevlevihane of Konya, who
was at that time was a dervish in the Mevlevihane of Filibe where Ahmed Dede was
the incumbent seyh. The translation was done during Ahmed Dede’s incumbency
in Filibe. It is also worth noting that he translated the text for the benefit of the

dervishes of the narrow circles in and around the tekke rather than a wider audi-

557For quotations see Abdul-Karim Rafeq, “‘Abd al-Ghani al-Nabulsi Religious Tolerance and ‘Arabness’
in Ottoman Damascus,” 3-4. On al-Nablusi’s religious tolerance, see ibid, 2-8. For the summary of the
treatise, see Michael Winter, “A Polemical Treatise by ¢Abd al-Gan1 al-Nabulusi against a Turkish Scholar
on the Religious Status of the Dimmis,” Arabica 35 (1988): 92-103. According to Nir Shafir, “[ijn one
copy from Damascus, a reader or copyist seems to have identified the anonymous Rumi as one Mahmud
b. Shaykh ¢All” See Nir Shafir, “The Road From Damascus: Circulation and Redefinition of Islam in the
Ottoman Empire,” 150.

558 Michael Winter, “A Polemical Treatise by ¢Abd al-Gant al-Nabulusi against a Turkish Scholar,” 99.

5597brahim Gok, “Three treatises on the Mawlawi order, being a critical edition of al-Uqud al-lu’lw’iyyah
by 'Abd al-Ghaniyy al-Nabulusi, al-Tuhfah al-bahiyyah by Trabzoni Ahmed Kosec, and al-Suhbah al-
safiyah by Darwish Mahmad As’ad Ghalib, together with a critical introduction,” Unpublished PhD Diss.,
(Lancaster University 1977); Ahmad Sukkar, “°?Abd al-Ghan1 al-Nabulust of Damascus (d. 1143/1731)
and the Mawlaw1 Sufi Tradition,” Mawlana Rumi Review 5 (2014): 136-170; Abdulcebbar Kavak, “Seyh
Abdiilgani en-Nablusi’nin (6. 1143/1731) Mevlevilik Miidafaas:: el-Uktidu’l-Lit’liiyye fi Tariki’s-Sadeti’l-
Mevleviyye Adh Eseri,” TAED 56 (2016): 1125-1151.
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ence.” Yet, it was Miistakimzade, the prolific Nagshbandi seyh, who introduced
al-Nablusi’s Mevlevi defence to wider readership. His was a Turkish commentary
entitled Serh-i °fbarat, which was completed in twenty days in July 1768.°61 In
spite of eleven surviving copies of Ahmed Dede’s translation, at least twenty copies

562

of Miistakimzade’s commentary survived to the date,”®® which is a clear indication

that Nagshbandi circles positively contributed the circulation of the texts.

Miistakimzade’s favorable attitude towards the Mevlevi order was not an exceptional
case in eighteenth-century Sufi environments. Nor he was alone in defending the
continuation of the culture of coexistence and tolerance in the Ottoman capital.
Much before him, Mehmed Emin Tokadi, who instructed and authorized him in the
Nagshbandi order, had written in 1122/1710-11 a treatise entitled Siyanet-i Dervisan
der Bahs-i Deveran-i Sufiyan to defend the legitimacy of vocal dhikr and rotation of
dervishes (dawaran) during the invocation.’%® By penning such a treatise, Mehmed
Emin Tokadi willingly defended and justified the right of existence of all Sufi orders
adopting and practicing vocal and rotational dhikr in their circles. Following in
the footsteps of his master, Miistakimzade wrote in 1197/1782 Makulat-1 Devriyye,
a treatise in which he not only defended the vocal dhikr and dawaran but also
discussed with the rigor of a jurist the permissibility of musical instruments in Sufi
ceremonials.’%* In their discussion on the permissibility of the vocal dhikr and
dawaran, both Mehmed Emin and Miistakimzade based their arguments on two
basic grounds. First, the pure intention of the dervish untainted by hypocrisy, and
second, the remembrance and worship of God, the most blessed purpose. The same
grounds were also shared by Seyh Murad Bukhari, who approved of the vocal dhikr
in one of his sermons delivered in Bursa in or around the date Mehmed Emin Tokadi

penned his Siyanet-i Dervisan. However, unlike Mehmed Emin and Miistakimzade,

560For more on Ahmed Dede and his father Seyh Mustafa, see Mehmet Yunus Yazici, “Pecevi Seyh Arif
Ahmed Dede ve Ukadi’l-Liliiye fi Tariki’s-Sadeti’l-Mevleviyye Terciimesi,” Unpublished MA Thesis

(Ankara Universitesi 2016): 16-21. For another study on Ahmed Dede’s translation, see Muhammed
Tayyip Durceylan, “Abdulgani en-Nablusi’ye Ait el-Ukfidii’l-Lii’liiiyye Isimli Eserin Arifi Ahmed Dede
Terciimesi (Tahkik ve Transkripsiyon),” Unpublished MA Thesis (Marmara Universitesi 2015).

561For a handsome study on the text, see Miistakimzade Silleyméan Sa‘deddin, Serh-i Ibardt: Mevlevilik,

Misiki ve Sema* (Inceleme — Tenkitli Metin), prepared by Ensar Karagoz, (Istanbul: YEK, 2019). For a
convincing analysis on Miistakimzade’s Mevlevi connections see, ibid, 33-41.

562F5r the copies of Ahmed Dede’s translation, see Mehmet Yunus Yazici, ibid, 55-59. For the copies of
Miistakimzade’s commentary, see Ensar Karagoz, Serh-i Ibdrat: Mevlevilik, Misiki ve Semd‘, 54-62.

563For Mehmed Emin Tokadi’s arguments in favor of devrdn in this text, see Halil Ibrahim Simsek, “Iki
Naksbendi Miiceddidinin Deveran Savunmas: -Mehmed Emin-i Tokadi (6. 1745) ve Mistakimzade Stiley-

man Sadeddin (6. 1788) Ornegi,” Tasavvuf: Ilmi ve Akademik Arastirma Dergisi 10 (2003): 283-198. The
completion date of Siyanet-i Dervisan is found in Siileymaniye Library, Esad Efendi, no. 1849/1, fol. 54a.

564Halil Tbrahim Simsek is the first researcher utilizing some passages from this text in his “Iki Naksbendi
Miiceddidinin Deveran Savunmasi1”. For a thorough study on Makulat-» Devriyye see Mustafa Demirci,
“Makilat-1 Devriyye’de Mistakimzide Siilleyman Sa’deddin’in Misiki ve Seméda Dair Goriisleri,” C.U.
Tlahiyat Fakiiltesi Dergisi XVIIT/2 (2014): 171-190.
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he opposed dawaran and sama® particularly on the grounds that musical instruments
were elements of dhikr in them. Nevertheless, he did not put dawaran and sama®
under the category of “forbidden” (haram). Rather, he contented himself with saying
that there was no consent (r2za) to and permission (rupsat) for them and, thus
declared that they were permissible under mitigating circumstances (“uzr) such as
trance and ecstasy during which the worshipper is unconscious due to the perfection

of the divine love.%°

The divergence of opinions in the examples of Seyh Murad, al-Néablusi, Mehmed
Emin, and Miistakimzade strengthened rather than weakened the culture of coex-
istence in which different Sufi orders owed their existence and survival to the sense
of intra-Sufi cooperation and mutual tolerance digested by mystics who enjoyed
at the same time the multiple identities of an orthodox Muslim scholar belonging
to several tariqas. The flourishing of such a common attitude further proves that
the Nagshbandi establishment in the Ottoman Empire, and especially in Istanbul,
was not monolithic and monotonous, but multifaceted and colorful. One of the
idiosyncratic figures who deserves mention in this regard is a certain Seyyid Abdur-
rahmén Naksibendi (d. 1188/1774-75), who was in all probabality the gseyh of the
Emir Bukhari Tekkesi in Fatih from 1148/1735-36 until his death.%%6 His Risale-i
Miibeyyin-i Zaman, a treatise completed in Shawwal 1133/July-August 1721 and
dedicated to the grand vizier, DAmad Ibrahim Pasha (v. 1718-1730), who, accord-
ing to the author, generously treated the high and the low according to their ranks
and positions, is of particular importance in terms of its contributions to our un-
derstanding of Ottoman pluralism.?®” Apart from the sebeb-i te lif section, the text
contains five other sections, all of which had the main theme of advising the grand
vizier on corrupt officials, ulema, Sufis and common subjects, and on the virtue of
being generous and benevolent in state affairs. In this respect, the text resembles
the pessimistic and declinist Mirror of the Princes genre with which we are familiar,
particularly in the late 16th and 17th centuries. However, the present text also has

idiosyncratic aspects in terms of its praise and criticism of the new generation born

565Seyh Murad articulated these words in Bursa in his savant conversations which were recorded by

Karababazéde Tbrahim, his disciple and deputy. See Beyazit Library, Veliyyiiddin Efendi, no. 1810/1, fol.
3a-b.

566 According to Mecmii‘a-i Tekdyd of Zakir Siikri, he was the seyh of the lodge from 1720 to his death.
However, Tekmiletii’s-Sakaik of Findiklili Mehmed Ismet mentions that Seyh Abdiilaziz Efendi who was
one of the three sons of Seyh Fazlulldh Efendi (d. 1709) was the geyh of the tekke in question from
1135/1722-23 to his death in 1148/1735-36. According to Findiklil, 1135 was the death of the previous
seyh Mehmed Refi‘. Zakir Siikri, however, records 1132/1720 as the year of his death. See Zakir Sikri, Die

Istanbuler derwisch-konvente und ihre scheiche: (Mecmua-i Tekaya), 68; and Findiklih Mehmed Ismet,
Tekmiletii’s-Sakaik fi Hakk-1 Ehli’l-Hakaik, 432-433.

567For the text see Seyyid Abdurrahméan Efendi, Risale-i Mibeyyin-i Zaman, Bibliotheque Nationale, Sup-
plement Turc, no. 1555. It is composed of 15 folios/29 pages on each were irregularly written down 13 or
14 lines.
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after the Hijri year 1100/1688-89 (section 1), and its tolerant and protective attitude
towards the members of other Sufi orders, especially the Bektasis and the Mevlevis

(sections 5 and 6).%68

Believing that the humanity was in the end of times, the Lunar Period (devr-i
kameri) during which the Apocalypse would break out, Seyyid Abdurrahméan made
eschatological explanations on the facts and developments of his day. He considered
in this regard that the generation of the Hijri twelfth century was a special genera-
tion: the kids of this period were very beautiful, cute, clever and wise. They were
reasonable enough and had a good grasp of implications and signs, which resulted
in their arrogance. Therefore, as sons, daughters, dervishes, pupils and servants,
they disliked their fathers, mothers, seyhs, teachers and masters, claiming that they
knew everything that their guides knew.?®® The characteristic features of the ulema
and Sufis born into devr-i kameri are also remarkable. The ulema, for instance, was
mostly keen on luxury and ostentation (ihtisama ka?il), while devout Kadizadelis
were prone to usury (ribaya ma?il). When it comes to ehl-i tarik, it so happens that
the neophyte dervishes were mostly disbelievers (milhid) and ibahi-megreb who made
the forbidden lawful, and seyhs were kalender-meslek and disregardful with respect
to religious matters. The world-passionate (ehl-i dinya) were mostly deceitful, and
judges and rulers (hakim) witnessing their sedition were merciless.’™ Despite all
these bothersome and poor qualities of the new generation, Seyyid Abdurrahméan
was not hopeless, because, he knew that just and competent people, scholars who
practice what they know, and Sufis who have reached perfection can be found at any
age. He was sure that true saints, sane lunatics, God friendly poor, perfect ulema,
Sufis, and intelligent men who reached perfection in every science also abounded

"1 Therefore, in the third section of his treatise, he delved into the

in this age.’?
theory of ethics to explain the quality of humanity (insaniyyet) and being human
(ademiyyet). These were two excellent and necessitated virtues that could only be
found in a human being who was moralized with the morals and adorned with the
attributes of God and the Prophet (ahlak-1 hamidi). Since the ethics and servitude
were interconnected, for a man the purpose behind worshipping and struggling for

572

God, too, was to realize his humanity,”’* an opinion that had been expressed by

568For the first section which is dubbed “Ikinci Bab” see Risale-i Miibeyyin-i Zaman, fol. 2b-6a. For the last
two sections, see ibid, fol. 11a-15b.

5698eyyid Abdurrahméan Efendi, Risale-i Mibeyyin-i Zaman, fol. 2b-3a.
570Seyyid Abdurrahméan Efendi, Risale-i Mibeyyin-i Zaman, fol. 3b.
5711hid, 4a-b.

572Thid, 6a-8a.
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Raghib al-Isfahani (d. 1108).573

Conveying the meaning of a saying of the Prophet, Seyyid Abdurrahmén emphasized
that one of the necessities of humanity and being human was to show respect to the
elders and mercy to the little ones (kendiden a‘laya mekremet ve kendiden ednaya

574 Given that the addressee of his treatise was the grand vizier, the

merhamet).
political connotations of the words he used cannot be ignored. In this particular
context, a‘la was senior officials who deserved reverence. Edna, however, was the
subject and the low-ranking officials who needed the protection and benevolence of
the superior. For this reason, he discussed in the fifth section the lofty class who
were worthy of honor and beneficence (ikram ve ihsana layik olan ta’ife-i celile). The
first group he mentioned was of honorable and devout dignitaries including pashas
with two or three banners (fug), aghas, all high-ranking statesmen who had become
impoverished and indebted over the course of time. It was an act of charity and
worship in the sight of God to bestow on these people, and to dismiss those evil
and cruel officials who did not accept the advice. The second group consisted of
all members of the ulema from students to the madrasa professors and chief judges
(mevalr). Donating to the poor and elderly of the ulema was not only a good deed
(sevab-1 ‘azim) but also like honoring God and His prophets. The third group was of
veteran ghazis, including retired and particularly wounded janissaries, artillerymen,
foot soldiers, sailors, and cavalrymen. Then came the poor, destitute and lunatic
dervishes and seyhs; it is the most virtuous form of worship (efdal-i “badet) to treat
them and to repair their hearts, which are the house of God, with good words. The

same applies to the rest of the poor Muslims.?”

Concluding his remarks on the lofty classes worthy of honor and charity, Seyyid
Abdurrahmén turned once again to the Sufis. In this regard, he highlighted that
donating to the poor, oppressed and the afflicted was a great good deed for any
Sufi brotherhood. Furthermore, he emphasized that real charity which was certainly
acceptable in the sight of God was that given either to the insane and destitute poor
or to the indigent dervishes, seyhs and scholars.’™® Donating to poor Sufis was a
means to an end in the mystical mentality of Seyyid Abdurrahméan. He was sure, on
the one hand, that the Ottoman Empire would survive until the Day of Judgement,

for Ali, the fourth caliph, and Ibn al-Arabi talismanically pointed to this fact in their

573Majid Fakhry, Ethical Theories in Islam, (Leiden: Brill, 1994): 177.
574Seyyid Abdurrahméan Efendi, Risale-i Mibeyyin-i Zaman, 7b-8a.
575Seyyid Abdurrahméan Efendi, Risale-i Mibeyyin-i Zaman, 11a-12a.

576Thid, fol. 12b-13a.
182



treatises.’”” On the other hand, for the execution of this purpose, i.e., the survival
and longevity of the sultanate and the state, as well as the abundance of sustenance
and blessings, there was need for some daily rituals. In return for a regular salary
and subsistence from the halal jizya property, from among the righteous, each of
twelve individuals had to recite twelve thousand “Throne Verses” (Ayat al-Kursi),
each of three individuals had to separately recite seven thousand surahs of Ikhlas,
Falag, and Nas, one had to recite forty surah al- Fath, and one had to recite one
thousand Fatiha every day. The rewards of this worship had to be dedicated to the
souls of the Prophet, his son-in-law and the fourth caliph, Ali, his daughter Fatima,
and his grandsons Hasan and Hiiseyin. In the same vein, for receiving the blessings
of “the Threes,” “the Sevens,” and “the Forties,” Bektasi and Mevlevi dervishes had
to be paid from the jizya treasury forty para or akce each day.”™

Why, did Seyyid Abdurrahman, as a Nagshbandi dervish, develop a special attitude
towards the Bektagi and Mevlevi dervishes and put them in a privileged position
in his treatise? Do his attitudes indicate that he was inclined toward Shiism and
an unconventional interpretation of Islam, or that he was a Sufi with multiple iden-
tities who wanted to preserve the culture of coexistence in the Ottoman capital?
Did Damad Ibrahim Pasha, who is said to have been a Melami, play a tacit and
constructive role in the composition of such a text? In his well-known book on the
history of the Melamiyye, Abdiilbaki Gélpiarli has controversially claimed that the
inclination to Shiism can penetrate into all Sufi orders due to the affection for the
Ahl al-Bayt, the family of the Prophet. However, in his opinion, such an inclination
is observable in particular in the Hamzavi-Melami circles. To substantiate his claim,
he utilized poems written by Sarban Ahmed (d. 1545) and Olanlar Seyhi Ibrahim
Efendi (d. 1655), the two Melami masters, and entries written by Reisiilkiittab Sar
Abdullah Efendi (d. 1660) on twelve Imams.”™ Nevertheless, he needed to add that
the Melami-Hamzavis neither went to extremes in their Shiism, nor had a true Sunni
creed, but they were, however, somewhere in between since they had not denigrated
the first three caliphs.?®% Despite Golpiarli’s instantiations as to the Shiism of the
Melamis in question, given the great reverence shown by Sunnis to the Ahl al-Bayt,
it is unlikely that they were Shiis practicing taqiyya in Sunni Ottoman society. As a
Shiite affiliated with Mevlevi and Bektasi orders, it is more likely that he has found

577hid, fol. 14b.
5781hid, fol. 14a.
579 Abdiilbaki Golpmarl, Meldmilik ve Melamiler, 55-67, 90-113, and 197-199.

580 Abdiilbaki Gélpiarli, Meldmilik ve Meldmiler, 99.
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parallels between his stories and theirs.®8! At this point, we must consider also that
Golpinarl tended to see conflicts and disagreements between the Sufi orders, rather
than elements of coexistence and mutual cooperation. He was aware of the mutual
relations between the orders, but in his understanding, one of the parties was always
dominant and favored intervention to the detriment of the other party. According
to him, as can be seen in Bektagi-Mevlevi and Khalwati-Mevlevi relations, the first
party wished to dominate Mevlevism and to incorporate the famous Sufi order into
its own | tradition. In the Mevlevi-Nagshbandi communication, however, the Mevle-
vis, who had been open to esoteric interpretations of Shiism, were in the position
of giving rather than accepting from the Nagshbandis who had always been strict
practitioners of Sunni Islam. For Goélpinarli, there were great differences between
the Nagshbandi and Mevlevi conceptions of Sufism. Therefore, the fusion between
the two orders since the second half of the eighteenth century was artificial, osten-
sible and therefore one-sided. Accordingly, it was the Nagshbandis who melted in
the Mevlevi crucible and became Mevlevi, rather than the Mevlevis of whom only
a small number were imbued with Nagshi devotion, the vast majority remained
steadfast to their order.?®?

Golpinarli’s prejudiced approach to the relations between the Sufi orders would fail
to explain the reasons behind Seyyid Abdurrahman’s protectionist attitude toward
the Bektasi and Mevlevi dervishes. This is so, because he was categorically engaged
in the inter-Sufi relations, which in return resulted in an intentional denial or failure
to see blurriness of the borders between the Sufi brotherhoods and the multiplicity
of identities in the Sufis. As Derin Terzioglu has convincingly argued in her disserta-
tion on Niyazi-i Misri, even in the Qadizadeli-Khalwati hostility in the 17th century,
“the two did not oppose each other en bloc.” Rather, there emerged “salafi-minded
Halvetis” who fiercely opposed the rituals and mindsets of some contemporary Khal-
watis. We are told for instance that as a Khalwati seyh, Ahmed Riimi-i Akhisari (d.
1632) was an inspirational scholar for Qadizadelis.?®® Another example was Miinir
of Belgrade (d. 16177), who “wrote a letter to ‘sheikhs in Istanbul’ criticizing them
for their practice of devran and sema®” Lastly, there were several Khalwati seyhs
including Karabag All (d. 1686), who, as a militant rival of the Qadizadelis did not

581For Golpmarlt’s short intellectual biography filled with discrepancies and regrets, see Omer Faruk Akiin,
“Golpiarh, Abdilbaki,” TDVIA, vol. 14, 146-149.

582 Abdiilbaki Golpinarli, Mevland’dan Sonra Mevlevilik, 293-328. See particularly 319-322.

583According to Mustapha Sheikh and Yahya Michot, his harsh criticism toward the Khalwati order misiden-
tifies him as a geyh from Khalwatiyya. See Yahya Michot, “Akhisari, Ahmed-i Riimi,” TDVIA, vol. EK-1,
the second edition, 60-62. Considering his favoritism for the silent dhikr, Mustapha Sheikh has brought to
attentions his inclination to the Nagshbandi order. See particularly in Mustapha Sheikh, Ottoman Puri-
tanism and its Discontents: Ahmad al-Rumi al-Aghisart and the Qadizadelis, (Oxford: Oxford University
Press, 2016): 56-77.
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shy away from opposition to Niyazi-i Misri, another renowned Khalwati seyh claim-
ing prophethood and messiahship during his years in Bursa and in exile in Limni.?8*
The disunity of Khalwatis in the face of Qadizadeli hostility is noteworthy in that
it proves a multiplicity of identities and allegiances that Sufis and scholars man-
aged to develop in the Ottoman Empire. It was from this dynamism that Kadizade
Mehmed (d. 1635), the eponym of the Qadizadelis, was a good reader of Sufism, a
follower of the Khalwati order in the earlier phase of his career, and an affiliate of
the Nagshbandi order.’® When his dynamism was combined with the conscious-
ness for the culture of coexistence, the Nagshbandi seyhs mentioned above would
attempt to compose treatises to defend other Sufi brotherhoods against ruthless at-
tacks. Seyyid Abdurrahméan’s Risale-i Mibeyyin-i Zaman proves that Mevlevi and
Bektasi orders and dervishes enjoyed the Nagshbandi tolerance during the first half
of the 18th century. The Istilahat-i Insan-i Kamil of the Nagshbandi lexicographer,
Mustafa Rasim Efendi, attests that such a tolerance continued throughout the late
eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, considering that he counted the Bektasi
and Mevlevi orders among the Sunni Sufi orders and declared legitimate their rituals

including vocal dhikr, sama® and dawaran. °%6

4.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, I tried to explain four important reasons for the consolidation of
the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. The
first reason relates to the close ties they were able to develop with the official ulema.
Concordance with the ulema and sharia can be ascertained from the Nagshbandi
seyhs’ educational background. It is a curious observation in this context that
many seyhs of the Hekim Celebi Tekkesi in the seventeenth century were madrasa
graduates. Seyyid Fazlullah and Seyyid Abdiilkebir, the two successor seyhs of the
Emir Bukhari Lodge in Fatih, are particularly noteworthy figures for having a bet-

ter understanding of the Nagshbandi-ulema interaction, since they abandoned their

584Derin Terzioglu, “Sufi and Dissident in the Ottoman Empire: Niyazi-i Misr1 (1618-1694),” 247-253. Other
Khalwati seyhs who opposed and criticized Niyazi-i Misri were Mehmed Nazmi (d. 1700) and Khalwati-
Celveti seyh Ismail Hakki Bursevi (d. 1725). On their opposition toward Niyazi-i Misri, see Abdiilbaki
Golpmarli, “Niyazi-i Misri,” 216-224.

5850n Kadizade Mehmed’s Sufi affiliations, see Baki Tezcan, “The Portrait of the Preacher as a Young Man:
Two Autobiographical Letters by Kadizade Mehmed from the Early Seventeenth Century,” in Political
Thought and Practice in the Ottoman Empire, ed. Marinos Sariyannis, (Rethymno: Crete University
Press, 2019): 187-249.

586ihsan Kara, “Tasavvuf Istilahlar Literatiirii ve Seyyid Mustafa Rasim Efendi’nin Istildhat-1 Insin-1
Kamil'i,” PhD Diss., vol.II, 116, 197, 359-360, 424, 583-584, 615-616, 667-668, 719.
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professorial careers in madrasas to replace their deceased fathers in the tekke. Their
perfection in the religious sciences afforded many Nagshbandi seyhs the opportunity
to occupy the pulpit of imperial mosques in Istanbul. In view of this fact, I have
argued that it was with the official duties in the city’s mosques that enabled to
interact with the urbanites and teach them the niceties of the order. In this way,

they were able to spread the Nagshbandi order among the populace of Istanbul.

The second reason that paved the way for the spread of the Nagshbandi order in the
Ottoman capital was familial cooperation with long-established seyyid families. The
presence of many seyyids among the Nagshbandi masters is clear evidence of their
special place in the Nagshbandi networks. The burial ground of the Emir Bukhari
Tekkesi in Edirnekap: singly presents a depiction of ante-mortem and post-mortem
interactions between the seyyids and the Nagshbandi order. Drawing particularly
on the biographical dictionary of Seyhi Mehmed, I have shown that one fifth of
the deceased buried in and around the tekke in Edirnekap: were seyyids by birth.
What is even more striking in this context is that the seyyid families, including but
not limited to the Fenarizades, Seyrekzades, Es‘adzades and Kudsizades, occupied
significant positions in Nagshbandi circles in Istanbul. Some of the members of the
nakibiilesraf families were themselves authorized in the Naqgshbandi order. More-
over, they not only patronized the sons of Nagshbandi masters in the official ulema
hierarchy but also ensured the continuity of the order in the city. It is possible that
their noble lineage aroused the respect of ordinary city dwellers who attended their

lectures in the tekkes and mosques.

As a third reason for the expansion of the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul, I have
attributed it to the positive role of the lodgeless seyhs. A lodgeless seyh was a learned
who had authorization in the order but did not practice his mastership by lodging
in a tekke. He could serve as a grand vizier, vizier, chief mufti, chief judge, qadi,
madrasa professor, calligrapher, poet, and so on in his career. Still, he did not retreat
from practicing the order in his private and social life. The number of lodgeless
seyhs exceeded the number of reigning masters of the tekkes. With the exception
of Mehmed Emin Tokadi, who had authorized at least forty-four individuals, the
lodgeless seyhs trained and authorized perhaps fewer aspirants than the officially
recognized tekke seyhs. However, since their number was greater, the total number
of their deputies exceeded that of incumbent seyhs, which in turn contributed greatly
to the spread of the Nagshbandi order in Istanbul. Finally, utilizing the legend of
Mehmed Emin Tokadi and Tuhfe-i Hattatin of Miistakimzade, I have discussed that
one of the social milieus in which the Nagshbandi order was propagated by the
lodgeless seyhs was the circles of the calligraphers, where calligraphy teachers who

also enjoyed Nagshbandi mastership and taught their students the basics of the
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order.

The fourth reason that contributed to the consolidation of the Nagshbandi order
in Istanbul, as I have argued, was the Nagshbandis’ struggle to maintain the sur-
viving culture of coexistence. As strict observers of sharia and Sunni Islam, the
Nagshbandi order has always been placed in a separate position from other Sufi
brotherhoods, and in some cases, the Nagshbandis have been identified with the
Qadizadelis. However, my research shows that a significant number of Nagshbandi
masters enjoyed multiple identities in the sense that they were authorized not only
by the Nagshbandiyya but also by several other Sufi orders. It was thanks to the
efforts of the Nagshbandi seyhs who followed several Sufi orders that the inter-Sufi
relations were on track and the tolerance and culture of coexistence could be pre-
served in the Ottoman capital. This was so, because in their scholarly writings
on popular religious and Sufistic issues, they defended the principles and rituals of
other Sufi orders against attacks from the fundamentalist ulema, who considered
the rituals of the Sufi orders to be reprehensible innovations. Thus, as advocates
of the silent dhikr, Nagshbandi Sufi scholars defended the legitimacy of the vocal
dhikr, sama® and dawaran by taking under their protective wings the Sufi orders

that practiced these rituals, including the Mevleviyye and Bektasiyye.
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5. MEHMED iSMET EFENDI: A LODGELESS NAQSHBANDI SEYH
WITH MULTIPLE SUFI AFFILIATIONS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with the life, career, intellectual orientations and scholarly net-
works of Mehmed Ismet Efendi (d. 1747), a neglected lodgeless seyh and madrasa
professor known for his compilation of a set of Murdd Bukhéari’s letters, enjoyed
multiple Sufi affiliations and developed close connections with the seyyids of his
time. As a result of limited number of studies, numerous dark spots pertaining to
the scholar have not been clarified, yet. Such a situation is, of course, due to under-
investigated and untouched primary sources libraries and archives. Thanks to my
research in manuscript libraries and Ottoman archives, new primary sources dealing
with the significance of the figure has recently begun to come to light. Owing to the
worthily exploration of the sources, we have now in hand not only previously ne-
glected biographical notes written by the 18th century biographers about Mehmed
Ismet, but also his daily notes and his estate inventory prepared after his death, and
the scholarly works whether being copies of the older texts or newly autographed
eulogies, pamphlets and books all of which were produced by him and submitted
to different patrons in the first half of the 18th century. Through the utilization
of these emergent sources, we come across with a polymath madrasa professor who
had proficiency not only in rational and transmitted Islamic sciences but also in
astronomy, astrology, Sufism and literature. Furthermore, it comes to light that he
was affiliated with at least five Sufi orders by obtaining an ijaza that would enable
him to propagate the order. The very sophisticated scholar enjoyed a multiplicity
of identities during his lifetime, at least, with respect to his communication with
the Sufi orders. How could an Ottoman scholar build multiple Sufi affiliations in
18th- century Ottoman Istanbul? To what extent the existing social, political and
religious structures made a contribution to the consciousness of multiplicity during

this period? Seeking satisfactory answers to these questions, I assert in this chapter
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that the equilibrium in the existing religio-political and social structures may have
undergirded and sustained the ascent of a versatile figure such as Mehmed Ismet,
who was able to combine multiple identities in his persona. To develop familiarity
with the neglected Sufi and scholar, at first, I combine and canvass dispersed pieces
of information them for a better understanding of his life and career. Secondly, I
focus on his personal and scholarly interests and abilities by utilizing his literary

and scientific works preserved in manuscript libraries.

5.2 Mehmed ismet Efendi’s Life and Career: What Known?

The compiler of Seyh Murdd Bukhari’s epistles introduces himself as Mehmed Is-
met ibn Ibrahim in the introduction of his compilation.?®” Considering this initial
identification, we may obtain further information from the biographical dictionar-
ies of the 18th century, particularly those of Mistakimzade (d. 1788) and Rémiz
(d. 1788). After identifying him as Mehmed Ismet b. Ibrahim b. Hasan in Tuhfe-i
Hattatin, Miistakimzade states that he was an Istanbulite (sehr?) man of science and
knowledge born in Lalezar neighborhood and came to be known as “Héaci1 Efendi.” He
practiced calligraphy (naskh and thuluth) under the tutorship of Hafiz Osméan Efendi
(d. 1698), one of the most prominent master calligraphers of his time whose influence
continued in the subsequent centuries. According to Miistakimzade, Mehmed Ismet
adhered to the Nagshbandiyya not in his youth or earlier career but in a later stage
when he had already been a respected madrasa professor. In addition, he notes that
Mehmed Ismet died in 1160/1747. The biographical dictionaries also mention that
Mehmed Ismet produced scholarly works such as a gloss of Lugat-1 Sahidi, several
pamphlets on religious topics, and other works as to history and poetry. Sahaflar
Seyhizade Mehmed Es‘ad Efendi (d. 1848) points out the existence of another work
by Mehmed Ismet: an endowed corpus in the library of Bayezid Mosque under the
title Simat-1 “Ismet. When it comes to the scholarly career of Mehmed Ismet, a
small piece of information can be extracted from Ramiz’s biographical dictionary.
Although unable to trace Mehmed Ismet’s academic career from the beginning, it is
Ramiz who states that he obtained the tutorship of haric madrasa through examina-
tion in 1141/1728-29, gradually climbed the ladders of madrasa hierarchy, and was

appointed as professor in one of the madrasas of Miisile-i Siilleymaniye ladder,?®®

587\Murad Bukhari, Mektubat-r+ Seyh Murad Naksibendi, Beyazit Library, Veliyytddin Efendi, no. 1780, fol.
26b. See also Butrus Abu-Manneh, “Sheikh Murad al-Bukhari and the Expansion of the Nagshbandi-
Mujaddidi Order in Istanbul,” 8.

58811 the 18th century Ottoman madrasa hierarchy, misile-i Siileymaniye is the ninth of the twelve ranks. A
professor of this rank would be paid 60 akges daily. The ranks of madrasas were respectively as follows:
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the position that he would remain in until his death in 1166/1752-53.°% Given
that all other biographers agreed on the year 1160/1747 as Mehmed Ismet’s year of
death (Mehmed Siireyya reports the exact date as 2 Dhi’l-qada 1160/5 November
1747), we may be doubtful of the details penned by Ramiz on Mehmed Ismet’s aca-
demic career. Therefore, in what follows, depending on Mehmed Ismet’s hitherto
neglected scholarly works preserved in the Veliyiiddin Efendi collection in Beyazit
Library and those in several collections preserved in the Sileymaniye Library, and
comparing them with what has already been penned in the biographical dictionar-
ies of the time, I will attempt to bring to light the missing details regarding his
biography and scholarly career. Thus, we will be able to have a more explicit and

convincing biography of the scholar.

In fact, it was again Miistakimzade who noted the known complete pedigree of
Mehmed Ismet Efendi which was as follows: Haci Celebi b. Ibrahim b. Hasan
b. Ahmed.?® This is an accurate chain when comparing Miistakimzade’s note
with Mehmed Ismet’s personal records on his scholarly works. Therefore, given
Miistakimzade’s shift from “Hac1 Efendi” to “Hac1 Celebi” in Mehmed Ismet’s so-
briquet, it becomes evident that he had seen the latter’s scholarly works when pen-

ning Mecelletii'n-nisab where the complete pedigree is noted.?? If this is so, a few

Ivtida-i Haric, Hareket-i Héric, Ibtidd-i Dahil, Hareket-i Ddhil, Misie-i Sahn, Sahn-v Semdn, Ibtidd-
i Altmash, Hareket-i Altmash, Mdisile-i Stileymdniye, Hamise-i Sileymdaniye, Stleymdniye, Darilhadis-i
Siileymaniye. See Ismail Haklkl Uzuncarsili, Osmanl Devleti’nin [imiye Teskilat, (Ankara: TTK Basimevi,

1988): 33-38, and 55-60; and Mehmet Ipsirli, “Medrese: Osmanli Dénemi,” TDVIA, vol. 28, (Ankara:
TDV, 2003): 330.

589The biographical pieces of information pertaining to Mehmed Ismet’s life and career can be extracted
from the following primary sources: Miistakimzade Silleyméan Sa‘deddin Efendi, Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 375-376;
idem, Tuhfe-i Hattdtin, ed. Mustafa Koc, (Istanbul: Klasik, 2014):, Ramiz, Addb-1» Zurefd, prepared by
Sadik Erdem, (Ankara: AKM, 1994): 227-228; Mehmed Tevfik, Mecmii®atii’t- Teracim, TUNEK-TY, no.
192, fol: 98a; Mehmed Es‘ad Efendi, Bdjge-i Safd-Endiz, prepared by Riza Ogras, (Ankara: Kiltir ve
Turizm Bakanligi Yaymlari, 2018): 149; Fatin Efendi, Hatimeti’'l-Es‘ar (Fatin Tezkiresi), prepared by

Omer Ciftgi, (Ankara: Kiiltiir ve Turizm Bakanhgi Yayinlari, 2017): 359-360; Mehmed Siireyya, Sicill-i
Osmdani, vol. 3, 840; Mehmed Nail Tuman, Tuhfe-i Naili: Divan Sairlerinin Muhtasar Biyografileri, vol.
2, (Ankara: Bizim Biiro Yaymlari, 2000): 679.

Mehmed Ismet was firstly introduced in Osmanli Astronomi Literatiirii Tarihi, vol. I, ed. Ekmeleddin
Thsanoglu, prepared by Ekmeleddin Thsanoglu, Ramazan Sesen, Cevat Izgi, Cemil Akpinar, Thsan Fazlioglu,
(fstanbul: IRCICA, 1997), 426-427. Salim Aydiiz has strenuously collected and utilized the existing

pieces of information regarding Mehmed Ismet’s life and scholarly works in his article entitled “Ismet
Mehmed Efendi (6. 1747) ve Tedahiil-i Seneye Dair Risalesi,” Kutadgubilig Felsefe-Bilim Arastirmalar:

Dergisi 15, (2009): 224-226; idem, “fsmet Mehmed Efendi,” TDVIA, vol. EK-1 (Istanbul: TDV, 2016);
664-666. Yunus Kaplan has attempted to write a biographical entry on Mehmed Ismet Efendi. See
“Mehmed Ismet Efendi,” (16.10.2014), http://teis.yesevi.edu.tr/madde-detay /ismet-mehmed-ismet-efendi,
(accessed 20.03.2021); Abdullah Ugur, “Muhammediye’nin Bir Beyti Uzerine Mehmed Ismet’in Serhi,”
edebali islamiyat dergisi 4 (2020): 4-6; and Muhammad fsmet b. Tbrahim, al-Rifd al-Nadr ©ala °Aqa?id
al-Khidr, edited by Muhammed Osman Dogan, (Amman: Arwiqa, 2021): 27-30.

590\ iistakimzade Stuleyméan Sa‘deddin Efendi, Mecelleti’'n-nisdb fi'n-neseb ve’l-kund ve’l-elkdb, (Ankara:
Kiltiir Bakanlhigr Yayinlari, 2000): fol. 320a. It is known that Mustakimzade had completed Mecelletii®n-
nisab in Ramadan 1175/March 1762. The composition of Tuhfe-i Hattatin, however, started in 1173/1759-
60 and came to an end in 1202/1787. For an introduction on both works see Ahmet Yilmaz, “Mecelletii’n-
Nisab,” TDVIA, vol. 28, (Ankara: TDV, 2003): 237-238; and Ugur Derman, “Tuhfe-i Hattatin,” TDVIA,

vol. 41, (fstanbul: TDV, 2012): 351-352.

5917 reading note on Muhmmad Subhén el-Hindi’s Lawami® al-Subuhi fv Sharh al-Fass al-Nuhi, a pamphlet
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original records of Mehmed Ismet must be presented for a better understanding
of his self-presentation. Focusing on Mehmed Ismet’s books and scholarly works
preserved in different collections, but particularly the Veliyytiddin Efendi collection
in the Beyazit Library, one realizes a few formulas developed by him for his self-
identification. Whereas some of the ownership records penned on the manuscripts
just bear his name as “Mehmed Ismet” or “Mehmed b. Ibrahim.” Most of the
ownership records and some of his completion records in pamphlets are read as
“Mehmed Ismet b. Ibrahim” and “Ismet Mehmed b. Ibrahim”. Apart from these
formulas, one also comes across longer identifiable formulas elucidating the short lin-
eage of Mehmed Ismet such as “Mehmed Ismet ibn Ibrahim b. Hasan b. Ahmed,”
“Mehmed Ismet ibn Ibrahim el-‘arif bi-Kethiiddzade Hac1 Celebi,” and “Mehmed
Ismet ibn Ibrahim b. Hasan b. Ahmed el-‘arif bi-Kethiidazade Hac1 Celebi,” From
the latter records it is understood at first glance that Mehmed Ismet had come to
be known as “Haci Celebi” instead of “Haci1 Efendi” within his immediate surround-
ings upon performing the hajj ritual in 1701.5%2 So much so that, when Ottoman
chronicler Celebizadde Asim reported the formation of a commission responsible for
the translation of Bedreddin ‘Ayni’s “lqd al-Juman fo Tarih ahl-i Zaman, he counted
among thirty scholars a certain Haci Celebi who was none other than Mehmed Is-
met Efendi.®? Secondly, it becomes explicit that his father was a certain Ibrahim
who had been a steward (kethidd). Therefore, the identification of his father seems
crucial for ascertaining Mehmed Ismet’s career path and the network within which

he moved.

recopied by Mehmed Ismet on 25 Shatban 1127/26 August 1715, indicates that Miistakimzade had seen,

acquired, and read Mehmed Ismet’s some works during later years since he explicitly notes that he has
been honored by scrutinizingly reading the pamphlet in question in the year 1191/1777-1778. See Es‘ad
Efendi no. 1534, fol. 1a.

59214 is Salim Aydiiz who reveals the year Mehmed Ismet performed his haj. See ibid, 224. In one of his
dictation (istiktdb) record, which must also be considered as an ownership record, Mehmed Ismet refers
himself as “el-Hac”. See “Istaktabahi al-cabd al-faqir ila Allah subhanah@ al-Haj Mehmed Cismet ibn
Ibrahim gafarallahii lehuma” in Veliyiiddin Efendi no. 3221, fol. 1a.

5933ee Ragid Mehmed Efendi and Celebizade Isma‘il Asim Efendi, Téarih-i Rdsid ve Zeyli, vol. 111, 1484-1485.
For an introduction on translation committees which were established upon grand vizier Damad Ibrahim

Pasha’s (v. 1718-1730) order see Ismail Hakki Uzuncarsil, Osmanl Tarihi: Karlofea Anlasmasindan
XVIII Yizyin Sonlarina Kadar, vol. 4/1, 7th facsimile, (Ankara: TTK Basimevi, 2011): 152-155, and

Mehmet Ipsirli “Lale Devrinde Tegkil Edilen Terciime Heyetine Dair Bazi1 Gozlemler,” in Osmanly Imi ve
Mesleki Cemiyetleri: 1. Milli Tirk Bilim Tarihi Sempozyumu, 3-5 Nisan 1987, ed. Ekmeleddin lhsanoglu,
(Istanbul: Edebiyat Fakiiltesi Basimevi, 1987): 33-42.
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5.3 Shifting Status: An Efendi Son of An Agha

We are informed by Ibniilemin Mahmiid Kemal about a marginal note referring
to Mehmed Ismet’s father. According to this short note, Mehmed Ismet’s father
had been the kethiidd of a grand vizier during Mehmed IV’s long reign (r. 1648-
1687).5%* This single note immediately raises two questions pertaining to the career
of Ibrahim, the father of Mehmed Ismet Efendi. On the one hand, given that
Mehmed Ismet himself was an efendi and member of the ulema class one might
wonder whether the same situation could be applied to his father. On the other
hand, however, remembering Mehmed IV’s long-lasting sultanate coincided with
the vizierate of twenty sadrazams, we might wonder about the grand vizier for
whom Ibrahim served as a kethiidd. Fortunately, a note penned in the formerly
unknown ijaza of Mehmed Ismet Efendi elucidates the status of Ibrahim. The Qadiri
ijjaza dated 23 Rajab 1123/6 September 1711 and given by Muhammad Subhén
el-Hindi (d. 1713), a Qadiri master from Lucknow who sojourned in Istanbul at
the beginning of 1710s, introduces Mehmed Ismet as “Mehmed Ismet Efendi ibn
Ibrahim Aga”?% Likewise, Ibrahim is identified as “Aga” in qadi registers in which

posthumous disputes pertaining to Mehmed Ismet were written down.??6

In spite of the certainty that Mehmed Ismet’s father had been an agha, it is still
doubtful whether he served as a kethiida under one of Mehmed IV’s grand viziers.
The reason behind our suspicion is due to Hafiz Hiiseyin Ayvansarayi’s statement
that Ibrahim Agha was the kethiidd of the kdiimmakam.?*” Given that the latter
title had been used to betoken both the grand vizier and the governor of Istanbul

998 it is possible that it was the kdimmakam

since the second half of the 17th century,
of Istanbul that Ibrahim Agha served for. However, it seems to me that the served
statesman was the grand vizier himself. Therefore, at this point, we can attempt
to trace Ibrahim Agha’s carcer in Ottoman high administration by utilizing the
late 17th century chronicles. Given the relevant chronicles, we realize the presence
of several Ibrahim Aghas in the service of grand viziers. For instance, during the

early years of his grand vizierate, Kopriiliizade Faz1l Ahmed Pasha’s (v. 1661-1676)

594Gee Miistakimzade, Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 376, the second footnote.

595800 Veliyiiddin Efendi no. 3204, fol. 1b. Considering Mehmed Ismet’s idiosyncratic script, I conclude that

the certificate was recopied by him in a later date but the date of copying is not recorded.

59610 the registers the formula is always “merhiim CIsmet el-Hac Mehmed Efendi ibn Ibrahim Aga”. See

ISAM, Kismet-i Askeriye, no. 104, fol. 43a, 45a, 93b; no. 105, fol. 72b; and no. 107, fol. 6b.

597Hafiz Hiiseyin Ayvansarayi, Mecmud-i Tevirih, prepared by Fahri C. Derin and Vahid Cabuk, (Istanbul:

Edebiyat Fakiiltesi Basimevi, 1985): 3509.

598viicel Ozkaya, “Kaymakam,” TDVIA, vol. 25, (Ankara: TDV, 2002): 84-85.
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kethiida had been a certain Ibrahim Agha who was given presents by the sultan and
Musahib Mustafa Agha after returning from the Austrian campaign of 1663-1664.%%"
Likewise, Merzifonlu Kara Mustafd Pasha (v. 1676-1683) chose a Kara Ibrahim
Agha as his kethiidd during his third term as Rikdb-1 Hiimayin Kaymakam (1671-
1676). Kara Ibrahim would be appointed as Mirahfir-1 Evvel in 1671.9%0 Since Kara
Ibrahim Agha would gradually rise in state administration and finally become the

601 we can conclude that

grand vizier after the execution of Kara Mustafa Pasha,
he was not Mehmed Ismet’s father, who had been celebrated for his position as
kethiida. The chronicles of the period also mention the name of an Ibrahim Agha
who served as kethiidd under the grand vizier Kara Ibrahim Pasha and was inducted
as cebecibagi in 1695, eight years after the execution of his former patron.®%? These
pieces of information, however, do not clarify whether Mehmed Ismet’s father had
been in the service of Fazil Ahmed Pasha or Kara Ibrahim Pasha. Furthermore, due
to the dearth of information, we are unsure whether he served under Sar1 Stilleyméan
Pasha (d. 1687) or Abaza Siyavus Pasha (d. 1688), the last two grand viziers of
Mehmed IV.%9 Nevertheless, bearing in mind that Mehmed Ismet as an efendi was
the son of an agha, it is evident that he did not pursue the career line of his father
during a time in which a “tendency for sons to follow in the careers of their fathers”

had already emerged and was more or less a common occurrence. 604

Not only Mehmed Ismet, but also his younger brother Osméan was disinclined to
follow in his father’s footsteps. Since our sources denote that he had a younger
brother bearing the name Osméan in ulema hierarchy, a few words regarding his
younger brother must be expressed. We learn from Miistakimzade’s entry on Osméan
b. Ibrahim, that Mehmed Ismet tutored his brother on the track of the Nagshbandi-
Mujaddidi order. Miistakimzade’s presentation demonstrates that Osman Efendi,
like his elder brother, was a calligrapher for he was instructed by to-be geyhiilislam

Veliyytiddin Efendi (d. 1768) in exercising ta‘lig script. Likewise, he was accom-

999 Abdurrahman Abdi Paga, Abdurrahman Abdi Pasa Vekdyi‘-namesi [Osmanl Tarihi 1648-1682)], 196-197.

For an introduction on Fazil Ahmed Pasha and his campaigns see Abdiilkadir Ozcan, “Kopriiliizade Fazil
Ahmed Paga,” TDVIA, vol. 26, (Ankara: TDV, 2002): 260-263.

600Defterdar Sart Mehmed Pasa, Zibde-i Vekdyi‘at (1656-1704), prepared by Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (Ankara:
TTK Basimevi, 1995): 18, and Abdurrahméan Abdi Pasa, ibid, 352. For Kara Mustafd Pasha see Abdiilka-
dir Ozcan, “Merzifonlu Kara Mustafa Paga,” TDVIA, vol. 29, (Ankara: TDV, 2002): 246-249.

601Gee Abdiilkadir Ozcan, “Kara Ibrahim Pasa,” TDVIA, vol. 21, (Istanbul: TDV, 2000): 329-330.

6028¢ce Ziibde-i Vekayi‘at, 488, and 577-578, and Rasid Mehmed Efendi and Celebizade Isma‘il Asim Efendi,
Térih-i Rasid ve Zeyli, vol. 1, ed. Abdiilkadir Ozcan, Yunus Ugur, Baki Cakir, and Ahmet Zeki Izgeér,
(fstanbul: Klasik, 2013): 463.

603For Sar Siileyman Pasha see Abdiilkadir Ozcan, “Sar1 Siilleyman Pasa,” TDVIA, vol. EK-2, 535-538. For
Abaza, Siyavus Pasha see Fikret Saricaoglu, “Siyavus Pasa, Kopriilii Damadi,” TDVIA, vol. 37, (Istanbul:
TDV, 2009): 313-315.

604566 Norman Itzkowitz, “Eighteenth Century Ottoman Realities,” Studia Islamica 16 (1962): 91.
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plished in astronomy and in producing astronomical devices such as sinecal quad-
rants (rubu‘). Contrary to his brother, however, he attempted to build a career
in judgeship rather than having a professorship in madrasa. According to Miis-
takimzade, Osméan Efendi died at the beginning of Mahmid I's reign (r. 1730-1754)
when he was qadi in Kavala.%% The last detail as to Osméan Efendi must be re-
vised taking into account what Mehmed Ismet witnessed. Thanks to the latter’s
daily notes penned for the year 1146-47/1733-34, it is clear that Osméan Efendi, who
left Istanbul for Kavala on 27 Dhi’l-hijja 1146/31 May 1734, arrived the city on 8
Muharram 1147/10 June 1734 where he would die on 7 Rajab 1147/3 December

1734. He was interred in the Dizdar cemetery. 606

5.4 Mehmed Ismet’s Educational Background and Career

For a better picture of Mehmed Ismet’s career line and life story, the utilization of ne-
glected primary sources as well as the reevaluation of existing material is inevitable.
Though his year of birth is not reported in the primary sources mentioned above, we
may speculate that he was born in the 1670s or 80s when taking into consideration
that his earliest known scholarly work, Fayzu’l-Hady li-Halli Muskilati®s-Sahidi, was
completed in 1112/1700-1701.597 Likewise, we are informed by biographical dictio-
naries neither about the madrasa he graduated from nor the teachers from whom
he received his education. However, considering that his father had been an agha of
the grand vizier, I tend to think that he was trained in a palace school and received
his primary education from private teachers. Despite the scantness in biographical
information as to his earlier years and education, I have come across significant
indications regarding at least five tutors who educated him in different disciplines.
The already known figure in this regard, as is reported by Miistakimzade and Es‘ad
Mehmed Efendi, was the master calligrapher, Hafiz Osméan Efendi (d. 1698), under
whose tutorship he practiced naskh and thuluth script. Therefore, at this point, we
may assert that Hafiz Osman’s existence as one of Mehmed Ismet’s teachers might
be another reason to lead us to conclude that he may have been educated in the

palace school, for the former had practiced calligraphy with many high-ranking of-

605For an introduction on Osméan Efendi, see Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 683; and Findiklili Ismet Efendi, Tekmiletii’s-
Sakaik fi Hakk-1 Ehli’l-Hakaik, ed. Abdiilkadir Ozcan, (Istanbul: Cagri, 1989): 69.

6065ee Mehmed Ismet, Takvim-i Sal-i 1146-1147, Kandilli Rasathanesi no. T418, fols. 5a, 11a.

607Gee Veliyiidddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 62b-111b. Although the gloss was penned in Ottoman Turkish
its completion record was written in Persian (tamami in musvadda-i perishan dar-tarih-i “Fazl-i Rabb”
[1112]).
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ficials including sultan Mustafa I (r. 1695-1703), the prince and subsequent sultan

Ahmed III, and the ensuing grand vizier, Damad Ibrahim Pasha.6%8

When it comes to the professors with whom Mehmed Ismet studied religious sci-
ences, however, a few short notes written down in his scholarly works provide very
crucial information. Depending on these records, Salim Aydiiz was able to iden-
tify two teachers, Mehmed b. Mehmed el-Bursevi el-Mevlevi and Cabizade Halil
Faiz Efendi.%% Since Aydiiz does not refer to any sources, I am not in a position
to confirm that Mehmed Ismet was trained by Mehmed b. Mehmed el-Mevlevi
(d. 1712). However, we may presume that he professed Mevlevi practices with
Mehmed Ismet. When it comes to Cabizade Halil Faiz (d. 1722), however, there is
satisfactory evidence as to the tutor-pupil relationship between him and Mehmed
Ismet. In a short note written in Persian as to Halil Faiz’s suicide on 11 Jumad
al-Akhir 1134/29 March 1722, Mehmed Ismet commemorates the scholar in ques-
tion as “ustadina el-Mevla Halil Efendi,” the literal meaning of which is “our master
Halil Efendi”®® More evidence, in this regard, is an explanatory note written in
Turkish in which Mehmed Ismet clarifies the reason behind his choice to make a fair
copy of his master’s gloss on Adab-i Husayniyya.5'' Lastly, in the introduction of his
Fawa?id al-Nadriyya fi Hall al-Nuniyya al-Khidriyya, a gloss on Halil Faiz Efendi’s
gloss on Kasidetii’n-Nuniyye of Hizir Bey (d. 1459), where Mehmed Ismet states
that he embarked on the completion of Halil Faiz Efendi’s interrupted commentary,
once again he identifies the latter as his master.%'> What is more striking in the
introduction, however, is that Mehmed Ismet introduces Halil Faiz not only as his
tutor but also his friend (sadiqz), which, we may contend, indicates that the former
was trained by the latter during a later period when he had completed his madrasa
education, rather than during his pupillage in the madrasa. In addition, given that
Kasideti’n-Nuniyye was penned by the 15th century Ottoman scholar Hizir Bey to

613

teach the basics of Islamic creed and philosophy,’*® we can conclude that Mehmed

608According to Ugur Derman, the confirmed number of the calligraphers who were trained by Hafiz Osman

is almost fifty. See Ugur Derman, “Hafiz Osman,” TDVIA, vol. 15, (Istanbul: TDV, 1997): 98-100. See
also Miustakimzade, Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 30 and 301-304.

609Gee Salim Aydiiz, ibid, 224.

610gee Laleli, no. 2381, fol. la., and the 25th footnote in Aydiiz, ibid, 226.

611The entire note is as follows: “Ustadimuz merhiim Fayiz Halil Efendi’niifi Adab-1 Hiiseyniyye iizerine olan

tahriratidur ki miisveddede kalmig idi. Bu fakir sa®y idiip ba®z muskalarun ve bacz kenar niishalarun
zafer buldigum mertebe iltifat idiip bu mahalle cem® ve bir dibace sebt eylediim.” See Veliytiddin Efendi,
no. 2864, fol. 1la.

612Fgad Efendi, no. 1233, fol. 37b.

613See Mustafa Said Yazicioglu, “el-Kasidetiin-Naniyye,” TDVIA, vol. 24, (Istanbul: TDV, 2001): 571-572.

For Hizir Bey’s life story and works see idem, “Hizir Bey,” TDVIA, vol. 17, (Istanbul: TDV, 1997):
413-415.
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Ismet studied Islamic philosophy under the supervision of Halil Faiz Efendi.

Mehmed Ismet’s diligence for continuous learning after graduating from madrasa,
can also be observed in tutor-pupil relationship between him and a certain Muham-
mad Subhén el-Hindi (d. 1713), who emerged as the fourth known teacher of
Mehmed Ismet in a specific ijaza mentioned above. Depending on the diploma
in question, we are in a satisfactory position to state that Mehmed Ismet received
hadith education and teachings, and rituals of the Qadiri order from Muhammad
Subhén el-Hindi during the latter’s sojourn in Istanbul until 1712.614 Nevertheless,
considering Mehmed Ismet’s competence in Islamic sciences, one can also assert
that the reason behind Muhammad Subhén’s preference to give an ijaza to him
was nothing other than networking to develop closer connections with the multi-
talented scholar based in the Ottoman capital. The fifth known teacher to Mehmed
Ismet at least in Nagshbandi teachings was surely Seyh Murdd Bukhéri, whose
epistles were collected by the former. Despite the ambiguity that Miistakimzade
and Es‘ad Mehmed Efendi brought about in their biographic entries in which they
claim that Mehmed Ismet received his Nagshbandi training from not Seyh Murad
Bukhér, but from one of his students, Ayvansardyl emphasizes that he adhered to
Seyh Murad Efendi.6’® The testimony to the fact that it was Murad Bukhari from
whom the former received Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi teachings and rituals is Simat-2
[smet, Mehmed Ismet’s neglected compendium, which includes a significant num-
ber of pieces of information regarding his life and academic career. Thanks to this
important work, we learn about a Persian quatrain uttered by Seyh Murad Bukhari
four days before his death. It is thanks to an explanatory note attached to this
quatrain that we know for sure that Murad Bukhari was Mehmed Ismet’s seyh and
tutor.6'®  Furthermore, this compendium makes certain that Mehmed Ismet was
a Nagshbandi-Mujaddidi seyh for he obtained Seyh Murad Bukhari’s ratification
to perform the far-famed Khwéjagan invocation (khatm-i khwajagan) on 28 Jumad
al-Akhir 1125/22 July 1713 in Edirne.®!” Though Mehmed Ismet was unaffiliated

with Nagshbandi lodge as a post-nishin, we learn from Miistakimzade’s testimony

614Gee Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 3204, fol. 1b-2a. Mehmed Ismet penned a short entry on the life story of
Muhammad Subhéan el-Hindi in ibid, fol. 3a.

6155ee Esad Efendi, no. 1233, fol. Ia; Ayvansarayi, Mecmud-i Tevdrih, 359.

616The relevant part of the note is as follows: “Ferid-i zeman vahid-i evan seyhiim kutb-i casr Seyh Murad
Efendi hazretleri ‘alem-i faniden miilk-i bakiye intikallerinden dért giin mukaddem zeban-1 seriflerinden
varid olan kelam-1 hakikat-maldiir” See Mehmed Ismet, Simat-1 ¢Ismet, Veliytiddin Efendi no. 3191, fol.
141b.

617«Khatm-i khwajagan rd qaddasallahii asraruhum az-shaykh Muhammad Ozbegl ma’ziin shodim dar bist
hashtom az Jumadi al-AkhirT yawm al-JumCa fi shahr-i Edirne i sana 1125 Simat-» ¢I[smet, fol. 177b.

Mehmed Ismet recorded the ijaza given by Murdd Buhari in his compendium, an explicit indication that
it was given to him by the seyh around this time as an confirmation of his sheikhdom. However, the name

of Mehmed Ismet is not recorded in it. See Simat-1 <[smet, fol. 142b-143b.
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that he taught his younger brother, Osman Efendi, the teachings and rituals of the
Nagshbandi order.618

Available sources do not shed light on when and from which madrasa Mehmed Ismet
graduated. Yet, considering his scholarly works preserved in several manuscript col-
lections, the composers of the biographical dictionaries likely agreed that the quality
of education he received was sophisticated. His competence in elsine-i selase, the
three Islamic languages—Arabic, Persian and Turkish—, for instance, is particularly
emphasized.®? On the other hand, scholarly works penned by Mehmed Ismet, and
a variety of the records penned in the manuscripts preserved in different collections,
illuminate not only Mehmed Ismet’s scholarly and scientific orientation, but also
the dark spots of his life and career coincided with the first half of the 18th cen-
tury. For instance, as is already mentioned above, it is obvious that he was able
to complete Fayzu’l-Hadi li-Halli Muskilati’s-Sahidi, his earliest known scholarly
product in 1112/1700-1701. In addition, it seems likely that he went on pilgrim-
age in 1701. From the preface of this very first composition, it is understood that
Mehmed Ismet presented his book to a certain Kiblelizdde Mir Ahmed, an indica-
tion that he was able to build up a patron-client relationship with him.%?% Such a
patronage relationship, however, cannot be traced until the middle of 1710s when
taking into consideration the completion date of Mehmed Ismet’s written works
presented to several dignitaries. By the 1720s, he was able to develop close con-
nections with high-ranking officials including Sultan Ahmed III, the grand vizier,
Damad Ibrahim Pasha, the viziers, Kethiidd Mehmed Pasha (d. 1730) and Izzet
Ali Pasha (d. 1734), and the seyhiilislams, Yenigehirli Abdullah Efendi (d. 1743)
and Pagmakgizade Seyyid Abdulldh Efendi (d. 1732) to whom he presented at least
one of his compositions. One of these works, a eulogy presented to the grand vizier,
sheds light not only on Mehmed Ismet’s situation, but also on his previous years
which remained in the dark because of the paucity of information. In the eulogy,
Mehmed Ismet frankly states that if he is not appointed to a madrasa as a miiderris
his disposition would worsen since his waiting period after graduating from madrasa
amounted to twenty years (Zeman-i infisalim dahu balig oldv “isrine / Meded-res-i

medrese olmazsa hal-i bende risvadur).5?!

This eulogy, as is understood from its
context, was submitted to the grand vizier together with a pamphlet whose title

is not mentioned (Eger zat u zeman ile olursa iste burhanum / Risale ile bu si®r-i

618 por Miistakimzade’s entry on Osman Efendi, see Tuhfe-i Hattatin, 683.
619Gee for instance Mehmed Es‘ad Efendi, Bagge-i Safd-Endiz, 149.
620Gee Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 63a.

621gee Veliytiddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 61b.
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bi-tekellifden hiveydadur). Obviously, the Risale in question was Risale-i Tedahul,
Mehmed Ismet’s only known pamphlet presented to the grand vizier.?2 Given that
the pamphlet was completed in Jumad al-Akhir 1138 [February 1726], we can as-
sume that it was since 1118/1706-07 that Mehmed Ismet had been waiting for being
appointed to a madrasa as a professor. At this point, we should remember that
in the 18th century, it was particularly common for madrasa graduates to fulfill
waiting periods before being appointed to a judgeship or professorship. The wait-
ing period was called miildzemet or nevbet, but it must be recalled that milazemet
pointed out in the most general sense the status of a qualified madrasa graduate
waiting for a position in a kaza or madrasa organization.5?3 Therefore, no matter his
age, it is likely that Mehmed Ismet officially graduated from an unknown madrasa
around the year 1118/1706-07 and waited as a miildzim for almost twenty years to
be assigned to the professorship of a madrasa. Mehmed Ismet’s long-lasting status
as a milazim during the interim period is observable also through the records of
Celebizade Isma‘il Asim Efendi, the official chronicler of the time, who introduced
the former as a miildzim when reporting the formation of a committee responsible
for the translation of Bedreddin ‘Ayni’s historical account ¢Iqd al-Juman fi Tarih

ahl-i Zaman.5%4

Due to his long-lasting waiting period as a candidate, in the eulogy, Mehmed Ismet
expressed his desire to be inducted as a professor to a haric madrasa, the lowest of the
twelve-ranks in madrasa hierarchy. Furthermore, he requested to be appointed to the
intended position directly by the grand vizier rather than any high-ranking madrasa
tutor who would subject him to a qualification exam ( Cerag-1 Hassa dahil kil havale
itme tstada / Buyur kilkinle bir haric ki hikm-i Hakk’a mecradur). Additionally,
given the statement “include me among the imperial novices/apprentices” (Cerag-1
Hassa dahil ki) in the first line of the distich, we can claim that Mehmed Ismet,
first implied being introduced to the madrasa hierarchy directly through the grand
vizier, which would preclude an examination before the appointment, considering
the centuries-old practice that enabled the sultan, grand vizier and viziers to propose

competent individuals to the madrasa system.%?° Second, however, he might allude

622For the two copies of this pamphlet see Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 125b-133a, and Atif Efendi, no.

2604. For an illustrative study on this pamphlet see particularly 235-251 in Salim Aydiiz, “Ismet Mehmed
Efendi (6. 1747) ve Tedahiil-i Seneye Dair Risalesi”.

623For the discussions on the bilateral practice of miildzemet see Ismail Hakk Uzuncargili, Osmanly Devleti’nin

Tlmiye Teskilats, 45-53; Mehmet Tpsirli, “Miilazemet,” TDVIA, vol. 31, (Istanbul: TDV, 2006): 537-539;
Ozgiin Deniz Yoldaslar, “Minkarizade Yahya and the Ottoman Scholarly Bureaucracy in the Seventeenth
Century,” 199-206. For the evaluation of the situation during the second half of the 15th and first half of

the 16th centuries see Abdurrahman Atcil, Scholars and Sultans in the Early Modern Ottoman Empire,
74-81, 102-113, and 134-145.

624Gee above footnote 593, and Aydiiz, ibid, 233.

625 Ipsirli, “Miilazemet,” 538.
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to being assigned a duty in the palace rather than a madrasa. Though the last
seems a very weak possibility, it is likely that he would not refuse a position in the
palace or state offices under the grand vizier, which would mean that he attempted

to initiate a new career in bureaucracy rather than in official madrasas.

The existing evidence demonstrates that Mehmed Ismet’s requests from the grand
vizier were not met. As is already touched upon, it was Ramiz who reported that
Mehmed Ismet had been appointed to a hdric madrasa upon his successful exami-
nation in 1141/1728-29. If this is the case, it becomes explicit that he was neither
granted a haric position by the grand vizier nor exempted from the examination,
which were his main requests from DamAad Ibrahim Pasha in 1138/1726. Yet, the
preface of Mehmed Ismet’s commentary on Isim al-Din Isfardyini’s Istiare enti-
tled Sharh-i Isti¢ara-i Farisiyya-i ‘Isam, reveals that Mehmed Ismet received his
mulazemet around 1140/1727-28 for being able to be assigned to a madrasa. For
since Mehmed Ismet overtly expressed in the text completed in 1140/1727-28 that
he began to pen his work for Izzet Ali Pasha upon the “occurrence of miildzemet”

626 we can contend that he managed to take his exams and

(mulazemet vuku® yaft),
obtain his position in a hdric madrasa owing to the efforts of Izzet Ali Pasha as
a patron and mediator. It is apparent, then, that after completing his long-lasting
waiting period as a novice and attaining his ultimate miildzemet, Mehmed Ismet was
assigned to a madrasa of haric rank unknown to us. Notwithstanding, as is reported
from Ramiz above, it is apparent that he gradually climbed the madrasa hierarchy
and obtained the professorship in one of the Misile-i Stileymaniye madrasas where
he would remain in until his death. This reality is confirmed also by Mehmed Is-
met’s newly discovered probate inventory and a few posthumous dispute records in
which he is identified as the miiderris of Masile-i Sileymaniye.5?” Luckily, a crucial
note in one of the previously unutilized calendars of Mehmed Ismet makes it clear
that he was appointed to the professorship of Misile-i Sahn, the fifth rank in the
madrasa hierarchy, on November 15, 1740/25 Shaban 1153.528 This note demon-
strates that, in the course of seven years, he continued to climb the madrasa ladder
and ultimately received a position in one of the ninth-rank madrasas of Misile-i
Stleymaniye. Fortunately, a biographical entry penned by a certain Mehmed Tahir
reveals that the last madrasa, where Mehmed Ismet taught before his death was

Atik Ali Pasa (hinuhu sara mudarrisan bi-Musile-i Stileymaniye bi-Madrasat “Alv

626500 Veliytiiddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 27b-28a, for the entire text see ibid, 27b-50a.
627For the probate inventory see ISAM, Kismet-i Askeriye 107, fol. 6b-10a.

628 The note is as follows: “Rutba rasidan-i Masila-i Sahn”. See Mehmed Ismet, Takvim-i Sal-i 1152-1153,
Kandilli Rasathanesi no. T33, fol. 9b.

199



Pasha-ip °Atik).5%9

5.5 Mehmed ismet as A Sufi

When it comes to Mehmed Ismet’s adherence to the Nagshbandi order, there emerge
ambiguities pertaining to his initial adherence to the order, and the seyh from whom
he received the basic teachings and rituals of the order for the first time. As is al-
ready mentioned in the beginning of this chapter, it was Miistakimzade who reported
that Mehmed Ismet adhered to the Nagshbandiyya in his later years when he was a
competent and respected madrasa professor. This implies that his devotion to the
order was a matter of the late 1730’s and 1740’s when recalling that his very first
appointment to a hdric madrasa might have coincided with the year 1140/1727-28.
Furthermore, Mehmed Es‘ad Efendi’s unknown Arabic entry penned on the front
page of a manuscript bearing the ownership record of Mehmed Ismet clarifies that
the deceased Mehmed Ismet was introduced to the order not by Murad Bukhari but
by some of his deputies (wa lahu nisbatun ila al-Tariqat al-Nagshbandiyya min ba‘d
khulafa al-Shaykh Murad). In the absence of Mehmed Ismet’s own writings about
his obedience to the Nagshbandi order, based only on Miistakimzade and Mehmed
Es‘ad’s statements, one might claim that his attachment to the Nagshbandi order
had not happened during the years in which the eminent Nagshbandi seyh Murad
Bukhari (d. 1720) propagated the order in Istanbul. Yet, it was Murad Bukhéri who
warranted him in Edirne the sheikhdom of the order in July 1713. In all likelihood, it
was this acquaintanceship that allowed Mehmed Ismet to collect and copy the scat-
tered epistles of Seyh Murad Bukhari. Moreover, if the epistles were not dispersed
but transferred directly from Murdd Bukhari or his heirs we can conclude that the
link between Mehmed Ismet and the latter was closer and stronger than anticipated.
The Nagshbandiyya, however, was not the only Sufi order to which Mehmed Ismet
was attached. As is already mentioned above, the ijaza he received from Muhammad
Subhan el-Hindi during the latter’s sojourn in Istanbul until 1712 allowed him not
only to teach hadith but also to instruct the principles and practice the rituals of the
Qadiri order. Put differently, Muhammad Subhan designated Mehmed Ismet as his
deputy to teach and propagate the Qadiri order in Istanbul. In spite of omitting the
Qadiri order, a previously unknown record pertaining to Mehmed Ismet’s life and
career indicates that he endeavored to learn the teachings of other Sufi orders such

as Mevleviyye, Nagshbandiyya, Shadhiliyya and Bayramiyye. What is more striking

629Gee Esad Efendi, no. 1233, fol. Ia.
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in this entry, however, is Mehmed Tahir’s introduction of Mehmed Ismet as a seyh
in the sciences of Sufism (Shaykhan fi al-‘ulumi’t-tascwwuf wa lahu nisbat ... li%-
tarigat al-Mawlawiyya wa’n-Nagshbandiyya wa’sh-Shadhiliyya wa’l- Bayramiyya).53°
Be that as it may, given that the existing silsilas of the Nagshbandi order do not
identify a Mehmed Ismet among the seyhs who raised disciples, we can readily infer
that his aim was to learn about the teachings and practices of the order rather than

professing the order as a gseyh.

5.6 Mehmed Ismet’s Nuclear Family and Probate Inventory

Before attempting to uncover the intellectual biography of Mehmed Ismet, in the
current position, a few words for presenting his nuclear family and his death are due.
For this purpose, the only primary sources in hand are his probate inventory and a
few posthumous dispute records, all of which were arranged and penned into Kismet-
i Askeriye registers by the scribes of the Askeri Kassam in 1747.931 As far as we are
informed by these records, Mehmed Ismet left behind a wife by name Hadice and two
non-adult daughters, who were identified as Habibe and Riikiye. His wife Hadice,
we are told, was the daughter of a certain Hiiseyin Aga about whom we have no
more information. The identification of Mehmed Ismet’s father-in-law as an “Agha”
is crucial when recalling that his father himself was an “Aga” in the service of a
grand vizier. This is to say, in spite being a member of the ulema, Mehmed Ismet
was married off to the daughter of an agha rather than an alim, which might be an
indication that the marriage took place under the guidance and recommendation of
the fathers who may have been familiar with each other from their services in vizier
and pasha households. Yet, the year of the wedding is uncertain. Given that his
daughters were still underage at the time of his death in 1747, one may think that
he got married during the second half of the 1730’s. However, it is equally valid
to think that his marriage had already taken place, but his children had died due
to infectious diseases, particularly the plague, which continued to afflict Istanbul
during the first half of the 18th century.532

630Gee Esad Efendi, no. 1534, fol. 41a.

631The records as to Mehmed Ismet Efendi exist in the registers numbered 104, 105, and 107. For his probate

inventory see ISAM, Kismet-i Askeriye no. 107, fol. 6b-10a; for the remaining records see Kismet-i Askeriye
no. 104, fol. 43a, 45a-45b, 93b; and no. 105, fol. 72b-73b. For an introduction on the functions of askeri
kassdms see Said Oztiirk, “Kassam,” TDVIA, vol. 24, 579-582.

632 According to Niikhet Varlik, big waves of plague hit Istanbul in 1713, 1719, 1728-29, 1739-43, 1759-65,
1784-86, and 1791-92. See Niikhet Varlik, “Istanbul’da Veba Salgmlari,” in Antik Cagdan XXI. Yiizpla
Biiyiik Istanbul Tarihi, vol. IV, (Istanbul: IBB Kiiltiir A.S., 2015): 150. For a seminal work studying the
existence and transmission of the plague under three phases and the Ottoman perception of it terms of
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Mehmed Ismet’s unstudied calendar prepared for the Hijri year 1153 [1740-1741]
confirms our suspicion as to child death stemming from the plague. According to
his frequently written personal notes, which were in line with the related rows of the
calendar, in November 1740, Mehmed Ismet’s three children (two daughters and one
and one son) died from the plague, which, as is inferred from the notes pertaining
to the death of several individuals, hit the city particularly during the late Rajab,
Sha’ban, and early Ramadan. We are told in this regard that his ten-years old
daughter, Fatma Azize, contracted the plague in the morning on Sha®ban 16, passed
away in the late afternoon on Sha®ban 18, and was buried the day after [November
9, 1740]. His eight-year old son, Molla Necib Ibrahim, was hit by the pestilence on
Sha®ban 21 and died in the wee hours of Sha®ban 27 [November 17]. The five-month
old Ummii Giilsiim, his youngest daughter, however, got the illness on Ramadan 4
and died the day after [November 24, 1740]. The notes testify that not only the
children but also the slaves of Mehmed Ismet contracted and died from the plague
during this short period. For instance, one of his female slaves, Ferruh, who was
struck by the plague the night of Rajab 28 (shikasta shodan-i Farrukh qabil-i nisf-i
nahar) and died on Sha®ban 1 [October 22, 1740] (Ferruh nam cariye fevt olds).
Stleyman and Rahime, a male and a female slave, respectively caught the terminal
illness on Sha®ban 15 and 16 and passed away at the same time, at half past nine on
Shacban 18/November 8 (Bu Sali gicesi sa‘at dokuz bugukda Sileyman ve Rahime
dar-1 bekaya gitdiler). Another male slave, Stileyméan the Elder, died on Sha®ban 21,
the day his son Necip Ibrahim contracted the plague (Biiyiik Sileyman favt shod,
Oglum Molla Necib hasta oldi). The only exceptional recovery from among Mehmed
Ismet’s household was a female slave named Nefise. Though, we are informed that
she was struck by the plague on Shaban 14 (Ma‘tun shodan-i Nafisa), there emerged

no further record as to her death, an indication that she survived.33

When it comes to Mehmed Ismet’s death, once again, we are in an advantageous
position to trace the link between his death and infectious diseases, for the years
1747-48 witnessed a catastrophic epidemic resulting in the destruction of a signifi-
cant portion of the population in Istanbul. Despite the silence of the chronicles on
infectious diseases hitting Istanbul during these years, we can conclude that there
was a devastating disease during these years by considering the sudden increase in

the number of Kismet-i Askeriye registers regarding the short period. To clarify,

precaution, treatment and politics in the 15th and 16th centuries see Niikhet Varlik, Plague and Empire
in the Early Modern Mediterranean World: the Ottoman Experience, 1347-1600, (New York: Cambridge
University Press, 2015). For a broad perspective on the natural disasters in the Ottoman Empire and
the Ottoman attitude towards them see Yaron Ayalon, Natural Disasters in the Ottoman Empire: Plague,
Famine, and Other Misfortunes, (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2015).

633For the records pertaining to the death of Mehmed Ismet’s children and slaves see Mehmed Ismet, Takvim-i
Sal-i 1152-1153, fol. 9a-10a.
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whereas the four-year period between 1154-1157 [1741-1745] is represented by only 6
registers, the two-year period of 1160-1161 [1747-1748] witnessed the recording of 12
registers, all of which are preserved in ISAM. Yet, we do not have explicit evidence
that mentions the emergence of epidemics in Istanbul at the time. The two-year
period of 1164-1165 [1751-1752], which witnessed the burst of a formidable plague
in Istanbul, however, has a total number of 16 registers.%3 Accordingly, consider-
ing the similar numbers of registers kept from 1747 to 1748 and 1751 to 1752, we
can infer that there was a devastating epidemic in Istanbul, not only in the latter
period, but also during the previous period.®3® The dispute records kept in Kismet-i
Askeriye registers shed light as well on other members of Mehmed Ismet’s nuclear
family. In addition to a female slave of Georgian origin identified as Hiisna in the
probate inventory, we come across three manumitted male and female slaves, Ali b.
Abdullah, Safiye bt. Abdulldh and Hanim bt. Abdulldh, again of Georgian origin,
claiming a share in Mehmed Ismet’s inheritance.53¢ We are informed in another
record about the amount of cash bequeathed to these manumitted slaves. Accord-
ing to the statements of witnesses in the record, ten days before his death, Mehmed
Ismet acknowledged before the witnesses that he had freed the slaves in question,
and determined that each female slave should receive 100 and male slave 50 guriig
from his inheritance upon his death.%3” Given that from among the four slaves of
Georgian origin, since only Hiisna was not manumitted by Mehmed Ismet before his
death, we can propose that she was either an underage or a recently owned slave
who had not spent a certain time period in the service of her owners.%38 Since the
existence of four slaves in Mehmed Ismet’s household is also testament to his wealth,

a brief presentation of his estate inventory becomes unavoidable.

We are told by Mehmed Siireyya that Mehmed Ismet died on 2 Dhi°l-qada 1160/5
November 1747. Yet, the inventory of his assets was put in order on 15 Muhar-
ram 1161/16 January 1748. The main reason behind this delay may relate to the

epidemic. However, we know that in the meantime, there were settled disputes re-

634The British ambassador to Istanbul, James Porter, had regularly informed London about this last endemic

during his stay in Istanbul. See Ahmet Biiyiikaksoy, “James Porter’m Istanbul Biiyiikelciligi (1747-1762),”
Unpublished PhD Diss., (Marmara University, 2016): 248-250.

635The small number of registers during a chosen time period may also be an indication of the vanishment of
the registers under external conditions such as fires. A gradual increase in number of the registers, however,
might also prove the firm control of the state in record keeping. For being sure about the occurence of an
epidemic in a specific region, there must exist at least a few records in a register regarding the frequent
intrafamilial deaths of several individuals.

636Gee respectively register no. 107, fol. 9b, and no. 104, fol. 43a.
637Gee ISAM, Kismet-i Askeriye, no. 104, fol. 45b.

638Hakan Erdem has demonstrated that it was a common practice in the Ottoman Empire at least in the
19th century to free slaves after a certain period of service which was more or less seven years. See Hakan
Erdem, Slavery in the Ottoman Empire and its Demise, 1800-1909, (London: Palgrave Macmillan, 1996):
155-156. See also Mehmet Akif Aydin and Muhammed Hamidullah, “Kéle,” TDVIA, vol. 26, 242.
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garding his oral testament [16 Zi’l-hicce 1160 / 19 December 1747], his slaves’ claim
for inheritance and the return of Kadizade Mehmed Efendi’s endowed books, which
were at Mehmed Ismet’s disposal before the latter’s death, both on 7 Muharram
1161/8 January 1748.539 Ultimately, when his inventory was released, it revealed
that the absolute amount of assets sold was 1,577,956 ak¢e. The inventory in ques-
tion is composed of three categories, when it comes to the lists of assets it included.
In the first place, in addition to the 897 books and pamphlets owned by Mehmed
[smet, three astrolabes, two telescopes (durbin) and rolls of paper were estimated
at 333,677 asper, approximately 21,15 percent of his total wealth. Then comes the
list of personal belongings, domestic utensils, kitchenware, golden and silver wares
etc., valued at 358,769 (22,74 percent). In the final category, however, hard cash
amounted to 705,510 akge is recorded (44,71 percent). It must be stated that the
residence in which Mehmed Ismet and his family lived constituted the most precious
entry in the inventory (180,000 akge; 11,4 percent). Although the hard cash is par-
ticularly noteworthy as an indication of capital accumulation of the deceased, we
are unable to determine the sources of his income except for the salary he received
for teaching in the madrasa of Mausile-i Stileymaniye rank. Nevertheless, we may
speculate that he was able to protect an already existing fortune inherited from his
father or assert more confidently that he made a fortune through his connections
with high-ranking officials and his presence in their gatherings, where he managed
to present his competence and abilities. Since the latter will be discussed in the next
chapter of this dissertation, at this point I want to point out the assets which he may
have inherited from his father. At least one of the two telescopes that existed in the
inventory might have been transferred from Ibrahim Aga to his son, Mehmed Ismet,
for the telescope was an important technological device for high-ranking officials,
particularly on the battlefield. In addition to durbin, it is likely that Mehmed Ismet
inherited from his father valuable furs such as “fistiki ¢ukaya kapli semmur pacgasi
kiirk” (15,000 akge) and “fistikt guka kaplh semmur kiirk” (24,120 akge). Given that
the female slave whose appraised value was 36,000 akge in the inventory, we may
speculate that the furs passed to son from the father thanks to the latter’s higher po-
sition in the service of the grand vizier. Nevertheless, it is fair to state that Mehmed
Ismet might have been rewarded these furs as ciize from high-ranking officials to

640

whom he presented his scholarly works,”*” or he purchased them from the furrier

639For his inventory and dispute records as to his assets see above footnote 632. For solving the problems

the officials went to deceased Mehmed Ismet’s house in Uzun Yisuf neighborhood. It is striking that
the disputes settled on 7 Muharram 1161/8 January 1748 were recorded in different registers. That is to
say, whereas the dispute as to the books was written down into the register numbered 105, the dispute

regarding his slaves’ claim for inheritance was recorded in the register 107. Mehmed Ismet misappropriated
the endowed books of Kadizade Mehmed when he was the trustee of the waqf. See Isa Ugurlu, “18. Yiizyilda
Sahsi Bir Kiitiiphanenin Ingasi ve Dagilisi: Mehmed Ismet Efendi Kiitiiphanesi Ornegi,” (forthcoming).

640For 4 short introduction on the implementation of cdize in the Ottoman context, see Mustafa Izmet Uzun,
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in the bazaar as a result of a plain and simple transaction. Finally, we can claim
that he inherited military equipment and paraphernalia made out of silver from his
father. In this regard, we can refer to the existence in the inventory of a silver and a
hilali mace (debus; respectively 2905 and 760 akge), silver swords such as kuli¢ (1860
akge) and gaddare (1800 akge), and a considerable amount of silver equestrian gears,
including saddles (raht) and bridles (resme). Considering that there emerged also
iron equestrian gear and a single black packhorse (kara bargir; 3600 akge) in the in-
ventory, we can conclude that the luxurious silver military equipment and saddlery
(four of them were valued at 5300, 5300, 8005, and 9000 ak¢e) were from Mehmed
Ismet’s father, who had been an agha in the service of a grand vizier. In addition
to this very brief identification of assets which might have been the remain of his
father, a few words should be expressed as to the debts as well as the remainder of
the inventory. Given in the inventory the total value of the subtraction, which is
363,323 akge (23 percent), we realize that the attested debts constitute the largest
proportion (205,222 akge; 56,5 percent). Moreover, it is noteworthy that Mehmed
Ismet bequeathed several individuals including his manumitted slaves with a total
of 53.100 akces, equal to 3.4 percent of his wealth. When it comes to the remainder
(1,214,633 akge), by force of well-defined Islamic law of inheritance, his wife was al-
lowed one eighth of the wealth (151,829 akges), whereas the two underage daughters
equally received 531,402 akge (43,75 percent).m1 Yet, since the daughters were un-
derage, a certain el-Hac Mehmed Aga b. Sa‘ban had been appointed as a guardian
by Mehmed Ismet to look after the orphans and manage their wealth until they
reached lawful age. From a document recorded in a Kismet-i Askeriye register, we
know that this trustee was allowed to spend 80 akg¢es daily for the expenditures of
each daughter, which demonstrates that the wealth of each daughter sufficed for a
living of approximately 6642 days or 18 years.

Table 5.1 The total value of Mehmed Ismet’s assets and their ratio in total wealth.

ASSETS
Items Value Ratio
Books 333,677 % 21,15
Wares 358,769 | % 22,74

Hard Cash | 705,510 | % 44,71
Residence | 180,000 | % 11,4
TOTAL 1,577,956 | % 100

“Caize,” TDVIA, vol. 7, (Istanbul: TDV, 1993): 29. For a detailed study of patronage and sponsporship
of the poets and literary production during “the Classical Age” see the 8th and 9th chapters in Halil

Inalcik, Has-bajcede ‘ays w tarab: Nedimler, Sdirler, Mutribler, (Istanbul: Is Bankas1 Yayinlari, 2011);

and idem, Sdir ve Patron: Patrimonyal Devlet ve Sanat Uzerinde Sosyolojik Bir Inceleme, (Ankara: Dogu
Bati, 2003).

641 Hamdi Dondiiren, “Ashabii’l-Feraiz,” TDVIA, vol. 3, (Istanbul: TDV, 1991): 467-468.
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Table 5.2 The total value and ratio of subtractions in the inventory.

DISCARDS
Items Value Ratio in Discards | Ratio in Total
Debts 205,222 | % 56,5 % 13
Levies and Charges | 65,869 | % 18,12 % 4,17
Bequest 55,800 | % 15,36 % 3,54
Personal Benefaction | 33,840 | % 9,31 % 2,14
Missing in Inventory | 2,592 % 0,71 % 0,16
TOTAL 363,323 | % 100 % 23,01

Table 5.3 The total amount and ratio of shares in the inventory

SHARES
Items Value Ratio in Share | Ratio in Total
Wife 151,829 % 12,5 % 9,62
Daughter | 531,402 % 43,75 % 33,68
TOTAL | 1,214,633 | % 100 % 76,98

5.7 Mehmed ismet’s Intellectual Orientations

After the clarification of Mehmed Ismet’s family background, biography, life, educa-
tion and the introduction of his probate inventory, in this section my intention is to
focus on his intellectual tendencies utilizing his neglected scholarly works preserved
in several manuscript collections together with his estate inventory used for the first
time in the context of this dissertation. Indeed, the composers of the biographical
dictionaries of his time were aware of his competence in several social and religious
disciplines such as calligraphy, poetry, Sufism, and history. His competence in three
Islamic languages, too, was appreciated by the biographers of the time. However,
it seems likely that no author of the biographical dictionaries realized his adequacy
in natural sciences. The only exception in this regard, it seems, was Mehmed Tahir
Efendi, who penned a posthumous biographical entry which has remained unex-
posed in the manuscript until now. In his entry Mehmed Tahir praised Mehmed
Ismet’s competence, not only in learning and teaching Sufi orders, but also his per-
fection in both revelational (naqly) and rational (‘agqli) sciences (‘aliman fadilan
lahu “uluvww al-kab fo al-‘ulum al-‘aqliyya wa al-nagliyya). Given that, for the
latter sciences, he particularly alluded to astronomical sciences such as theoretical
astronomy (hay?at) and the science of the stars (nujum) (wa kana lahu “uluvww ka®b fu
al-falakiyyat khususan fv “lm al-nujum wa al-hay’at) stating that he composed many

scholarly works pertaining to the revelational and rational sciences (wa lahu tasanif
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642 it hecomes an unavoid-

wa shuruhi kathira li°-“ulum al-“aqliyya wa al-nagliyya),
able task to delve into his intellectual orientations for a more explicit familiarization
of his capacities. By undertaking such a research project, I claim and demonstrate
that Mehmed Ismet’s interest in social and natural sciences was not confined to
theoretical readings. In other words, I contend that rather than contenting himself
particularly with theoretical readings of natural sciences, he continuously practiced

them and produced concrete, tangible outputs as a result of his investigations.

5.7.1 A Critic and Man of Poetry

Mehmed Ismet’s accomplishment in the three Islamic languages and his talent in
calligraphy resulted in the composition of many scholarly works including autho-
rized, translated and duplicated books and pamphlets concerning the religious and
natural sciences, history, and to artistic works such as poetry. His earliest known
scholarly work, which bore the title Fayzu’l-Hady li-Halli Muskilati®s-Sahidi was a
gloss on Lugat-1 Sahidi. We know that the author of the Lugat, Ibrahim Sahidi,
was the son of Salih Hiiddayl Dede (d. 1480), a Mevlevi seyh who served during
the second half of the 15th century as the founder and earliest post-nishin of the
Mevlevihane of Mugla, where he gave lectures on Mathnawi.%* A successor seyh
of the same mevlevihane, Ibrahim Sahidi (d. 1550), penned his Lugat as a versified
Persian-Turkish dictionary, which is mostly known as Tuhfe-i Sahidi and written
in the mathnawi form to make Mathnaw: more understandable for Turkish readers
and to teach Persian at the beginner level.5* As the author did not attempt to
introduce Persian grammar and confined himself only to the translation of approxi-
mately 1400 Persian words and some verses in 453 distiches,54% we can deduce that
the latter claim is baseless. Mehmed Ismet’s gloss on the text, however, undertakes
a study of explanation and interpretation of each of Ibrahim Sahidi’s verses, not
only in terms of literal meanings of Persian and Arabic words, but also figurative
meanings in context. Furthermore, he neither refrains from introducing symbols,

metaphors and figures of speech adopted by Sahidi in his poems, nor hesitates to

642 ¢ad Efendi, no. 1534, fol. 41a.

643For a short and inadequate introduction of Salih Hiidayl Dede and Mevlevihdne of Mugla see Namik

Acgikgoz, “Mugla Mevlevihanesi,” in Ulusal Sempozyum: Ginimiizde Yurt I¢i Mevlevihdanelerinin Du-
rum ve Konumlar: Bildiriler-Sunular, 9-10 Aralik 2013, (Konya: Selguk Universitesi Mevlana Aragtir-
malar1 Enstittisi Yayinlari, 2017): 293-294. For a better introduction see Mehmet Nuri Cinarci, “Hiidayi
Seyh Salih Dede,” (05.11.2020) http://teis.yesevi.edu.tr/madde-detay/hudayi-hudayi-hudayi-dede-seyh
(accessed 15.05.2021).

644\ [ustafa Cipan, “Ibrahim Sahidi,” TDVIA, vol. 38, (Istanbul: TDV, 2010): 273-274.

645For the numbers and full text of Tuhfe-i Sahidy see Atabey Kilig, “Tirkce-Farsca Manzum Sézliiklerden

Tuhfe-i Sahidi (Metin),” Turkish Studies 2/4 (Fall, 2017): 516-548.
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criticize his poetry in terms of syntax and phrases. Even though it has been claimed
that “Ottoman literature produced no literary criticism except for biographies, bib-

7646 most of which were produced during

liographies and superficial commentaries,
the so-called Classical Age,%47 we can extract pieces of serious literary criticism in
Mehmed Ismet’s commentary, which seems to be strictly dependent on the tradi-
tional way of commentary writing in terms of explaining the words and phrases
and grammatical structure of the text.%4® What makes Mehmed Ismet’s work more
scientific, as is the case in the previous commentaries, is his references to and uti-
lization of well-known scholarly works, including Ibrahim Sahidi’s Giilsen-i Esrar,
Hiisam b. Hasan el-Konevi’s Tuhfe-i Hiisami which was imitated by Sahidi when
composing his Tuhfe, erudite hadith scholars Kadi ‘Iyaz al-Yakhsiibi’s Kitab al-Shifa
and Ibn Maja’s al-Sunan, renowned Persian dictionaries such as Farhang-i Jihangiri,
Shamil al-Lughat, Sihah al-°Ajam, Lughat-i Ni°matullah and other texts such as F7
Qanun al-Adab al-Qadir, Mevlana’s Mathnaw:.

Even if penned in Turkish, the introduction of Fayzu’l-Hadv li-Halli Muskilati®s-
Sahidi is useful to have a better understanding of the place, importance, and senti-
mental value of Persian for an Ottoman man of the pen, at least in the beginning of
the 18th century. A sentence which is read “Infinite glorification be that God who
brightened the hearts of the scholars (“aliman) with the glittering lights of Arabic
and washed the hearts of the wise (°arifan) with the drops of the water of life of
Persian”%%” demonstrates on the one hand the almost equivalent position of Persian
and Arabic for an Ottoman savant, and emphasizes on the other the identification
of Arabic with “%lm and “alim and Persian with “rfan and “arif. The equivalence of
Persian with the language of Qur’an is observable also in the following discussion
of the author who tries to underline the importance of Persian by conveying four
hadith wordings exalting the Persian language. In one of these hadith, copied by
Mehmed Ismet, it is stated that the language of paradise is Arabic and pearly white
Persian (lisanu ahl al-jannat al-°Arabiyya wa al-Farisiyya al—Durm’yya).650 Based

on these hadith wordings conveying Ibn Méajah’s interpretation regarding the im-

646malat S. Halman, A Millennium of Turkish Literature: A Concise History, edited by Jayne L. Warner,

(New York: Syracuse University Press, 2011): 33.

647\ ustafa Ismet Uzun, “Tezkire: Tiirk Edebiyat1,” TDVIA, vol. 41, (Istanbul: TDV, 2012): 70. See also

Nagihan Giir, “Osmanli Edebiyatinda Elestiri ve Latifi’'nin Tezkiretii’s-Su’ara’s1 Uzerine,” Tirklik Bilgisi
Aragtirmalari. Festschrift in Honor of Walter G. Andrews 34/11 (2010): 82-83.

648For an introduction on commentaries in the Ottoman literature see Yekta Sarag, “Serhler,” in Tiirk Ede-

biyate Tarihi, vol. 11, (Istanbul: Kiiltiir ve Turizm Bakanlig1 Yaymnlari, 2006): 121-132.

649¢Siikr-i bi-kiyas ol Rabb-i Celll’iifi ... olsun ki dertin-1 alimam lemC®at-1 envar-1 Tazl birle piir-tab, ve

kulub-1 Carifan: regehat-1 ab-1 hayat-1 Farist ile sirab kilup” in Veliytiddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 62b.

6501hid, fol. 62b.
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portance and precedence of Persian in learning and speaking, Mehmed Ismet states
that he attempted to write a commentary on Sahidi’s text to clarify its difficulties
and to demonstrate the distortion of Persian by common Turks (“Avam-1 Arvamdan
Cariz tahrifatt ‘ayan ve maiskilaty beyan olunmak sevddszyla).651 Mehmed Ismet’s
reminder as to the deterioration of Persian in the hands of common people may
not be surprising when we recall that he was a scholar who may have felt obliged
to correct the deformations in Persian. Yet, it is more reasonable to evaluate his
commitment to Persian within the context of his presence in and adherence to the
Nagshbandi and Mevlevi circles where Persian had an esteemed position. Regarding
the Nagshbandis’ role in the propagation of Persian and Perso-Islamic culture, it
was once argued that “[I|n the Ottoman world, they routinely acted as the carri-
ers, disseminators, and perpetuators of a Perso-Islamic literary culture, ... composed
verse in Persian, wrote commentaries on Persian grammar and language, or exhib-

7652 We may, therefore, conclude

ited expertise in Persian literature in other ways.
that Mehmed Ismet’s favorable approach to Persian most likely arose from factual
reasons known to the Ottoman Sufi circles that existed in Istanbul rather than being

a mere rhetorical play on words.

Fayzu’l-Hady li-Halli Muskilati®s-Sahidi was not the only commentary penned by
Mehmed Ismet on the scholarly works composed in poetic forms. The second com-
mentary, in this regard, is his Turkish commentary entitled Serh-i Gazel-i Sa’ib,
penned on S&’ib-i Tebrizl’s Persian ode consisting of thirty-six couplets. We are
informed by Mehmed Ismet that he embarked on this project upon the request of
the seyhiilislam of the time, Yenisehirli Abdullah Efendi, for whom he completed
the commentary in hand on 12 Rabi® al-Akhir 1135/20. January 1723.953 Close
attention to the text makes it clear that the author applied a different stylistic and
textual arrangement in his poetic analysis. As is the case in Halli Muskilati’s-Sahidz,
he does not abstain from translating, interpreting or explaining the distiches word
by word or phrase by phrase. The novelty of the author in his commentary is that
he attempts to explain many couplets in detail under a new title read “mahsul-
i beyt.” Being that the literal meaning of the title is “the product of couplet,”
we can infer that Mehmed Ismet, as an expert in Persian literature, undertakes a

task to introduce and explain a complicated work of art replete with figurative and

6511hid, fol. 63a.

652Dina Le Gall, Nagshbandis in the Ottoman World, 172. For the important role of Persian within the
Nagshbandi networks see especially 169-175 in ibid.

653For Mehmed Ismet’s commentary see Veliyiiddin Efendi, no. 3249, fol. 112b-124b. For S&’ib-

i Tebrizi, see Cengiz Sadikoglu, “Saib-i Tebrizi,” TDVIA, vol. 35, (Istanbul: TDV, 2008):
541-542, and Paul Losensky, “Sa’eb Tabrizi,” FEncyclopaedia Iranica, online edition, (20.07.2003),
https://www.iranicaonline.org/articles/saeb-tabrizi (accessed 22.05.2021).
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ambiguous words and meanings. Nevertheless, the author does not 